# ANALYSIS OF CYTOKINE CONCENTRATION AND THE VISUAL ANALOGUE PAIN SCALE SCORE AS EARLY INDICATORS OF SEPSIS IN GALL STONE DISEASE PATIENTS EVALUATING QUALITY OF LIFE QUESTIONNAIRES TO DETERMINE WHICH PATIENTS WILL EXPERIENCE SIGNIFICANT PAIN AFTER INTERVENTION

Thesis for the degree of

**Doctor of Medicine** 

at the University of Leicester

Rachel Emma Soulsby BSc MB BS FRCS PGCert

Department of Cardiovascular Sciences

University of Leicester

2019

# Abstract

# Introduction

Sixty thousand cholecystectomies are performed each year (Royal College of Surgeons, 2016). Unplanned admissions occur after 10% procedures secondary to complications and pain (Chandio *et al.*, 2017). This study aimed to identify whether pain was an early indicator of post-procedural sepsis, permitting earlier treatment to reduce morbidity. To successfully do this required identifying these patients, from patients who experienced a lot of pain postoperatively but did not develop sepsis, and were unsuitable for day-case surgery.

# Methods

Three hundred and ninety six patients with biliary disease were recruited. Participant's systemic TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1, IL-6 and IL-10 concentration was measured by ELISA techniques. They were compared to their systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) markers, and visual analogue score pain assessment. SF-36 and the Gastrointestinal quality of life index were chosen to measure quality of life, after a literature review indicated poorer quality of life scores pre-operatively indicated patients who did not benefit as greatly from cholecystectomy and continued to experience pain.

# Results

The VAS score was significantly higher from six hours onwards in those developing sepsis compared to those who did not after ERCP or cholecystectomy. In contrast the inflammatory cytokines peaked at 24 hours in the open and ERCP patients, and at 48 hours in the laparoscopic approach patients developing sepsis. The peak in the SIRS markers coincided with the cytokine peak for each approach.

The quality of life measures permitted us to distinguish a group of patients who experienced a lot of pain post-operatively but did not develop sepsis, from those whose increase in pain was an indicator of sepsis. The group of patients with pain not developing sepsis were unlikely to be suitable for day case surgery, being unlikely to be discharged at 24 hours, and less likely to benefit from cholecystectomy.

### Conclusion

Both for laparoscopic and open cholecystectomy pain is an early indicator of potential postoperative sepsis, preempting the rise in cytokines and SIRS. The VAS with the quality of life measures permitted the identification pre-operatively of a patient group unsuitable for day case cholecystectomy.

Earlier recognition and treatment of sepsis would promote improved patient outcome. Heterogeneity of causes of sepsis and small number of cases limits conclusions, and this requires a multi-centre study.

# Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Mr. Shehata, Mr. Rigg and Mr. El'Sheikh who kindly let me recruit their patients, and to the patients who participated. The anaesthetic, theatre and endoscopy team, as well as the junior doctors and nursing teams and the laboratory staff. Thank you to the research laboratory team for the bench space for performing the bench work. I would like to apologies that the paperwork for approval by the Research and Ethics Committee, was lost in a fire at the research laboratory at Nottingham City Hospital.

Thank you to Mr. Shehata for his initial support in performing this research work, and to Professor Bown for taking over, and for advising in the writing up of the thesis. To Mr. Williams for his support. I would also like thank you to Miss Taylor and Mr. Chin for the support and time to complete this thesis.

The research work and reading for this thesis has inspired me, with colleagues at Coventry, Bristol and the Royal Marsden to set up a research group examining pain after breast surgery. We are currently recruiting for a national intervention trial examining different approaches to pain management. Having already demonstrated breast surgery patients have significant problems with postoperative pain, and by reducing acute pain there is a demonstrable benefit in reducing chronic pain. We are using the studies to teach the Oxford surgical and anaesthetic and trainees about the research process.

Finally I would like to thank my family who has stood by me through whatever curve ball life has thrown. I am grateful for that support without which I would not be where I am today.

# **Table of contents**

Abstract	1
Acknowledgments	2
Table of contents	3 - 6
List of Tables	7 - 10
List of Figures	11 - 14
List of abbreviations	15 - 18
Introduction	
Chapter 1 - Gallstone disease	
1.1 Gallstones	19 - 22
1.2 Laparoscopic and open cholecystectomy	23 - 24
1.3 Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography	25 - 26
Chapter 2 - Sepsis	
2.1 Inflammatory response	27 - 34
2.2 Sepsis	35 - 47
2.3 Dysfunction of organ systems in SIRS	48 - 52
2.4 Intraperitoneal immune function	53 - 63
Chapter 3 - Cytokines	
3.1 Cytokines	64 - 70
3.2 TNF-alpha	71 - 74
3.3 IL-1	75 - 77
3.4 IL-6	78 - 82
3.5 IL-10	83 - 87
3.6 Peritoneal cytokines	88 - 89

# Chapter 4 - Pain

4.1 Pain introduction	90 - 92
4.2 Pain assessment	93 - 95
4.3 Pain and the immune system	96 - 97
4.4 Surgery and pain	98 - 100
4.5 Measurement of pain	101 - 105
4.6 Specific measures of pain	106 - 111
4.7 Health related quality of life (HRQOL)	112 - 116
4.8 Specific measures of quality of life	117 - 122

# Aims and scope

Chapter 5 – Aims and scope	123 - 125

# Pilot study

# Chapter 6 - Pilot study

6.1 The initiation of the study	126
6.2 Researching the pilot study	127 - 128
6.3 Conducting the pilot study	129 - 133
6.4 Outcomes of the pilot study	134 - 142
6.5 Conclusions from the review study group meeting	143 - 149
6.6 Conclusions from the pilot study	150 - 151

# **Materials and Method**

# Chapter 7 – Materials and Method

7.1 Recruitment	152 - 163
7.2 Statistical analysis	154 - 157
7.3 Consent	158 - 160
7.4 Study timeline	161 - 162
7.5 Clinical information gathering	163 - 164
7.6 Visual Analogue Pain score	165 - 170
7.7 Blood samples	171 - 172
7.8 Operation and ERCP	173 - 176
7.9 Analgesia	177 - 181
7.10 Antibiotics	182 - 183

7.11 Assessment	184 - 187
7.12 Quality of life data	188 - 190
7.13 Enzyme Linked Immunosorbant Assay	191 - 195
7.14 Disposal of samples	196 - 197

# Results

# **Chapter 8 – Demographics and Pain groups**

8.1 Patient recruitment	198 - 202
8.2 Biliary emergency, ERCP and cholecystectomy patient	
demographics	203 - 218
8.3 Significant pain experienced pain group	219 - 229
8.4 Procedural data	230 - 248

# Chapter 9 - Cytokines

9.1 Biliary emergencies - Cytokines	249 - 254
9.2 ERCP patients - Cytokines	255 - 260
9.3 Elective cholecystectomy - Cytokines	261 - 272

# Chapter 10 - Pain

10.1 Biliary emergency - Pain	273 - 277
10.2 ERCP patients - Pain	278 - 282
10.3 Cholecystectomy patients - Pain	283 - 294

# Chapter 11 - Quality of life score and Hospital Anxiety and

# **Depression score**

11.1 Quality of Life and Hospital Anxiety and Depression	
Scale	295 - 323
11.2 Patients recruited to multiple parts of the study	324 - 326

# Discussion

# **Chapter 12 - Discussion**

12.1 Cytokine response to biliary intervention	327 - 339
12.2 Pain as an early indicator of post procedural sepsis	340 - 345
12.3 Significant pain experienced group and the VAS	346 - 348

12.4 Significant pain experienced group and quality of life	
measures	349 - 351
12.5 Conclusions	352 - 353

# Appendices

Appendix 1 - SF - 36, GIQLI and Hospital Anxiety and	
Depression Score	354 - 368
Appendix 2 - Conclusions from the pilot study	369 - 371
<b>Appendix 3 - Patient information forms</b>	372 - 400
Appendix 4 - Consent forms	401 - 408
Appendix 5 – Pro forma for data collection	409 - 441
Appendix 6 - VAS scoring sheet	442 - 443
Appendix 7 - Detailed instructions for cytokine ELISA	444 - 452

Bibliography

453 - 544

# **List of Tables**

The Tables and Figures were numbered consecutively in the text, hence the Table numbers are not consecutive. Some Figures have the corresponding Table of values presented below under the same number, hence the discontinuity in numbering.

# Abstract

# Introduction

Chapter 1 – Gallstone disease	19 - 26
1.1.1 Reasons for increasing prevalence gallstone disease	20
1.1.2 Potential mechanism for cholesterol stone formation	21
1.1.3 Presentation of gallstones	22
1.2.1 Comparison of open and laparoscopic cholecystectomy	24
1.3.1 Complications following ERCP	26
Chapter 2 – Sepsis	27 - 63
2.1.5 SIRS criteria and definition of sepsis	33
2.1.6 Proposal for a new definition of sepsis	34
2.2.1 Reasons proposed for the increase in the cases of sepsis	36
2.2.2 The NICE criteria – Sepsis risk stratification tool	39 - 40
2.2.3 Systemic Inflammatory Response Syndrome (SIRS)	42
2.2.6 Potential mechanisms for multi-organ dysfunction	46
2.2.7 Host factors important in determining the outcome of seps	sis 47
2.4.4 Laparoscopic factors modulating the peritoneal environme	ent 60
Chapter 3 – Cytokines	64 - 89
3.1.1 The actions of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines	65
3.1.2 Factors affecting cytokine concentration	67
3.1.3 Acute phases effects in systemic inflammatory cytokines	68
3.2.1 The role of TNF- $\alpha$ in septic shock	72
3.3.1 The role of IL-1 in septic shock	77
3.4.1 Cell types producing IL-6 & stimulus for cytokines release	e 79
3.4.2 The role of IL-6 in septic shock	81

3.5.1 Cell types producing IL-10	84
3.5.2 The role of IL-10 in septic shock	85

Chapter 4 – Pain	90 - 122
4.1.1 Definition of pain	91
4.1.2 Factors affecting the experience of pain	92
4.1.3 Reasons patient fail to report pain and pain management	94
4.4.1 Potential sources of pain after laparoscopic surgery	99
4.5.1 Measurable dimensions of the pain experience	102
4.5.2 Four elements of the traditional models of pain	103
4.5.3 Criteria pain measures should fulfill	104
4.6.1 Advantages and disadvantages with the verbal rating score	te 107
4.6.3 Advantages and disadvantages of the VAS	110
4.7.1 Three main groups of health related quality of life	113
4.7.2 Quintana's scale for the appropriateness of cholecystecto	my 116
4.8.1 The structure of the GIQLI	118
4.8.2 The structure of the SF-36	120
4.8.3 Component summary score	121

# Aims and scope

Chapter 5 – Aims and scope	123 - 125
1 1	

# Pilot study

Chapter 6 – Pilot study	126 - 151
6.3.2 Timeline for the pilot study for patient intervention	131
6.3.3 Changes from the pilot study to the main study	132
6.4.1 Conclusions from the cytokine part of the pilot	135
6.4.2 The causes of sepsis in the patients in the pilot study	136
6.4.4 Conclusions from the pain part of the pilot	139
6.4.5 Morphine equivalent dose calculation	140
6.4.6 Conclusions from the quality of life part of the pilot	142
6.5.3 Problems and solutions from the pilot study meeting	146
6.5.4 Patients' concerns from the review study group meeting	g 147
6.5.5 Procedural concerns from the review study group meeti	ng 148

6.5.6 Experimental concerns from the review study group meeting 149

# Materials and Method

Chapter 7 – Materials and Method 15:	2 - 197
7.1.1 Groups patients were recruited to in each arm	153
7.2.1 Sample size from the power calculation	156
7.4.1 Timeline for the patients recruited to the study	162
7.5.1 The information recorded from the patients' notes	164
7.6.3 Questions asked directly to patients about their pain	170
7.8.1 Operative data collected by independent observers in theat	e 175
7.8.2 ERCP data collected by independent observer in endoscopy	176
7.9.2 Recommended analgesia protocol	180
7.10.1 Antibiotic protocol	183
7.12.2 Hospital anxiety and depression score ranges	190

# Results

Chapter 8 – Demographics and Pain groups	198 - 248
8.1.2 Recruitment to the three arms of the study	201
8.1.3 Reason for not participating in the study	202
8.2.1 Patients admitted in the biliary emergency group	204
8.2.2 Patients admitted in the ERCP group	206
8.2.3 Demographics of the patients participating in each arm	209
8.2.5 Demographics of the patients developing sepsis	212
8.2.6 Co-existing co-morbidities in those developing sepsis	214
8.2.7 Causes of sepsis in each arm of the study	216
8.2.8 Patients receiving antibiotics in each arm	218
8.3.1 Pain groups based on VAS and quality of life questionn	aires 220
8.3.4 Number of patients in each pain group at enrolment	226
8.3.5 Number in each pain group developing sepsis	229
8.4.3 Analgesia received prior to enrolment and in first 24 ho	urs 236
8.4.4 Analgesia use in the first 24 hours in the septic group	237
8.4.7 Least and most recalled pain and patient satisfaction	243
8.4.8 Length of symptoms prior to enrolment and length of sta	ay 246

# Chapter 10 – Pain 273 - 294 10.3.1 Reason for not being discharged at 24 hours after surgery 284

Chapter 11 – Quality of life & Hospital Anxiety and Depression 295	- 326
11.1.1 VAS score of first 100 patients Q of L analysed	297
11.1.3 Problems encountered with HAD and the first 100 patients	300
11.1.4 Problems encountered SF-36 & GIQLI 100 patients 301	- 304
11.1.6 Problems with second hundred patients	307
11.1.7 Conclusions from second hundred patients	309
11.1.8 a Mean score in each SF-36 domain	311
11.1.8 b Mean score in each GIQLI domain and HAD score	312
11.1.11 Accuracy of using two versus three Q of L scores	321
11.1.12 Response to 'Compared to 1 year ago' at 12 and 52 weeks	323
11.2.1 Patients participating in multiple arms of the study	325

# Discussion

Chapter 12 – Discussion	327 - 353
-------------------------	-----------

# Appendices

354 - 368
369 - 371
369
370
371
372 - 400
401 - 408
409 - 441
442 - 443
444 - 452

Bib	liogra	nhv
DID	nogra	pny

# List of figures

The Tables and Figures were numbered consecutively in the text, hence the Figure numbers are not consecutive. Some Figures have the corresponding Table of values presented below under the same number, hence the discontinuity in numbering.

# Abstract

# Introduction

Chapter 1 – Gallstone disease

Chapter 2 – Sepsis	27 - 63
2.1.1 The inflammatory process and underlying clinical process	28
2.1.2 Classical signs of inflammation and resolution	29
2.1.3 Interrelationship between sepsis, SIRS and infection	31
2.1.4 Progression from septic insult to resolution or death	32
2.2.4 Cartoon of the stages of sepsis	43
2.2.5 Infection initiates release of the pro-inflammatory mediators	s 45
2.3.1 Theories for the different mechanisms involved in MODS	50
2.4.1 Human Peritoneal Fibroblasts	54
2.4.2 The embryological origin of the macrophage subsets	56
2.4.3 The response of the peritoneal macrophages to sepsis	57
Chapter 3 – Cytokines	64 - 89
3.1.4 Network of intracellular signaling in response to cytokine	69
3.2.2 Timing of the release of the inflammatory cytokines	73
3.5.3 The role of IL-10	87
Chapter 4 – Pain 90	0 - 122
4.6.2 Different representations of the Visual analogue scale	109
Aims and Scope	
Chapter 5 – Aims and scope 123	- 125

19 - 26

# Pilot study

Chapter 6 – Pilot study	126 - 151
6.3.1 Recruitment for the pilot study	130
6.3.4 Method for trialing the collection of the pain data	133
6.4.3 IL-6 concentration in participants in the pilot study	137
6.5.1 Conducting the pilot study meeting	144
6.5.2 People attending the study group meeting	145
6.6.1 The design of the pilot study and main study	151

# Materials and Method

Chapter 7 – Materials and Method	152 - 197
7.3.1 Protocol for consent	159
7.6.1 Protocol for completing the VAS	166
7.6.2 Protocol for completing the least and most pain assessm	nent 168
7.7.1 Protocol for blood sampling	172
7.9.1 World Health Organisation analgesic ladder	178
7.11.1 Data collected at 2 hours	185
7.11.2 Data collected at each time point	186
7.11.3 Data collection at 4 to 24 hours	187
7.12.1 Measurement quality life & Hospital anxiety & depres	sion 189
7.13.1 ELISA sandwich technique	192
7.13.2 Protocol for the ELISA procedure	193
7.13.3 Layout of the ELISA plate	194
7.13.4 Method for reading the EAISA plates	195
7.14.1 Procedure for disposal of samples	197

# Results

Chapter 8 – Demographics and Pain groups	198 - 248
8.1.1 Consort diagram for participation in the study	199
8.2.4 Age of patient diagnosed with sepsis	211
8.3.2 Change in pain score from enrolment to 24 hours	223
8.3.3 Change in pain score significant pain group	224
8.4.1 a - c Procedural data for patients	231 - 233

8.4.2 Patient factors for all arms	234
8.4.5 Gender ratio by pain score	239
8.4.6 Least and most pain expected and recalled	242
8.4.9 Pain score from enrolment to a year after cholecystectomy	248

# Chapter 9 – Cytokines

249 - 272

9.1.1 Cytokine concentration in the biliary emergency patients	250
9.1.2 Cytokines in emergency patients undergoing ERCP	253
9.1.3 Cytokines in emergency patients developing sepsis	254
9.2.1 Cytokine concentration in the ERCP patients	257
9.2.2 Cytokines in ERCP patients who underwent cholecystectomy	260
9.3.1 Cytokines in elective cholecystectomy patients	262
9.3.2 Cytokines in elective laparoscopic cholecystectomy patients	263
9.3.3 Cytokines in elective open cholecystectomy patients	264
9.3.4 Model for change in inflammatory cytokine concentration	268
9.3.5 Model for change of IL-10 in relation to IL-6	269

#### Chapter 10 – Pain 273 - 277 10.1.1 VAS score in the biliary emergency patients 275 10.1.2 VAS in the pancreatitis and obstructive jaundice – sepsis 277 10.2.1 VAS score after first and second ERCP 280 10.2.2 Least and most expected and recalled pain after ERC 282 10.3.2 VAS score after elective cholecystectomy 286 10.3.3 VAS score in the laparoscopic cholecystectomy patients 287 10.3.4 VAS score in the open cholecystectomy patients 288 10.3.5 Model for change in VAS relative to cytokine concentration 293

# Chapter 11 - Quality of life & Hospital Anxiety and Depression295 - 32611.1.2 Hospital Anxiety and Depression Score29911.1.5 Quality of life domains distinguishing between pain groups30511.1.8 Change SF-36 domain score enrolment, 12 & 26 week 314 - 31611.1.9 Change in GIQLI at enrolment, 12 & 26 weeks317 - 31811.1.10 Change in HAD score at enrolment, 12 & 26 weeks319

# Discussion

Chapter 12 – Discussion 327	- 353
12.1.1 Proposal for factors affecting the cytokine response	328
12.1.2 a Hypothesis influencing cytokine response ERCP patients	337
12.1.2 b Hypothesis influencing cytokine unsuccessful ERCP	338
12.1.3 Hypothesis influencing cytokine response cholecystectomy	339
12.2.1 Hypothesis for pain score change in those developing sepsi	s 344

# Appendices

Appendix 1 – Quality of life questionnaires Appendix 2 – Conclusions from the pilot study	
Biliary emergency patient information study plan	375 - 376
ERCP patient information study plan	379 - 380
Cholecystectomy patient information study plan	383 - 384
Previous ERCP patient information study plan	387 - 388
Cholecystectomy and OTC patient information study plan	391 - 392
Urgent investigations patient information study plan	395 - 396
Healthy controls patient information study plan	399 - 400
Appendix 4 - Consent Forms	401 - 408
Appendix 5 – Pro forma for Data Collection	409 - 441
Appendix 6 – VAS Scoring Sheet	442 - 443
VAS scoring sheet	442
VAS least and worst scoring sheet	
<b>Appendix 7 – Detailed instructions for cytokines ELISA</b>	444 - 452

# Bibliography

453 - 544

# List of abbreviations

- ALP Alkaline phosphatase
- ALT Alanine transaminase
- ANOVA Analysis of variance
- APACHE Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation
- ARDS Acute respiratory distress syndrome
- AST Aspartate aminotransferase
- AU Adenine uracil base pair
- BMI Basal metabolic index
- CARS Compensatory anti-inflammatory response syndrome
- **CBD** Common bile duct
- Chole Cholecystectomy
- Chi-squared test Pearson's chi-squared test
- circRNAs Circular RNAs
- CO<sub>2</sub> Carbon dioxide
- **COX-2** Cycloxygenase-2
- **CRP** C reactive protein
- DAMPs Damage associated molecular patterns
- DIC Disseminated intravascular coagulation
- EAISA Enzyme amplified sensitivity immunoassay
- ELISA Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay
- ERCP Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography
- Fi Fraction inspired
- G CSF Granulocyte colony stimulating factor
- GGT Gamma-glutamyl transferase
- GI Gastrointestinal
- GIQLI Gastrointestinal quality of life index
- GM-CSF Granulocyte-macrophage stimulating factor
- H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>- Hydrogen peroxide
- H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>- Sulphuric acid
- HAD Hospital Anxiety and Depression score
- HPFB Human peritoneal fibroblasts
- HPMC Human peritoneal mesothelial cell

HRP – Horseradish peroxidase

HRQOL – Health related quality of life

Hrs - Hours

ICAM – Intercellular adhesion molecule

IFN - Interferon

IL - Interleukin

IL-1Ra – Interleukin 1 receptor antagonist

iNOS – Inducible nitric oxide synthase

ITU – Intensive care unit

kDa - Kilodalton

Kg – Kilogram

Lap. - Laparoscopic

LFT – Liver function test

**IncRNA** – Long non-coding RNAs

LPM – Large peritoneal macrophages

LPS - Lipopolysaccharide

M - Male

M – Abs – Monoclonal antibody

mls – millilitres

mL – was used for the singular as the L was confusing for a 1 in lower case

mmHg – Millimeters mercury

MAP – Mean arterial pressure

MAPK – Mitogen activated protein kinase

MARS – Mixed antagonist response syndrome

MCS – Mental component score

Mg/dL – Milligram per decilitre

MHC – Major histocompatibility complex

Mild pain group – VAS less than 4 usually based on enrollment score

Mins - Minutes

MMDS – Mitochondrial distress syndrome

**Mmol/L** – Milli-mole per litre

**MODS** – Multiple organ dysfunction syndrome

mRNA – Messenger ribonucleic acid

miRNAs - Micro RNAs

**n** – Number in a specified group

nm – Nanometers

 $NF-\kappa B$  – Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells

NK – Natural killer

**NO** – Nitric oxide

NSAID - Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs

OTC – On table cholangiogram

P – Patient sample of the EASIA plate

p - value - Calculated probability

Pa – Partial pressure

PAF – platelet activating factor

PAMPs - Pathogen-associated molecular patterns

PCS – Physical component score

pg/mL – Picogrammes/mililitre

 $Q \ of \ L \ / \ Qo L \$  - Quality of life

**RAGE** – Receptors for advanced glycation end products

RAND – Research and Development a global policy think tank

RANTES - Regulated on activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted

S – Standard sample on the EASIA plate

SD - Standard deviation

Severe pain group - VAS less than / equal to 7 usually based on enrollment score

SF-36 - Short-form-36

Significant pain experienced – Patient experienced more pain & had poorer QofL

Significant pain manageable - Patient experienced less pain & had better QofL

Significant pain group – VAS 4 to less than 7 usually based on enrollment score

SIRS - Systemic inflammatory response syndrome

SOFA – Sequential Organ Failure Assessment

**SPM** – Small peritoneal macrophages

**sTNFR** – Soluble TNF receptors

**T-cell** – Thymus originated cells

TGF - Transforming growth factor

Th – T helper

TMB - Tetramethylbenzidine

TNF – Tumour necrosis factor

TNFR – Tumour necrosis factor receptor

**TRAF** – TNF associated factors

**TT** – Thrombin time

**T-Test** – Student's T-test

 $\mathbf{V}-\mathbf{V}olunteer$  control on the EASIA plate

VAS – Visual analogue scale

VCAM – Vascular adhesion molecule

**VRS** – Verbal rating score

Vs - Versus

WCC – White cell count

# Introduction

# Chapter 1 – Gallstone disease

# **1.1 Gallstones**

Gallstone disease affects 10 - 15% of the adult population. Acute referrals with gallstone disease have increased over the last 10 years. The exact reason for this is unclear Table 1.1.1 highlights possible factors and mortality risk factors. Cholesterol stones are the commonest type of stone; the exact mechanism of formation remains unclear, Table 1.1.2 details proposed factors. Table 1.1.3 demonstrates the commonest presentations.

# Reasons for the increasing prevalence of gallstone disease

Possible reasons for increased gallstone disease
Females / multiple pregnancies
Diet / obesity / rapid weight loss
Diagnostic accuracy
Ageing population
Dehydration as incidence increases in the summer
American Indians and Northern Europeans have the highest incidence of
stones, with increased prevalence of many of the above factors
Mortality
-
Rare
Rare Predominantly in elderly due to biliary complications, and surgery to treat
Rare Predominantly in elderly due to biliary complications, and surgery to treat complications
Rare Predominantly in elderly due to biliary complications, and surgery to treat complications Renewed interest in percutaneous cholecystotomy in high risk patients with
Rare Predominantly in elderly due to biliary complications, and surgery to treat complications Renewed interest in percutaneous cholecystotomy in high risk patients with cholecystitis
Rare Predominantly in elderly due to biliary complications, and surgery to treat complications Renewed interest in percutaneous cholecystotomy in high risk patients with cholecystitis Mortality with gallstone pancreatitis
Rare Predominantly in elderly due to biliary complications, and surgery to treat complications Renewed interest in percutaneous cholecystotomy in high risk patients with cholecystitis Mortality with gallstone pancreatitis 0.7% for mild to moderate disease

**Table 1.1.1:** Potential factors responsible for increasing gallstone disease, and the populations where they are most prevalent (Bardiya *et al.*, 2016 and Stinton and Shaffer, 2012). Risk factors for mortality are given as well as treatment (Nesvaderani *et al.*, 2015 and Zarour *et al.*, 2017).

# Potential mechanism for cholesterol stone formation

Potential mechanisms of cholesterol stone formation
Imbalance and alteration in secretion of biliary lipids
Biochemical and immunological reactions in the gall bladder producing
biliary sludge (mucins)
Changes in the structure of cholesterol (crystallization)
Altered gall bladder and intestinal motility
Cholesterol absorption within the intestine
Maximal stone growth is seen in the first 3 years then stabilises
85% of stones are less than 20mm in diameter

**Table 1.1.2:** Cholesterol stones are the commonest type; the exact mechanism of formation is unclear. Possible mechanisms are shown in the table and could be interplay between one or more factors (Castro-Torres *et al.*, 2015).

# Presentation of gallstone disease

Presentation			
Asymptomatic			
-	– Majority		
-	- 1 – 4% move from this group in the first 5 years after being		
	diagnosed stabilising at 20% by 20 years		
Symptomatic			
-	- 90% present with pain		
-	<ul> <li>Once symptomatic increased risk of complications</li> </ul>		
-	- Diagnostic dilemma to match symptoms to presence of stones		
Complications			
-	Acute cholecystitis		
-	- Common bile duct stones with or without pancreatitis / cholangitis		
-	Gallstone ileus		
-	Associated gall bladder cancer 1:1000 patient / year too low to		
	justify cholecystectomy, except in American Indian population or		
	stones over 30mm		

**Table 1.1.3:** Presentation of gallstones in the western population (Stinton andShaffer, 2012 and Newman *et al.*, 1968).

# 1.2 Laparoscopic and open cholecystectomy

Comparative data on surgery is limited by patients demand for laparoscopic surgery, bias toward reporting more favourable data on laparoscopic surgery, selection bias of low risk patients for the laparoscopic approach, and absence of data on long term follow up for either modality. Table 1.2.1 compares the two approaches. Variation in anatomy, particularly during the learning curve, is a problem with laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Duct injury frequently goes unrecognised and is seven to eight times more common after laparoscopic surgery (rate 0.1 - 0.2%) (van der Voot *et al.*, 2004, Cope *et al.*, 2015 Bernard and Hartman, 1993). Reduced immune and metabolic response following laparoscopic surgery possibly allows progression toward sepsis prior to homeostatic responses occurring, and may account for later presentations after the laparoscopic approach (Bishoff *et al.*, 1999).

# Comparison of the open and laparoscopic cholecystectomy

Open cholecystectomy	Common	Laparoscopic cholecystectomy
First performed over 100	Common	First performed in France 1987
years ago	operative steps	86 – 90% procedures now
		performed by this route in Europe
		and North America
Kocher's incision	Pre-operative	3 or 4, 5 or 10mm incisions
	ERCP or intra-	
	operative	
	cholangiogram	
	can be performed	
5 day hospitalization and 3 -		Day case or 1 night and 1 -2 weeks
6 weeks convalescence		hospitalisation
Morbidity 3.6%	Overall mortality	Morbidity 1.2%
With CBD exploration 7%	for ERCP for	With CBD exploration 7.2%
Mortality 0.3%	comparison	Mortality 0.15%
With CBD exploration 1.6%	0.313%	With CBD exploration 1.2%
Bowel injury 0.13%		Following the learning curve
		morbidity and mortality is around
		access problems 1.2% significant
		bleeding and 0.7%
		- Hasson approach 0.02% vascular
		injury and 0.5% bowel
		- Verres 0.44% vascular and 0.7%
		bowel

**Table 1.2.1:** Table of comparison of open versus laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Men have twice the mortality rate of women, and emergency procedures have four times the mortality of elective procedures, although this is decreasing. Mortality and morbidity figures around access problems, from Aashu *et al.*, 2016 and Krishnakumar and Tambe, 2009 and open Fletcher *et al.*, 1999). Electrocautery injury tends to present later than trocar injury (days as opposed to hours to days) (Alkatout *et al.*, 2012). Perforation and bile spillage is more common in laparoscopic procedures (Ros *et al.*, 2001). Morbidity and Mortality data from Lee *et al.* (2014), Sandblom *et al.*, (2015) Ransohoff and Gracie, (1993), Scollay *et al.*, (2011).

# 1.3 Endoscopic Retrograde Cholangiopancreatography

Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) was first performed by Mc Cune in 1968. Classen and Demling from Germany and Kawai from Japan performed the first endoscopic sphincterotomy for biliary and pancreatic disorders in 1972. Procedures now include accessory techniques performed on biliary and pancreatic ducts such as endoprosthesis or stent placement, dilatation of stenotic ducts, basket and balloon stone extraction, and lithotripsy

Common duct stones increase with patient age, with 8 - 15% under 60 years, and 15 - 60% over 60 years having stones within the duct. Investigations are prompted by evidence of jaundice, recent pancreatitis or dilated common duct on imaging studies. In experienced hands the success rate of ERCP approaches 90 to 95\%. Due to associated morbidity and mortality ERCP is used selectively, where investigations such as MRCP indicate clinical benefit. Complications of ERCP are detailed in table 1.3.1.

# **Complications following ERCP**

# **ERCP** complications

# Asymptomatic hyperamylasaemia

Between 25 - 75% patients undergoing ERCP, higher concentrations occurring in therapeutic procedures (Choudhary *et al.,* 2011,Freeman 2007)

# Acute pancreatitis

Approximately 2 - 4% of patients, usually rapidly resolves, 30% progresses to severe pancreatitis

Placement of prophylactic stents decreased the risk of pancreatitis in low and highrisk patients. Stent failure rate of 4 – 10% (Choudhary *et al.*, 2011,Freeman 2007)

# Acute necrotizing pancreatitis (ANP)

Causes 25% of the ERCP mortality, ANP following ERCP has a higher rate of mortality due to higher rate of infected necrosis and systemic inflammatory response (Wozniak *et al.*, 2001)

# Perforation

Bile or pancreatic duct or duodenum approximately 0.6% (Fatima *et al.,* 2007, Wu *et al.,* 2006)

Erect chest x-ray is a common early investigation, but free air occurs on 13 -29% of films and is not an indication for intervention. Contrast CT can aid diagnosis particularly of retroperitoneal perforations from sphincterotomy or guide wire manipulation. Intraperitoneal perforation occurs from endoscopic trauma or stent impaction (Fatima *et al.,* 2007, Wu *et al.,* 2006).

# Biloma

Encapsulated collection of bile (biloma) occasionally seen with bile duct perforation (Fatima *et al.,* 2007)

# Post-sphincterotomy bleeding

2%, severe bleeding in 0.1 – 0.5% cases. Immediate bleeding occurs in 30%, documented up to 2 weeks post procedure (Szary and Al-Kawas, 2013) Multivariate analysis identified coagulopathy, anticoagulation within 3 days of endoscopic sphincterotomy, cholangitis before ERCP, bleeding during initial endoscopic sphincterotomy, and a lower case volume as risk factors for haemorrhage. Patient factors such as liver cirrhosis, dilated common bile ducts, peri-ampullary diverticulum, precut sphincterotomy, and common bile duct stones appear to increase the risk of post sphincterotomy bleeding (Szary and Al-Kawas, 2013, Ferreira and Baron, 2007).

**Table 1.3.1:** Commonest complications encountered following ERCP.

# Introduction

# Chapter 2 - Sepsis

# 2.1 Inflammatory response

Inflammation is a rapid highly amplified controlled humoral and cellular response. It consists of four parts detailed in Figure 2.1.1, with the classical signs of inflammation and resolution in Figure 2.1.2, in cartoon form.

# The Inflammatory process and underlying clinical process



**Figure 2.1.1:** The response to inflammation of any cause is characterised by the same four processes. The clinical signs seen are an interaction of these four processes (ib.BioNinja.com.au).

# **Classical signs of inflammation and resolution**



Nature Reviews | Immunology

**Figure 2.1.2:** The four classical signs of inflammation described by Celsus and the fifth added by Virchow as loss of function. The signs of resolution are also described (Basil and Levy, 2016).

The American College of Chest Physicians and Society of Critical Care Medicine, in 1992, introduced definitions for systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS), sepsis, severe sepsis, septic shock and multiple organ dysfunction syndrome (MODS) Figure 2.1.3 and 2.1.4 demonstrate the inter-relationship (Bone *et al.*, 1992). Table 2.1.5 highlights that SIRS can be elevated by factors other than sepsis, and infection can occur without sepsis. Sepsis triggers a SIRS response, with a compensatory anti-inflammatory response (CARS) and a mixed antagonist response (MARS), which can progress to multiple organ dysfunction (MODS). If there is a secondary insult this can progress to death, with supportive care in the absence of resolution can occur. Table 2.1.6 details the three major flaws in the definitions (Vincent *et al.*, 2013).

The most recent definition of sepsis is as a life-threatening organ dysfunction, caused by a deregulated host response to infection. There is refinement of definitions; the term 'severe sepsis' has been removed, and septic shock has become a subset of sepsis in which particularly profound circulatory, cellular, and metabolic abnormalities are associated with a greater risk of mortality than with sepsis alone (Third International Consensus Definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock (2016)).

# The interrelationship between sepsis, systemic inflammatory response syndrome and infection



**Figure 2.1.3:** The inter-relationship between sepsis, systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) and infection. The diagram highlights that sepsis is the presence of infectious organism with elevated SIRS. The SIRS markers can be elevated due to non-infectious causes, but this is not sepsis (Bone *et al.,* 1992). They have formed the foundation of the Surviving Sepsis Guidelines, the most recent of which was published in January 2017 (De Backer and Dorman, 2017).

# The progression from initial septic insult through multi-organ dysfunction to resolution or death



**Figure 2.1.4:** The pendulum and spectrum of systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS), compensatory anti-inflammatory response syndrome (CARS) and mixed antagonist response syndrome (MARS). Tissue insult / injury triggers a triad of systems encompassing the macrophage cytokines and endothelial cells. This results in SIRS/CARS/MARS, which results in end-organ dysfunction. This can progress to multiple organ dysfunction syndrome (MODS) particularly when aggravated by a second hit (another tissue insult/injury), or can move towards resolution particularly when second hits are avoided (Davies and Hagen, 1997).

# Systemic inflammatory response syndrome criteria and definition of

se	psis

	SIRS criteria – 2 or	more of the following	
Heart rate	> 9	0 bpm	
Temperature	> 38°C	or < 36°C	
Respiratory rate	> 20 breaths per minute		
Or PaCO2	< 32 mm Hg		
White blood cell count	12 000 / mm3 or < 4 000 / mm3		
Band forms	> 10% band forms		
Definitions			
First criteria	With	ls	
	Suspected or		
2 or more <b>SIRS</b> criteria	present form of	Sepsis	
	infection		
	Lactic acidosis or		
	SBP < 90 mm Hg, or		
	SBP drop ≥ 40 of		
Sepsis	normal, organ	Severe sepsis	
	dysfunction,		
	hypotension or		
	hypoperfusion		
	Hypotension despite		
Severe sepsis	adequate fluid	Septic shock	
	resuscitation		

**Table 2.1.5:** The systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) criteria andthe definition of sepsis, severe sepsis and septic shock from 1992.

# Proposal for the a new definition of sepsis and the reasons for change

Major flaws in the 1992 American College of Chest Physicians and	
Society of Critical Care Medicine catalysing subsequent revision	

- The definition is too sensitive, with almost all patients in intensive care units meeting the criteria of the diagnosis

- The definition does not differentiate between the normal beneficial host response and the pathologic host response producing organ dysfunction

- It doesn't distinguish between the role of infection in the inflammatory response and noninfectious insults causing a similar inflammatory response

# Proposed changes in the definition of sepsis

Sepsis is the host's deleterious, non resolving inflammatory response to infection that leads to organ dysfunction

Definition of sepsis used in this study from the Sepsis 4 campaign

Sepsis is a life threatening organ dysfunction caused by deregulated host response to infection

**Table 2.1.6:** The changes in the definition of sepsis and the reasons for the changes (Vincent *et al.*, 2013). This is similar to the definition of severe sepsis and severe SIRS, with worsening organ dysfunction due to over activation of the inflammatory response due to infection or insult. The definition encompasses an entity that is of significant concern. Sepsis is a significant consumer of resources, cause of complications, and significantly impact on patient's lives, and on future mortality. Survivors have an increased mortality for the following 8 years compared with age-matched non-septic critical care survivors (Dreiher *et al.*, 2012). Sepsis 4 definition of sepsis used in this study (Napolitano, 2018).

# 2.2 Sepsis

The severity of sepsis was described by Hippocrates in 400 BC when he noted 'in acute diseases, coldness of the extremities is a very bad sign'. Sepsis is the leading cause of death in most intensive care units world wide, despite improvements in antimicrobial therapy and supportive care. In the UK in 2013 - 2014 the incidence of sepsis was 230 cases per 100,000 of the population with a mortality rate of 42,338 / year (The UK Sepsis Trust 2015). The incidence of sepsis increases with age, as does mortality, being 80% in those aged over 65 years. Taking only the most overt costs it is estimated that sepsis in the US in 2011 cost \$20 billion dollars (Agency for Healthcare research, 2013). Reason for the increasing rate is due to improvements in diagnosis and earlier recognition, but there is thought to be an increase in the number of cases, for reasons given in Table 2.2.1 (Scottish intensive care society, 2018).
# Reasons proposed for the increase in the cases of sepsis

# Reasons for the increase in cases of sepsis

Increased use of invasive monitoring devices

Improved reliability in diagnosing sepsis

Improved patient survival of the initial trigger e.g. surgery or trauma

Increased prevalence of patients with iatrogenic or pathological disorders of the immune system

Ageing population

# Reasons for the increased mortality

Mortality from the primary diagnosis is less common with advancements in ITU care

Mortality is frequently due to the progressive organ dysfunction

Patients with multiple organ dysfunction and aggressive organ support fail to respond

Sepsis treatment is still, despite advancements mainly supportive

Sepsis more frequently occurs in the immunocompromised including those with chronic illness and older patients, these groups are more common in society and have a higher mortality

**Table 2.2.1:** Reasons proposed for the increase in sepsis based on the work of Crowe *et al.*, (1998). The increase in mortality with sepsis is related to the increase in sepsis, and is an area of active research (Bone, 1996 a, The UK Sepsis Trust, 2015, Scottish intensive care society, 2018).

Epidemiological studies indicate, gender as an in independent prognostic variable. Up until the menopause females are less susceptible to sepsis and have over twice the survival (Schröder *et al.*, 1998, Kisat *et al.*, 2013). Cytokine analysis has demonstrated a higher early and late pro-inflammatory cytokines in males, whereas females have increased anti-inflammatory cytokines, possibly limiting the inflammatory response (Reade *et al.*, 2009). Wichmann and colleagues, (2003), and Scotland's team (2011) demonstrated surgery causes significant depression of immune competent cells in males. Translating into reduced immunological competence of host defences (Newsome *et al.*, 2011). X-chromosome mosaicism diversifies immune response during entoxaemia. Immune cells have sex hormone receptors such as the oestrogen receptor  $\beta$  on immune cells, important in immuno-protection in females (Angele *et al.*, 2014). This is important in preserving the gastrointestinal barrier function in systemic infection, a common cause of morbidity and mortality.

Sexual diamorphism is only important in the most severely injured patients, in this group 60% of males and 24% of females died of multiple organ failure from uncontrolled inflammatory response (Oberholzer, *et al.*, 2000 a). Speculating in the less severely injured patients the immune system has sufficient reserves to control the sexual diamorphism. This is harder to prove in patients where multiple factors interplay (Angele *et al.*, 2014).

From The Surviving Sepsis Guidelines published January 2017 and updated in 2018, there has also been increasing evidence for bundles of care, with early delivery within the first hour improving survival (Levy *et al.*, 2018). This includes the 'Sepsis six' with commencement of resuscitation and management simultaneously, rather than awaiting the outcome of extended resuscitation, particularly in the presence of hypotension (De Backer and Dorman, 2017). This includes sending blood for culture and commencing broad-spectrum antibiotics, correction of hypotension with fluid boluses, and where required the early commencement of vasopressors, and the measurement of lactate. The need to tailor the antibiotic therapy earlier has led to the rapid advance in molecular characterisation of the organism causing sepsis (Mancini *et al.* 2015).

Diagnosis of sepsis can be very difficult, and there are a number of different scoring systems to try and promote early diagnosis. In 2016 in the UK, the National Institute for

Health and Care Excellence (NICE, 2016) has published guidance on the recognition, diagnosis, and early management of sepsis, which includes specific criteria for risk stratification of adults with suspected sepsis, Table 2.2.2. This is the criteria for assessing managing adults in hospital. NICE have also produced criteria for managing children of different ages, and special groups of adults (e.g. pregnant patients), in and out of hospital and adults out of hospital.

# The NICE criteria – Sepsis risk stratification tool

Low risk of severe illness or death from sepsis:
Normal behaviour
No history of acute deterioration of functional ability, impaired immunity, or
trauma/surgery in the past 6 weeks
Normal respiratory rate (i.e., less than 21 breaths per minute) and no oxygen
requirement to maintain saturation
Normal blood pressure (i.e., systolic blood pressure greater than 100 mmHg)
Normal heart rate (i.e., less than or equal to 90 beats per minute; less than100 beats
per minute in pregnant women) and no new onset arrhythmias
Normal urine output in the past 18 hours
Normal temperature
No non-blanching rash

#### Moderate to high risk of severe illness or death from sepsis:

History of new onset of altered behaviour or mental state (reported by patient, friend, or relative)

History of acute deterioration of functional ability

Impaired immunity (e.g., from illness or drugs, including oral steroids)

Trauma, surgery, or invasive procedures in the past 6 weeks

Respiratory rate 21-24 breaths per minute.

Systolic blood pressure 91-100 mmHg

Heart rate 91-130 beats per minute (100-130 beats per minute in pregnant women), or new onset arrhythmia

No urine passed in previous 12 - 18 hours (for catheterised patients, 0.5 - 1.0 mL / kg of urine passed per hour)

Tympanic temperature less than 36°C

Signs of potential infection (e.g., redness, swelling or discharge at surgical site, or breakdown of wound)

**Table 2.2.2:** Sepsis risk stratification tool from the NICE criteria, continued overleaf.

# The NICE criteria – Sepsis risk stratification tool (continued)

#### High risk of severe illness or death from sepsis:

Objective evidence of new altered mental state

Respiratory rate greater than or equal to 25 breaths per minute

New need for oxygen (greater than 40% FiO2) to maintain saturation greater than

92% (or greater than 88% in known chronic obstructive pulmonary disease)

Systolic blood pressure less than or equal to 90 mmHg, or systolic blood pressure greater than 40 mmHg below normal

Heart rate greater than130 beats per minute

No urine passed in previous 18 hours (for catheterised patients, less than 0.5 mL / kg of urine passed per hour)

Mottled or ashen appearance; cyanosis of skin, lips, or tongue; non-blanching rash of skin

Management
Low risk criteria or 1 moderate to high risk criterion
Clinical assessment and consider bloods
Act on definitive diagnosis
Consultant review within 3 hours and consider antibiotics
1 or more high risk criterion or 2 or more moderate to high risk criterion
Review by senior clinical decision maker
Venous blood: - blood gas for glucose and lactate, blood cultures, FBC, CRP, U & E
and creatinine, clotting screen
Intravenous (iv) broad spectrum antibiotics
Lactate < 2 mmol / L – Consider iv fluid bolus within 1 hour
2 – 4 mmol / L – Give iv fluid bolus within 1 hour
4 mmol / L or systolic BP <90 mmHg – Give 500 ml over < 15 minutes
and discuss with ITU
Carry out continuous monitoring, if not possible observations every 30 minutes
Consultant review

**Table 2.2.2:** Sepsis: recognition, diagnosis and early management for adults inhospital (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2016) NICEGuidelines.

Bone (1996 b), proposed a three-stage progression in the development of systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) Table 2.2.3. This complex interplay has been developed further with the identification that sepsis commences as a process of 'Malignant intravascular inflammation'. This is countered by a rapid protective response to prevent microorganism invasion. If the defensive response is deficient, by being either excessive or poorly regulated this can harm the organism. Figure 2.2.4 demonstrates this in cartoon form.

#### Systemic Inflammatory Response Syndrome (SIRS)

#### Stage1

Initially the body releases pro-inflammatory cytokines into the local environment.

Act to promote recruitment of defence cells, and promote wound repair, to limit the proliferation and invasion of pathogenic organisms.

Anti-inflammatory cytokines are then released to limit the local damage.

#### Stage 2

Local infection cannot be contained small amounts of inflammatory cytokines enter the systemic circulation.

Macrophages, neutrophils, T and B cells, platelets and coagulation factors are recruited, in the acute-phase reaction.

Phase ends with a fall in the pro-inflammatory mediators and an increase in endogenous antagonists, for example IL-1 receptor antagonists.

- Cytokine production is tightly regulated by anti-inflammatory cytokines, receptor antagonists, and antibodies.
- Concentration of these antagonists are 30-100 000 fold greater than their respective cytokines (Suffredini *et al.,* 1989).
- Together they act to decrease production, and counter the effects of cytokines already released, to maintain healing, and clear infection, and ultimately to restore homeostasis.
- If homeostasis cannot be restored then stage 3 or SIRS is triggered.

Stage 3

Loss of regulation of the pro-inflammatory response, where the cytokines effect is destructive as opposed to protective.

System is flooded with inflammatory mediators, and the following changes are seen:

- Endothelial cell integrity is lost leading to increased microvascular permeability.
- Platelets clump blocking the microcirculation, altering blood flow distribution and possibly progress to tissue ischaemia, cellular hypoxia and reperfusion injury.
- The coagulation cascade is activated, while the protein C/ protein S inhibitory pathway is down regulated.
- Profound vasodilation, fluid transduction, and maldistribution of blood flow results in circulatory malfunction and shock.
- Depression of myocardial contractility, probably secondary to paracrine production of nitric oxide, coronary non-occlusive microvascular damage and myocyte injury

Failure to gain control at this point leads to multiple organ dysfunction and ultimately death

**Table 2.2.3:** Proposed three-stage progression in the development of systemic sepsis (Bone, 1996b). Figure 2.2.4 demonstrates this in cartoon form.

# Cartoon of the stages of sepsis



**Figure 2.2.4:** The cartoon represents the stages of progression to the development of sepsis. The infective organism stimulating the release of pro-inflammatory mediators, to limit the local damage (stage 1), if this continues and cannot be contained then mediators, such as cytokines, are released systemically. These promote the recruitment of white cells and coagulation factors, and steps to dampen down the inflammatory response and restore haemostasis (stage 2). Loss of regulation of the pro-inflammatory response (stage 3), and inflammatory mediators flood the system. Endothelial cell integrity is lost, leading to micro-vascular permeability, platelet clumping causing tissue ischaemia and reperfusion injury, and activation of the coagulation cascade. Profound vasodilation and circulatory malfunction and shock occur, with depression of myocardial contractility, and myocyte injury mediated through nitric oxide. Failure to restore haemostasis leads to multiple organ dysfunction and death. (De Cruz *et al.*, 2009).

Lipid A and other bacterial products stimulate a localised response, with the release of pro-inflammatory mediators. If this cannot be contained, mediators such as pro-inflammatory cytokines are released systemically to recruit monocytes and macrophages to initiate the release of interleukins, tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$ , interferon gamma (IFN- $\gamma$ ), and other colony-stimulating factors within minutes to hours. The inflammatory mediators are tightly regulated with receptor antagonists and antibodies to restore haemostasis. If the pro-inflammatory mediators are not controlled the cytokine effect can become destructive. Lipopolysaccharides, and cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 and IFN- $\gamma$ , act on the inducible form of nitric oxide synthase in endothelium, vascular smooth muscle, macrophages and different parenchymal cells to produce nitric oxide (NO). Excessive NO enhances bacterial destruction, but also profound vasodilation, activation of inflammatory cascades and depression of cardiac function (De Cruz *et al.*, 2009). Figure 2.2.5 details the response initiated.

This ultimately leads to multi organ dysfunction (MODS), associated with widespread endothelial and parenchymal cell injury, but the exact mechanism remains to be elucidated. Four potential mechanisms are proposed shown in Table 2.2.6. Various host factors are important in surviving sepsis; these are detailed in Table 2.2.7.

#### Infection initiates the release pro-inflammatory mediator and nitric

oxide



Figure 2.2.5: Infection initiates the release of pro-inflammatory mediators, which if unchecked induce inducible nitric oxide in endothelium, vascular smooth muscle, macrophages and different parenchymal cells to produce nitric oxide (NO). NO enhances bacterial destruction, but also has a profound vasodilation, activation of inflammatory cascades and depression of cardiac function resulting in multi-organ dysfunction (MODS). The coagulation cascade is activated generating fibrin, producing microvascular thrombi in various organs, contributing to MODS. Organ failure can affect any organ, and can be the first sign of sepsis. Mortality increasing as organ failure increases. MODS causes the deregulation of both the pro-and anti-inflammatory pathways. Potentially it is the failure of homeostasis which is the final step of sepsis to MODS, rather than simple hypotension-induced end-organ injury, as may occur with hemorrhagic shock. Survival of MODS requires interventions to reduce the pro- and antiinflammatory. Hypo-responsiveness of end organs is potentially an adaptive response to overwhelming inflammation, allowing inflammation to clear without permanent end-organ damage (De Cruz et al., 2009).

Potential	mechanisms for multi-organ dysfunction
	Circulating septic lesion disrupts: - tissue oxygenation,
	metabolic regulation of tissue oxygen delivery,
	contributes to organ dysfunction.
Hypoxic hypoxia	Micro-vascular and endothelial abnormalities contribute
	to the septic microcirculatory defect. Reactive oxygen
	species, lytic enzymes, vasoactive substances (e.g., NO
	and endothelial growth factors) cause microcirculatory
	injury, which compounds the altered erythrocyte
	circulation in septic microcirculation
	Endotoxin, TNF- $\alpha$ , and NO damage mitochondrial
	electron transport, leading to disordered energy
Direct cytotoxicity	metabolism, cytopathic or histotoxic anoxia. Causing an
	inability to utilize oxygen even when it is present
	Usual mechanism by which dysfunctional cells are
	normally eliminated. Pro-inflammatory cytokines alter
	apoptosis, delaying it in activated macrophages and
Apoptosis	neutrophils, and accelerating it in other tissues such as
	gut epithelium. Together this plays a critical role in the
	tissue injury of sepsis
	Interaction between pro-inflammatory and anti-
	inflammatory mediators leads to an imbalance between
Immunosuppression	them. An inflammatory reaction or an immunodeficiency
	may predominate, or both may be present

# Potential mechanisms for multi-organ dysfunction

**Table 2.2.6:** The table details the four potential mechanisms for multi-organdysfunction that are proposed.

# Host factors important in determining the outcome of sepsis

Important host factors in determining the outcome of sepsis
Old age ≥ 65 years
Male
Host genetic characteristics from single nucleotide polymorphism and
immune cell variation, and cytokine polymorphism
Noscomial acquisition
Solid tumours or haematological malignancy
Pulmonary, renal and liver disease but not cardiovascular disease
Co-existing infections – Pneumonia, UTI, intra-abdominal infections,
pathogens other than <i>E. coli</i>
Alcoholism
Neutropaenia
Corticosteroids
Recent surgery
Urinary catheters or other lines for access
Inappropriate antibiotics commenced initially or broad spectrum
antibiotics to which organism resistant
Host in severe sepsis or septic shock
Microbial load

**Table 2.2.7:** Host factors interplay with the pathogen in determining the outcome of sepsis. Initiation of inflammatory responses occurs between pathogen-associated molecular patterns expressed by pathogens, and pattern recognition receptors expressed by host cells at the cell surface. The consequence of the exaggerated inflammatory response is collateral tissue damage and necrotic cell death. This results in the release of damage-associated molecular patterns, so-called danger molecules that perpetuate inflammation at least in part by acting on the same pattern-recognition receptors triggered by pathogens (Angus and van der Poll, 2013).

#### 2.3 Dysfunction of organ systems in SIRS

#### Circulatory derangement

Commonly found in sepsis is derangement of auto-regulation of the circulation. Mediators like NO, increase vasodilation and micro-vascular permeability at the site of infection, inhibition of vasopressin secretion permits persistence of vasodilatation (Antonucci *et al.*, 2014).

Pro-inflammatory cytokines, and endotoxin are proposed to reset ventricular performance, through the action of NO. During sepsis excess NO causes ventricular dysfunction by three routes; it decreases both calcium trafficking during systole (decreasing contractility), calcium flux during diastole (causing abnormal cardiac filling), together these cause increased left ventricular end diastolic pressure. Finally NO decreases the sensitivity of the myocardium to endogenous adrenergic ligands altering the second messenger systems response. Pre-existing cardiac disease limits this response. Vascular endothelium is highly responsive to inflammatory mediators, and permeability increases, leading to widespread protein-rich tissue oedema. Redistribution of intravascular fluid volume, from reduced arterial tone, diminished venous return from venous dilation, and release of myocardial depressant substances causes hypotension.

At end organ level there is interference with normal distribution of systemic blood flow, reducing oxygen delivery, and causing regional hypo-perfusion. Vasodilator therapies try to overcome this. Failure to do so causes mitochondrial dysfunction and is often associated with reduced mitochondrial trans-membrane potential gradients and decreased aerobic metabolism (Turillazzi *et al.*, 2016). Potentially this is cyto-protective, similar to hibernation, or could be primary mitochondrial pathology due to sepsis (Cimolai *et al.*, 2015). Termed microcirculatory and mitochondrial distress syndrome (MMDS) (Harrois *et al.*, 2009), the sepsis-induced inflammatory auto-regulatory dysfunction persists, and oxygen need is not matched by supply, leading to MODS.

Septic shock and SIRS is characterised by reversible myocardial depression, frequently resistant to catecholamine and fluid administration. TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , and other cytokines, with NO, cause myocardial depression (Antonucci *et al.*, 2014).

## Pulmonary dysfunction (Greer, 2015)

Injury to pulmonary vasculature disrupts capillary blood flow. Enhanced micro-vascular permeability, results in interstitial and alveolar oedema, and eventual membrane destruction (Greer, 2015). Neutrophil entrapment within the pulmonary microcirculation initiates and amplifies injury to alveolar capillary membranes resulting in acute lung injury and acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS). Occurring in 60% of cases of septic shock (Boontham *et al*, 2003).

## Gastrointestinal dysfunction (Spapen et al., 2017)

Gastrointestinal (GI) tract is proposed to drive sepsis-induced MODS. One theory is the hypoperfusion, ischaemia-reperfusion and inflammation, permits 'translocation' and liberation of endotoxins into the systemic circulation. This is associated with GI bacteria becoming increasingly virulent and invasive due to the altered immune regulation. But there is no direct evidence of this occurring (Qin *et al.*, 2011).

Alternatively the 'stressed gut' in sepsis releases nonbacterial pro-inflammatory markers into the systemic circulation through the mesenteric lymph nodes. These protein and lipid mediators stimulate antigen-presenting cells, initiating SIRS and ultimately MODS. In addition pancreatic enzymes penetrate the intestinal wall and drive further damage (Deitch, 2012). The two theories are illustrated in Figure 2.3.1.



# Theories for the different mechanisms involved in MODS

**Figure 2.3.1:** Theory for the development of MODS and the interaction of systems. MP – macrophage, PMN – polymorphonuclear leukocyte, ROS – reactive oxygen species, \* - pattern-recognition (e.g. Toll-like) receptors, together recruit adapter proteins to the cell surface which initiate cytoplasmic enzymatic processes that activate various transcription factors, which in turn, produce and release inflammatory cytokines and chemokines (Spapen *et al.,* 2017).

#### Liver dysfunction (Wang et al., 2014)

Liver dysfunction contributes to both the initiation and progression of sepsis, and occurs early (Wang *et al.*, 2014). The reticulo-endothelial system acts to clear bacteria and their products. Kuppfer cells secrete cytokines, particularly TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6. In later sepsis their phagocytic and killing activity becomes impaired, reducing endotoxin and bacteria clearance, with spillover into the systemic circulation (Kennedy *et al.*, 1999).

Pre-existing liver dysfunction increases morbidity and mortality. Parks and colleagues (2003) proposed a two hit phenomenon, sepsis induces a profound alteration in the transport of bile acids and bilirubin to the canaliculi causing cholestasis. The cholestasis triggers an inflammatory response exaggerating the cholestasis. Endotoxins and proinflammatory cytokines cause direct impairment of bile flow at a genetic and at a cytoskeletal architecture level (Nesseler *et al.*, 2012). Hyper-bilirubinaemia causes intrahepatic cholestasis, decreased bile flow mucosal atrophy (Assimakopoulos *et al.*, 2007). Bile is bacteriostatic, decreased flow causes overgrowth, with an increase in endotoxin levels and negative feedback on hepatic function (Nesseler *et al.*, 2012).

#### Haematological dysfunction (Ruf, 2010)

Subclinical coagulopathy is common, seen as a mildly elevated thrombin time (TT) or activated partial thromboplastin time (APTT) or a moderate reduction in the platelet count. Disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC) though rare occurs, with associated haemmorrhage and microvascular thrombi possibly playing a role in MODS (Ruf, 2010).

# Renal dysfunction (Uchino et al., 2005)

Acute kidney injury (AKI) accompanies septic shock in up to 50% of cases. Multifactorial etiologies have been reported (Uchino *et al.*, 2005). Decreased effective intravascular volume from systemic hypotension, direct renal vasoconstriction, release of cytokines, and activation of neutrophils by endotoxins and other peptides, contribute to renal injury. Tubular function is impaired but not evident on histology.

# Central nervous system dysfunction (Sharshar et al., 2004)

Sepsis produces encephalopathy and peripheral neuropathy. Pathogenesis is poorly defined, probably being related to systemic hypotension, and hypo-perfusion.

#### 2.4 Intraperitoneal immune function

Peritoneal immune function is complex with surgical factors affecting response. The peritoneal membrane plays a major role in the immunological response to abdominal surgery (Badia *et al*, 1996). Following laparotomy Badia's team (1996) observed sequentially raised cytokine levels in peritoneal fluid, proposing wash over into the systemic and portal circulation at low levels. Supported by Riché *et al.*, (2013) work, who found a significant gradient in cytokine concentration between peritoneal and systemic cytokines, with TNF- $\alpha$ , IFN – $\gamma$ , IL-6 and IL-10, only being seen in the sickest individuals. The cytokines only being detected in the systemic circulation after a significant peritoneal concentration was reached.

Systemic studies cannot be applied directly to peritoneal function (Badia *et al.*, 1996). Problems obtaining tissue limits *in vivo* studies, and published studies are from multiple different sources of sepsis at different stages of infection.

#### Anatomy

The peritoneum covers an area of  $2m^2$ , populated by a small population of predominantly macrophages (Jörres *et al.*, 1996). Figure 2.4.1 is a human peritoneal mesothelial cell (HPMC). Up to 72 hours after laparoscopic surgery peritoneal biopsies demonstrate nerve injury and capillary damage, with active inflammation, particularly granulocytes (Narchi *et al.* 1990, Volz *et al.*, 1996).

# Human Peritoneal Fibroblasts



**Figure 2.4.1:** Confluent cell cultures of human peritoneal fibroblasts. HPFB are identified as spindle-shaped cells, growing in parallel, whorl-forming arrays. They demonstrate functional polarity, allowing effective regulation of the cellular traffic (Broche and Tellado, 2001). Phase contrast microscopy, magnification x 100 (Jörres *et al.,* 1996).

Ranvier in 1874 described 'taiches laiteuse' (milky spots), now known to be precursors of peritoneal macrophages. Containing typical omental capillary networks with surrounding macrophages (67%) and lymphocytes (10%) (Krist *et al.*, 1995, Hausmann *et al.*, 2000). Peritoneal macrophages produce early cytokines IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  and their antagonists, IL-1Ra and sTNF-R (Tellado *et al.*, 2000). Two embryologically distinct populations of peritoneal macrophages have been identified. Large peritoneal macrophages (LPM) originating from embryogenic precursors, regulated by specific transcription factors and tissue-derived signals. Small peritoneal macrophages (SPM) are bone-marrow-derived myeloid precursors, originating from circulating monocytes, Figure 2.4.2.

HPMCs express a MHC class II receptors initiated by the expression of IL-1, TNF- $\alpha$ , and IFN- $\gamma$  by HPMC (Tellado *et al.*, 2000, Jayne *et al.*, 1998). SPM have high expression MHC-II, and LPM low expression. The LPM can proliferate within the peritoneum (Cassado *et al*, 2015). Immune stimulation alters the ratio of cells. The number of LPM decreases and those remaining migrate to the omentum. LPMs produce G-CSF, GM-CSF and killer cells and appear to be more specialised, this is shown in Figure 2.4.3. In contrast the SPMs and their precursors predominate within the peritoneum, due to recruitment from the circulation. SPM stimulation produces high level of pro-inflammatory mediators and greater levels of NO.

Activation of the cell population allows soluble antigen presentation to autologous T cells, and leucocyte recruitment in peritoneal cavity infection (Tollado *et al.*, 2000 Hausmann *et al.*, 2000). SPMs normally play a minor role in maintenance of the LPM numbers. Where LPMs are reduced in number, for example in sepsis, SPMs increase in importance, to try to maintain LPM numbers, which is important in the resolution of peritonitis (Cassado *et al.*, 2015).



**Figure 2.4.2:** Demonstrates the different embryological origins of the peritoneal macrophage subsets. The small peritoneal macrophages (SPM) are generated from haematopoietic stem cells (HSC) in the bone marrow, by differentiation from blood monocytes. The large peritoneal macrophages (LPM) appear to be generated from the yolk sack and independent of haematopoietic progenitors. Local proliferation of LPMs ensures homeostatic maintenance by self-renewal. From Cassado *et al.*, (2015).



**Figure 2.4.3:** The left of the figure demonstrates homeostasis with LPM being the major peritoneal macrophage population, and are responsible for phagocytosis of apoptotic cells and tissue repair. In the presence of inflammation (right) LPM numbers decrease and the SPM numbers increase, supplemented by an influx of circulating monocytes. LPS, with NO and IL-12, are important in directing this change in cell population. This increases the production, by the SPM, of NO, IL-12, TNF- $\alpha$ , Rantes, MIP-1 $\alpha$ . In contrast the LPM's are stimulated to produce G-CSF, GM-CSF and natural killer cells. LPS also stimulates the movement of LPM to the omentum in a pathway dependent upon retinoic acid, and the zinc finger transcription factor GATA-binding protein 6 (GATA-6). This stimulates the production IgA by the B cells in the intestine. The production of IgA is dependent upon TGF-β2. From Cassado *et al.*, (2015).

#### Immune function

Close contact in early peritonitis, between visceral, parietal and omental peritoneal membranes, increases the cell interactions (Kinnaert *et al.*, 1996). Up regulation and expression of adhesion molecules, chemo-attractants and other inflammatory products occurs. The peritoneal surface of the diaphragm has lacunae (large terminal lymphatics) draining via the thoracic duct to the venous system. Their patency and numbers are increased by raised intra-abdominal pressure (Walker and Condon, 1989). Respiration promotes lymphatic circulation and dissemination to the systemic circulation. Inflammation and fibrin obstruct lacunae drainage stimulating an immune response with associate hydro-thorax (Gürleyik *et al.*, 1996, Kumar *et al.*, 2014).

Inflammatory mediators and cytokines adversely affect diaphragmatic contractility (Wilcox *et al.*, 1992 and Labbe *et al.*, 2010). Fujimura's team (2000) and Labbe *et al.*, (2010) demonstrated diaphragmatic contractility was impaired early in sepsis, particularly slow twitch type I muscle fibres, and decreased as sepsis progressed. Ultimately type II fibres (fast twitch) being affected. Timing corresponds with an increase in local diphragmatic TNF- $\alpha$  production (type I) and the later cytokines (type II) (Callahan and Supinski, 2009). Specific cytokine up-regulation in respiratory muscle occurs, with enhanced proteolytic degradation, the later being more generalised (Callahan and Supinski, 2009).

Injecting intra-peritoneal zymosan antigen (from the yeast cell wall it is a potent activator of macrophages), and causes a dose dependent increase of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-10 in mesenteric nodes, and corresponding response in distant organs (Sakahita *et al.*, 2000). Heidecke and colleagues (1999) found T cell anergy in peritonitis, with defective T cell proliferation and cytokine release correlated with mortality. Sepsis accelerates apoptotic cell death, anergy, and anti-inflammatory cytokine release from surviving cells (Green and Beere, 2000). Preventing this apoptosis improves the likelihood of survival (Hotchkiss and Karl, 2003). The more prolonged the sepsis, the more profoundly cellular immunity is affected (Hotchkiss and Karl, 2003). Macrophage migration and responsiveness is adversely affected by sepsis, possibly through invariant natural killer T-cells (Ayala *et al.*, 2014, Heffernan *et al.*, 2013). Cells migrate from the liver into the peritoneal cavity and blood with possible bi-directional stimulation between T-cells and macrophages (Heffernan *et al.*, 2013).

#### Pneumoperitoneum

Laparoscopic surgery causes less alteration in immune response after surgery than the open approach. Initially this was thought to be secondary to the reduction in abdominal wall trauma, which reduced the immune response. Principally studied in animal models, there are fewer human studies. Studies demonstrated there are a number of factors around generation of the pneumoperitoneum that modulate the immune response (Table 2.4.4). The majority of studies concluding there is a reduction or delay in the immune response following laparoscopic surgery, but not open surgery. At present it is unclear the importance of this reduced and delayed inflammatory response (Peters *et al.*, 2009, Goldfarb *et al.*, 2010, Han *et al.*, 2010).

# Factors around laparoscopic surgery which are proposed to modulate the peritoneal environment

# Laparoscopic factors modulating the peritoneal environment

Type of insufflation gas used.

Mechanical factors associated with abdominal wall and diaphragm distension.

Temperature alteration by pneumoperitoneum.

Pressure of the pneumoperitoneum.

Acidification and desiccation of the pneumperitoneum.

Preservation of cellular immunity with the pneumoperitoneum.

Unclear T-cell affect following open or laparoscopic surgery.

**Table 2.4.4:** Surgical factors modulating the peritoneal environment with laparoscopic surgery. Yahara *et al.*, (2002), Brokelman *et al.*, (2011) reviewed the factors.

Carbon dioxide is used to generate the pneumoperitoneum, as it is non-flammable and well dissolved in the blood. But it has been demonstrated to decrease the peritoneal macrophages cytokine production for up to three days after laparoscopic surgery compared with laparotomy (West *et al.* 1997). Predominantly the pro-inflammatory cytokine production was affected, whereas the IL-10 production was unaltered (Hanly *et al.*, 2007). Machado's team (2009), demonstrated a significant fall in TNF- $\alpha$  concentration in the peritoneum after carbon dioxide pneumoperitoneum, and TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 concentration in the serum, but not IL-10. Hajri *et al.*, (2000) noted a similar effect for IL-6, but not for IL-1. Machado and Coelho, (2012), proposed this is potentially mediated through the greater effect upon the small peritoneal macrophages (SPM) and their recruitment. SPMs normally play a small role in the maintenance of large peritoneal macrophage (LPM) numbers, but in sepsis LPM numbers drop and SPM numbers increase in importance and are central in the resolution of peritonitis (Cassado *et al.*, 2015).

The carbon dioxide acidification decreased TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-1 cytokine production, macrophage recruitment and cellular immunity within the peritoneum and systemically (West *et al.*, 1997 and Kuntz *et al.*, 2000). Kawai's team (2014) demonstrated that carbon dioxide stimulates sensory neurons, but attenuates their inflammatory response. Cytokine expression is also reduced secondary to desiccation of the pneumoperitoneum and the open abdomen (Chekan *et al.*, (1999). Henry and Hofland (2005), demonstrated that hyperventilation during anaesthesia could ameliorate some of the hypercapnia and acidosis post-operatively.

The pressure of the gas generating the pneumoperitoneum is also important, with partial pressures above 12 mm Hg of carbon dioxide, being deleterious, though there is evidence of a negative effect above 8 mmHg (Matsuzaki *et al.*, 2014). Low pressures maintain mucosal blood flow to the gastrointestinal tract. There is decreased catecholamine release, decreasing haemodynamic fluctuation, and reduced cytokine and cellular immunity disturbance. Principally at lower pressures there is less suppression of the inflammatory and metabolic responses to injury by HPMCs, peritoneal polymorphonuclear leucocytes and peritoneal macrophages (Kopernik *et al.*, 2014). Neutrophil function does not return to normal until 4  $\frac{1}{2}$  hours after the end of the pneumoperitoneum. The pressure of the pneumoperitoneum

negatively affects the lymph pumping, and bacterial clearance, and free radical scavenging (Gurtner *et al.*, 1995, Collet *et al.*, 1995, Taskin *et al.*, 1998).

Electron microscopy demonstrates mesothelial cells loose continuity, and fissures form allowing bacterial and macrophage migration (Liu *et al.*, 2006). These changes were seen within 30 minutes of the initiation of the pneumoperitoneum, with white cell migration occurring before 2 hours of surgery. In open surgery the opening up of intracellular spaces is only seen after 2 hours, and white cell migration occurring after longer procedures. (Liu *et al.*, 2006).

The temperature of the gas generating the pneumoperitoneum is important with Puttick and colleagues (1996) demonstrating increased TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 release with laparoscopy at room temperature compared to physiological temperature. IL-6 concentration was only marginally increased by laparoscopy at room temperature (Brockleman *et al.*, 2011). Comparisons of cellular immunity demonstrated decreased macrophage number and phagocytic activity, but an increase in macrophage cytokine production after laparotomy (Ure *et al.*, 2002). Following laparoscopy there is a decreased systemic inflammation and adhesion formation due to a decrease in cytokine concentration (Jacobi, 1998, 1999, 2001), but a preservation of neutrophil and monocyte cytotoxicity after carbon dioxide pneumoperitoneum (Alatamura *et al.* 2002).

Early on in the generation of the pneumoperitoneum venous return decreases, reducing cardiac output. Tolerated in healthy individuals, it is less well tolerated in those with cardiopulmonary disease. Research has examined lowering the pressure of the pneumoperitoneum (8-10 mmHg). This reduces general post-operative pain, analgesia requirements, and shoulder-tip pain (Sarli *et al.*, 2000,Barczynski and Herman, 2004, Sandhu *et al.*, 2009). But no study has evaluated surgeon satisfaction of low-pressure laparoscopy, particularly across a range of body habitus.

Clinically we are increasing the range of benign and malignant surgery, as well as surgery in the presence of sepsis, we are performing laparoscopically. There appears to be no harm to patients or adverse outcomes, but this is principally anecdotal (White *et al.*, 2010). Research evaluating the balance between the trauma of access, versus the magnitude of surgery, versus the physiology of the pneumoperitoneum, is yet to be

undertaken. Oncological procedures in patients who are potentially immunosuppressed from neo-adjuvant treatment, is a further area with limited research.

# Introduction

# Chapter 3 - Cytokines

## 3.1 Cytokines

Cytokine are small protein mediators with molecular weight less-than 40 kDa. Produced in a regulated fashion, to affect the activation and differentiation of the immune response. Active at low concentrations, their affinity being 10<sup>-9</sup> to 10<sup>-12</sup> M with a receptor occupancy of < 5% (Oberholzer *et al.*, 2000 a). Acting in a paracrine or autocrine fashion to stimulate cytokine and their receptor synthesis. Table 3.1.1 demonstrates pro-inflammatory cytokines action.

# The actions of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines

Pro-inflammatory cytokine release initiates
Innate or adaptive immune response
- including immune regulatory
- effector cytokines
Initiates the release of anti-inflammatory cytokines IL4, 10 and transforming
growth factor (TGF) - $\beta$
Anti-inflammatory cytokines release initiates

Inhibition of the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines

**Table 3.1.1:** The actions of the cytokine. Cytokines are released in a sequential fashion the so called 'cytokine cascade'. The pro-inflammatory cytokines promote and inflammatory response, in contrast the anti-inflammatory cytokines attempt to restore immunological equilibrium (Cohen, 2002).

Tang *et al.* (2010) reported that sepsis caused an immediate up regulation of pathogen recognition receptors, and activation of signal transduction cascades. Important inflammatory markers did not show any consistent gene expression patterns and were highly variable between individuals. Factors affecting cytokine concentration are highlighted in Table 3.1.2. Polymorphisms in genes may determine the concentrations of inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines produced, determining whether there is a hyper or hypo-inflammatory response to infection (Freeman, and Buchman, 2000). The response being highly interactive and a dynamic process, reflecting heterogeneous genome-specific pathways (Schulte *et al.*, 2013). This requires tight regulation with anti-inflammatory cytokines, and soluble inhibitors of pro-inflammatory cytokines. Table 3.1.3 demonstrates the pro-inflammatory cytokines acute phase response.

Cytokine synthesis is tightly regulated self-limiting event. Not stored preformed, instead being synthesised from newly transcribed mRNA. Their mRNA has a short half-life due to an AU-rich region in their third untranslated sequence (Oberholzer *et al.*, 2000 b). Cytokine production and release is chiefly controlled at the level of gene transcription. NF- $\kappa$ B is one of the most important transcription factors in determining response (see Figure 3.1.4) (Panes and Granger, 1998).

# Factors affecting cytokine production

Factors affecting cytokine concentration and their action
HLA haplotype particularly TNF- $\alpha$ and IL-1 – determines the action
and concentration of the cytokine
Genetic polymorphisms both in loci for cytokine production and their
receptors – determines the action and concentration of the cytokine
Age – Increase in IL-1 Ra, IL-6
Gender – Increased pro-inflammatory cytokines
Basal metabolic index – Increased IL-1, IL-6 and IL-18 in higher BMI
Oral contraceptive – Decreased TNF- $\alpha$ and IFN- $\gamma$
Oestrogen concentration - Increased IL-1 Ra, IL-17

**Table 3.1.2:** Demonstrates some of the important factors in cytokine production (Bone, 1996 a). The risk of death has been correlated with genetic polymorphisms at TNF- $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  loci (Freeman and Buchman, 2000). Genetic differences have also been identified in the TNF receptors, IL-1 receptors, Fc g receptors and toll-like receptors.

# The acute phases effects of the rise in systemic inflammatory cytokines

Systemic effects of cytokine – acute phase response
Fever
Leucocytosis
Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis stimulation of catabolic hormones
Acute phase protein synthesis in the liver
Immune activation
Hypermetabolism
Anorexia
Protein catabolism, cachexia, and altered fat, glucose and trace
mineral metabolism
TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 and IL-6 not only regulate the innate immune response,
but also the acquired immune system in particular the $T_{\rm H}1$ responses
IL-1, TNF- $\alpha$ , or lipopolysaccharide stimulate E-selectin to be
displayed on the cell surface, the process involves nuclear factor $N\kappa\text{-}$
B, triggering cytokine production.

**Table 3.1.3:** The systemic effects of cytokine – acute phase response (Souba, 1994). These processes are accelerated if there is a second insult, such as infection, shock or ischaemia.



## Schematic diagram of the network of intracellular signaling

**Figure 3.1.4:** A schematic diagram of the network of intracellular signalling. Cells express membrane receptors such as toll-like receptors (TLRs), IL-1 $\beta$  receptors (IL-1R), TNF–receptors (TNFR) and receptors for advanced glycation end products (RAGE). These receptors recognise pro-inflammatory stimuli such as pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), damage associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) and cytokines. Ligand bound PAMPs, DAMPs and cytokines activate downstream adapter proteins such as myeloid differentiationprimary response protein 88 (MyD88) and TNF associated factors (TRAF). MyD88 and TRAF activates specific protein kinases such as mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPK) such as IRAK, TAK1, NIK and ERK 1 / 2. These kinases activate IkB kinases (IKK $\alpha$ , IKK $\beta$ , IKK $\gamma$ ) that phosphorylate IkB- $\alpha$ . In stimulated cells, phosphorylation of IkB leads to its dissociation from the complex, and its proteasomal degredation, allowing NF-kB to translocate to the nucleus, where it binds to specific DNA sequnces present in the promoters of numerous target genes, encoding the pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., IL-1, II-2, IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$ ), chemokines (e.g., IL-8, MIP-1 $\alpha$ , MCP-1, RANTES, eotaxin), adhesion molecules (e.g., ICAM, VCAM, E-selectin) as well as Cycloxygenase-2 (Cox-2) and inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) (Losada *et al.*, 2014).

Cytokines are additionally controlled by post-transcriptional processing. For example IL-1 undergoes proteolytic cleavage from an inactive precursor, the TNF- $\alpha$  superfamily, are expressed as cell-associated proteins, cleaved from the cell membrane by matrix metalloproteinase or adamolysin (Black *et al.* 1997). The cytokines are retained in an inactive cytoplasmic complex regulating transcription of various proinflammatory and immunoregulatory cytokines. Shed extracellular domains of the cytokine receptors play a regulatory role. A class of non-coding RNAs modulate cytokine response, they comprise of microRNAs (miRNAs), long non-coding RNAs (lncRNAs), and circular RNAs (circRNAs). Important in innate immunity, mitochondrial functions, and apoptosis (Dey *et al.*, 2014). Both miRNAs and lncRNAs are important in pro- and anti-inflammatory response, circRNAs are less fully studied, but possibly regulate miRNA (Mao *et al.*, 2015). Non-coding RNA expression differs significantly dependent upon the microbial moieties encountered (Chen *et al.*, 2014). Study of miRNA in SIRS response reveal differential miRNA deregulation (Ma *et al.*, 2013).

miRNAs at the transcriptional and translational level regulate proinflammatory cytokine production, and the SIRS response (Zou *et al.*, 2016). miRNA expression maintaining the inflammation and immunosuppression, characteristic of ongoing sepsis. miRNA affects thrombocyte apoptosis, important in sepsis-induced coagulopathy (Larkin *et al.*, 2016). miRNA and lncRNA produce the lung, liver, kidney and skeletal muscle response to sepsis (Ho *et al.*, 2016). Organ-specific differentiation of regulatory non-coding RNAs, is a current focus of research, with the heterogeneity of patients with sepsis. The aim being to develop organ-specific delivery of non-coding RNA mediators or their antisense version, to down regulate the RNA enhancer. Their stability and ability to access sites like the CNS has lead to interest in them in pharmaceutical industry (Carpenter and Fitzgerald, 2019).

Patients with sepsis have features consistent with immunosuppression, when stimulated with lipopolysaccharide. Administering IFN- $\gamma$  reverses this restoring macrophage TNF- $\alpha$  production and improving survival (Hotchkiss and Karl, 2003). Cytokine secretion by T-lymphocytes is suppressed after major surgery giving rise to an increased susceptibility to infection with intracellular pathogens.

#### 3.2 Tumour Necrosis Factor - alpha

TNF- $\alpha$  is a central mediator of the immune activation, inducing the pathophysiological disturbances associated with bacteraemia and sepsis. TNF- $\alpha$  is a 157 amino acid polypeptide, 17 kDa in weight. With IL-1 it is a main player in infectious and noninfectious inflammatory diseases (Schulte *et al.*, 2013). TNF- $\alpha$  gene polymorphism affects transcription, translation and disease susceptibility (Feng *et al.*, 2015). TNF- $\alpha$  is synthesised by various cells of the reticular endothelial cell system, non-immune cells also synthesise TNF- $\alpha$  (Zhang *et al.*, 1997, Parameswaran and Partial, 2010). Production is tightly controlled at the transcriptional and translational level.

Release from macrophages begins within 30 minutes of the initiating event, as an early regulator of the immune response. Peak concentrations of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 are detected 60 – 90 minutes after LPS administration (Dinarello, 2004). Circulating TNF- $\alpha$  half-life is short, 14 - 18 minutes, liver, skin, gastrointestinal tract and kidney removing it from the circulation. Trans-membrane TNF- $\alpha$  receptors, TNFR1, and TNFR2, activate immune cells to release downstream immune-regulatory mediators. Table 3.2.1 details the action of TNF- $\alpha$ .

TNF- $\alpha$  uniquely orchestrates the downstream cytokine cascade, with IL-1 support, it is considered to be a "master regulator" of inflammatory cytokine production (Parameswaran and Partial, 2010). Performed in an autocrine and paracrine manner by activating macrophages to secrete other pro-inflammatory cytokines, lipid mediators, and reactive oxygen and nitrogen species (Cohen, 2002), Figure 3.2.2.
## <u>The role of TNF- $\alpha$ in septic shock</u>

Physiological changes produced by TNF- $lpha$ in septic shock	
Hypotension	Fever
Tachycardia	Oliguria
Increased systemic capillary	Decrease albumin synthesis
leakage	
Pulmonary oedema	Haemorrhage
Decreased erythropoiesis	Enhanced microvascular thrombosis
	and inhibition of thrombomodulin on
	the cell surface
Alteration in consciousness	Chemotaxis to lymphoid tissue
Stimulation of accute phase	Activation of complement and
proteins	coagulation
Migration of neutrophils into the	Release of neutrophils from the bone
peripheral blood, but not	marrow
monocytes	
Activation and up-regulation of	Apoptosis in endothelial cells,
neutrophils, monocytes and	hepatocytes and haemopoietic cells
microphage differentiation and	especially thymocytes
activation.	(Papthanassoglou <i>et al.,</i> 2000)
Expression in endothelial cells of	Increases integrin adhesiveness in
intercellular adhesion molecule	neutrophils and promotes their
(ICAM)-1 and vascular cell	extravasation into tissues (Shimaoka
adhesion molecule (VCAM)-1, and	and Park, 2008)
chemokines (Shimaoka and Park,	
2008)	

**Table 3.2.1:** The actions of TNF- $\alpha$  in septic shock (Beutler and Cerami, 1987, Zhang *et al.*, 1997, Newman *et al.*, 1996, Karima *et al.*, 1999, Baudo *et al.*, 1998, Oberholzer *et al.*, 2000 a, Papthanassoglou *et al.*, 2000, Dinarello, 2004, Conte *et al.*, 2006, Shimaoka and Park, 2008 Svedova, *et al.*, 2016).

### Demonstration of the timing of the release of the inflammatory cytokines



**Figure 3.2.2:** Demonstrates the casecade in the plasma levels of inflammatory cytokines in patients with sepsis (Boontham *et al.,* 2003).

Soluble cytokine receptors and receptor antagonists, modulate the action of the cytokines, sTNFRs, IL-1R2, and IL-1Ra, are important in the early stages of inflammation to dampen down the actions of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1. Elevated levels of sTNFRs and IL-1Ra were measured in septic patients, the plasma concentrations correlating with disease severity, and sTNFRs, with mortality (Gogos *et al.*, 2000). Particularly if levels are persistently elevated (Gogos *et al.*, 2000).

In murine models of septic shock IL-1Ra administration increased survival. The ratio between TNF- $\alpha$  and sTNFRs, rather than absolute plasma concentration alone, has prognostic value in septic patients (Modzelewski, 2003, Schulte *et al.*, 2013). Although the regulation pathway is currently unclear, tight regulation appears crucial for the positive outcome of sepsis. *Ex-vivo* studies demonstrated sepsis inhibits the ability to phosphorylate NF-kappa-light-chain-enhancer in activated B cells in lymphoid cells and monocytes, possibly contributing to the sepsis-induced immunosuppression (Hoogendijk *et al.*, 2017).

TNF has two soluble cell surface receptors sTNFR-p55 and sTNFR-p75. Produced by the proteolytic cleavage of the extracellular binding domain of the cell surface TNFRs. p55 expression is ubiquitous, p75 restricted to cells mainly of hematopoietic origin. Many cells express one or other receptors, few highly responsive cells express both (Stewart and Marsden, 1995).

#### 3.3 Interleukin - 1

IL-1 has two structually related subsets, IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$ , binding to the same receptor with equal affinity, synthesised from two separate genes (Schulte *et al.*, 2013). They have a half life of 6 - 10 mins. The genes encoding for IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1ra) are clustered together within the human major hitocompatability complex at q13-21 on chromosome 2 (Dinarello, 1996). As with TNF- $\alpha$ , gene polymorphism significantly predispose to sepsis (Zhang *et al.*, 2014).

IL-1Ra, is a 23kDa glycoprotein, competatively binding to the IL-1 receptors modulating cell signal transduction (Dinarello, 1998). Blockade of the receptor with IL-1Ra, has been shown to reduce mortality. Particular in those with severe sepsis with hepatobiliary dysfunction and disseminated intravascular coagulation, IL-1Ra has been seen to improve survival and have fewer safety concerns than activated protein C (Shakoory *et al.*, 2016). This requires larger randomised trials as there remain concerns about sepsis as secondary complication, and a poorer outcome from sepsis (Ali *et al.*, 2015).

Rapidly after intravenous endotoxin infusion, into healthy volunters, circulating TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6, but not IL-1, become detectable. Due to IL-1 principally being a membrane bound cytokine, involved in local paracrine and autocrine regulation (Davies and Hagen, 1997). The majority IL-1 $\beta$  remains in the cytosol in a precursor form, or as membrane associated in a biologically active form. In sepsis IL-1 is predominately in the beta form, it is converted to the active form by IL-1 $\beta$  converting enzyme, and secreted (Schulte *et al.*, 2013). Becoming detectable within two to three hours of sepsis (McAllister *et al.*, 1994). IL-1 $\beta$  acts to upregulate the expression of other cytokines and is degraded rapidly from its precursor by trypsin, plasmin and other proteases.

IL-1 is activated in parallel or in response to TNF- $\alpha$ . TNF- $\alpha$  acts on IL-1R1 and 2 to promoted the release of IL-1, which is released primarily from activated mactrophages. During infection it is also released from poly-morphonuclear leucocytes. IL-1 augments and acts in a similar fashion to TNF- $\alpha$ , activating both neutrophils and endothelial cell adhesion molecules (Dinarello, 1997).

There are two forms of the high affinity IL-1 receptor, and tissue distribution varies from 100 to 10,000 receptors per cell. Raised levels type II IL-1 receptor is seen in sepsis. IL-1 type II receptor is cleaved from the cell surface, and lacks an intracellular signaling domain to propagate the signal. The type II receptor can bind IL-1 $\beta$  inhibiting binding to type I IL-1 receptors, inhibiting amplification (Giri *et al.*, 1994). Circulating type II receptors increase in sepsis regulating IL-1 activity (Giri *et al.*, 1994). Monocytes from elective surgical patient have impaired LPS-stimulated IL-1 and IL-8 synthesis (onset of IL-6 synthesis is delayed) (Bone, 1996 b).

Studies support the central role of IL-1 in gram-negative bacterial sepsis (Pruitt *et al.*, 1995). As with TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  is a predictor of severity, but unlike TNF- $\alpha$  not of mortality (Bone, 1996 b). In contrast to TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 is not directly lethal, being equipotent in inducing cytokine synthesis, reproducing many of the acute haematological and metabolic phenomenon (Fong *et al.*, 1990). Table 3.3.1 details IL-1's action in sepsis.

IL-1's role after elective surgery remains unclear. Karayiannakis's team (1997) measured IL-1 receptor concentration finding no difference in concentration between the laparoscopic and open approach to cholecystectomy. Leung *et al.*, (2000) measured Il-1 $\beta$ , finding a peak in concentration at 2 hours after open and laparoscopic surgery.

## The role of IL-1 in septic shock

Physiological changes produced by IL-1 in septic shock	
Fever	Anorexia
Malaise	Arthralgia
Headache	Haemodynamic abnormalities such
	as hypotension in shock
Production of granulocyte /	Hepatic acute phase proteins
macrophage CSF (GM-CSF)	
Cytokine production especially IL-	Macrophages produce IL-1Ra
6, IL-8 and TNF- $lpha$	higher concentration in more
	severe sepsis

**Table 3.3.1:** The action of IL-1 in sepsis, which is similar to TNF-  $\alpha$  as seen in table 3.2.1 (Dinarello, 1997, Dinarello, 1998, Boontham *et al.*, 2003).

#### 3.4 Interleukin - 6

IL-6 is a glycoprotein located on chromosome 7 at p21, with molecular weight between 21.5 and 28 kDa (May *et al.*, 1989). Produced by many cell types, as detailed in Table 3.4.1. Belonging to a family of at least six differently modified phosphoglycoproteins, released early in the acute phase response (Waage *et al.*, 1989). Gene polymorphism, post translational and post secretory modification, giving rise to differing isoforms. Levels are not detectable in the serum until four to eight hours after the TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  peak. Attenuation of the TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  peak concentration decreases the subsequent IL-6 response. Following elective surgery IL-6 peaks between 4 and 24 hours after surgery (Yuen *et al.*, 1998), with IL-6 being closely correlated to the magnitude of surgical stress (Schietroma *et al.*, 2016).

# The cell types producing IL-6 and the stimulus for the cytokines release

Stimulus for IL-6 production		
LPS	TNF-α, IL-1	
Cell types producing IL-6		
Macrophages	Dendritic cells	
Lymphocytes	Endothelial cells	
Fibroblasts	Smooth muscle cells	
All nucleated cells in-vitro		

**Table 3.4.1:** Stimuli and cells producing IL-6 (Park and Pillinger, 2007,Scheller and Rose-John, 2006). Elevated IL-6 concentrations aremeasured in many acute conditions, such as burns, major surgery andsepsis.

Serum IL-6 levels are early and sensitive markers of tissue damage rising in proportion to the surgical trauma and associated injury. It is highly accurate in diagnosing sepsis (Hou *et al.*, 2015). Levels are not always detectable in patients under 60 years with uncomplicated surgery (Roumen *et al.*, 1992 and Ohzato *et al.* 1992). Injection of IL-6 by itself does not produce a sepsis-like state (Dinarello, 1997, Schute *et al.* 2013). Possibly IL-6 is a marker of the severity of the neuroendocrine and inflammatory response rather than the mediator (Preiser *et al.*, 1991).

Peak IL-6 concentrations follow TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 (Schute *et al.*,2013). IL-6 concentration correlating with indicators of disease severity scores; such as clinical scores, multi-organ failure and septic shock, and overall mortality. TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 and IL-6 activate procoagulation factors in the vascular endothelium, causing endothelial damage. This reduces its anticoagulant properties and fibrinolysis, leading to SIRS, shock, DIC and MODS (Nimah and Brilli, 2003). In animal studies, IL-6 plays a critical role in cardiac, liver and renal dysfunction in sepsis (Ding *et al.*, 2014). Both IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  correlate with APACHE II in ITU patients with pneumonia. Predicting the need for mechanical ventilation, early mortality and acute kidney injury (Bacci *et al.*, 2015).

Plasma IL-6 concentration in sepsis correlates closely with severity and outcome, being significantly higher in non-survivors (Boontham *et al.*, 2003, Hong *et al*, 2014). Severe sepsis and septic shock patients have a poor outcome and high circulating concentrations of IL-6. *In vivo* studies with IL-6 knockout mice, demonstrates deletion of the IL-6 gene decreases lung and peritoneal inflammation, and is protective against organ failure and mortality (Cuzzocrea *et al.*, 1999, Schulte *et al.*, 2013). IL-6 has a variety of biological effects demonstrated in Table 3.4.2.

## The role of IL-6 in septic shock

Physiological changes produced by IL-6 in septic shock	
Fever	Mediation of the acute phase
	response
Lymphocyte proliferation	Coagulation system activation
Modulation of haematopoiesis	Myocardial depression
In combination with TNF- $\alpha$	Synergistically with IL-1 $\beta$ to affect
augments T-cell proliferation and	thymocyte proliferation
promotes PMN activation and	
accumulation	

**Table 3.4.2:** The action of IL-6 in sepsis from the work of (Boontham *et al.,*2003, Kopf *et al.* 1994, Dinarello, 1997, Vittimberga *et al.,* 1998, Pathan *et al.* 2004).

Exposure of endothelial cells to endotoxin results in increases in IL-6 concentration, possibly mediating a signaling cascade culminating in cell apoptosis (Papathanassoglou *et al.*, 2000). Failure of apoptosis in neutrophils in the presence of IL-6 potentiates tissue injury due to oxidative properties, proteolytic activities, and diminished numbers of activated neutrophils (Biffl, *et al*, 1996). T-helper 1 cells (Th1) predominate in microbial infection, activating Th2 to clear the pro-inflammatory response and stimulating the humoral response. In sepsis the Th2 response causes dysregulation of the cellular immune response, Th2 cytokines inhibit Th1 and vice versa (Shubin *et al.*, 2011).

IL-6 promotes an anti-inflammatory response, inhibiting the release of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 and enhances the circulation levels of anti-inflammatory mediators, (Xiao *et al.*, 2005). IL-6 is protective in experimental endotoxemia (Schulte *et al.*, 2013). But genetic deletion of IL-6 did not alter the mortality in a model of polymicrobial sepsis by Remick *et al.*, (2005). Morphine, in animal models, has been demonstrated to decrease neutrophil recruitment into the peritoneal cavity in the early stages of sepsis, and increase Gram-positive bacterial dissemination from the gut lumen. This is proposed to be mediated through a pathway involving IL-17A (Meng *et al.*, 2015). Morphine has been demonstrated to be inhibitory to human macrophage function in sepsis (Liang *et al.*, 2016). This can induce peri-operative immunosuppression and impaired wound healing at sufficient doses (Ashcroft and Masterson, 1994).

IL-6 and CRP increase after both laparoscopic and open surgery, particularly the later (Karayiannakis *et al.*, 1997, Leung *et al.* 2000). Peak IL-6 concentration preceding CRP (Leung *et al.* 2000). Hill and colleagues (1995) and Akhtar *et al.*, (1998) failed to demonstrate an increase IL-6 concentration following open and laparoscopic inguinal hernia repair. Postulating a requirement for the surgical insult to be insufficient to increase IL-6 concentration. The later also demonstrated no increase in TNF- $\alpha$  concentration. Other researchers have found variable responses in various animal models (Johnson *et al.* 1994, Stage *et al.*, 1997).

#### 3.5 Interleukin - 10

IL-10 is a 35-kDa synthesised as an 18-20 000 dalton monomer, which forms a noncovalently bound homo-dimer in solution. Gene-polymorphism alters the risk of developing sepsis after major trauma (Zeng *et al.*, 2009). Although anti-inflammatory, the IL-10 concentration has not been found to be predictive of survival (Hong *et al.*, 2014). Latifi *et al.* (2002) reported IL-10-deficient mice showed an earlier onset of lethality in sepsis and a reduced response to rescue surgery. Administration of recombinant IL-10 protein to IL-10 deficient mice increased survival and lengthened the therapeutic window for the rescue surgery. The timing of administration of IL-10 antibodies appears to be critical to survival; evidence is increasing of IL-10's role in transition between early reversible sepsis and late irreversible septic shock (Schulte *et al.*, 2013). Studies suggest IL-10 produces an early systemic anti-inflammatory response (Rivera-Chavez *et al.*, 2003 Taniguchi *et al.*, 2003). Table 3.5.1 lists the cells producing IL-10, and 3.5.2 the actions.

# Cell types producing IL-10

Cell types producing IL-10	
Monocytes and macrophages	Dendritic cells
B and T lymphocytes	NK cells

**Table 3.5.1:** The main cell types producing IL-10, though many immunecells can produce the cytokine (Lyons *et al.,* 1997, Latifi *et al.,* 2002).

## The role of IL-10 in septic shock

#### IL-10 action in septic shock

IL-10 acts to suppress the generation of Th1 T cells and their production of pro-inflammatory cytokines.

Strongly suppressive effect upon monocytes / macrophages, dendritic cells, neutrophils and T cells promoting anergy and apoptosis

Promoter of the Th2 cells and antibody production

IL-10 regulates IL-1 $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, IL-8, IL-12 and IL-18, granulocyte colony-stimulating factor, macrophage colony-stimulating factor, macrophage inflammatory protein-1a, normal T-cell expressed and secreted (RANTES), leukaemia-inhibiting factor and IL-10 itself are all suppressed

IL-10 stimulates the production of IL-1Ra and sTNFRs, thereby neutralizing the pro-inflammatory actions of IL-1 and TNF- $\alpha$ 

Nitric oxide and synthesis of gelatinase and collagenase are also suppressed

No effect on the constitutive expression of TGF- $\beta$ , a cytokine with antiinflammatory properties

Interacts with the coagulation cascade, to inhibit the expression of tissue factor on monocytes

**Table 3.5.2:** The anti-inflammatory actions of IL-10 from the work of (Ertel *et al.,* 1995, Shubin *et al.,* 2011 and Boontham *et al,* 2003, Rivera-Chavez *et al.,* 2003, Oberholzer *et al.,* 2002). This wide range of biological properties has lead to a great deal of concern about its use in sepsis syndromes. Oberholzer's team believes this supports the hypothesis that during sub lethal endotoxaemia it is the inhibition of the pro-inflammatory cytokine release that is IL-10's predominant role (Oberholzer *et al.,* 2002).

Studies demonstrated the TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 response directly regulates IL-10 production, which in turn down regulates the concentration of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 (Oberholzer *et al.*, 2002). Inhibition of TNF- $\alpha$  synthesis significantly attenuates IL-10 response. Inhibition of IL-10 causing an exaggerated TNF- $\alpha$  response to endotoxin, this interrelationship is shown in Figure 3.5.3 (Oberholzer *et al.*, 2002). IL-10 concentration increases after elective surgery and is postulated to limit the inflammatory response (Gilliand *et al.*, 1997). Neutrophils are essential for production of IL-10, which modulates the peritoneal monocytes phagocytosis, and expression of inflammatory cytokines (Ocuin *et al.*, 2011). Murine models have demonstrated neutrophil depletion alone did not alter survival, whereas depletion of neutrophils and inflammatory monocytes in peritoneal sepsis markedly reduced survival.

# The role of IL-10 in stimulating B-cell and inhibiting macrophages and dendritic cells



**Figure 3.5.3:** Demonstrating the role of IL-10. It is inhibitory to the macrophages and the dendritic cells, inhibiting the Th1 response. In contrast it promotes the cellular response via the B-cells (Oberholzer *et al.,* 2002).

#### 3.6 Peritoneal cytokines

In animal studies there is a strong correlation between mortality and the intra-abdominal cytokine concentration of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6 and IL-10. Higher concentration of all three increase the risk of mortality, but the best correlation with APACHE-II score was with IL-10 (Spearman's rho 0.424, Hendricks *et al.*, 2010). In the first 72 hours of shock from generalised peritonitis, Riché and colleagues (2000) determined that IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  rose in the systemic circulation and then declined, whereas IL-1 barely increased. In the non-survivors IL-6 concentrations remained high, but TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 concentrations did not alter.

Martineau and Shek, (2000) using persistent bacterial peritonitis in a rat model found IL-6 concentration to be comparable, with significantly elevated TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  in the study group. No difference could be demonstrated for TNF- $\alpha$  concentrations between mono and poly-microbial peritonitis by Riché's team (2000). However it is postulated that there is synergistic effect in polymicrobial infections, leading to a worse outcome (Dupont *et al.*, 1998).

Animal in-vivo experiments demonstrated significantly reduced TNF- $\alpha$  levels, in peritoneal macrophages, 24 hours after CO<sub>2</sub> laparoscopy compared to gasless laparoscopy and laparotomy, this effect lasted for up to three days (Mathew *et al.*, 1999). Systemic IL-6 was elevated, but depressed in peritoneal cells, there was no difference in IL-1 (Hajri *et al.*, 2000). T cell function and cell mediated immunity was maintained correlating with fewer postoperative septic complications following laparoscopic surgery compared to open.

Comparison of cytokine concentration in peritoneal drain fluid demonstrated no difference in pattern of response following laparoscopic and open colonic resection. The systemic and the drain concentration was significantly less in the laparoscopic resections (Wu *et al.*, 2003).

Measuring cytokines in the drain fluid following colorectal surgery has demonstrated elevation in cytokines after surgery. Falling by day 3 in un-complicated surgery. Those with an anastomotic leak or intra-abdominal complication, the drain concentration of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 and 6 were an early diagnostic indicator (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2011).

Literature review has demonstrated IL-6 to be detectable first, possibly day 1, and TNF- $\alpha$  from day 2 in anastomotic leaks (Clini *et al.*, 2013). Similar results have been found by Sparreboom team (2016), in their meta-analysis, but TNF- $\alpha$  was only found to be significantly higher from day 3 onwards. In the later study the concentration in the drain rose before the systemic cytokines.

## Introduction

## Chapter 4 - Pain

#### 4.1 Pain introduction

The most widely used definition of pain is the International Association for the study of pain (IASP) given in table 4.1.1. Pain is a subjective sensation, and measurement and analysis are difficult. Not only a sensory stimulus, it has a motivational and affective component, as in Table 4.1.2. Comparing studies is difficult due to the multiple measures adopted and environments measured in.

Kent (1985) demonstrated that anxious patients expected and remembered four times the amount of pain they actually had, whereas the low anxiety patient expected and remembered less than twice the amount of pain. The results of studies examining preoperative anxiety and postoperative pain are mixed, with many studies concluding that pain and anxiety are difficult to measure, however innate anxiety does not correlate with state anxiety (anxiety at a given time). There is closer correlation between pain and innate anxiety but it is still far from a perfect correlation (Chung *et al.*, 1997).

## Definition of pain by the International Association for the study of pain

## International Association for the study of pain (IASP)

'an unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with actual or potential tissue damage and described in terms of such damage' (Merskey and Bogduk, 1994).

**Table 4.1.1:** There are multiple definitions of pain in the literature. The most widely used is the International Association for the study of pain (IASP).

## Factors affecting the experience of pain

Factors affecting the experience of pain		
Context of cultural learning	Previous experience	
Anxiety and depression	Patient perception of their	
	environment,	
The patients, their relatives or the	Cultural background	
clinician's belief's about pain		
Age	Gender	
Placebo effect	Pre-existing pain	

**Table 4.1.2:** Factors affecting patients' experience of pain (Katz and Melzak, 1999). Studies have found opposite findings for pain and increasing age (Lynch *et al.*, 1997, Chung *et al.*, 1997). Gender differences are widely studied and demonstrated environment plays a significant role (Lynch *et al.*, 1997, Chung *et al.*, 1997). Zatzick and Dimsdale (1990) demonstrated that there was no ethno-cultural difference between peoples discrimination of noxious stimuli, but there was significant cultural difference in reporting pain. It is this criterion for reporting pain, which may lead to ethnic bias. Vitale and colleagues (1991) demonstrated the importance of cultural factors in patient's duration of pain and their time to return to work following laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Postoperative pain has been reported to correlate with peri-operative pain levels (Ure *et al.*, 1994).

#### 4.2 Pain assessment

In practice there is a marked disparity between how staff and patients rate their pain, even amongst specially trained staff. Research demonstrates uniform poor assessment and rating skills across all staff groups, particularly in comparison to other clinical signs (Grossman *et al.*, 1991). Guidelines for pain assessment include the timing of rating, the place, person and measure. Poor postoperative pain relief delays recovery, increases morbidity, reduces patients satisfaction and increases the risk of developing chronic pain and can increase mortality (American Society of Anesthesiologists, 2012, van der Voot *et al.*, 2015).

In a study of day case laparoscopic cholecystectomy Watt-Watson and team (2004), found all patients rated their worst pain, as moderate to severe at each 24 hour period to 7 days. Despite this only 50% took any analgesia after 72 hours. In 20% of cases this was due to the side effects of the analgesia. Surgical patients report more pain, but a systematic review of adult NHS patients reported over 50% of medical patients reported pain as a significant symptom (Greogory and McGowan, 2016). Several reasons have been proposed for patients' failure to report pain detailed in Table 4.1.3.

# Reasons for patients not reporting their pain, and interventions to optimise pain management

Proposed reasons for patients failing to report pain		
Lack of knowledge regarding	Lack of knowledge of the risks of	
options for pain relief	unrelieved pain	
Experiencing less pain than	The patients experience of the side	
expected	effects of analgesia	
Belief that pain serves a purpose in	Health care providers believes and	
recovery	responses	
Multi-modal approach to pain is optimal including		
Multi-modal anaesthesia	Interactive patient counseling	
Follow-up telephone advice and	Pre-operative counseling	
support		

**Table 4.1.3:** Proposes reasons for patients failure to report pain, from Huang *et al.,* (2001) study of why patients fail to report pain and optimal measures to achieve post-operative pain relief.

Despite significant advance, focus and guidelines on postoperative pain, still 45% of patients are reporting being in extreme pain for a period of time after surgery. With pain being the reason for 38% of readmissions after day case surgery (White and Kehlet, 2010). Multi-modal analgesia, usually a NSAID and opiate aims to reduce side effects, by decreasing dose of each and gains from the synergistic action of the two drugs, this has improved postoperative pain management (Vadivelu, 2010). But of the patients experiencing extreme pain 30% report their pain not being fully addressed (Walker *et al.*, 2014). Despite this over 80% of patients expresses a high level of satisfaction with the care they received (Walker *et al.*, 2016).

#### 4.3 Pain and the immune system.

Post-operative pain affects multiple organ systems, contributing to post-operative immunosuppression (Page *et al.*, 2001). Comparison of analgesia regimens demonstrated significantly improved immune function in the patient controlled analgesia group not containing morphine (Beilin *et al.*, 2003a). Preemptive analgesia was found to reduce post-operative pain, and cytokine production, and preserve cellular immunity (Beilin *et al.*, 2003b). Compared to morphine, tramadol pre and post operatively, fentanyls PCA and ropivacaine wound infiltration-based analgesia have all been demonstrated to preserve immune cell function and cell numbers better (Kim *et al.*, 2016).

The magnitude of neuropathic pain is directly proportional to the numbers of proinflammatory cytokine present at the site of neuronal injury. The strongest evidence is for TNF- $\alpha$ , but there is also evidence for IL-1, IL-6 and IL-17, and the antiinflammatory cytokines IL-4, 10 and TGF- $\beta$  (Hung *et al.*, 2017). Pro and anti inflammatory cytokines appear to have a significant role in neuropathic pain, although in small studies specific cytokines have been identified as treatment targets, the results of larger studies are mixed due to patients heterogeneity (Hung *et al.*, 2017). Exaggerated pain responses occur if healthy neurons are exposed to cytokines or gut contents, bacteria, fungi, or viruses (Maves *et al.*, 1993). El-Aleem and colleagues (2005) have studied both acute and chronic pain models finding anti-nociceptive and anti-inflammatory neuropeptides are regulated by the inflammatory process. Chronic pain and postoperative neuropathy is also being investigated (Cui *et al.*, 2000).

Injury increases levels of IL-6 and it's receptor and its trans-membrane signal transducer in peripheral nerves, dorsal root ganglia and the spinal cord (De Jongh *et al.*, 2003). IL-6 and receptor expression promote neuronal survival, enhancing the quality of neuronal repair (Their *et al.*, 1999 and Tancredi *et al.*, 2000).  $\beta$ -endorphin and enkephalin, release being enhanced by IL-6, and IL-6 administration having an analgesic effect reversed by naloxone (Bianchi *et al.*, 1999).

Inhibition of cytokine synthesis with pentoxifylline a phosphodiesterase inhibitor increases the nociceptive threshold. Pre-emptive administration for elective cholecystectomy decreased plasma IL-6 levels and reduced opioid requirement (Wordliczek *et al.*, 2000). IL-1 $\beta$  acts peripherally on the primary afferent neurons to synthesize and release substance P, which contributes to neurogenic inflammation (Inoue *et al.*, 1999). Samad and colleagues (2001) note elevated IL-1 $\beta$  in the central nervous system (CNS) stimulating production of COX-2 increasing PGE<sub>s</sub> production, and pain sensitivity.

Ren and Dubner, (2010), report a bi-directional interaction between the immune system and the nervous system. Injury to the Schwann cells triggering release of proinflammatory cytokines, and macrophage migration. Macrophages recruit PMNL's, releasing inflammatory cytokines triggering the nerve, with repetitive stimulation perceived as chronic pain. Inhibition of the immune system via the release of opioids, mainly  $\beta$ -endorphin, onto the nerve terminals improves chronic pain (Hua and Cabot, 2010). IL-6 in particular relaying peripheral immune signals to the CNS, inducing COX-2 and PGE2 release in vascular endothelial cells of the brain (Ren and Dubner, 2010). At present it is unclear, if the immune system initiates or maintains neuropathic pain in patients (Calvo *et al.*, 2012).

#### 4.4 Surgery and pain

Patient studies report a wide range of pain following laparoscopic cholecystectomy, with 10% reporting no pain (Squirrell *et al.*, 1998). It is unclear if cholecystectomy in the presence of acute cholecystitis increases post-operative pain, with little published literature available.

Pain is most severe in the first 2-3 hours following surgery, and for the first twenty-four hours. Predictability allowing pre-emptive analgesia administration to reduce CNS hyper-excitability (Michaloliakou *et al.*, 1996, Wall, 1998). Ure and colleagues (1994) found pre-operative factors allowed relatively accurate post-operative pain levels. Despite staff and patient education, and advances in management, the incidence post-operative pain remains unaltered (Huang *et al.*, 2001). Studies comparing approaches to cholecystectomy demonstrate beyond the initial 1 - 2 weeks the advantage, in terms of pain, of the laparoscopic approach is lost, with equivalent pain scores at one month (Ros *et al.*, 2001).

Joris and colleagues (1995) demonstrated greater variability in pain following laparoscopic surgery. Pain is visceral after laparoscopic surgery, and parietal following the open approach. Following laparoscopic cholecystectomy pain characteristically originates in the right upper quadrant and around the port wounds. Pain diminishes after 24 hours and parietal pain being relatively minimal. Golder and Rhodes (1998) failed to demonstrate a significant benefit from reducing port size and an increase in difficult procedures secondary to localised inflammation. Cheah's team (2001) did demonstrate a benefit, but applied strict pre-operative selection.

A randomized prospective trial, by Singla's team (2014), demonstrated reducing intraabdominal pressure to 7-8 mm Hg, and maintaining it at this reduced the frequency and intensity of post-operative pain. Similar results were found by Yasir's team (2012). Surwam and Yuwono, (2016), measured pain after open cholecystectomy with / without methylprednisolone administration pre-operatively. Methylprednisolone decreased IL-6, but not PGE2 post-operatively, pain decreased, but secondary to the concurrent reduction PGE2 with NSAID's. Table 4.4.1 lists potential sources of pain after laparoscopic surgery.

# Potential sources of pain after laparoscopic surgery

Potential sources of pain after laparoscopic surgery	
Abdominal wall distension	Diaphragmatic, or sub-diaphragmatic
	fibres or stretch receptors
Loss of visceral surface tension	Weight on the diaphragmatic
	attachments of the liver
Length of the pneumoperitoneum	Volume of residual gas
Abdominal wall lift versus carbon	Type of gas generating the
dioxide pneumoperitoneum has	pneumoperitoneum
demonstrated reduced shoulder tip	
pain when carbon dioxide is not used	
(Koivusalo <i>et al.,</i> 1996)	
Temperature of gas, warming possibly	Maximal pressure of the gas,
reducing pain (Farley et al., 2004)	maximal pain for 24 hours, but lasting
	a week, Wallace and team (1997)
Rate of insufflation important in relation	Higher the insufflation pressure the
to shoulder tip pain Berberoglu <i>et al.,</i>	higher the post-operative pain score
(1998)	Wallace <i>et al.,</i> (1997)
Splanchnic mucosal ischaemia caused	Transversus abdominis nerve block
by localized peritoneal acidosis	has also been demonstrated to
	reduce post-operative pain (Ra et al.,
	2010)
Phrenic nerve neuropraxia is	Lavage decreases postoperative pain
implicated, but the brevity of the pain	possibly by displacing the sub-
suggests nerve is uninjured, but Matsui	phrenic carbon dioxide or diluting
and colleagues, (1994) demonstrated a	local acid (Ure <i>et al.,</i> 1994), despite
phrenic nerve block after anaesthetic	saline itself being acidic (Wills and
induction significantly reduced	Hunt, 2000)
shoulder tip pain	

**Table 4.4.1:** Potential sources of pain after laparoscopic surgery, (Wills andHunt, 2000).

Shoulder-tip pain, increases in intensity from day two onwards, being more minor than the visceral pain, it is often ignored by patients. Quoted incidence being 30 -40% of cases (Cason *et al.*, 1996, Wills and Hunt 2000). Other common causes of postoperative pain include retained stones, usually asymptomatic, becoming nidus of inflammation or initiating other pathology, including fistula, abscess, or sinus tract formation (Binagi *et al.*, 2015, Jolobe, 2017). They present as non-specific right upper quadrant pain following cholecystectomy (Ramamurthy *et al.*, 2013), or ongoing inflammation and sepsis (Nayak *et al.*, 2013).

#### 4.5 Measurement of pain

Pain assessment is a routine post-operative observation. Assessment requires an ability to communicate a pain description, and has lead to adoption of research tools into general clinical practice. Despite this Heikkila team found pain assessment was not documented in 35% of patients on day one and 46% on the second post-operative day (2016). Melzack and Casey, (1968) describe three distinct, measurable, dimensions listed in Table 4.5.1. Traditional models assess four parts Table 4.5.2. Pain measures are inherently subjective relying on self-reporting, Table 4.5.3 list the criteria for pain measures.

#### Measurable dimensions of the pain experience

Distinct measurable dimensions of the pain experience	
	Sensory aspect of pain which
Sensory-discriminative	defines the intensity, location and
	temporal aspects
	Emotional and aversive aspects of
Affective-motivational	pain and suffering
	Patients interpretation of the
Cognitive evaluative	meaning and consequences of the
	pain and injury, this includes impact
	on quality of life and death itself

**Table 4.5.1:** From the work of Melzack and Casey, (1968), the three distinct measurable dimensions of the pain experience. Patients experience of pain is comprised of all three parts, the proportion of each is unique to the individual and the cause of pain.

## Four elements of the traditional models of pain

Traditional models of pain consist of four parts	
	Lack of a pain stimulus makes the
Nocieception	association between nocioception
	and pain response difficult to
	assess
	Easier to measure but are
Sensation	subjective depending on how
	patients report them
	Easier to measure but are
Suffering	subjective depending on how
	patients report them
	Easier to measure but are
Behaviour	subjective depending on how
	patients report them

**Table 4.5.2:** Describes the more traditional model of pain, and the ease of assessment. Sensation, suffering and behaviour are subjective, and depend on how the patient reports their pain, behaves while in pain, or the clinical parameters thought to be characteristic of the patient in pain.

## Criteria pain measures should fulfill

Criteria a pain measure should fulfill	
Improve accuracy	Easily understood by the target
	population
Optimise reliability	Offer validity and reliability

**Table 4.5.3:** Demonstrates the criteria a pain measure should fulfill. No pain measure at present fulfills all these criteria adequately, but they are used as ideals. The visual analogue score comes closer than many.

Pain measures help in assessment of pain over a period of time and the effectiveness of interventions (Max *et al.*, 1990 Ong and Seymour, 2004). Currently used pain measures are unclear as to the minimum clinically important change in response, either to an intervention or surgery. The VAS is an incomplete representation of the pain experience and there is growing interest in using quality of life measures in conjunction with the VAS (Eaton *et al.*, 2013).

The timing of administration is also debated and not standardised. Lynch *et al.*, (1997), recommends assessment during movement or coughing and at rest, visceral pain is affected by coughing, but not mobilisation, whereas parietal pain is affected by coughing and mobilisation (Joris *et al.*, 1995). Movement depends upon the procedure and the mode of analgesia.

#### 4.6 Specific measures of pain

Verbal Rating Score / Verbal category scale (VRS)

In the VRS, pain is described by a list of words graded in intensity, the patient choosing which word best matches their current pain, and the investigator scores their descriptors. The benefits and criticisms of the VRS are listed in Table 4.6.1.

Advantages	of the VRS	
Good accuracy	Widely used and verified (Lara-	
	Munoz <i>et al.,</i> 2004)	
Good at assessing intensity	Good at demonstrating change	
	following intervention	
Disadvantages of the VRS		
There is a difference in the	Scoring system assume equal	
weighting between levels	weighting between certain	
	categories	
Patients perceiving their pain as	Data is ordinal data and should	
not falling into any category are	be analysed by non-parametric	
forced to choose one that doesn't	statistics but is not in all studies	
reflect their pain.		
The score also relies on a	Limited use in non-English	
relatively good understanding of	speaking population	
English, and the nuances of the		
language		
Limited use in the young	Limited use where there is a	
	barrier to reading for example	
	immediately post-operatively	
Language barrier is a major limiter		
to use in practice		

# Advantages and disadvantages with the Verbal rating score

**Table 4.6.1:** Benefits and criticisms of the verbal rating score, which is widely used in practice and in research.
### Numerical Rating Scores e.g. Visual Analogue Scale (VAS)

Numerical rating scores demonstrate good correlation to other pain measures and sensitivity to intervention (Chapman *et al.*, 1992). Clinically significant reduction in pain is seen as reduction as 10mm on the score (Myles *et al.*, 2017). Figure 4.6.2 demonstrates the VAS, and Table 4.7.3 the positives and negatives around the score. For post-operative use the simplest and most reproducible version of VAS was a 10mm line with annotation (B in Figure 4.6.2) (Kjeldsen and Klausen, 2016).

Melzack and Katz (1994) advocate the assessment of pain pre and post intervention. Accuracy can be improved by serial VAS measures and constructing a curve to give an integrated measure of the area under the curve of pain intensity (AUC) and pain relief (Matthews *et al.*, 1990).

### Different representations of the VAS used in studies



A. Annotated Visual Analog Scale

**Figure 4.6.2:** Demonstrates different forms of Visual Analogue Scale (VAS). In (A) the scale is annotated to help patients where language is a problem. In (B) this variant is much simpler. In both examples the line is 10 centimeters long and the patient asked to mark the level they feel their pain is. In (A) the patient can see how the line is divided up, in (B) this is not as obvious. In this study we trialed all the version, (B) was chosen, because in the pilot it was found to be less confusing to post-operative patients, and it reduced numerical preference, and patients marking the whole numbers only. Numerical scales of 0-10 or 100 have also been used, these types of scale are called graphic-rating scales.

Advantages and	disadvantage	es of the	Visual	analogu	ie scale
-	-				

Advantages of the VAS			
Simple to use	Independent of language		
Easily understood by patients	Good correlation to other measures		
	of pain		
Quick to complete it is easy to	Good compliance		
repeat			
Children as young as seven	Good sensitivity to pharmacological		
can reliably use it (Chambers	and non-pharmacological		
and McGrath, 1998)	interventions due to the number of		
	response categories available to		
	patients (Seymour 1982)		
Disadvantages of the VAS			
Using the VAS with an attached	Using multiple choices on the scale		
rating scale, demonstrated	rather than being more sensitive,		
clustering of responses around	the multiple scales have left		
the descriptions with a	patient's confused, and therefore		
consequent loss of sensitivity	there is a consequent loss of		
(Scott and Huskisson, 1976)	sensitivity (Jensen <i>et al.,</i> 1986).		
Numerical scales have	In the early post-operative period		
demonstrated digit preference	visual and motor coordination can		
	be compromised and patients		
	require additional instructions to		
	complete the VAS (DeLoach et al.,		
	1998)		

**Table 4.6.3:** Demonstrating the advantages and disadvantages of the VAS inboth research and clinical practice.

#### Alternative measures

Due to variations in the severity of pain between studies, researchers have used alternatives, such as return to normal activities, or employment as an outcome measure. Variation being found between the self-employed and the employed, and discriminates against those not working (Gupta *et al.*, 2002).

#### Postoperative pain

Literature review established following cholecystectomy most authors use either the VAS or the Verbal rating scale (VRS). VAS and VRS scales demonstrate a high level of correlation (Jensen *et al.*, 1989). VAS is considered more sensitive in detecting small differences in pain levels, and changes after pharmacological intervention (Seymour, 1982). VRS has good reliability in assessing changes with analgesia intervention; finer changes in grade of pain are lost (Ong and Seymour, 2004).

### 4.7 Health related quality of life (HRQOL)

HRQOL encompasses physical, social, and emotional attitudes of the patient towards their present and previous health state. Policy makers use measures for pharmacoeconomic decisions, particularly in guiding clinical decision making. For patient's, quality of life as an outcome, is far more important than laboratory measures or clinical end points. Measures are frequently self-completed, aiming to assess physical and psychosocial attitudes and function. There are three groups of HRQOL measures, given in table 4.7.1.

# The three main groups of Health related quality of life measures

	Different types of HRQOL measures
Global	Provide basic information, measuring a single attribute on a visual analogue or a graded scale.
assessments	For example the VAS measuring pain (Chapman <i>et al.,</i> 1992)
Conorio	Test more complex hypothesis clustering sub- scores into areas such as physical, emotional function, somatic sensation, and mental health.
Generic questionnaires	Generic scores can demonstrate unexpected relationships and are used to predict outcomes and to compare the study population with populations with other disease and/or the general population (Irvine, 1999). They may also contain sections that are not relevant to a particular disease, and omit important factors pertinent to the disease. For example the SF-36 (Ware and Sherbourne, 1992), Nottingham Health Profile (Hunt <i>et al.</i> , 1980)
Disease specific	Measures are used to chart the progress of a disease and measure the effect of treatment interventions. For example Gastrointestinal Quality of Life Index (Eypasch <i>et al.,</i> 1995), Diabetes Quality of Life measure (Burroughs <i>et al.,</i> 2004), Minnesota Living with Heart Failure (Bilbao <i>et al.,</i> 2016)

**Table 4.7.1:** Demonstrates the three main types of HRQOL scores used and their place in the assessment process. It is advocated that studies should include generic and disease specific measures to optimise the HRQOL information gained, at each stage of a disease and to avoid missing the unexpected (Guyatt *et al.*, 1993). All measures must be validated undergoing psychometric testing of validity, reliability and responsiveness (Guyatt *et al.*, 1993).

### HRQOL and Surgery

HRQOL measures should assess all outcomes of surgery, including patient satisfaction, wellbeing, quality of life and functional outcome. Outcome of a procedure is important for, patient, clinician and funding organisation. It is vital advancements in surgery are validated and assessed fully before, and after gaining widespread adoption. This requires appropriate tools for assessment. It is perhaps surprising no standardised, validated quality of life instrument, exists for cholecystectomy (Carraro *et al.*, 2011). Many questionnaires trialed have had problems with reproducibility, restricted range of measures and language (Carraro *et al.*, 2011).

The European Association for Endoscopic surgery (Korolija *et al.*, 2004) performed a meta- analysis of published data to evaluate quality of life after laparoscopic surgery. Aiming to assess where the laparoscopic approach was beneficial and the optimal measures for future assessment. They found in the early period quality of life was improved by laparoscopic surgery, in the long term there was only minor benefit or equivalence between approaches (Nilsson *et al.*, 2004). Advocating the use of the SF-36 as the generic questionnaire and GIQLI (Appendix 1) for the disease specific instrument, suggest quality of life should be assessed at 1 and 6 months following surgery (Korolija *et al.*, 2004).

HRQOL markedly reduces while waiting for elective cholecystectomy (Somasekar *et al.*, 2002). The financial cost due to emergency admissions being sufficient to cover the cost of early surgery; particularly taking into account delayed cholecystectomy patients had technically more difficult procedures, and higher conversion rate. Identifying patients at risk of early readmission is difficult, but is more frequent after acute cholecystitis than biliary colic.

Vetrhus and colleagues (2004) randomised patients to cholecystectomy or observation. Observation group patients whose symptoms settled had no detectable difference in quality of life score, but had more recurrent episodes than the surgical group. The surgical group overall having higher quality of life scores, but patients with higher intensity and frequency of pain at randomisation, had further episodes of pain regardless of the group randomised to. Ozden and Dibaise, (2003) found no statistically significant difference between surgery and observation for patients with acalculous biliary pain.

Quintana and colleagues (2005) drew up criteria for appropriateness of cholecystectomy using the RAND appropriateness methodology Patients completed the Short-Form-36 (SF-36) and the Gastro-intestinal quality of life index (GIQLI)-before and 3 months after surgery. Their findings are demonstrated in Table 4.7.2.

# Quintana et al., (2003, 2005) Scale for the appropriateness of cholecystectomy

Patient group	Benefit
	Less improvement in bodily pain,
No symptoms of cholelithiasis	vitality, social function and
	physical impairment
Pain related to gallstones who	Greatest improvements in, bodily
were low surgical risk	pain, vitality, social function and
	physical impairment
Pain related to gallstones who	Less improvement with a poor
were high surgical risk	risk benefit ratio

**Table 4.7.2:** Quintana and colleagues drew up a scale for the appropriateness of cholecystectomy incorporating the assessment of HRQOL (Quintana *et al.,* 2003, 2005). Advocating identification of patients who are high-risk surgical candidates, or whose pain potentially had an alternative cause and carefully counseling them prior to making an informed decision about the modality of treatment.

### 4.8 Specific measures of quality of life

Gastrointestinal quality of life index (GIQLI)

Eypasch and colleagues (1995) developed the GIQLI with the aim to improve the quality of the data on patients' reported symptoms (Eypasch *et al.*, 1995). The structure of the measure is given in Table 4.8.1. The questionnaire in Appendix A.

Gastrointestinal quality of life index (GIQLI)		
	Core section	
Summary	Additional modules can be added for specific	
	diseases	
	Five domains	
Core section scoring	- 36 items graded responses scored 0 to 4	
	- Overall score 0 to 176	
	- Higher scores signifying better HRQOL	
	GI symptoms	
Domains	Emotions	
	Physical	
	Social function	
	Medical treatment	
	Demonstrated to be high across a range of	
	disease, with good discriminatory powers	
Validity and	between severity of disease, distinguishing	
reliability	between mobile patients in the community,	
	housebound and bed ridden patients	
	High, for example mean scores (SD)	
Responsiveness	following cholecystectomy showed an	
	improvement from 87.3 (17.25) to 104.5	
	(17.52) two weeks following surgery	
	(Eypasch and Williams, 1995)	
	10 - 15 minutes, most patients able to do	
Time to complete	with little or no help	
	Originally produced in German it has now	
Versions	been translated into English, French and	
	Spanish (Slim <i>et al.,</i> 1999)	

# **Gastrointestinal Quality of Life index**

Table 4.8.1: The structure of the GIQLI (Eypasch et al., 1995).

#### <u>SF-36</u>

Originally based upon concepts identified in the Medical Outcomes Study (MOS) (Ware and Sherbourne, 1992). The SF-36 is a generic questionnaire whose structure is demonstrated in Table 4.8.2, and Table 4.8.3 describes the summary scores. The questionnaire is given in Appendix A. In cholecystectomy patients no difference has been found in quality of life scores, with the SF-36 or other measures, between the open and laparoscopic approach after the first month. Carraro *et al.*, (2011), finding the quality of life was more closely related to factors around pre-surgery quality of life, than related to factors around surgery. Post surgical quality of life was also related to the accuracy of the pre-operative diagnosis, but this was secondary to pre-surgery quality of life (Carraro *et al.*, 2011).

The SF-36

SF-36		
	Eight areas and a summary score of physical and mental	
Measure	health	
	36 questions	
	- 5 levels of responses	
Scoring	- identical in ordering and layout	
	- each item being included in only one of eight domains,	
	which in turn become the two summary measures the	
	physical and mental summary score	
	Vitality	
	Physical functioning	
Domains	Bodily pain	
	General health perceptions	
	Physical role functioning	
	Role emotional functioning	
	Social role functioning	
	Mental health	
	Reliability estimates for physical and mental summary	
Validity and	scores usually exceeds 0.90 (Ware et al., 1994). The SF-	
reliability	36 in studies of physical and mental health demonstrate	
	an 80-90% empirical validity (McHorney <i>et al.,</i> 1993)	
	For cholecystectomy patients it has been demonstrated	
Responsiveness	to have limitations in discriminating between approaches	
	to surgery (Carraro <i>et al.,</i> 2011).	
	10 – 15 minutes, most patients able to do with little or no	
Time to complete	help. Can be reliably completed by persons aged 14	
	years and upwards, being either self-administered,	
	computerised-administration, or by a trained	
	administrator.	
	Refined to be used worldwide and has been widely	
Versions	translated, approximately 50 languages, and takes into	
	consideration cultural factors (Ware et al., 1994)	

**Table 4.8.2:** The structure of the SF-36.

	Predominant contributing domain	
	and closest correlating domains to	
	the component summary scores	
	- Physical role functioning	
Physical Component Summary	- Role-physical	
Score (PCS)	- Bodily pain	
	- Mental Health	
Mental Component Summary	- Role-emotional functioning	
(MCS)		
	- Vitality	
Contribution to both PCS and	- General Health perceptions	
MCS.	- Social role functioning	

# The SF-36 component summary scores

**Table 4.8.3:** Demonstrates how the eight individual domains contribute to the summary scores. Certain individual domains have a greater weighting to one or other summary score, others contribute more equally to both summary scores. Unsurprisingly the physical measures such as Physical functioning, Physical role functioning and Bodily pain, tend to better assess physical disorders. Mental health, Role-emotional, and Social functioning optimally assess mental health. There is only very weak correlation between mental health and the physical health measures. Skewing of scoring distributions occur in scales that have 20 or more levels, these include Physical functioning, General health, Vitality and Mental health (Ware, 2000).

GIQLI is not specific for gallbladder disease (Carraro *et al.*, 2011). Ibrahim's team (2016), and Quintana's team (2003, 2005), reviewed the literature for references to quality of life studies following cholecystectomy finding 38% of studies have used SF-36, and a further 38% the GOQLI. Only 21% used two measures, the commonest pairing being SF-36 and GIQLI. Concluding standardisation of instrument would permit easier comparison, suggesting GIQLI, in combination with either SF-36 or the EQ-5D5L, but the SF-36 has been more widely used to perform research with cholecystectomy patients.

Both the SF-36 and the GIQLI have also been the most widely used to compare approaches to cholecystectomy, and biliary disease in well recognised studies (Quintana *et al.*, 2003 – SF-36, Cararo *et al.*, 2011, Mentes *et al.*, 2001, Lien *et al.*, 2010 both questionnaires). Some studies have used EQ-5D5L (Wanjura and Sandblom, 2016) and other questionnaires, but there is more limited data for these questionnaires. The SF-36 and the GIQLI have been used together after cholecystectomy to determine the 'minimal clinically important difference' (MCID) to patients, or the minimal change that is of clinical relevance has been determined (Shi *et al.*, 2008, 2009). The wider use in the literature of the SF-36 and GIQLI was a significant determinant in using them in this study, to be able to compare this study's findings too.

# **Aims and Scope**

### Chapter 5 – Aims and Scope

### Background

Gallstone disease is a significant western health problem. Nine million people in the UK population have gallstones and over 60 000 cholecystectomies are performed each year in the U.K. (Royal College of Surgeons, 2016). Fifty percent of biliary colic patients have further episodes of colic, and 1 to 2% suffers more serious complications (Wu *et al.*, 2015).

A pilot study was undertaken (**Chapter 6**) to test the anecdotal observation that patients undergoing laparoscopic cholecystectomy had a delay in presentation of sepsis, compared to open approach patients. Secondly to establish if pain was an early indicator of patients developing septic complications post procedure. The conclusion from this was that the laparoscopic approach patients did have a delayed presentation and pain was an early indicator of sepsis. The pilot identified a group of patients who experienced a lot of pain, at the level of the patients developing sepsis, but never developed sepsis. This group of patients rated their quality of life poorer than the main group of patients.

Changes in peritoneal cytokine concentration have been demonstrated to be early indicators of postoperative complications (Yamamoto's *et al.*, 2011 and Clini *et al.*, 2013). Peritoneal cytokine concentration changes preceding changes in systemic cytokines, and SIRS markers. The pilot study established that we could detect a change in cytokine concentration in systemic blood samples.

A literature review demonstrated IL-6 concentration correlated most closely with indicators of disease severity scores and overall mortality (Bacci *et al.*, 2015). From the literature TNF- $\alpha$  cytokine concentration was also important in early indication of complications and IL-1 had a role in mediating the pain response (Nicholson and Hall, 2011).

Various factors around laparoscopic surgery, including pressure, carbon dioxide and temperature, have been individually implicated, principally in animal models, to have a negative impact upon inflammatory cytokine concentration, and cell mediated immunity (Machado *et al.*, 2009, West *et al.*, 1997, Kuntz *et al.*, 2000 and Kawai *et al.*, 2014). In contrast Hanly *et al.*, demonstrated that the IL-10 concentration was unaffected, or increased, by the factors around laparoscopic surgery. Opiates particularly morphine, has been demonstrated to decrease neutrophil and macrophage recruitment and function, within the peritoneal cavity in the early stages of sepsis, and increase bacterial dissemination from the gut lumen. (Meng *et al.*, 2015, Liang *et al.*, 2016).

Cote *et al.*, (2015) and Concepción - Martin *et al.*, (2016), have demonstrated pain following ERCP as a good indicator of potential post procedural complications using it as an indicator for admission, but no one has examined this after cholecystectomy.

#### Aims

The aim of the main study was therefore to examine pain as early indicator of patients developing post procedural sepsis, allowing earlier initiation of treatment to reduce morbidity. Secondly the literature identified multiple factors around laparoscopic surgery that delayed the cytokine rise in patients undergoing laparoscopic surgery, but no one had examined multiple factors together. Thirdly to determine if we could use the quality of life (QoL) and Hospital anxiety and depression (HAD) scores to distinguish between the group developing sepsis and those who experienced a lot of pain but did not develop sepsis.

A secondary aim was to increase the rate of day case surgery by using the pain and quality of life scores to indicate who could be discharged home and was at low risk of sepsis, and postoperative pain problems.

### Study design

The VAS identified an increase in pain score in those developing sepsis after surgery in the pilot study. But pain alone did not distinguish between those who had postoperative complications, from those who experienced significantly more pain only. This later group rated their quality of life poorer in the pilot. The SF-36 and the GIQLI, used together were able to identify this group. Ibrahim *et al.*, (2016) advocating the combined use of the SF-

36 and GIQLI, as they have been widely validated, and able detect minimal clinically important differences relevant to patients (Shi *et al.*, 2008, 2009).

Changes in the pain score pre-empted the rise in cytokine concentration and we wished to determine the factors that delayed the cytokine rise and identify a method for diagnosing sepsis earlier. I recorded the VAS, with the cytokines concentration, and routine clinical observations to identify those developing sepsis. The QoL questionnaires were completed to identify pre-operatively those who had significant problems with pain post operatively and determine the benefit they had from cholecystectomy. We included biliary emergency and ERCP patients, as I wanted to exclude factors around biliary disease affecting the cytokine or questionnaire response, as this had not previously been examined.

To decrease variation in clinical practice consecutive patients admitted under three consultants as either emergency admissions, or for cholecystectomy were approached to participate. For the ERCP arm one consultant performed all procedures. The ELISA plates included a standardisation curve on every plate. The study size, with measurements at multiple time-points, required multiple ELISA plates for each cytokine. Therefore I enroled 15 volunteer controls, their blood samples being plated on multiple plates permitting assessment of variation between plates to be assessed. They also give an indication of the size of a significant change in concentration.

# **Pilot study**

# Chapter 6 – Pilot study

### 6.1 The initiation of the study

The study proposal began as an observational discussion around patients developing complications after laparoscopic cholecystectomy appeared to have a delay in presentation of sepsis compared with patients with sepsis after open surgery.

This was an anecdotal observation, and I therefore undertook a notes review of two years of complications for three consultants, two performing laparoscopic surgery and one open surgeon. This demonstrated supporting evidence for the observation. The review highlighted pain at a level greater than expected, as a potential early indicator of postoperative complications.

As a surgical trainee I was aware of patients who had unexpected high levels of pain after surgery but did not develop postoperative sepsis. If pain was to be used an early indicator of complications, then this group of patients needed to be distinguished from the group of patients who potentially were developing postoperative complications.

The conclusions from the pilot would give the main study protocol.

#### 6.2 Researching the pilot study

I realised I needed to understand the effect biliary disease had upon the cytokine concentration and pain measures. ERCP patients underwent manipulation of the biliary system but did not have surgical intervention; I recruited only elective ERCP's for benign disease in case malignant disease affected cytokine concentration or patient's perception of pain. I also recruited a group of biliary emergencies to understand the effect of gallstone disease on the measures recorded. Healthy volunteers gave a baseline cytokine concentration, and pain score, and gave feedback on the study, enabling changes to be made for the main study, as I was concerned patients' maybe inhibited from giving this information.

The pilot study also served as a feasibility assessment to performing the main study. For example in the biliary emergency and elective ERCP patients I could only assess systemic cytokine concentration, but it was unknown if the systemic cytokine concentration would change sufficiently. We also assessed the optimal pain assessment tool; the frequency of administration, and the acceptability to patients, particularly in the postoperative period was assessed. The clarity of written and verbal information was also assessed. In particular patients understanding this was a research trial, and not providing information on pain or sepsis to the clinical team.

If I collected the interventional data, this could potentially influence how investigations and prescribing was performed. Therefore the pilot was used to train independent observers. An anaesthetic nurse practitioner (ANP) and a first assistant nurse in theatre, and an endoscopy nurse for the ERCP's, and I observed all the cases, independently completing the pro forma. We assessed the ease of data gathering, completion of forms, standardised approaches to measuring each variable. We assessed diversity between assessments, and I invited their feedback. The ANP and first assistant were involved in camera holding for procedures, the endoscopy nurse did not scope patients. This potentially was a reason for good agreement in the surgical but not the endoscopy cases, particularly around the difficultness of the ERCP procedures.

I was proficient in the ELISA technique from previous research work, but used the pilot study to re-familiarise myself, and checked the kit was sensitive to demonstrate changes in each of the cytokines. Finally I used the pilot to gather data to inform the power calculation for recruitment to the main study.

I presented the study plan to the surgical and anaesthetic department meeting to inform and receive feedback about feasibility. Agreement could not be reached on a standard analgesia and anaesthesia protocol, and clinicians did not want to place a drain in all surgical patients. No patient received prescribed premedication, and no adjunct analgesics were prescribed. Midazolam, morphine and buscopam were administered for the ERCP cases. For the open cholecystectomy patients antibiotics were given at induction to all patients, for the laparoscopic approach and the ERCP patients antibiotics were given at the discretion of the named consultant. Courses of antibiotics, after intervention and in the emergency patients were given at the senior doctors request.

Concluding from this only the patients of three surgical consultants to try and limit variation, as they shared a group of four anaesthetists and a junior team. The hospital had trainee surgeons and anaesthetists working under supervision of these consultants. Two higher surgical trainees performed cases, and two anaesthetic trainees.

#### 6.3 Conducting the pilot study

For the pilot study I sought ethical approval from the hospital ethics committee and the city Research and Development Committee, this encompassed the ethical approval for the pilot and the main trial. The methods are as described for the main trial in Chapter 7; I highlight here the variation from the main study. Figure 6.3.1 demonstrates recruitment and Figure 6.3.2 the timeline for the pilot study. Two thirds of the way through the pilot I held a study group meeting. Following the meeting the suggested protocol refinements were implemented and feasibility assessed with the final group of patients recruited to the pilot. Table 6.3.3 details the changes made. This amended protocol became the main study protocol. The method for randomizing the pain questionnaires in given in Figure 6.3.4.

# **Recruitment for the pilot study**



**Figure 6.3.1:** Demonstrates the recruitment to the pilot study. The first analysis was performed prior to the study group meeting; the second analysis being performed after the study group meeting, and was with adjusted timings of the samples (timings were as in the main study) and fewer blood tests. This second analysis demonstrated fewer patients declining to participate due to needle phobia, which had been one issue discussed at the study group meeting. Suspicion about research was patient believing the study was to cancel their surgery by measuring their pain.

# Timeline for the pilot study

Time	Events		
Enrolment	1. Patients recruited and informed about the study from SAU, Endoscopy,		
	Surgical pre-assessment		
	2. Consented		
	3. VAS or VRS assessment of current, and least and worst pain expected.		
	Current pain assessment repeated		
	<ol><li>Bloods taken for cytokines and WCC</li></ol>		
	<ol><li>Observations recorded from clinical notes</li></ol>		
	<ol><li>Quality of life and Hospital anxiety and depression forms completed</li></ol>		
	<ol><li>Clinical information about history of gallstone disease and analgesia</li></ol>		
	recorded		
Intervention	1. For the ERCP and the cholecystectomy arms the intervention was		
	undertaken by the clinical team		
	2. Procedural data gathered by the independent observers		
1 hours after	1. VAS or VRS assessment of current pain, and repeated after bloods		
enrolment / 1	2. Blood, and if present drain fluid, samples taken for cytokines and WCC		
nours after	3. Observations recorded from clinical notes		
Intervention	4. Data on analgesia and antibiotic requirements collected		
3 nours after	1. VAS or VRS assessment of current pain, and repeated		
enroiment /	2. Observations recorded from clinical notes		
Intervention	3. Data on analgesia requirements collected		
5 nours after	1. VAS or VRS assessment of current pain, and repeated after bloods		
enroiment /	2. Blood, and it present drain huid, samples taken for cytokines		
intervention	3. Observations recorded from clinical notes		
7 hours offer	4. Data on analgesia requirements conected		
/ nours after	1. VAS of VRS assessment of current pain, and repeated		
intervention	2. Blood, and it present drain huld, samples taken for cytokines		
intervention	Observations recorded from clinical notes     A Data on analgesia requirements collected		
	5 Lead investigator asked nursing team to perform 11 and 17 hours VAS		
11 hours after	1 VAS assessment of current nain administered by nurses on duty after		
enrolment /	briefing by lead investigator at the 7 hour assessment		
intervention			
17 hours after	1 VAS assessment of current pain administered by nurses on duty after		
enrolment /	briefing by lead investigator at the 7 hour assessment		
intervention			
24 hours after	1. VAS or VRS assessment of current and least and worst pain		
enrolment /	experienced. Current pain VAS repeated		
intervention	2. Blood, and if present drain fluid, samples taken for cytokines and WCC		
	3. Observations recorded from clinical notes		
	<ol><li>Data on analgesia requirements collected</li></ol>		
	<ol><li>Data on any episode of sepsis &amp; interventions</li></ol>		
	6. Plan for discharge		
Every 24 hours	1. VAS assessment of current pain, and repeated		
(or 48 hours	<ol><li>Blood, and if present drain fluid, samples taken for cytokines and WCC</li></ol>		
after 1 week) if	3. Observations recorded from clinical notes		
patient not	4. Data on analgesia requirements collected		
discharged	5. Data on any episode of sepsis & interventions		
	6. Plan for discharge		
3 months after	1. VAS of current pain		
Intervention	∠. Data on analgesia requirements and length of time in pain after discharge		
	uischarge		
	5. Data on any episodes of sepsis after discharge		
	5 Quality of life and Hospital anxiety and depression forms completed		
	5. Quality of the and hospital anxiety and depression forms completed		

 Table 6.3.2: Demonstrating the timeline for the pilot study for patient intervention.

# The changes made from the pilot study to the main study

Changes made from the pilot to the main study			
Pilot	Main study		
Consent was taken on the day of surgery	Consent was taken at pre-assessment		
Bloods were taken at enrolment, 1, 5, 7 and 24	Bloods were taken at enrolment, 2 and 24		
hours	hours		
20 mls of blood were taken at each time point	5 mls of blood were taken at each time		
	point. Reduced as was could collect		
	enough to plate each sample on multiple		
	ELISA plates		
Bloods and VAS measured every 12 hours if	Bloods and VAS measured every 24		
not discharged at 24 hours	hours if not discharged at 24 hours		
Drain, where present, systemic cytokines	Change could be seen in the systemic		
measured and the drain samples treated as	and drain. Blood cytokines measured as		
the blood cytokines in Figure 7.7.1 page 194	comparison across all arms was possible		
I trialed the VAS and the VRS in a randomised	Choose the VAS as the results were more		
approach as detailed in Figure 6.3.5	reproducible, and with less digit		
	preference		
The nursing staff administered the 11 and 17	Pain was assessed at enrolment, 2, 4, 6		
hours VAS scores, which were frequently not	and 24 hours		
completed			
Various versions of the VAS were trialed	Settled on B in Figure 4.6.2 page 109		
Lead investigator and theatre nurses /	Only nurses observed to reduce the risk		
endoscopy nurse observed each investigation	of bias of the lead investigator being		
to trial data collection format	present		
Reduction in the number of ELISA plates the	All volunteers plated on at least two plates		
volunteers were plated on as could reproduce			
all samples			
Trialed lead investigator being called when a	Adhered to the standardised blood and		
patient developed sepsis but this was	cytokine collection times		
unsuccessful			
QoL measured at enrolment, 4, and 12 weeks	QoL measured at enrolment, 12, 26 and		
	52 weeks		
Three controls completed QoL questionnaires	No difference in response and		
verbally then on paper and three vice versa	standardised telephone completion of		
	forms in main study		

**Table 6.3.3:** Details changes made from the pilot study to the main study as a result of feedback from the study group meeting and findings from the pilot study.

### The method for trialing the collection of pain data on the VAS and the VRS



**Figure 6.3.4:** Demonstrates how the pain scores were administered for the first 10 patients enroled in the biliary emergency group, ERCP group, the two laparoscopic and the open approach consultant, and for the six, healthy volunteers, participating in the study. Participants were given a number at enrolment for their group, and patients were number consecutively and randomly recruited in each group. The pain scores were alternated to see if one was easier for patients, and for administration of the pain assessment in the study. Different styles of VAS were trialed to see if participants preferred one format. VAS – Visual analogue scale, VRS – Verbal rating scale, Con 1 / 2 – consultant one and two performing laparoscopic cholecystectomy (Lap. Chole.), the laparoscopic approach consultants were split, because the two consultants gave local anaesthetic by different routes at the end of the procedure. Open Chole. – Open cholecystectomy.

### 6.4 Outcome of the pilot study

### Cytokines

The conclusions from the cytokine part of the study are demonstrated in Table 6.4.1, these Tables of conclusions were drawn up to be discussion points for the pilot study meeting. The details of the patients developing sepsis are given in Table 6.4.2, and the IL-6 concentration is plotted in Figure 6.4.3.

# The conclusions from the cytokine part of the pilot study

#### Conclusions from the cytokine part of the pilot study

The systemic cytokine concentration did change in response to the intervention and we were able to distinguish those with sepsis from those who did not have sepsis

Although all cytokines demonstrated change, the significant change was seen in the IL-6 concentration, therefore the change of delta IL-6 was used to calculate an effect size, this was used to perform the power calculation for the sample size in the main study. Figure 6.4.3 demonstrates this change

My aim was to measure change in drain cytokine concentration, only four patients (2 laparoscopic and 2 open approach) had drains placed in the pilot. With systemic cytokines demonstrating a change, and the ability to compare all arms, we agreed to measure systemic cytokines

Three patients with drains developed sepsis their cytokine concentration demonstrated an increase from 7 hours in the drain fluid and 24 hours in the systemic blood in the open approach patient. In the 2 laparoscopic approach patients the drain cytokines increased from 18 hours and the systemic cytokines from 48 hours onwards. Drains were only placed in difficult cases in the pilot

IL-10 concentration systemically and in drain fluid did not rise significantly in any patients. But was highest in those developing sepsis and rose ahead of the other cytokines particularly in the laparoscopic approach patients

Five ERCP patients (50%) had a failed initial ERCP, requiring a second ERCP which was successfully completed the following day. Cytokine concentration rose none specifically after first ERCP decreasing only after the procedure was successfully completed, and therefore to continue following patients undergoing second ERCP

Two ERCP patients were admitted to HDU and demonstrated the greatest change in IL-6 concentration, in retrospect this potentially affected the main study power calculation

None of the biliary emergency group (7 biliary colic and 8 acute cholecystitis) underwent emergency ERCP and none of the ERCP group underwent emergency cholecystectomy. No pancreatitis or obstructive jaundice patients were admitted, therefore these were not planned for in the main study

**Table 6.4.1:** Demonstrates the conclusions from the cytokine part of the pilot study and the impact upon the main study.

The cause of se	psis in the	patients in the	pilot study
	-	-	

	Pain	Cause of	Co-	Level of
	group on	sepsis	morbidities	care
	enrolment			required
Laparoscopic	Severe	Chest	Asthmatic	Ward
patient 1		infection		
Laparoscopic	Severe	Positive bile	Asthmatic	Ward
patient 2		and blood		
		cultures E.		
		coli		
Open patient	Severe	Positive bile	-	Ward
1		and blood		
		cultures E.		
		coli		
ERCP 1 <sup>st</sup>	Significant	Pancreatitis	COPD	HDU
ERCP		and chest		
patient 1		infection		
ERCP 2 <sup>nd</sup>	Severe	Pancreatitis	-	Ward
ERCP		and chest		
patient 2		infection		
ERCP 2 <sup>nd</sup>	Severe	Positive blood	Diabetic	HDU
ERCP		cultures for		
patient 3		E.coli		

**Table 6.4.2:** Demonstrates the cause of sepsis and the co-morbidities and level of care the patients required in the pilot study. Pain group is based on mild pain being < 4, significant being  $\geq$  4 - < 7 and severe being  $\geq$  7 on VAS or VRS. Patient 3 for ERCP had a sphincterotomy performed at their 2<sup>nd</sup> ERCP and were re-scoped to investigate bleeding after the procedure. All the ERCP's and cholecystectomy's' were rated as difficult. Laparoscopic or open patient – Laparoscopic or Open approach to surgery. ERCP 1<sup>st</sup> / 2<sup>nd</sup> / 3<sup>rd</sup> – ERCP completed at first attempt / second attempt / third attempt.



### IL-6 concentration in participants in the pilot study.

**Figure 6.4.3:** Demonstrates the systemic and the drain fluid (where available) IL-6 concentration in the biliary emergency, elective ERCP and cholecystectomy patients. Drain IL-6 concentration rising ahead of the systemic IL-6 concentration. The systemic cytokine concentration of the 14 open approach patients not developing sepsis is together but one of these patients had a drain and they are also included in the drain cytokine concentration.

### Pain

As with the cytokine part of the pilot the conclusion from the pain part of the pilot are summarized in Table 6.4.4. Analgesia use was compared and converted to morphine equivalents, for ease of comparison. Table 6.4.5 demonstrates the conversion.

# The conclusions from the pain assessment part of the pilot study

# Conclusions from the pain part of the pilot study

The pain scores for the patients developing sepsis after procedures appeared to become significant prior to the cytokines, SIRS increasing significantly and the diagnosis of sepsis. Supporting the observation that pain was an early indicator of sepsis

Eight other patients pain scores were indistinguishable from those developing sepsis, but their cytokines did not change significantly and they were never diagnosed with sepsis

These patients scored their pain as 5 - 6 at enrolment, and 8 - 10 at the 5 hour assessment. Why did they not score their VAS within the severe pain category at enrolment, was it sample size?

These patients with significant pain following intervention but no sepsis had procedures rated as straightforward and not difficult and were as prevalent in the open cholecystectomy group as the open group, not opting for the perceived less painful procedure of laparoscopic surgery

NSAID's tended to be omitted and paracetamol and opiates prescribed, for comparison we converted all analgesia into morphine equivalents to aid comparison, Table 6.4.4, but recognised education events were required prior to undertaking the main study

Those developing sepsis and those who experienced more pain but did not develop sepsis, demonstrated a significantly greater use of opiate analgesia, and overall analgesia

**Table 6.4.4:** Demonstrates the conclusions from the pain part of the pilot study,

 and the questions that were raised and informed the main study protocol.

# Morphine equivalent dose calculation

	Potency ratio with	Equivalent dose to	
	oral morphine	10mg oral morphine	
Codeine phosphate	0.1	100mg	
Dihydrocodeine	0.1	100mg	
Oral morphine	1	10mg	
Tramadol	0.15	67mg	
Intravenous	3	3.3mg	
morphine			
Total Daily Morphine Equivalent Dose = (iv Morphine dose x 3) +			
(oral Codeine dose x 0.1) + (Tramadol dose x 0.15) + (oral			
morphine x 1)			

**Table 6.4.5:** Demonstrates the morphine equivalent dose for each of theopiates. Table from the Faculty of Pain Medicine (2019).

Quality of Life and Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale

The principal questions from the QoL part of the study are highlighted in Table 6.4.6.

# The conclusions from the quality of life part of the pilot study

#### Conclusions from the quality of life part of the pilot study

The level of anxiety was higher in the patients who completed their questionnaires on the day of the intervention, than those who completed it at pre-assessment (the surgical patients after the study group meeting).

The QoL scores were not significantly different pre-operatively for those developing and not developing sepsis, but they appeared clustered in the severe pain group and therefore slightly poorer

The QoL score was poorer in those developing sepsis at 4 weeks but had returned to the main group level at 12 weeks, but patients were not attending appointments at 4 weeks to complete the questionnaires and were therefore harder to complete

Patients who experienced significant amounts of pain scored their QoL lower at all time points at levels equivalent to those Quintana's group (2008), identified as not benefiting from cholecystectomy. This group also did not achieve the level Shi's group (2008, 2009), identified as the minimally clinically important difference in any of the domains. Their HAD score was also significantly higher and my supervisor and I were interested if the HAD questionnaire would provide shorter questionnaire but permit the same discrimination of groups

The patients experiencing a lot of pain but no sepsis scored particularly poorly in mental health and emotional domains, raising the possibility of using these domain scores to distinguish this group apart from the other patients. Potentially this could be performed pre-operatively, helping distinguish them from the patients developing sepsis post-operatively. But remembering patients with significant pain could develop post procedural sepsis

At 12 weeks the patients in the group experiencing a lot of pain during the study, still rated their pain higher & QoL lower, than the other patients, even those developing sepsis. This group had been back at work under a month at the 12 week time point. I wondered whether this had affected their quality of life scores and proposed measuring their scores further out to look for improvement. I proposed repeating the questionnaires at 6 months, Mr. Shehata proposed we also measure at 12 months to gain an understanding of whether this group gained benefits from undergoing surgery, being particularly interested in the SF-36 question "Compared to one year ago how would you rate your health in general now?"

**Table 6.4.6:** Demonstrates the principal conclusions from the quality of life part ofthe pilot study.

#### 6.5 Conclusions from the review study group meeting

The review study group meeting was held at four to ten weeks after recruitment of twothirds of the study group, to ascertain patients and health care providers feedback. Following the meeting changes could be made to the study design and the feasibility examined by recruiting the final third of pilot study group, and seek their views prior to recruiting for the main study, and I could optimise how I was going to gather the data. Figure 6.5.1 explains how the study group meeting was run. The people attending are given in Figure 6.5.2, and the problems and solutions encountered are given in Table 6.5.3. Tables 6.5.4 - 6.5.6 detail the main discussion points, Appendix 2 expands on the points.
#### How the study group meeting was conducted





## People attending the study group meeting



**Figure 6.5.2:** Demonstrates the people who attended the study group meeting. Two of the nurses and two of the doctors acted as controls; therefore all six volunteers were present. I invited all the patients, nurses and doctors involved. The clerical officer kept minutes for me giving me a full transcript of the meeting. The meeting was held after two thirds of the pilot patients had been recruited to allow changes to be made to the protocol and then the final patients to be recruited. This permitted changes to the protocol to be tested and their acceptability to the patients and team to be assessed, and influence the protocol of the main study. All the controls were recruited prior to the study group meeting to enable a wider range of opinion and feedback in case patients felt unable to raise issues.

## Key problems and solutions conducting the pilot study meeting

## Problems and solutions conducting the pilot study meeting

The meeting was held on an audit afternoon to optimise staff attendance, and parking / transport was paid for. For the patients, a nurse was also briefed prior to the meeting to be there if patients became distressed and patients were made aware of this. The meeting was held in the education centre and maps provided to the patients

A lot of discussion was generated from my prepared questions. Mindful of the consultants dominating the discussion I tried to avoid this, by bringing in information that patients not attending the meeting had given me in telephone discussion

The group experiencing more pain was over represented in those attending the meeting, and therefore potentially had more influence. I tried to counter this by seeking the views from the patients not attending the meeting and writing to everyone with the key points after the meeting

I broke the study into key steps in a timeline and sought opinions on each steps, this gave structure and it was recorded on a flip chart and by a clerical officer to give a meeting transcript for review after the meeting

We broke up for the patients to receive refreshments, while the staff discussed issues that were potentially sensitive for the patients, or not relevant such as the conducting the laboratory work or statistics

All the patients were invited back in to run through the conclusions of how the main study would be conducted, and everyone had the opportunity to raise further points

**Table 6.5.3:** The set up for the study group meeting to try and ensure thateverybody views were taken into consideration, and the meeting could bestinform the final study protocol.

# Patients' concerns from the review study group meeting

Point	Decision	
Patients' believed	Decision made about clearer written and	
their reported pain	repeated verbal information about the study group	
was not addressed	being separate from the clinical team at each	
	clinical encounter	
Too frequent blood	Decision made to perform blood test at	
tests during the	enrolment, one following the procedure and then	
study	every 24 hours. I was concerned we'd miss peaks	
	in cytokine concentration but wanted a	
	representative group to participate. Recruitment	
	was an issue due to the blood test and this hoped	
	to address this problem	
Discussion with	Decision made to educate staff with posters and	
patients about	presentations by myself and the pharmacist at	
increasing the	ward and departmental meetings and staff	
information about	induction. Information about the study included.	
analgesia and	Patients and staff were happy with the	
information in	instructions provided for completing forms. We	
general about the	increased information to patients that participation	
reasons for	was not going to exclude them from having	
performing the study	surgery, as patients were concerned we were	
	seeking to reduce the number of operations we	
	were doing by performing the research. This was	
	particularly prevalent amongst the patients who	
	experienced a lot of pain	
Confidentiality	Decision patients and staff were happy with the	
	measures put in place to maintain the	
	confidentiality of those participating	

**Table 6.5.4:** Detailing the patients' principal concerns and the conclusions,which were reached, and adjustments made to the study protocol.

# Procedural concerns from the review study group meeting

Point	Decision
Drain fluid cytokine concentration rose ahead of the systemic cytokine concentration	<b>Decision</b> made to measure systemic cytokines only as clinicians felt routine drain placement was inappropriate, and there was not a valid comparator in the ERCP or emergency group
To use the VAS or VRS for scoring pain	<b>Decision</b> made to use the VAS. Patient preference was to use the simpler VAS in part b of Figure 4.6.2 page 109 as the others confusing in the early period after anaesthesia. To also use this for least and worst pain
Timing and administration of the VAS	<b>Decision</b> made to complete VAS at pre-operatively and 2, 4, 6 and 24 hours, to optimise the completion of the VAS. Encourage the patients to be compliant with coughing prior to completing the VAS to measure visceral and parietal pain. To score the VAS twice to measure reproducibility
Poor adherence to the analgesia protocol	<b>Decision</b> made to educate staff with posters and presentations by myself and the pharmacist at ward, departmental meetings and staff induction. Information about the study included
Trainees performing the procedures	<b>Decision</b> made to perform the study in the second six months of the higher trainees attachment to the firm, which would also coincide with the junior doctors second six months of foundation year and therefore people should be more experienced and proficient
Standardisation the local anaesthesia approach and anaesthesia protocol	No decision could be reached <b>Decision</b> made to differ and to look if one route of local analgesia was optimal
Lack of space and time on the morning of surgery for all the people needing to review the patients	<b>Decision</b> made to complete consent, VAS, bloods and QoL at pre- assessment, but ERCP patients could be seen on the day of the procedure due to the list time
Taking cytokine concentration at the time of diagnosis of sepsis	This had not worked in the pilot study <b>Decision</b> made to record from the notes the time of diagnosis and SIRS and continue cytokine concentration measurements at the set times in the study
QoL forms	<b>Decision</b> patients found the QoL forms were repetitive; therefore we took the 4 week forms out and replaced them with measurements at enrolment, 12, 26 and 52 weeks. Surprisingly on discussion patients welcomed this as they felt we were following them up and checking they had recovered fully by longer term follow-up, this may have been the patients present at the meeting

**Table 6.5.5:** Details procedural concerns and decisions of protocol changes made.

# Experimental concerns from the review study group meeting

Point	Decision
Financial concerns	Decision made to not sample drain fluid and reduce the
about number of	number of blood tests, thereby reducing the number of
ELISA kits due to	kits, and not duplication of samples between plates, as
number of blood	this increased the accuracy of cytokine assessment
and drain fluid	
measurements	
Variation between	Decision made to run the control patients samples on
ELISA plates	multiple plates to act as internal controls but this would
	require more blood to be taken from the controls
Taking one control	Decision made to enrol 15 controls and commence one
sample or more	control in the study every hour from 8am to 10pm
and number of	because of interest whether there was diurnal variation.
controls, gender	We enroled 5 men and included 5 non-Caucasian
and ethnic	controls to look for variation between groups. There was
variation	no diurnal variation, found therefore subsequent
	samples could have been standardised to the times of
	the main theatre list. But it allowed diurnal variation to be
	excluded from differences in the biliary emergency
	group.
Incomplete	Decision the VAS and QoL forms were incomplete in
assessment forms	particular in the surgical patients as they were called to
	theatre prior to completing them, by completing at pre-
	assessment we hoped to address this
Recruitment	Decision using one surgeon would have reduced
numbers	variation in surgical approach, but I was concerned
	about recruitment, therefore decision to use the patients
	of three consultants who shared a common junior team
Variation with	Decision Theatre observers achieved good
independent	reproducible observers, but the endoscopist struggled to
observers	rate the difficultness of procedure. Therefore we agreed
	to ask the opinion of the endoscopist after they had
	written the notes to rate the difficultness of the case, so
	it did not affect their judgments on their written
	conclusion if they knew the patient was participating in
	the study

**Table 6.5.6:** Detailing the concerns and the conclusions around theexperimental work, and adjustments made to the study protocol.

#### 6.6 Conclusions from the pilot study

In conclusion the pilot study demonstrated it was possible to measure a change in the systemic cytokine concentration and in the peritoneal cytokines in those developing sepsis following cholecystectomy or ERCP. The rise in peritoneal cytokines did preempt the rise in the systemic cytokines. But we had only been able to measure peritoneal cytokines in a small group of patients who had drains placed at the discretion of the operating surgeon. We included patients undergoing ERCP to examine the effect of instrumentation of the biliary tract without surgical intervention, and patients with biliary emergencies to increase understanding of biliary sepsis on the cytokine and pain response.

The post procedural VAS had confirmed the increase in pain score pre-empted the overt signs of sepsis, and the SIRS and cytokines It also increased prior to the rise in intraperitoneal cytokines in the small number of patients it was measured in. There were a group of patients who experience significant amounts of pain postoperatively but did not develop sepsis. Their pain scores but not their cytokine concentration were similar to the group who developed postoperative sepsis. This group of patients with pain but not sepsis scored their quality of life poorly. This difference appeared to distinguish them from the other patients with sepsis, and the other patients not developing sepsis. Figure 6.6.1 demonstrates how the pilot study informed the main study.

## How the pilot study and main study was designed



**Figure 6.6.1:** Demonstrates how the initial observation was tested and the protocol designed for the main study.

## **Materials and Method**

## Chapter 7 – Material and Method

#### 7.1 Recruitment

Table 7.1.1 details the patients recruited to each arm of the study. In each arm consecutive patients were approached to participate. The elective cholecystectomy patients were consecutively recruited from the pre-admission clinics at Nottingham City Hospital NHS Trust under the care of the same three consultants as in the biliary emergency arm. This was performed to try and minimise variation in management, as the same team was caring for the patients. Patients were recruited over a six month period.

The range of age and gender and ethnicity from the pilot study was used as a guide for recruiting a group of normal controls, which were recruited from medical staff, hospital volunteers and students. The control group did not have a history of biliary disease, and had not undergone cholecystectomy. Research and Ethical approval had been gained from the Trust's Research and Development Committee and Research and Ethics Committee (LREC reference number C1060303).

# Groups' patients were recruited to, and the arm of the study the patients were in

Arm of study	Groups of patients were recruited
	Consecutive patients attending
Biliary emergency arm	surgical admissions unit for
	emergency admissions with gallstone
	related problems under the care of
	three surgical consultants
	Consecutive patients attending
Planned ERCP arm	endoscopy for planned ERCP for
	benign disease under one endoscopy
	consultant
	Consecutive patients attending for
	elective cholecystectomy only under
	the care of three surgical consultants
	Patients attending for elective
Elective cholecystectomy arm	cholecystectomy with an ERCP in the
	last year under the care of three
	surgical consultants
	Patients attending for elective
	cholecystectomy and requiring an on
	table cholangiogram (OTC) under the
	care of three surgical consultants
Control to all arms	Control group of volunteers

**Table 7.1.1:** Patients groups enroled in the study and the group of healthy

 controls also recruited to give a base line cytokine and VAS pain score.

#### 7.2 Statistical analysis

The null hypothesis was that there was no difference between the patients admitted in each arm who developed sepsis and those who did not develop sepsis in terms of pain score. It was also proposed that there was no difference between the pain groups (as divided by the visual analogue score), in terms of cytokine concentration. The patients initial pain score and each cytokine concentration, for the two different approaches to cholecystectomy was subjected to an F-test to evaluate the equality of the population variance. This permitted evaluation of whether the two independent groups had been drawn from a normal population with the same variability, which was homogenous in nature. This was determined to be the case.

The data collected in the pilot study was used to perform the power calculation. The Nottingham University statistics department provided support in performing the power calculation. From the literature there was the most evidence for IL-6 being the most reliable cytokine for demonstrating a change in concentration in those develop sepsis after ERCP or cholecystectomy. Therefore the study was powered for a change in IL-6 concentration. The hospital morbidity and mortality data, and the individual consultant collected data, about their own morbidity and mortality for the previous twenty-four months was also used in the power calculation. An individual sample size was calculated for the biliary emergency, the ERCP and the cholecystectomy arms.

The power of the study was set as an 80% (or 0.8  $(1 - \beta)$ ) standard of detecting an effect, and the significance criterion used was 0.05 ( $\alpha$ ), with a two independent means, two-tailed T-test. From the pilot study the change in IL-6 varied between each arm, and the difference at 24 hours from enrolment was used to calculate the effect size for each group. The ERCP group had demonstrated a large effect size, calculated as 1.13, the biliary emergency group as 0.8 and the cholecystectomy group as 0.46. Reviewing this data, the change in IL-6 concentration, in the ERCP group was affected by the patients who were admitted to a higher level of care to treat their sepsis. The biliary emergency group in the pilot was only biliary colic and cholecystitis patients, and did not include pancreatitis and obstructive jaundice patients, and none of this group underwent an ERCP.

**Table 7.2.1** demonstrates the sample size generated from the power calculation and the number of patients in each arm that were recruited to the study. It should be noted that we did not calculate the power for the group of patients who had undergone a recent ERCP, or the patients who underwent an OTC. These patients were going to be included with the patients undergoing cholecystectomy alone. We were able to recruit past the number of patients undergoing cholecystectomy alone recommended by the power calculation, therefore we removed the recent ERCP and OTC patients and analysed them separately. We did not perform a separate power calculation for them. No power calculation was undertaken for the healthy control group who acted as controls.

# Sample size recommended from the power calculation and the number of patients in each arm recruited

	Sample size	Sample size
	recommended	achieved
Biliary emergency arm	46 ± 8	78
- BC / AC		
- Panc. / OJ	-	60
	-	28
Elective ERCP arm	28 ± 5	52
- first ERCP	-	39
- second ERCP	-	8 with 5 emergency
		cholecystectomy
Elective	153 ± 11	185
cholecystectomy arm		
- laparoscopic	51 ± 7 each surgeon	67 and 58
cholecystectomy		
only		
- open	51 ± 4	60
cholecystectomy		
only		
Recent ERCP	-	34
отс	-	32

**Table 7.2.1:** Demonstrates the number of patients recommended to be recruited from the power calculation and the number of patients recruited. There were no pancreatitis (Panc.) or obstructive jaundice (OJ) patients in the pilot study and a power calculation was not done for the sub groups within the biliary emergency group. The cholecystectomy arm over recruited and therefore the recent ERCP and the OTC group were analysed separately from the main cholecystectomy only group, and no sample size for the individual groups was calculated.

Data collected was continuous interval data, which was plotted to confirm that it had a Gaussian distribution, both for each of the cytokine concentration and the pain scores. This was performed for the biliary emergency, ERCP and cholecystectomy patients and the control group. This permitted the use of parametric statistics.

Parametric statistics were used with a mean and standard deviation for each variable. Comparison of the two approaches to surgery, or biliary emergency, required an unpaired Student's T-test. Occasionally data before and after intervention was analysed, or comparing how a subject responded in different parts of the study, in this case a paired Student's T-test was employed. Although it was proposed intervention would increase the cytokine concentration or pain score, this wasn't always the case in the pilot study especially for patients in the severe pain group. There was also variation in the IL-10 response. Therefore a two-tailed Student's T-test was employed to capture the potential variable response. The majority of groups were larger than ten, where smaller samples were present we were aware there may not be sufficient power to reject the null hypothesis.

When performing analysis of more than two groups, such as the different outcomes of ERCP then analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed to examine the variance between the multiple means. This was performed to minimise the chance of a Type I error. This was particularly important when comparing the sepsis group to the other pain groups, because the group was smaller and the standard deviation wider. Where ANOVA demonstrated a significant difference then *post-hoc* tests were performed to determine where the difference was. Rarely was categorical data analysed, where it was a Chi square test was performed. Data was recorded on an Excel (Microsoft®) spreadsheet and statistics were calculated using the Excel functions.

#### 7.3 Consent

The consent procedure is documented in the following flow diagram Figure 7.3.1.

#### Biliary emergency patients

The patients attending had been referred to surgical admissions unit from their general practitioner or the emergency department or out of hours clinics. They were admitted, clerked and analgesia prescribed by the clinical team. Once this was completed as lead investigator I spoke to them about the study and gave them the information sheet about the study (Appendix 3). After two hours I went back and asked them if they wished to participate and enroled them with the consent form in Appendix 4. All were made aware if their diagnosis changed from gallstones causing their underlying problem they were no longer eligible to participate in the study, and all their information would be removed.

#### Elective ERCP patients

The clinical team admitted the patients, and then the lead investigator informed them about the trial and gave them the information sheet about the study. After two hours if they wished to participate they were consented. This group was enroled on the day of their ERCP.

### Elective cholecystectomy patients

The patients were enroled at pre-assessment up to 2 weeks before surgery. While waiting to be seen by the pre-assessment nurse they were told about the study and given the trial information sheet. After they had completed the standard hospital pre-assessment process (2 - 4 hours), they were asked if they wished to participate, if they did they were consented at pre-assessment, and consent confirmed on the day of surgery. The clinical team made the decision about undertaking OTC. Bloods were taken at pre-assessment and repeated on the day of surgery by the clinical team to make this decision. No patients approach to surgery was changed to retrieve a stone.

## Protocol for consent



Figure 7.3.1: The consent procedure for the participants in the study.

#### Volunteers

Fifteen volunteers aged 18 - 70 years, male and female (ratio 1:2), and of diverse ethnicity were recruited. No financial inducement or reward was made or offered. They were given the information sheet after discussion about the study. Two hours later I asked them whether they wished to participate and we completed the consent form, and I asked for their permission to collect the clinical information we collected about the patients and their past medical history (Appendix 5). We wanted to ascertain if there was diurnal variation in the cytokine concentration, as the procedures were taking place in the daytime but the emergency admissions were occurring over 24 hours. Therefore we assigned them a time to commence the study between 8am and 10pm. One volunteer commenced the study at each hour, and the male volunteers were evenly spaced through the time points. The control patients consented to having a greater volume of blood taken to run their samples on multiple ELISA plates.

#### All participants

Everyone was aware that their participation was voluntary, with all their information kept confidentially under the unique identifier code. All knew they could withdraw from the research at any point without giving a reason for their decision, and had a telephone number and an email contact for the lead investigator to ask any questions. They understood the research group was separate from the team caring for them, and did not exchange information, therefore they would be asked to discuss their pain with the clinical team separately.

Where there were complications or the patient's were not discharged at 24 hours additional consent (Appendix 4), was taken in the same manner to continue scoring their pain and collecting bloods for cytokine concentration every 24 hours until 1 week. If still an inpatient at 1 week then every 48 hours until discharge.

# 7.4 Study timeline

Figure 7.4.1 gives the timeline for the study. This was the result of the discussion with the participants and clinical team in the pilot study.

Time		Events
Enrolment	1	Patients recruited and informed about the study from SAU
Emonitorit		Endoscopy Surgical pre-assessment
	2.	Consented
	3.	VAS assessment of current, and least and worst pain
	•	expected. Current pain VAS repeated
	4.	Bloods samples taken for cytokines and WCC
	5.	Observations recorded from clinical notes
	6.	Quality of life and Hospital anxiety and depression forms
		completed
	7.	Clinical information about history of gallstone disease and
		analgesia recorded
Intervention	1.	For the ERCP and the cholecystectomy arms the
		intervention was undertaken by the clinical team
	2.	Procedural data gathered by the independent observers
2 hours after	1.	VAS assessment of current pain, and repeated
enrolment / 2	2.	Bloods samples taken for cytokines and WCC
hours after	3.	Observations recorded from clinical notes
intervention	4.	Data on analgesia requirements collected
4 hours after	1.	VAS assessment of current pain, and repeated
enrolment /	2.	Observations recorded from clinical notes
intervention	3.	Data on analgesia requirements collected
6 hours after	1.	VAS assessment of current pain, and repeated
enrolment /	2.	Observations recorded from clinical notes
intervention	3.	Data on analgesia requirements collected
24 hours after	1.	VAS assessment of current and least and worst pain
enrolment /		experienced. Current pain VAS repeated
intervention	2.	Bloods samples taken for cytokines and WCC
	3.	Observations recorded from clinical notes
	4. 5	Data on analgesia requirements collected
	5. 6	Data on any episode of sepsis & interventions
Even 04 hours	0.	
Every 24 nours	1.	VAS assessment of current pain, and repeated
(Of 40 Hours aller	2. 2	Observations recorded from clinical notes
not discharged	.∕	Data on analgesia requirements collected
not discharged	<del>-</del> . 5	Data on any episode of sensis & interventions
	6	Plan for discharge
3 months after	1	VAS of current pain
intervention	2	Data on analgesia requirements and length of time in pain
		after discharge
	3.	Data on any episodes of sepsis after discharge
	4.	Timing of return to work
	5.	Quality of life and Hospital anxiety and depression forms
		completed
6 months after	1.	VAS on current pain
intervention	2.	Quality of life and Hospital anxiety and depression forms
		completed
12 months after	1.	VAS on current pain
intervention	2.	Quality of life and Hospital anxiety and depression forms
		completed

# Timeline for the patients recruited to the study

 Table 7.4.1: Timeline for the patient interventions taking place in the study.

#### 7.5 Clinical information gathering

Consented patients were asked about their past medical history. Information was confirmed in their Nottingham City Hospital medical notes, and their admissions at Queen's Medical Centre Nottingham were checked on the hospital computer system and where appropriate these notes were requested. Patients' general practitioners were contacted for additional information where necessary. This information was recorded on the appropriate form shown in Appendix 5. Table 7.5.1 demonstrates the information gathered from their past medical history and current admission.

Data gathered was recorded on a Microsoft excel spreadsheet and analysed on a Microsoft excel programme (2000). The computer and spreadsheet were password protected. Data was stored under unique identifying number; this was used on all blood samples for cytokine analysis. Patients taking part in different arms of the study were given separate unique identifiers for each part, and the data paired up only after all the analysis had been completed.

Medical and nursing teams involved in the patients care were unaware of the patient's involvement in the research to try and reduce bias. The lead investigator did not take part in the medical care of these patients in anyway.

	Past medical history
	Admissions and GP treatment for
Gallstone	- Biliary colic
disease	- Cholecystitis
	- Pancreatitis
	- Obstructive jaundice
	- ERCP
	- Known gallstones and readmissions
Past medical	- Respiratory, cardiac, endocrine disease including
and surgical	diabetes, chronic pain conditions
history	- Previous surgery particularly abdominal / pelvic
	surgery and whether open or laparoscopic
	Current medications and allergies, recent analgesia
Medication	use
	Previous steroids (oral and inhaled),
	immunosuppression and blood transfusion
Social	Smoking
history	
At admissio	n, 2, 4, 6, 24 hours after admission or intervention
	- Pulse
	- Blood pressure
	- Respiratory rate
Observation	- Oxygen saturations
	- Temperature
	- Basal metabolic index
	- WCC and CRP
	Details from ultrasound of biliary tree
Radiology	- Presence of single, multiple stones or sludge
	- Gall bladder wall thickness
	- Biliary tree dilatation and presence of stones
Medication	Analgesia – which, amount and time of dose
	Antibiotics

# The information recorded from the patients' notes

#### 7.6 Visual Analogue Pain score (VAS)

Prior to completing the VAS on each occasion patients were re-assured of confidentiality, reminded the research was independent of the medical team caring for them. Where patients complained to the lead investigator about pain or other problem it was suggested to them, and relatives if present, to discuss this with the medical team in charge of their care about the pain.

The protocol for completing the VAS is given in Figure 7.6.1. The enrolment VAS was taken for all patients at the time of consenting to participate in the study. The patients were given verbal information about completing the VAS at each occasion it was completed. The score was repeated at 2, 4, 6 and 24 hours after intervention or enrolment in the biliary emergency patients. For those not discharged it was completed every 24 hours until discharge, and every 48 hours if an inpatient over a week.

Patients not able to complete the VAS were asked to verbally score their pain on a scale of 0 - 10 by an independent person not involved in the patients care or the research team. Where this was not possible this data was omitted. The two VAS scores take pre and post the blood test were added together and divided in two to give the pain score, if scores were more than 20mm apart they were repeated a third time.

## Protocol for completing the VAS



**Figure 7.6.1:** Demonstrates how the VAS was completed at each time point, the VAS was completed enrolment, 2, 4, 6, 24 hours after enrolment or after intervention, then every 24 hours for the first week, then 48 hours thereafter.

#### Least and most pain

VAS scores were collected for least and most pain expected at enrolment and least and most experienced over the preceding 24 hours at 24 hours after enrolment or intervention. The protocol for this is described in Figure 7.6.2.

#### 12, 26 and 52 week data

Patients were all seen in outpatients at 10 - 14 weeks as per each consultant's protocol, and again at this point they were asked to score their pain using the VAS, and were asked if and when they had returned to employment or usual daily activities. At 12 weeks they were asked about the presence of shoulder pain after cholecystectomy. The Hospital Anxiety and Depression (HAD) and the quality of life (QoL) forms were completed during this appointment. At the 12 weeks appointment they were asked if we could send them a VAS form to rate their current pain, and the QoL and HAD scores, at 26 and 52 weeks. If they agreed they were asked to sign a consent form for this, and contact details were stored securely under their study identification on an Excel spreadsheet.

## Protocol for completing the least and most pain assessment



**Figure 7.6.2:** VAS data collection method for least and most pain recalled and experienced.

#### Semi-structured information gathering

At the time of completion of each VAS, patients were given time to talk about their pain. We also asked the patients about their past medical history of pain and gathered information from their notes Table 7.6.3 documents areas covered.

# Questions asked directly to the patients about their pain at each time point

Sem	i-structured information gathering about pain
	Patients were asked if they had had problems with pain
All patients	If pain control had been discussed with them, including
asked at	side effects, and by whom
each time	They were asked if the information had been sufficient,
point	and given in an appropriate way
	If they had had regular analgesia or refused analgesia
	had it been discussed with them
Patients	Patients were asked if the issues had been addressed
who had	and who had addressed them
had pain	If analgesia had been given, if it had been given in a
	timely manner and if they had had to re-request it
	Patients were asked how long they'd taken analgesia
At 12	after discharge
weeks out	If they had seen a medical practitioner for advice,
patient	further prescription or treatment e.g. of infection or for
	analgesia
	They were asked whether they would consider further
	surgery by that approach again (laparoscopic or open)

**Table 7.6.3:** Information gathered in the semi-structured interviews from thepatients about their pain at each time point and at twelve weeks followingdischarge. The notes, both medical and nursing, and the prescription chartwere also reviewed for details of discussion about pain and the outcome.

#### 7.7 Blood samples

Patients had 5 mls of blood taken at enrolment. This was at admission for the biliary emergency patients and just prior to their ERCP for this arm. But for the cholecystectomy patients it was at pre-assessment up to 2 weeks prior to surgery. Blood samples were collected as clotted samples in pyrogen-free tubes. As lead investigator I took all blood samples, being proficient in methods of venipuncture.

For the patients, their pre-procedural or admission blood investigations including full blood count, urea and electrolytes, liver function tests, amylase, C reactive protein and calcium were recorded from the hospital pathology computer system. White cell count at 2 hours and 24 hours were taken with the cytokine bloods but sent to the hospital laboratory in the routine manner. The protocol for handling of all blood samples is in Figure 7.7.1. Where patients were not discharged at 24 hours their bloods were repeated every 24 hours until discharge, up until 1 week. If not discharged then they were repeated every 48 hours onwards until discharge.

For the volunteers, bloods were taken at the same time intervals as the patients the time commencing from when they started the study between 8am and 10pm. Where the patients had 5 mls of blood taken at enrolment, 2 and 24 hours, the volunteers had 50 mls taken to allow each volunteer to have samples on multiple ELISA plates to ascertain variation between plates. The volunteers had a sample of routine bloods sent at the same as the patients. These were sent to the hospital laboratory, and the lead investigator consented each person to access their hospital records to obtain the results.

## Protocol for the blood sampling



**Figure 7.7.1:** Blood samples from the patients for cytokines were handled and by the lead investigator as described above.

#### 7.8 Operation and ERCP

The consultant, and where different, the operating surgeon, and anaesthetist were not aware a patient was participating in the study. The anaesthetic and operation were performed in the standard fashion of the practitioners undertaking the procedure and to clinical need. The study could not seek agreement on a standard protocol on performing surgery, anaesthesia or the administration of local anaesthetic. Surgical and anaesthetic consultants had been briefed about the study prior to its commencement and had given permission for operative and anaesthetic data to be recorded and included in the study, in line with the guidelines laid down by the ELREC for Nottingham City Hospital.

To limit the variation in practice, three surgical consultants patients participated in the biliary emergency, and cholecystectomy groups. One gastroenterology consultant undertook the ERCP procedures. Two surgical consultants were experienced laparoscopic surgeons, each having performed over one hundred laparoscopic cholecystectomy's' prior to the commencement of the study. The third consultant only performed open cholecystectomy and was equally experienced in the procedure. All the consultants had experience in performing open cholecystectomy, but no procedures were converted. Two trainees' (only higher surgical trainee's were involved) performed procedure and were closely supervised, and the consultant was a scrubbed assistant, performing both laparoscopic and open interventions. The research study was timed to run with their second six months with the firm so they had experience in the procedures.

Six anaesthetic trainees participated (only higher trainee's were involved), with the consultant present throughout the anaesthetic. The four anaesthetic consultants regularly performed the lists and were experienced in anaesthesia for laparoscopic and open procedures, and for emergency or elective procedures.

Operative data was collected by one of the theatre first assistants, or anaesthetic nurse practitioners and from the operative and anaesthetic records in the patient's notes. All data was collected on a standardised pro forma (Appendix 5) at the end of each procedure. The practitioners were regularly briefed by the lead investigator about the study, and pro forma completion, where possible data was verified from the patient's notes. Practitioners did not inform the theatre team that the patient was participating in the study; or take part in recruitment or data analysis. Data collected is demonstrated in

Table 7.8.1. The practitioners and the lead investigator had collected operative data together using the pro forma on the 45 pilot study patients (15 open and 30 laparoscopic approach patients - including patients 15 from each laparoscopic consultant), this standardised observation, and checked the method of data collection. The ERCP data was collected in a similar manor and was recorded by an independent assessor, who had observed 15 procedures with the lead investigator. The data on difficultness of the procedure was verified with the investigator after they had completed the patients ERCP report. Data collected is demonstrated in Table 7.8.2.

A standard protocol was discussed for local anaesthesia with the two surgical consultants performing laparoscopic surgery, but no agreement could be reached on the protocol to adopt. Therefore it was agreed to examine if one provided more benefit for patients by their post-operative pain scoring. The open patients did not receive local anaesthesia.

## Operative data collected by the independent observers in theatre

Operative data	
Volume of gas used and pressure of insufflating gas was collected from	
the standard theatre machines (Storz 264 305 20 electronic endoflator)	
Volume of wash used was measured by subtracting the remaining	
volume at the end of the procedure (measured in a standard jug) from	
the initial volume	
Density of adhesion, gall bladder wall thickness, and bile spillage, had	
previously been validated by the main investigator and theatre	
practitioners independently assessing 15 open and 30 laparoscopic	
procedures and scoring them on the study's pro forma. Operating	
surgeons observations were also recorded separately	
The chief investigator recorded length of open incision at the 24 hour	
VAS recording. Wounds had clear glue dressing	
One laparoscopic approach consultant infiltrated the peritoneum, right	
hemi-diaphragm and gall bladder bed with a standard 30mls of local	
anaesthetic of marcain 0.25 %. In four cases it was administered to the	
wounds as it had been forgotten	
The other laparoscopic approach consultant infiltrated 30mls of	
marcain 0.25% into the skin around the incisions	
No open patients received local anaesthetic	

**Table 7.8.1:** The operative data that was collected by the practitioners, either alone or where possible the practitioners collected the data independently. Information on length and anaesthesia and surgical procedure was collected from the notes and by patient assessment.

## ERCP data collected by the independent observer in endoscopy

ERCP data
Information about the sphincter and duct cannulation
Presence of a stone
Difficulty of the procedure

**Table 7.8.2:** The data about the ERCP was recorded by the endoscopy nurse and from the patients' notes. This had been validated as the operative data was, by observing 15 procedures with myself and recording them independently on the pro forma (Appendix 5). There was discrepancy between the observer and myself in the pilot on how difficult the procedure was. Therefore in the study at the end of the procedure the endoscopist was asked to rate the procedure and this was also recorded. The data being analysed as both observer data, and the endoscopist scoring of the difficultness of the case, this demonstrated no difference in the data but we used the endoscopists scoring in the final analysis. Other data was collected from the patient's notes.

#### 7.9 Analgesia

The hospital adopted a standard post-operative and emergency admission analgesia protocol. The protocol was based on the World Health Organisation (WHO) analgesia protocol, shown in Figure 7.9.1, and was the protocol for analgesia used in this study. This was regardless as to whether the patient was admitted for an elective procedure or as an emergency.

Oral and rectal paracetamol were on the hospital formulary; diclofenac (NSAID's) was available orally or per rectum. Codeine phosphate and tramadol were available as tablets. Morphine was given sub-cutaneously or intra muscularly on the ward and intravenously in theatre recovery. Standard patient controlled analgesia PCA with morphine was used as per the hospital protocol, with standard 5 minute lock out period. No premedication analgesia or anxiolytic was prescribed for any operative patient.

## World Health Organisation analgesic ladder



**Figure 7.9.1:** The World Health Organisations Analgesic Ladder. The patient should commence at the step appropriate to their pain. If pain is not controlled by analgesia at that level, then move up to the next step with the analgesia for that level. Reducing analgesia if pain adequately controlled or signs of toxicity or side effects. Diagram from Anaesthesia UK.

Patients reporting an allergic reaction to a form of analgesia were not enroled into the study. Patients with respiratory disease were enroled, but were not prescribed NSAID's. The admitting doctor or anaesthetist assessed and prescribed analgesia. Table 7.9.2 details the analgesia protocol. All patients were admitted to three surgical wards, and high dependency unit (HDU) or intensive care unit (ICU) if required. The admitting teams were unaware of which patients were participating in the study, and the VAS results were not available to them.

Pain problems in recovery were discussed with the list or duty anaesthetist. On the ward the surgical team assessed, referring to anaesthetics for advice, and changes with the patient controlled analgesia (PCA) prescription. Open approach patients, and patients returning to theatre were consented for PCA pre-operatively, which was re-explained in recovery when it was connected up. An acute pain team nurse reviewed patients on PCA once a day, referring if required to the acute pain doctor or duty anaesthetist. Change over from PCA to oral analgesia was by clinical assessment of the surgical team, in consultation with the pain team.

ERCP patients received midazolam, morphine and buscopan at the start of the procedure, titrated to need during the procedure. Post-procedure receiving analgesia as per the hospital protocol. Cholecystectomy patients' analgesia was prescribed in theatre. For administration in recovery patients had intravenous morphine prescribed, in 1mg increments up to 20 mg. Those still in pain were reviewed. Laparoscopic patients were blind to the route of local anaesthetic administration.
## Recommended analgesia protocol

Analgesia protocol recommendations for all patients							
On admission							
Regular paracetamol and non-steroidal was prescribed, unless							
contra-indicated							
As required weak opiate prescribed							
If clinically judged necessary, morphine should be available intra-							
muscularly or sub-cutaneously on the as required prescription chart							
Nursing team to assess and administer analgesia on the ward,							
referring to the admitting team if assessment required							
On discharge							
Patients should receive 5 – 7 days of regular paracetamol and a							
NSAID							
NSAID If required 3 – 5 days of a weak opiate should be prescribed							
NSAID If required 3 – 5 days of a weak opiate should be prescribed Patients' analgesia needs should be assessed and discussed with							
NSAID If required 3 – 5 days of a weak opiate should be prescribed Patients' analgesia needs should be assessed and discussed with patients							
NSAID If required 3 – 5 days of a weak opiate should be prescribed Patients' analgesia needs should be assessed and discussed with patients Patients' should receive information on pain management, and how to							
NSAID If required 3 – 5 days of a weak opiate should be prescribed Patients' analgesia needs should be assessed and discussed with patients Patients' should receive information on pain management, and how to take analgesia and it's side-effects, alternative forms of analgesia,							

**Table 7.9.2:** The hospital protocol for the prescription of all patients admitted and discharged from the hospital. Prescriptions observing patients declared allergies.

Prior to commencement of the study, as lead investigator I presented to the medical staff, at the regular surgical and anaesthetic meeting. Presenting about the study and the hospital guidelines on pain management. The study was presented to the nursing staff at their ward meeting for each ward and to the theatre team. Written information was displayed prominently on the wards, in theatre, ERCP ward area, pre-assessment and outpatients. The Trust's analgesia protocol was also prominently available in these areas. The ward pharmacists and the pain team for surgery attended one of the presentations.

On medical staff change over the presentation was repeated at induction. New nursing staff were given written information and emailed the presentation. There was also a contact numbers of the lead investigator for questions on the protocol. Neither medical nor nursing staff was aware of which patients had consented to taking part in the research. Patients raising pain related concerns were given information about who to approach for advice. The research team did not prescribe analgesia or give advice about pain management. Staff questions on analgesia prescription were referred to the analgesia protocol or senior team member. The research team did not influence the management of patient's pain, and did not disclose the patients VAS response or response to any part of the research.

## 7.10 Antibiotics

The Trust's antibiotic protocol is described in Table 7.10.1. Where patients had a history of an allergic reaction to an antibiotic an alternative was substituted.

# Antibiotic protocol – taken from Nottingham City Hospital antibiotic protocol

For biliary emergencies
For biliary colic no antibiotics are required
Other biliary emergencies should be assessed and if not allergic prescribed a
cephalosporin alone and or metronidazole or co-amoxiclav dependent on the
admitting consultants preference
Advice being adhered to in the study
For ERCP
Cephalosporin alone and or metronidazole or co-amoxiclav administered at
the start of the procedure dependent on the admitting consultants preference
and patient allergy status
The need to continue antibiotics should be assessed at the end of the
procedure
Advice being adhered to in the study
For cholecystectomy
Antibiotics to be administered only if there is clinical requirement on the
advice of the senior surgeon and anaesthetist
Cephalosporin alone and or metronidazole or co-amoxiclav dependent on the
admitting consultants preference, and patients allergy status
Requirement for continuing antibiotics should be assessed at the end of the
operation
In this study all open cholecystectomy patients received a dose at induction,
laparoscopic approach patients was at the surgeons discretion
Antibiotics were not continued unless there is a clear clinical indication and
instructions from the senior surgeon or anaethetist
Post-operative infections
Commence empirically on cephalosporin and metronidazole, or Co-amoxiclav
by the appropriate route, refined when microbiological advice when available
and patient allergy status
Advice being adhered to in this study
Trimethoprim was prescribed for urinary tract infections, and levo-floxacin for
respiratory tract infections

 Table 7.10.1: The Trusts antibiotic protocol, which was used for the study.

#### 7.11 Assessment

#### Two hours

The time point of two hours was following the completion of surgery or ERCP was chosen, as this was a fixed time point where patients had begun to be sufficiently alert to complete the pain score, and the early cytokine profile could be assessed. If the time point had been from the start of the procedure then a proportion of patients would have had be excluded as their procedure was longer than two hours or they were not sufficiently alert. For the patients with emergency gallstone admissions, the 2 hours sample was taken 2 hours was after the enrolment. Volunteers' blood was taken 2 hours after they commenced the study. Figure 7.11.1 details the investigations completed at 2 hours. Figure 7.11.2 details the number of patients completing each time point. At 24 hours patients had been discharged, nine of the biliary emergency patients, five of the ERCP patients, and ninety-four laparoscopic cholecystectomy patients. Figure 7.11.3 details the pro forma completed and how they were completed.

## Data collected at 2 hours after enrolment for the biliary emergency patients or 2 hours after ERCP or Cholecystectomy for those patients



**Figure 7.11.1:** The data collected by the lead investigator at 2 hours. For surgery and ERCP patients the data was collected at 2 hours after the completion of ERCP or surgery, for biliary emergency patients data was collected at 2 hours after enrolment bloods were taken. Four surgical and three ERCP patients were not alert enough to complete the VAS; all were sufficiently alert to complete the numeric rating score.

#### Number of patients having bloods and VAS completed at each time point



**Figure 7.11.2:** Demonstrating when bloods were taken specifically for the study, the VAS and QoL and HAD scores was completed, and also which observations were recorded. The number of patients in the study is recorded at each time point, which either remained an inpatient or came back to the hospital, or was telephoned. BE – biliary emergency, ERCP patients, LC – laparoscopic cholecystectomy, OC – open cholecystectomy.

## Protocol for collecting data at 4 – 24 hours time points after enrolment or ERCP or Surgery



**Figure 7.11.3:** Administration of the visual analogue score for current and recalled pain and blood samples. VRS – verbal rating score, FBC – full blood count.

#### 7.12 Quality of life data.

The patients who agreed to participate in the research were also asked if they would be willing to complete two QoL assessment forms and the HAD form at enrolment and 12, 26 and 52 weeks following admission with biliary emergency or for surgery or ERCP. The assessments used were the Short Form-36 (SF-36) and Gastrointestinal quality of life index and the HAD score (Appendix 1) (Zigmond and Snaith, 1983).

Figure 7.12.1 describes administration of questionnaires, and 7.12.2 describes the HAD scoring, the SF-36 and GIQLI forms being scored as per their scoring protocol. These were chosen as the European Association for Endoscopic Surgery recommended them as optimal measures of quality of life following cholecystectomy, allowing assessment of both general and disease specific quality of life. The timing of the assessment was also guided by the Associations recommendations (Korolija *et al.*, 2004).

We compared the results of completing the QoL and HAD forms by telephone and on paper in the pilot study. In this study half the group of healthy volunteers completed the measures on paper, and then completed them over the telephone with the lead investigator. The other half completed them the opposite way round to check for consistency in response. All of the volunteers were also asked to feed back on the forms, the advice given on completing the forms and finally on the telephone completion of the forms. They were also asked to comment on if they felt the lead investigator was leading the responses in any way. There was no difference in the responses to the questionnaires, therefore we were offered the patients the option of completing them by telephone or on paper.

## The completion of the quality of life and Hospital anxiety and depression

scale



**Figure 7.12.1:** The collection of the QoL and HAD data, and the validation of the completion of the forms by telephone. The pilot volunteers were also split into two groups, for each intervention, half completing the forms by telephone and half on paper. Feedback was collected from the pilot volunteers and this was incorporated into the study.

## The score ranges on the Hospital anxiety and depression scale

HAD score	Classification
0 – 7	Normal
8 – 10	Borderline
11 – 21	Abnormal

**Table 7.12.2:** Describes the interpretation of the Hospital Anxiety andDepression score. The score is composed of two domains the anxiety and thedepression part and the two scores added together to give a maximal score of21 (Zigmond and Snaith, 1983).

#### 7.13 Enzyme Linked Immunosorbant Assay.

Enzyme linked Immunosorbant assay (ELISA) was used to quantify cytokine concentrations in serum samples. The kits' used were Biosource Enzyme Amplified Sensitivity Immunoassay (EASIA), Belgium.

The system uses an oligoclonal system where a blend of monoclonal antibodies directed against distinct epitopes on the specific cytokine. The Kohler and Milstein method of cell fusion is used to immortalise antibody-producing cells, to produce specific homogenous antibodies (detailed instructions for each cytokine are given in Appendix 7). The advantage of an oligoclonal system is the avoidance of hyper-specificity and increases assay sensitivity.

The EASIA uses a sandwich technique, shown in Figure 7.13.1. In the first step monoclonal antibodies (MAbs-1) coated onto the micro titer plate are used to capture the specific cytokine. The plates are then washed to remove unbound antigen. The plates are then incubated with a second monoclonal antibody which has horseradish peroxidase (HRP) attached (MAbs-2-HRP); this forms a sandwich of MAb-1-cytokine-MAbs-2-HRP. Excess unbound antibody is then removed in a second washing step. Bound labeled antibodies are detected by the addition of a chromogenic solution (TMB+H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>). Following incubation a stop solution (H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>) is added and the plate read at the appropriate wavelength, the absorbance being proportional to the cytokine concentration.

A standard curve is constructed by reading the absorbance of the standards on the plate at 450nm and 490nm, within 15 minutes of applying the stop solution. The absorbances at 490nm were subtracted from those at 450nm. The 490nm wavelengths are used to subtract the non-specific emissions from all the other materials in the wells (e.g. polystyrene), this can be subtracted from the relevant emissions at 450nm. The result is then used to construct a standard curve, from which the values of the experimental wells can be extrapolated to determine the cytokine concentration. The procedure for all the cytokines is shown in Figure 7.13.2 to 7.13.4. The controls were plated on multiple plates to compare results across plates. There was not significant variation between plates but the plan was to re-run plates if there had been variation.

## The ELISA sandwich technique



**Figure 7.13.1:** Diagram demonstrating the sandwich ELISA technique. It is used to identify a specific sample antigen. The wells of micro titer plate are coated with the antibodies. Non-specific binding sites are blocked using bovine serum albumin. The antigen-containing sample is applied to the wells. A specific primary antibody is then added after washing. This sandwiches the antigen. Enzyme linked secondary antibody is added that binds primary antibody. Unbound antibody-enzyme conjugates are washed off. The substrate for enzyme is introduced to quantify the antigens with a chromogen.

#### Protocol for the ELISA procedure



**Figure 7.13.2:** Preparation of EAISA plates, and handling of samples for cytokine analysis. The order for plating the samples on the EASIA is demonstrated in Figure 7.13.3. Appendix 7 details this procedure.

#### The layout of the ELISA plates

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
А	S	S	P1	P1	P4	P4	P7	P7	P9	P9	V1	V1
	0	0	24	24	2	2	0	0	24	24	2	2
В	S	S	P2	P2	P4	P4	P7	P7	P10	P10	V1	V1
	15	15	0	0	24	24	2	2	0	0	24	24
С	S	S	P2	P2	P5	P5	P7	P7	P10	P10	V2	V2
	50	50	2	2	0	0	24	24	2	2	0	0
D	S	S	P2	P2	P5	P5	P8	P8	P10	P10	V2	V2
	150	150	24	24	2	2	0	0	24	24	2	2
Е	S	S	P3	P3	P5	P5	P8	P8	P11	P11	V2	V2
	500	500	0	0	24	24	2	2	0	0	24	24
F	S	S	P3	P3	P6	P6	P8	P8	P11	P11	V3	V3
	1500	1500	2	2	0	0	24	24	2	2	0	0
G	P1	P1	P3	P3	P6	P6	P9	P9	P11	P11	V3	V3
	0	0	24	24	2	2	0	0	24	24	2	2
Н	P1	P1	P4	P4	P6	P6	P9	P9	V1	V1	V3	V3
	2	2	0	0	24	24	2	2	0	0	24	24

**Figure 7.13.3:** Diagrammatic representation of the EASIA plate (96 wells, the blue label is not wells but the labeling of the grid). S is standard, with the standard concentration beneath in pg/mL (dark orange). V is for the volunteer with the volunteer number; the row below is time point 0, 2, and 24 hours (orange). P is for the patient samples with patient number; again the time is on the row below (yellow). All standards, patient and volunteer samples were plated twice. On the next plate patient (P) 12 was plated and volunteer (V) 4 was plated. Patients with more than three time point samples were all plated together. This was performed for each cytokine. One plate of only volunteer samples was performed for each cytokine (V1 – V14, with V15's three samples being plated on a separate plate and ensuring it was repeated). This meant every volunteer's cytokine concentration was measured at least twice for each time point.

### Method for reading absorbances on the ELISA plate



**Figure 7.13.4:** Method used for reading the absorbance's on the plate, the standard curve allowed comparison between plates. By plating the volunteers on each plate they acted as a second standard control to compare the plates. In addition if the variability for a volunteer between plates was greater than the change between time points, then we planned to re-run the plate as it would question the significance of the change in concentration observed, but this did not occur.

#### 7.14 Disposal of samples.

A protocol was drawn up for where patients withdrew consent to participate in the research, and to dispose of samples where cytokine analysis had been completed demonstrated in Figure 7.14.1.

## Protocol for disposal of samples and patient information



**Figure 7.14.1:** Protocol for the disposal of samples and patient information, for patients who withdrew from the study. The Figure also details the handling of the information collected to ensure patient confidentiality.

## Results

## **Chapter 8 – Demographics and Pain groups**

#### 8.1 Patient recruitment

The aim of the study was to determine if pain was an early marker of sepsis following cholecystectomy. Patients were enroled who were undergoing elective cholecystectomy (n = 251). To determine the effect upon cytokines and pain of undergoing instrumentation of the biliary tree we enroled patients undergoing elective ERCP (n = 52), and the effect of biliary sepsis we included a group of patients with biliary emergencies (n = 78).

We over recruited in the elective cholecystectomy group; therefore we separated the group into those who underwent elective cholecystectomy alone, and those who had undergone ERCP within the previous year or those who underwent an on table cholangiogram. The groups were analysed separately as the recent instrumentation of the biliary tree affected the cytokine response, as will be discussed in Chapter 9.3.

Each of the three arms of the study, the biliary emergency, the ERCP and the cholecystectomy group contained patients who underwent ERCP. Patients developed sepsis in each arm of the study. Figure 8.1.1 is the consort diagram for the study.

## Consort diagram for participation in the study



**Figure 8.1.1:** The consort diagram for the study. The biliary emergency patients and ERCP patients are together on the left of diagram, and the cholecystectomy patients are on the right, split into the cholecystectomy (chole) only group, recent ERCP and cholecystectomy patients and OTC and cholecystectomy patients. We also recruited 15 control patients from the staff, students and hospital volunteers.

Table 8.1.2 examines the number of patients approached to participate in the biliary emergency, ERCP and cholecystectomy part of the study. All groups are shown to aid comparison between arms and to demonstrate the equal uptake of the invitation to participate across the study. Five patients, all laparoscopic cholecystectomy patients went home on the day of surgery, and nineteen biliary colic patients were discharged on the day of admission. Their data was collected but due to exceeding the numbers required there data was not analysed with the main group, as they did not have a full set of cytokine data, and being at home they were potentially not representative of the main group of patients. Although it was not sought, patients approached did give reasons for not wishing to participate this data is demonstrated in Table 8.1.3.

	Number approache	Number participating	Full data se	Analysed				
	Biliary e	mergencies	<u> </u>					
- Biliary colic	47	43 (91%)	24 (51%)	24 (51%)				
- Acute cholecystitis	29	27 (93%)	27 (93%)	26 (90%)				
- Pancreatitis	15	14 (93%)	14 (93%)	13 (87%)				
- Obs. Jaundice	16	15 (94%)	15 (94%)	15 (94%)				
ERCP n = 52								
ERCP	54	53 (98%)	53 (98%)	52 (96%)				
Number who had participate	_							
previously	5	4 (80%)	4 (80%)	4 (80%)				
laparosco	Cholec pic n = 170	cystectomy open n = 81 Tot	tal n = 251					
- Cholecystectomy only	219	198 (90%)	193 (88%)	185 (85%)				
- ERCP & Cholecystectomy	38	35 (92%)	35 (92%) 33 (92%)	34 (90%)				
- OTC Cholecystectomy	36	33 (92%)		32 (89%)				
lumber participated previous reparticipating								
- Biliary emergency - ERCP	25 24	22 (88%) 23 (96%)	22 (88%) 23 (96%)	22 (88%) 23 (96%)				

### Recruitment to the three arms of the study

**Table 8.1.2:** Demonstrates the number of patients approached and the numbers participating in the study. There were three surgical consultants admitting biliary emergencies and cholecystectomy patients, and one medical consultant undertaking the ERCP's. The lower numbers of biliary colic and cholecystectomy patients with full data sets is due to being discharged prior to 24 hours (laparoscopic group). There was no difference in numbers recruited to the biliary emergency and to the cholecystectomy only, cholecystectomy and recent ERCP and cholecystectomy and on table cholangiogram groups, for each of the surgical consultants.

			Cholecystectomy					
	Biliary eme	ERCP	0	nly	Recent	ERCP	With	OTC
			Lap	Open	Lap	Open	Lap	Open
Suspicion about any			3	1	1	0	0	1
type of research	1	0						
Needle phobia	2	0	4	3	1	0	0	0
Language problems	2	0	2	0	0	0	0	0
No reason stated	3	1	5	3	1	0	1	1
Discharged prior	19	0	5	0	0	0	0	0
to 24 hours								
Non gall stone	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
pancreatitis								
Malignant disease	0	1	1	0	0	1	0	0
Switched approach	0	0	0	5	0	0	1	0
to chole.								
Anaesthetically unfit	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0
Consent withdrawn p	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
way through study								

### Reason for not participating in the study

**Table 8.1.3:** Demonstrates the reason why patients declined to participate in the study. The laparoscopic patients who were discharged prior to 24 hours were, with consent contacted at home and asked to score their pain at 24 hours. All their available data was excluded in the analysis, as they were potentially different to the in-patients, and the comparative cytokine data was not collected at 24 hours (four were operated on by consultant 1). Their pain scores were retrospectively compared to the patients not discharged, and no difference was detected. The malignant disease was a malignant biliary stricture found on ERCP, cholangiocarcinoma in a laparoscopic patient, and liver metastasis from a colonic malignancy in the open group. These patients' data was excluded. In the surgical patients there were patients who were anxious about completing particularly the pain scores and quality of life data in case it lead their operation being cancelled. Where consent was withdrawn part way through the study the patients were not included in the main analysis. Emerg. – emergency, lap. – laparoscopic, chole. – cholecystectomy.

#### 8.2 Biliary emergency, ERCP and cholecystectomy patient demographics

Table 8.2.1 illustrates the patient demographics at enrolment for the biliary emergency group. Patients admitted multiple times with biliary emergencies were only enroled once in the study. Patients did participate in multiple arms of the study when they were readmitted for ERCP or cholecystectomy, but their data was kept separately and matched up at the end of the study.

		Biliary emerg	ency n = 78	
	Biliary colic	Acute	Pancreatitis	Obstructive
		cholecystitis		jaundice
Number	23	27	13	15
First episode	6	13	4	2
of pain	(26%)	(48%)	(31%)	(13%)
Pain	9	9	8	12
previously not	(39%)	(33%)	(62%)	(80%)
admitted				
Previous	8	5	1	1
admissions	(35%)	(19%)	(8%)	(7%)
Length of				
symptoms	9 ± 6	20 ± 8	28 ± 10	29 ± 8
(in hours ±				
SD)				
Analgesia				
use (mg	23.5 ± 4.5	23.5 ± 4.5	23.5 ± 4.5	23.5 ± 4.5
previous 24				
hours)				
ERCP this	0	0	10	15
admission				

### Patients admitted in the biliary emergency group

**Table 8.2.1:** Demonstrates the patient history of the patients admitted with biliary emergencies who completed the study. The biliary colic group has had more previous admissions than the other groups. Analgesia use was calculated in morphine equivalent dose for the previous 24 hours to enrolment (Table 6.4.5 page 140). For the biliary colic group 70% had received paracetamol, whereas 85% of the other groups had received paracetamol.

Fifty-two patients having their first ERCP for benign biliary disease were included in the study, but patients' enroled in the study who had a second ERCP or cholecystectomy at the same admission were followed. Patients who had ERCP as part of their admission with biliary emergency were not included in this arm, only the biliary emergency arm. Failed ERCP patients were all admitted for at least one night, antibiotics continued and ERCP repeated within 48 hours of the first procedure. Five of the unsuccessful ERCP patients went for emergency with on table cholangiogram.

As would be expected patients admitted for ERCP were older (p = 0.044) as the frequency of common bile duct stones increases with age. Significantly more males were admitted for both elective ERCP and underwent emergency ERCP for obstructive jaundice or pancreatitis (p = 0.045 and p = 0.039 respectfully).

Sphincter diverticulum or oedema was significantly more common in abandoned procedures that went on to have repeat ERCP or cholecystectomy. (p = 0.048). Sphincter canulation being unsuccessful in three cases all with sphincter oedema. Of the thirteen abandoned cases seven were performed by a non-consultant grade. The six failed ERCP performed by a consultant five went on to have cholecystectomy at this admission. All second attempt ERCP's were performed by a consultant. Table 8.2.2 demonstrates the patient flow in this arm of the study.

Of the 37 successfully completed first attempt ERCP's, two represented with biliary emergency symptoms. For the first a decision had been made not to perform a cholecystectomy due to her age (91 years) and co-morbidities. She represented with pancreatitis eight weeks later at another hospital and died, she was the only mortality within the study period. The second patient had a difficult but completed first attempt ERCP, the procedure was rated difficult as there was a significant amount of inflammation making the sphincterotomy more difficult. This patient represented with biliary obstruction, and had a repeat ERCP, which was rated as difficult and had a stent placed and early cholecystectomy.

	ERCP gro	oup n = 52
	Successfully	Unsuccessfully
	completed at first	completed at first
	attempt	attempt
Number	39	13
Reason for ERCP		
- Pancreatitis	13 (33%)	4 (31%)
- Obstructive jaundice	26 (67%)	9 (69%)
Difficultness & length		
of first ERCP (mins)		
- straight forward	$20 - 37 \pm 3$	
- moderate	$15 - 45 \pm 4$	
- difficult completed	$4 - 58 \pm 5$	10 00 0
	$13 - 62 \pm 6$	13 – 68 ± 6
Raised amylase after	1 went onto develop	1 went onto have
first ERCP	sepsis	cholecystectomy and
Sonaio ofter first EPCP	2	
dotaile	2 1 raised amylase and	0
- details	chest infection	
	1 positive blood cultures	
Cholecystectomy after	0	5 (all with OJ)
first failed ERCP	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	
- approach (LC / OC)		3 LC / 2 OC
- sepsis		1 LC / 2 OC
		+ve bile & blood culture
ERCP completed at	0	8
second attempt		
Difficultness & length	0	
of second ERCP (mins)		
- difficult completed		8 – 67 ± 10
Raised amylase after	0	2 both ERCP
second ERCP		successfully completed
Sepsis after second	0	3
ERCP		
- details		3 +ve blood cultures

#### Patients admitted in the ERCP group

**Table 8.2.2:** Demonstrates the outcome of intervention in the ERCP group. The positive blood cultures were all for *E.coli*. All the patients who went for emergency cholecystectomy had intra-operative bile cultures sent, four were positive (one laparoscopic cholecystectomy (LC) patients was negative). One laparoscopic cholecystectomy patient had positive bile cultures but was never diagnosed by the clinical team with sepsis; their cytokine concentration was seen to increase post procedure. LC – laparoscopic cholecystectomy, OC – open cholecystectomy, OJ – obstructive jaundice, mins – minutes  $\pm$  SD, +ve - positive.

General practitioner referrals for cholecystectomy, to Nottingham City Hospital, were allocated from a pool to the general surgeons out patient clinics. Outpatient department clerks allocated patients to consultant's who performed cholecystectomy, on the basis of available slots. The second smaller source was patients brought back for review following their emergency admission; the consultant they had previously been admitted under saw these patients. Elective clinic slots were greater than four weeks after emergency admission. Emergency cholecystectomy procedures were excluded from this group.

Three consultants participated in this study as they shared theatre sessions, and anaesthetists, as well as junior staff. None had a specialist interest in hepatobiliary surgery, and all had at least 18 months experience as a consultant. Two performed laparoscopic surgery with conversion rates of 1% for elective procedures, and were proficient in converting to the open procedure. No laparoscopic cases were converted to open during the study. One surgeon only performed open cholecystectomy.

Based on a power calculation (Chapter 7.2 page 154), we aimed to recruit 102 laparoscopic approach (51 each consultant) and 51 open cholecystectomy patients to demonstrate a difference between the two approaches. The complication rate was based upon the rate of complications in the previous two years for each of the consultant's, data gathered by Nottingham City Hospital at patient discharge.

In total I recruited 170 patients undergoing laparoscopic cholecystectomy and 81 open cholecystectomy patients, enrolment continued to study closure at six months, surgery was performed over an eight month period. When recruiting patients I tried to recruit consecutive patents, but in so doing I had a group of patients who had just cholecystectomy (n = 125 laparoscopic approach, and n = 60 open approach patients). There was also a group of patients who had had a recent ERCP (within a year) and a group who had an on-table cholangiogram (OTC) with their cholecystectomy (n = 45 laparoscopic approach and n = 21 open approach). Analysing the cytokines of the recent ERCP and OTC group, it appeared there was a different cytokine response to those just undergoing cholecystectomy. As I had recruited adequate numbers of patients just undergoing cholecystectomy to satisfy the power calculation, I decided to analyse the ERCP or OTC group separately and treat these patients as a separate group for analysis.

Analysis of demographics across the arms of the study demonstrated variation in both age and the gender ratio as demonstrated in Table 8.2.3. For the patients undergoing surgery they were listed from the consultant clinic they attended. The open approach consultant offered his patients referral to a consultant performing the procedure laparoscopically. Six patients asked to switch to laparoscopic cholecystectomy; this was in line with the consultant's own collected data of 10% switching. Five patients switching were female and the oldest was 42 years old. Although a full set of data was collected for theses patients, they were not included in the main analysis in case there preference in approach influenced their response in questionnaires. Their data is not presented unless otherwise stated.

The number of episodes of sepsis is also given for each group. In the group with pancreatitis, five had a raised white cell count and were treated for infection. But only three had a definite source of infection, and had two raised SIRS markers, and were diagnosed with sepsis the other two had no positive culture and one raised SIRS marker not fulfilling the definition of sepsis. For the ERCP group forty-seven patients just had an ERCP, and five developed sepsis. Five patients underwent an ERCP and emergency cholecystectomy, three of this group developed sepsis (Table 8.2.2).

Table 8.2.3 demonstrates the demographic data about each arm of the study and includes the data about the fifteen healthy controls that were recruited for comparison to the patients with biliary disease. This control group was a separate group of patients to the controls in the pilot study, as the timing of taking samples was changed from the pilot study.

	Number	Gender M:F (% male)	Mean age (years ± SD)	Mean age M : F	Cases of sepsis (% of group with sepsis)	
Biliary emerg. - BC						
50	23	4 : 19 (17%)	34 ± 9	40 : 32	0	
- AC	27	6 :21 (22%)	41 ± 12	50 : 40	(0%)	
- Panc.		5	50 . 7	50 54	(0%)	
- OJ	13	5:8(38%)	52 ± 7	53 : 51	3 / 2 * (23% / 15%)	
15		6 : 9 (40%)	54 ± 10 55 : 54		( <u>1</u> (7%)	
ERCP - only - FRCP	47	18 : 29 (38%)	57 ± 10	58 : 55	5 (11%)	
emerg. chole	5	3 : 2 (60%)	59 ± 3	61 : 60	3 (60%)	
Lap. chole.	125	26 : 99 (21%)	49 ± 16	50 : 42	12 (10%)	
Open chole.	60	23 : 37 (46%)	54 ± 12	53 : 60	8 (13%)	
ERCP lap.	23	5 : 18 (28%)	56 ± 9	57 : 54	4 (17%)	
ERCP open	11	5 : 6 (45%)	57 ± 8	57 : 60	2 (18%)	
OTC lap.	22	5 : 17 (23%)	56 ± 8	57 : 55	5 (23%)	
OTC open	10	6 : 4 (60%)	59 ± 9	59 : 61	3 (30%)	
Healthy controls	15	5 : 10 (33%)	50 ± 15	54 : 49	0 (0%)	

#### Demographics of the patients participating in each arm of the study

**Table 8.2.3:** Demonstrating the demographics of the patients participating in each arm of the study. The number of episodes of sepsis in each group is also shown. For the ERCP group forty-seven just under went an ERCP, and five of these develop post procedural sepsis. Another five of the ERCP patients under went emergency cholecystectomy, after a failed ERCP, and three of this group developed sepsis. M – male, F – female, SD – standard deviation, biliary emerg – biliary emergency, BC – biliary colic, AC – acute cholecystitis, Panc. – pancreatitis, OJ – obstructive jaundice, ERCP emerg chole – emergency cholecystectomy after failed ERCP, Lap. Chole. – Laparoscopic cholecystectomy, ERCP lap. – recent ERCP and laparoscopic cholecystectomy. \* Five patients in the biliary emergency – pancreatitis group were treated for sepsis, but only three fulfilled the diagnosis of sepsis.

The mean age in those developing post-procedural sepsis was older than the patients not developing sepsis, for the elective ERCP arm and the cholecystectomy patients. For the cholecystectomy patients this was regardless as to whether they had had a recent ERCP or underwent an OTC. Figure 8.2.4 demonstrates the age of the patients diagnosed with sepsis in each of the arms of the study. The frequency of sepsis increased with age in all arms of the study. Kishimoto's team (2009) reported lower cytokine concentrations in their older patients. This was not seen in this study, but there was a tendency towards those older patients developing sepsis to require a higher level of care for their sepsis. Whether this masked the lower cytokine concentration is unclear, but the concentration at enrolment was not significantly lower.

Overall more males developed sepsis, but analysis by group, this only reached significance in the elective ERCP arm, laparoscopic ERCP patients, open ERCP patients, and laparoscopic on table cholangiogram patients. However the numbers are small and these were subgroups for which power calculations for recruitment was not performed (p = 0.004). The male patients did require a higher level of care. The demographics are demonstrated in Table 8.2.5.

# Age of the patients diagnosed with sepsis. Biliary emergency and ERCP (upper diagram) and cholecystectomy patients (lower diagram)





**Figure 8.2.4:** Demonstrates the age of the patients by decade and the number diagnosed with sepsis and those not diagnosed with sepsis. The biliary emergency and ERCP patients are the upper figure and the patients undergoing cholecystectomy are shown in the lower figure. This clearly shows the frequency of sepsis increases with age in all the arms of the study.

#### Demographics of the patients developing sepsis in each arm

	Cases of sepsis	Mean age of patient with sepsis	Gender M : F (% of gender developing	Procedure (Enrolment ) to diagnosis	Level of care ITU : HDU : Ward
		(age ± SD)	sepsis)	(nours)	
Biliary emerg.	<u> </u>				
- BC (23)		-	-	-	-
-AC(27)	2/2*	-	- 3 · 2 (60 · 25%)	-	-
	372	66	3.2(00.25%)	0	0.1.4
Ward		61 + 1	2.2	6+2	
	1	69	1 · 0 (17 · 0%)	6	$0 \cdot 0 \cdot 1$
ERCP (52)	I	00	1.0(17.0/0)	0	0.0.1
- Only FRCP (47)	5	60 + 4	$4 \cdot 1 (22 \cdot 7\%)$	26 + 6	0.0.5
- Chole OTC (5)	Ŭ	00 1 1	$2 \cdot 1 (60 \cdot 30\%)$	20 2 0	0.1.2
HDU	3	69	1:0	57	0.1.2
Ward	Ŭ	64 ± 5	1:1	50 ± 4	
Lap. chole.	12		5:7		4:3:5
(125)			(19 : 7%)		
ITU		63 ± 9	3:1	32 – 60	
HDU		56 ± 6	2:1	28 – 36	
Ward		50 ± 19	0:5	26 - 36	
Open chole. (60)	8		5:3		2:3:3
ITU			(21 : 8%)		
HDU		64 ± 6	2:0	2 – 33	
Ward		58 ± 14	2 : 1	20 – 25	
		54 ± 5	1:2	20 - 28	
ERCP lap. (23)	4		3:1		0:1:3
HDU			(60:6%)		
Ward		65	1:0	32	
		$60 \pm 3$	2:1	29 - 36	0 + 0 + 0
ERCP open (11)	2	60 ± 4	(40 ; 0%)	24 – 29	0:0:2
OTC lap. (22)	5		3:2		0:1:4
HDU			(50 : 12%)		
Ward		64	1:0	31	
		60 ± 3	2:2	28 - 38	
OTC open (10)	3	65 ± 3	3:0	26 - 29	0:0:3
			(50;0%)		

**Table 8.2.5:** The table demonstrates the demographics of the patients diagnosed with sepsis, the time to diagnosis and the level of post-operative care they required. The ERCP patients who did not have a cholecystectomy had a wide time to diagnosis because two were diagnosed after the first ERCP and three were diagnosed after the repeat ERCP. The patients who had a cholecystectomy after ERCP were diagnosed after their cholecystectomy. As can be seen the men tend to require a higher level of care. M – male, F – female, SD – standard deviation, biliary emerg – biliary emergency, BC – biliary colic, AC – acute cholecystectomy, ERCP lap. – recent ERCP and laparoscopic cholecystectomy. ITU – intensive care unit, HDU – High dependency unit. \* Five pancreatitis patients were treated for sepsis, three had positive cultures.

Table 8.2.6 demonstrates the co-existing co-morbidities and history of smoking of those developing sepsis to the rest of the patient group. The patients developing sepsis were more likely to have respiratory disease. These patients had been prescribed steroids for their respiratory disease, both inhaled and oral steroids, more frequently than the patients not developing sepsis who had respiratory disease. Respiratory disease and smoking was particularly prevalent amongst the laparoscopic approach patients developing sepsis (p = 0.045). Diabetes was also more prevalent amongst the laparoscopic approach patient (p = 0.046). The group developing sepsis had longer procedures, the combination of the co-morbidity, the prolonged pneumoperitoneum restricting ventilation and the majority of laparoscopic approach patients not receiving antibiotics, potentially predisposes to developing sepsis. In contrast all the open approach patients received antibiotics. This group of patients also received patient controlled analgesia, which potentially allowed them to be more comfortable and breath more deeply. The lower rate of cardiovascular disease amongst the laparoscopic approach patients, maybe due to the group being younger, than the other groups.

			Co-ex						
	Cases of sepsis	Resp. (number in group with problem)		Cardiac (number in group with problem)		Dia end (nur grou pro	betes / locrine nber in up with oblem)	Smoker (number in group)	
		No. in grp	No. with sepsis	No. in grp	No. with sepsis	No. in grp	No. with sepsis	No. in grp	No. with sepsis
Biliary									
emerg. - BC (23) - AC (27) - Panc (13)	0 0 3 / 2 *	1 1 2	0 0 2	0 0 1	0 0 1	0 1 0	0 1 0	9 4 1	0 0 1
- OJ (15)	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	1
ERCP (52) - Only ERCP (47) - Chole	5 3 / 4 **	4	3 2	0	0 0	2 0	1 0	4	1
OTC (5)									
Lap. chole. (125)	12	11	7	3	0	4	2	10	3
Open chole. (60)	8	6	2	2	1	3	1	5	1
ERCP lap. (23)	4	2	1	1	0	0	0	1	1
ERCP open (11)	2	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
OTC lap. (22)	5	4	3	0	1	1	1	1	1
OTC open (10)	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1

#### Co-existing co-morbidities in those developing sepsis

**Table 8.2.6:** Demonstrates the co-morbidities of the group developing sepsis. The figure in brackets is the total number in the group with that co-morbidity. As can be seen many of the laparoscopic approach patients developing sepsis have respiratory problems or are smokers. Resp. – respiratory, biliary emerg – biliary emergency, BC – biliary colic, AC – acute cholecystitis, Panc. – pancreatitis, OJ – obstructive jaundice, Lap. Chole. – Laparoscopic cholecystectomy, ERCP lap. – recent ERCP and laparoscopic cholecystectomy.

\* Five pancreatitis patients were treated for sepsis, three had positive cultures.

\*\* Four emergency cholecystectomy had positive cultures, three had abnormal SIRS and were recognised by the medical team as having sepsis, all had received antibiotics at induction of anaesthesia.

The causes of sepsis are documented in Table 8.2.7. The timing of the diagnosis of sepsis was when the clinical team in the first documented it in the hospital notes. Time was taken from admission or the ERCP or surgical intervention. The cause of sepsis was taken from the clinical notes, microbiology results, imaging and findings at second procedures. There was no mortality from sepsis, or during the study, although one ERCP patient was admitted elsewhere, after the end of the study, with gallstone pancreatitis and died. This lady at 91 years had been deemed to frail for surgery. Secondary infections, documented as a second diagnosis, occurred in six patients, five cared for in ITU and one cared for in HDU all in the surgical group.

Two or more SIRS markers were elevated in all those developing sepsis at the time of diagnosis of sepsis, and in 18 of the acute cholecystitis patients at the time of admission. Ten patients had one SIRS marker elevated but never were diagnosed with infection, predominantly in the ERCP arm or the surgery and OTC group. These patients had no documented evidence of infection, except the one ERCP patient who underwent emergency cholecystectomy and had a positive bile culture but was not documented by the clinical team as developing sepsis. Two further patients with pancreatitis had an elevated white cell count, without overt signs of sepsis. All those with positive blood cultures had positive bile cultures.

Amongst the surgical patients sepsis was diagnosed in all the three groups of patients undergoing cholecystectomy, and for both approaches. Proportionally sepsis was more common after OTC (9.6%, 17% and 22% for the laparoscopic approach and 13.2%, 18.2% and 30% for the open approach), but the numbers are small.

As can be seen from Table 8.2.7 the causes of sepsis are varied but those developing respiratory sepsis had pre-existing respiratory disease. The majority of laparoscopic approach patients did not receive antibiotics and did not develop sepsis. Where there were pre-existing co-morbidities, particularly respiratory disease and diabetes, these patients potentially may benefit from targeted prophylactic antibiotics at surgery to reduce the rate of sepsis.
#### Causes of sepsis in each arm of the study

	Cases of sepsis	Positive bile cultures	Positive blood cultures	Chest infection	Other
Biliary	ITU - 1	-	-	-	1
emerg. - Panc(13)	Ward - 2	-	1	1 (RD)	(necrotizing pancreatitis) -
- OJ (15)	1	-	1	-	
ERCP (52)	5	-	3 (1 RD, 1 D)	2 (2 RD)	-
- Chole OTC (5)	HDU - 1	1 (RD)	1	-	-
	Ward - 4	4	3	-	-
Lap. chole. (125)	ITU – 4	-	-	1 (clip dislodged cystic duct 2 <sup>nd</sup> operation RD)	1 (Colonic perforation RD) 1 (Small bowel perforation) 1 (CBD injury)
	HDU – 3	-	-	3 (2 RD)	-
	Ward - 5	2 (2 D)	2	3 (3 RD)	-
Open chole. (60)	ITU – 2	-	_	1 aspiration pneumonia (RD)	1 clip dislodged cystic duct 2 <sup>nd</sup> operation wound infection
	HDU – 3	3 (RD)	3	-	-
	Ward - 3	3 (D)	3	-	-
ERCP lap. (23)	ITU - 1	-	-	1 (RD)	-
()	Ward - 3	1	1	2 (2 RD 1)	-
ERCP open (11)	2	-	-	2 (1 RD)	-
OTC lap. (22)	HDU - 1	-	-	1 (RD )	
	Ward - 4	4 (2 RD)	4 (2 RD)	-	
OTC open (10)	3	3 1 T- tube dislodged	3	0	0

**Table 8.2.7:** Demonstrates the cause of sepsis. The abbreviations are as previous tables for a full explanation of the table please see text. RD - respiratory disease, D - diabetes.

In the biliary emergency patients the acute cholecystitis patients were prescribed antibiotics at admission. The patients with pancreatitis and obstructive jaundice patients were prescribed antibiotics when clinical infection was documented. The ERCP patients received a prophylactic dose of antibiotics prior to the procedure, this was continued based on clinical assessment. This was predominantly the difficult but completed and failed first ERCP patients'.

The open cholecystectomy patients received a dose of antibiotics at induction, they were either continued if clinical concerns, or if the patient underwent OTC. Table 8.2.8 documents the patients receiving antibiotics. For those developing sepsis the six cholecystectomy and the three cholecystectomy with OTC patients who developed biliary and haematological sepsis all had a course of antibiotics prescribed from surgery. As did the patient who developed aspiration pneumonia following open cholecystectomy. Antibiotics had been stopped and were recommenced at the time of diagnosis of sepsis for the three patients developing a chest infection and one where the cystic duct clip was dislodged after open surgery.

The laparoscopic approach patients only received antibiotics at the time of surgery if there was clinical concern, this was usually for a distended thickened gall bladder where bile with aspirated. The antibiotics were continued based on the surgeon's request. As can be seen in Table 8.2.8 the laparoscopic approach patients who had had recent ERCP or had OTC were more likely to receive antibiotics. Only two of the laparoscopic approach patients developing sepsis had received antibiotics, even where bile had been sent for culture or OTC was performed. These two patients had received a course of antibiotics. This omission of antibiotics potentially increased the number of episodes of sepsis. No bile was sent for culture unless the patient underwent cholecystectomy.

	Cases of sepsis	Received induction antibiotics	Patients with sepsis receiving induction antibiotics	Positive bile culture	% positive bile culture receiving course antibiotics
Biliary					
emerg.	0	0 (0%)	_	_	_
- AC (27)	0	27 (100%)	_	_	-
- Panc (13)	3	5 (39%)	3 (100%)	-	-
- OJ (15)	1	9 (60%)	1 (100%)	-	-
ERCP (52) - only ERCP (47)	5	16 (31%)	5 (100%)	-	-
- Chole OTC (5)	3 / 4	5 (100%)	4 (100%)	4	100%
Lap. chole. (125)	12	9 (7%)	1 (9%)	18	50%
Open chole. (60)	8	51 (98%)	8 (100%)	6	100%
ERCP lap. (23)	4	4 (17%)	0 (0%)	5	80%
ERCP open (11)	2	11 (100%)	2 (100%)	2	100%
OTC lap. (22)	5	18 (82%)	1 (20%)	5	20%
OTC open (10)	3	10 (100%)	3 (100%)	3	100%

#### The patients who received antibiotics at induction and a course of antibiotics in each arm

**Table 8.2.8:** All of the acute cholecystitis, ERCP and open cholecystectomy patients received antibiotics at the commencement of the procedure or admission. The other patients only received doses based on clinical assessment. The table documents those who received a course of antibiotics; this was based predominantly on concern about positive bile cultures based on findings in theatre. Biliary emerg – biliary emergency, BC – biliary colic, AC – acute cholecystitis, Panc. – pancreatitis, OJ – obstructive jaundice, Lap. Chole. – Laparoscopic cholecystectomy, ERCP lap. – recent ERCP and laparoscopic cholecystectomy.

#### 8.3 Significant pain experienced pain group

The visual analogue score is divided into three groups; mild, significant and severe pain. Table 8.3.1 demonstrates how the scores are divided between groups. Patients were placed in pain groups based upon their pain score at enrolment.

Prior to commencing the study a personal observation was that there was a group of patients who experienced more pain after surgery, but did not develop sepsis. In the pilot study, there was within the significant pain group, two distinct groups of patients, based upon their quality of life (QoL) scores throughout the study. The one group scored their quality of life similar to the mild pain group, and was denoted as 'Significant pain manageable'. The other group, within the significant pain group scored their quality of life as worse, for distinction they were termed 'Significant pain experienced' (Table 8.3.1).

The difference between the patients QoL scores in the significant pain group at enrolment will be discussed further in the pain chapter (Chapter 11). It is noted here to highlight the different demographics between the groups, in terms of the number of significant pain experienced patients in each group. Although these patients scored their pain similar to the group developing sepsis, only three of the group developed sepsis across the study. These three patients had cytokine concentrations similar to the other patients developing sepsis. The other patients in the significant pain experienced group had cytokine concentrations not significantly different to the significant pain manageable patients in the same arm of the study.

Identifying the separate group of the significant pain experienced group is important because the study aimed to identify sepsis early using patients pain score. The significant pain experienced group and the patients with sepsis scored their pain similarly, but the former did not develop sepsis. By using the VAS and quality of life scores at enrolment we can potentially identify the patients developing sepsis and initiate treatment earlier.

### Pain groups based on the VAS and quality of life questionnaires

VAS pain	Name of group	Quality of life score
score		
< 4	Mild pain	Rate QoL high
	Significant pain manageable	Rate QoL as mild group
≥4-<7	Significant pain experienced	Rate QoL poor
≥ 7	Severe pain	Rate QoL intermediate
		between mild and
		significant pain
		experienced

**Table 8.3.1:** Demonstrates the different pain groups. The VAS is usually divided into three groups, mild, significant and severe pain. When we compared the groups, the significant pain group was composed of two distinct groups which could be separated based upon the patients quality of life scores, this will be discussed further in the next section and Chapter 11. There were significant pain experienced patients in each arm of the study. The severe pain group post operatively scored their quality of life similar to the mild and significant pain manageable group. QoL – quality of life.

In the pilot study I examined how patients pain scores changed in each arm of the study, initially performing this in the cholecystectomy patients. I realised that within the significant pain experienced group there was a group of patients whose pain score decreased post operatively and a group whose pain score remained unchanged or increased. Studying these patients further I realised they scored their QoL and Hospital anxiety and depression (HAD) score differently. The group whose pain score did not fall scored their quality of life and Hospital anxiety and depression score poorer at enrolment and throughout the follow up period. Whereas the group whose pain scores fell, scored their quality of life similar to the mild group. Like the severe pain group the mild and this group of significant pain group increased their quality of life following surgery. The same split in the significant pain group is seen in the biliary emergency patients and in the elective ERCP group.

From the pilot study this split was within the pain groups was only seen in the significant pain group. With the main study with bigger numbers of patients I wanted to know if the other pain groups displayed this dichotomy. In particular the severe pain group, because the significant pain experienced group appeared to experience a lot of pain. I therefore plotted out the change in pain score for every patient over the first 24 hours of the study. Figure 8.3.2 and 8.3.3 is for the patients who underwent cholecystectomy alone by both approaches. The other groups had similar plots, the larger number of patients in this group demonstrate the findings most easily. Patients in the same pain group tend to behave similarly for the mild and severe pain groups, but the smaller numbers in the severe pain group make the clustering appear more open.

For the significant pain group the distribution was bi-modal demonstrated in Figure 8.3.3. Comparison of the significant pain group patients' whose pain score fell post post-operatively, and the group whose pain score did not fall, demonstrated that the patients whose pain score fell, scored their quality of life significantly better than the group whose pain score increased.

The patients developing post procedural sepsis is excluded as their pain scores all increased following the procedure, as will be discussed in Chapter 10. Although the mild pain groups pain scores increased following cholecystectomy, like the

significant pain experienced group. The mild pain group then decreased after the early post operative period unlike the significant pain experienced group whose pain scores continued to increase to 24 - 48 hours. In the mild pain group this is likely to be post procedural pain, and their quality of life scores mirrored those of the significant pain manageable group.

There was no difference in cytokine concentration between the two groups in the significant pain group as will be discussed in Chapter 9. None of the other pain groups were seen to have these two groups of patients, not even the severe pain group, why this was unclear. The significant pain experienced group did receive more analgesia and whether this is the reason their pain was significant and not severe is a possibility.

## Change in the pain score from enrolment to 24 hours in the mild pain group (upper) and severe pain group (lower)





**Figure 8.3.2:** Demonstrates the change in pain score from enrolment to 24 hours after cholecystectomy. If the pain score at 24 hours decreased from the pre-operative score then it would be represented as a negative change and vice versa. The mild and the severe pain group are shown for comparison to Figure 8.3.3 the significant pain group. The patients developing sepsis are excluded for ease of demonstration.

# Change in the pain score from enrolment to 24 hours in the significant pain group



**Figure 8.3.3:** Demonstrates the change in pain score from pre-operatively to 24 hours after cholecystectomy, for the patients in the significant pain group. If the pain score at 24 hours decreased from the pre-operative score then it would be represented as a negative change and vice versa. The mild and severe pain group is shown for comparison in Figure 8.3.2. The patients developing sepsis are excluded for ease of demonstration. The patients in the significant pain group whose pain score decreased post-operatively were termed 'Significant pain manageable' and those whose pain score increased were termed 'Significant pain experienced'.

#### Biliary emergency group

The analgesia the patients received varied significantly different between the groups. Comparing pain scores in the biliary emergency group demonstrated at 24 hours those with pancreatitis and obstructive jaundice had received significantly higher morphine equivalent dose (p = 0.003) than the biliary colic and cholecystitis patients, if the significant pain experienced pain group were excluded. Including the significant pain experience in morphine equivalent doses at 24 hours was lost (p = 0.31), as the significant pain experienced group received equivalent doses of morphine to the pancreatitis and obstructive jaundice patients.

Patients admitted with a diagnosis of pancreatitis and obstructive jaundice all scored their pain in the severe pain group at enrolment. I was concerned that we were missing patients who would fit the description of the significant pain experienced group, and we were missing them because their pain at admission placed them in the severe pain group. As will be discussed later in the Chapter 11, the patients' quality of life and Hospital Anxiety and Depression scores were lower in the severe pain group, than the biliary colic and acute cholecystitis patients in the significant pain manageable and mild pain group; their scores were not as low as the patients who were in the significant pain experienced group. Neither was there the dichotomy in pain or quality of life scores.

A potential explanation for the absence of the significant pain experienced patients in the pancreatitis and obstructive jaundice group, is the patients in these groups have had their pain for significantly longer than the patients in the significant pain experienced group (Table 8.4.8). Although the length of symptoms does rely upon patients recall of the commencement of right upper quadrant pain, which can't be independently verified. Patients in the obstructive jaundice and pancreatitis groups also tend to be older, than the significant pain experienced group were significantly younger than all the patients having the same procedure or admitted with biliary emergencies (p = 0.02). There was a trend towards them being female but this was not significant. Table 8.3.4 demonstrates the spread of the pain groups across the arms of the study.

|--|

		Pain score					
	Cases of sepsis	Number in mild pain VAS <4	Number in significant pain manageable VAS ≥ 4 - <7	Number in significant pain experienced VAS ≥ 4 - <7	Number in severe pain VAS ≥ 7		
Biliary emerg. (78)							
- BC (23) - AC (27)	0 0	3 (13%) 7 (26%)	3 (13%) 10 (37%)	17 (74%) 10 (37%)	0 0		
- Panc(13) - OJ (15)	3 1	0	0 0	0	13 (100%) 15 (100%)		
ERCP (52) - First ERCP							
(39) - Second	2	0	19 (49%)	4 (10%)	16 (41%)		
ERCP (8) - Chole OTC	3	0	1 (12.5%)	1 (12.5%)	6 (75%)		
(5)	3	0	0	1 (20%)	4 (80%)		
Lap. chole. (125)	12	53 (42%)	36 (29%)	22 (18%)	14 (11%)		
Open chole. (60)	8	24 (40%)	13 (22%)	17 (28%)	6 (10%)		
ERCP lap. (23)	4	0	16 (70%)	3 (13%)	4 (17%)		
ERCP open (11)	2	0	6 (55%)	2 (18%)	3 (27%)		
OTC lap. (22)	5	0	14 (64%)	3 (14%)	5 (23%)		
OTC open (10)	3	0	6 (60%)	2 (20%)	2 (20%)		

**Table 8.3.4:** Demonstrates the number of patients in each pain group in each arm of the study. Patients were placed in a pain group based upon their enrolment pain score, and their quality of life scores. Percentage in the group given in brackets. The ERCP patients are split into first and second ERCP to highlight how few patients in the significant pain experienced group had an ERCP because they tended to have surgery earlier in the course of their disease. The main number in each pain group is given at the top for of each column for the ERCP and biliary emergency patients. Biliary emerg – biliary emergency, BC – biliary colic, AC – acute cholecystitis, Panc. – pancreatitis, OJ – obstructive jaundice, Lap. Chole. – Laparoscopic cholecystectomy, ERCP lap. – recent ERCP and laparoscopic cholecystectomy.

For the biliary emergency patients it is very striking that the significant pain experienced group are predominantly represented in the biliary colic and the acute cholecystitis group. Caution has to be exercised particularly in interpreting the biliary colic data, as we enroled eighteen more patients into the biliary colic group, but they were all discharged prior to 24 hours (Figure 8.1.2). With the criteria used in this study all of the patients discharged were in the significant pain manageable group, and those who stayed in were the significant pain experienced patients. This is a significant potential bias.

Including the patients discharged in the demographics brought the biliary colic group closer in age and gender to the acute cholecystitis group. We did not include those discharged prior to 24 hours in the main analysis because we were not able to measure their cytokine concentration at 24 hours. We did contact them for their verbal rating score of their pain at 24 hours and they behaved like the other patients in the significant pain manageable group in other arms of the study. Despite this being the case we did not include their pain scores in the analysis, in case being discharged biased how they scored their pain.

The significant pain experienced group had been admitted previously with biliary colic, and reported more episodes of biliary colic, for which they had been prescribed regular analgesia (p = 0.01) (Table 8.2.1). The cholecystitis, pancreatitis and obstructive jaundice patients were more prevalent in the severe pain group and the significant pain manageable group (p = 0.008).

The significant pain experienced group had been admitted with non-specific abdominal pain under the general surgeons and gynaecologists, having diagnostic laparoscopies, looking for causes of pain and appendicectomy to exclude it as a cause (p = 0.027). Under the medical team they had been diagnosed with irritable bowel syndrome, asthma, reflux and depression (p = 0.021). The group was more likely to be current smokers or recently quit. Frequently they were in part time, or low paid employment or caring for another member of the family (p = 0.009). This difference between the significant pain experienced group and the other pain groups was seen in all arms of the study. There return to usual activities was significantly longer after surgery ( $26 \pm 9$  days compared to  $46 \pm 10$  days p = 0.008).

#### **ERCP** patients

Four of the successfully completed first ERCP patients had quality of life scores, which placed them in the significant pain experienced group. One of the group who had a successfully completed second ERCP also was placed in the significant pain experienced group by their pain scores. This patient had a raised amylase and then a chest infection after their second ERCP. One of the patient's who had a failed ERCP and went onto have a cholecystectomy, also was identified as a significant pain experienced patient. This was the patient who did not develop sepsis after cholecystectomy and the bile culture was negative.

In total six patients (12%) undergoing ERCP were placed in the significant pain experienced group. This was a significantly smaller proportion of the group than the biliary emergency patients where 35% were in the significant pain experienced group, predominantly from the patients with biliary colic. The biliary colic patients in the emergency presentation group who were followed in the study were more likely to undergo cholecystectomy, than ERCP (p = 0.005). They were also more likely to have their surgery earlier ( $35 \pm 10$  versus  $60 \pm 11$  days), perhaps reducing the risk of biliary obstruction because of the shorter time course of having biliary stones.

The severe pain group was over represented in the ERCP group, and the surgery patients who had had recent ERCP and OTC groups. This suggests a longer time course with symptoms prior to seeking intervention resulting in more complex biliary disease at the time of intervention.

#### Cholecystectomy patients

The significant pain experienced group was represented within the cholecystectomy arm. They were surprisingly maximally represented within the open cholecystectomy group. Speaking to the patients they felt their pain was such they opted for the shortest waiting time for surgery, which was open approach to cholecystectomy. They were less likely to have had ERCP or require OTC as they came to surgery earlier in the course of the disease and less likely to develop post-operative sepsis, possibly for the same reason. Table 8.3.5 highlights that the majority of the patients developing sepsis score their pain as severe at enrolment.

		Pain score (% proportion of patients participating scoring their pain in that group at enrolment)					
	Episodes of sepsis	Number in mild pain VAS <4	Number in significant pain manageable VAS ≥ 4 - <7	Number in significant pain experienced VAS ≥ 4 - <7	Number in severe pain VAS ≥ 7		
Biliary emerg. (78) - BC (23) - AC (27) - Panc(13) - OJ (15)	0 0 3 1	0 0 0 0	0000	0 0 0 0	0 0 3 (23%) 1 (6.7%)		
ERCP (52) - First ERCP (39) - Second ERCP (8) - Chole OTC (5)	2 3 3	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 1 (100%) 0	2 (12%) 2 (25%) 3 (75%)		
Lap. chole. (125)	12	4 (7.5%)	3 (8.3%)	1 (4.5%)	4 (28.6%)		
Open chole. (60)	8	3 (12.5%)	1 (7.7%)	1 (5.8%)	3 (50%)		
ERCP lap. (23)	4	0	1 (6.3%)	0	3 (75%)		
ERCP open (11)	2	0	1 (17%)	0	1 (33%)		
OTC lap. (22)	5	0	2 (14.3%)	0	3 (60%)		
OTC open (10)	3	0	1 (16.7%)	0	2 (100%)		

#### Numbers in each pain group developing sepsis

**Table 8.3.5:** The table demonstrates the number of episodes of sepsis in each pain group in each arm of the study. The biliary emergency and the ERCP arm are separated into the sub groups. The percentage is the number of patients who scored their pain at that level in that subgroup who developed sepsis. The numbers in brackets are the number in that sub group developing sepsis the total is at the top of the cell. Biliary emerg – biliary emergency, BC – biliary colic, AC – acute cholecystitis, Panc. – pancreatitis, OJ – obstructive jaundice, Lap. Chole. – Laparoscopic cholecystectomy, ERCP lap. – recent ERCP and laparoscopic cholecystectomy.

#### 8.4 Procedural data

The procedure information for the ERCP patients is given in 8.2.

For the cholecystectomy patients there was no difference in ASA grade between the elective cholecystectomy patients, who had cholecystectomy alone or had had recent ERCP or had on table cholangiogram. But the length of surgery was significantly longer in the significant pain manageable, severe pain and the group who developed sepsis (p = 0.009 Figure 8.4.1a). The volume of carbon dioxide, which is related to the length of the laparoscopic procedure, is also significantly greater for the same groups having laparoscopic procedure (p = 0.020). The volume of wash was also greater for the same groups (p = 0.003), it was used for dissection particularly in difficult cases (both open and laparoscopic). The volume is not a direct indication of the evacuation of carbon dioxide at the end of the laparoscopic procedures. We did not measure decompression of the abdomen at the pressure was over 12mm Hg was significantly longer in the severe pain and group developing sepsis.

Observers rated the severe pain group and the group developing sepsis as having more difficult procedures, both following surgery and elective ERCP (Figure 8.4.1c). The patient weight and BMI was greater in those developing sepsis, and those in severe pain who did not develop sepsis (p = 0.030). The same relationship was seen with the group who had had a recent ERCP and those who had an on table cholangiogram. The elective ERCP patients are also shown for comparison, and demonstrate the same pattern (Figure 8.4.2).



## Operative data for laparoscopic and open cholecystectomy patients (part a)

**Figure 8.4.1 a:** The first part of the operative data, the length of surgery, length of incision, open approach patients only, volume of carbon dioxide, laparoscopic approach patients only.



Operative data for laparoscopic and open cholecystectomy patients part b

**Figure 8.4.1 b:** The second part of the operative data, the volume of wash for the laparoscopic approach patients above and the open approach patients middle, and % of time of the pneumoperitoneum that the pressure was greater than 12mm Hg.





**Figure 8.4.1 c:** The Figures demonstrate the rating of the procedures, as to how challenging they were. The elective ERCP patients are upper, the surgical patients lower. Both the ERCP's and cholecystectomy's were rated by the independent observer, and the clinician undertaking the procedure. There was good agreement (greater than 90%) with the operative procedures and 70% with the ERCP's, for the later the clinician's rating was used. SPM – significant pain manageable and SPE - significant pain experienced.

Cholecystectomy only

ERCP &

cholecystectomy

OTC &

cholecystectmy



**Figure 8.4.2:** Demonstrates the patients weight by enrolment pain group. The biliary emergency group are shown for comparison (upper figure), the middle figure is the elective ERCP patients, the lower the surgical patients. The two pancreatitis patients without a firm diagnosis of sepsis are included in the sepsis group, excluding them did not significantly alter the weight in the sepsis group. SPM – Significant pain manageable, SPE – Significant pain experienced, 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> refer to first or 2 ERCP.

Analysis of analgesia use demonstrated the significant pain experienced group required more analgesia, and were receiving more analgesia prior to admission. This is displayed in Table 8.4.3. All the patients who developed post procedural sepsis had more pain than the patients who did not develop sepsis excluding the significant pain experienced group. Of the group not developing sepsis the severe pain group had more pain than the mild and significant manageable but this did not reach significance, Table 8.4.4.

The numbers are small, but the patients developing sepsis who required care above ward care (n = 15), received the highest doses of opiate based analgesia, this did not reach significance until the second 24 hours following enrolment or intervention.

## Analgesia received prior to enrolment and in the first 24 hours after enrolment

		Previous	24 hours	First 24 hours		
	Episodes of sepsis	None Sig. pain exp. group Morphine equivalent analgesia use (mg in previous 24 hours to admission)	Sig pain exp. group Morphine equivalent analgesia use (mg) in previous 24 hours to admission	None Sig. pain exp. group Morphine equivalent analgesia use (mg in first 24 hours of admission)	Sig pain exp. group Morphine equivalent analgesia use (mg) in first 24 hours of admission	
Biliary emerg. (78)						
- BC (23)	0	20 ± 10	40 ± 10	40 ± 10	90 ± 10	
- AC (27)	0	$20 \pm 10$	40 ± 10	$50 \pm 10$	$90 \pm 10$	
- Palic (13) - OJ (15)	1	$40 \pm 10$ 40 ± 10	0	80 ± 20 80 ± 20		
ERCP (52)	5	10 ± 10	30 ± 10	40 ± 10	90 ± 10	
- Chole OTC (5)	3	30 ± 10	60	80 ± 20	90	
Lap. chole. (125)	12	5 ± 5	20 ±10	40 ± 10	100 ± 10	
Open chole. (60)	8	5 ± 5	20 ± 10	55 ± 10	90 ± 10	
ERCP lap. (23)	4	10 ± 10	20 ± 10	70 ± 15	100 ± 10	
ERCP open (11)	2	10 ± 10	20 ± 10	90 ± 20	110 ± 20	
OTC lap. (22)	5	10 ± 10	20 ± 10	60 ± 15	100 ± 10	
OTC open (10)	3	10 ± 10	20 ± 10	90 ± 20	110 ± 20	

**Table 8.4.3:** Demonstrates the analgesia requirements for the patients in the significant pain experienced group compared to all the other patients. This is given for the 24 hours prior to admission, and the first 24 hours of the admission. The severe pain group received the majority of the analgesia prior to admission. The analgesia is given in morphine equivalent doses to aid comparison between groups. The biliary emergency group had received analgesia from their GP and emergency care and this is included in the analgesia prior to enrolment.

## Analgesia use in the first 24 hours by pain group for those developing and not developing sepsis

			Sepsis		
	Episodes of sepsis	Mild & Sig. pain manag. group Morphine equivalent analgesia use (mg) in first 24 hours of admission	Sig. pain exp. group Morphine equivalent analgesia use (mg) in first 24 hours of admission	Severe pain group Morphine equivalent analgesia use (mg) in the first 24 hours of the admission	Sepsis group Morphine equivalent analgesia use (mg in first 24 hours to admission)
Biliary					
emerg. - BC (23)	0	40 + 10	90 + 10	_	_
- AC (27)	Ő	$50 \pm 10$	$90 \pm 10$	_	_
- Panc (13)	3	-	-	80 ± 20	90 ± 10
- OJ (15)	1	-	-	80 ± 20	90 ± 10
ERCP (52)	5	20 ± 10	90 ± 10	40 ± 10	80 ± 20
- Chole OTC (5)	3	-	90	70 ± 20	90 ±10
Lap. chole. (125)	12	40 ± 10	100 ± 10	50 ± 10	70 ± 10
Open chole. (60)	8	45 ± 10	90 ± 10	60 ± 10	75 ± 10
ERCP lap. (23)	4	50 ± 20	100 ± 10	80	90 ± 10
ERCP open (11)	2	70 ± 10	110 - 120	90 - 95	100 ± 10
OTC lap. (22)	5	60 ± 15	100 ± 10	75 - 85	90 ± 10
OTC open (10)	3	90 ± 20	110 - 120	-	100 ± 10

**Table 8.4.4:** Demonstrates the analgesia use for the pain groups. The mild and the significant pain manageable (Sig. pain manag.) are grouped together because their analgesia use was equivalent. Where there were only two patients in the group the two doses of analgesia is given without standard deviation. Sig. pain exp. – significant pain experienced.

The male patients move from the milder pain group to the more severe pain group at 24 hours as demonstrated by Figure 8.4.5. There is a tendency towards more males developing post procedural sepsis, which is significant in the emergency, elective ERCP, laparoscopic cholecystectomy only, recent ERCP and laparoscopic patients, and laparoscopic on table cholangiogram patients, but the numbers are small (p = 0.021, 0.028, 0.045, 0.006, 0.020 respectfully).





**Figure 8.4.5:** Demonstrates the percentage of each gender who score their pain in each of the pain groups, at enrolments and at 24 hours, the percentage is plotted against pain score at enrolment. The upper is the biliary emergency, middle ERCP arm, the lower is the surgical arm, the laparoscopic and open approach been added together. As can be seen the male patients move from the mild pain to the severe pain group, partly because they are more likely to develop post operative sepsis.

At enrolment and at 24 hours after admission, as well as rating their current pain patients were asked to rate their recalled least and worst pain in the preceding 24 hours. The results are displayed in Figure 8.4.6. In the laparoscopic approach group nursing staff administered analgesia and subjectively assessed pain when patients required analgesia. No objective measure was used to assess pain. Administration was delayed waiting for prescribing or due to busy wards. This could contribute to the greater pain experienced than expected in the laparoscopic approach patients. Open approach patients had patient controlled analgesia, excluding the significant pain experienced group there was no difference between the pain groups analgesia due to being in the lock out period. The significant pain experienced group had significantly more unsuccessful attempts, even than the group developing sepsis (p = 0.009).

The figure demonstrates the subjective nature of patient's assessment of their pain. With the significant pain experienced group rating their recalled pain as greater than the scores they gave their pain over the first 24 hours. The group also significantly more frequently believed that their pain was not recognised by the clinical team caring for them Table 8.4.7. They believed others had received analgesia, but they had not. This is despite them receiving significantly more morphine equivalent dose analgesia than the other patients in the same arm (Table 8.4.4). They also felt that the clinical team underestimated the level of pain that they were experiencing and underplayed it; by explaining to them it was normal. But it does appear they did not benefit from the analgesia they did receive. The significant pain experienced patients had had more experience of surgery than the other patients, and this may aid their expectations of post procedural pain, as they accurately predicted their level of pain.

Reviewing the significant pain experienced patients' prediction of and recalled pain scores, did demonstrate a potential bias in scoring. They tended to score their least pain in the centre of the line, and their most pain at the right hand end of the VAS line (worst possible pain Figure 4.6.2 page 109). Their scoring at the individual time points was not as high and did not demonstrate this bias. The significant pain experienced group's belief that they would experience a lot of pain, and their recalled memory of being in a lot of pain was seen across each of the arms of the study.

Even for the mild, significant pain manageable, and severe pain patients the satisfaction level that pain had been recognised and addressed was only 65 - 70%. When asked about this, these patients responded that they believed having pain post-operatively was normal, no analgesia would take all pain away, and that the nursing team was very busy and they could cope with their pain. This group also sought to try and avoid medication due to the side effects, whereas the significant pain experienced patients would put up with the side effects to have the medication.



The least and most pain expected and recalled by the patients in each arm

**Figure 8.4.6:** Demonstrates the least and worst pain expected and recalled pain by the biliary emergency patients (top), ERCP (middle) and cholecystectomy (bottom). From the lower figure it can be seen the laparoscopic approach patients did not expect to be in as much pain (green line) as the open patients. Both recalled the same level of pain (purple). BC main – biliary colic non significant pain experienced group, BC SPE – significant pain experienced, AC – acute cholecystitis, Panc – pancreatitis , OJ – obstructive jaundice, chole – cholecystectomy, and OTC – on table cholangiogram.

# Least and most recalled pain in the first 24 hours and patient's satisfaction

	Total patient numbers in group	Significant pain experienced	Non significant pain experienced % who felt pain was recog. and treat.	Significant pain experienced % who felt pain was recog. and treat.
Biliary emerg.				
BC	23	17	68%	34%
AC	27	10	69%	31%
Panc	13	0	73%	0%
- Sepsis	3	0	66%	0%
OJ	15	0	70%	0%
- Sepsis	1	0	100%	0%
ERCP				
Completed first	39	4	70%	33%
- Sepsis	2	0	100%	0%
Completed	8	1	72%	0%
2nd	-	-		
- Sepsis	3	0	66%	0%
Chole OTC	5	1	70%	0%
- Sepsis	3	0	66%	0%
Lap. chole.	125	22	74%	35%
- Sepsis	12	0	70%	0%
Open chole.	60	17	72%	36%
- Sepsis	8	0	69%	0%
ERCP lap.	23	3	69%	39%
- Sepsis	4	0	67%	0%
ERCP open	11	2	71%	37%
- Sepsis	2	0	70%	0%
OTC lap.	22	3	72%	35%
- Sepsis	5	0	69%	0%
OTC open	10	2	71%	36%
- Sepsis	3	0	68%	0%

**Table 8.4.7:** The patients were also asked 'Do you believe the doctors and nurses looking after you recognised the amount of pain you have been in?, and has this pain been treated with appropriate pain relief?'. The significant pain experienced patients were very different to the other patients. Where there was just one patient their response is given. The patients with sepsis scored their satisfaction similar and their recalled worst pain to the main group. N – no, BC main – biliary colic non significant pain experienced group, BC SPE – significant pain experienced, AC – acute cholecystitis, Panc – pancreatitis , OJ – obstructive jaundice, chole – cholecystectomy, and OTC – on table cholangiogram.

The patients who underwent laparoscopic surgery, but were not in the significant pain experienced group, expected to have significantly less pain than they had after surgery. It was evident the laparoscopic patients expected it to be a very minor procedure. Whereas the open approach patients were more accurate in predicting the amount of pain they would have following surgery. This held true for those developing sepsis and those who did not develop sepsis, and is seen in Figure 8.4.6. Potentially this could be because the anaesthetist discussed patient controlled analgesia with the open approach patients as this was used for all the open cholecystectomy patients. But this discussion took place after the scoring of expected pain, although written information about the surgery, discussed patient controlled analgesia, and this was given to the patients when they were listed for surgery.

All the patients believed that the setting of expectations of pain levels and controls was poorly managed. Likewise there was very minimal discussion about pain control and patients managing their own pain, and the differences between analgesia. Very few patients recalled being asked their level of pain outside the study, and did not know if a nurse had assessed it without discussion. It was also a frustration to patients that the pain scores they were filling out for the study were not fed back to the clinical team.

Reviewing the prescriptions it was evident that although we had performed education sessions about the WHO analgesia ladder and about the use of NSAID's, NSAID's were under prescribed and under used. Discussion groups were held following the study, with medical and nursing staff, to discuss this as there was resistance on both sides to prescribing and administering NSAID's. The principal reason being the side effects of the drugs, and a belief the patients required stronger analgesia, though this was not measured or discussed with the patients.

At 2 and 4 hours after surgery there was not a significant difference in analgesia use between the groups based on VAS score at enrolment. The intra-operative analgesia received was included in the analgesia use at 2 hours. The difference was based on the length of the procedure and the difficultness of the procedure, which were interlinked. The laparoscopic approach patients received local anaesthesia at the end of the procedure, and received less opiate analgesia but this did not reach significance. From 6 hours onwards the significant pain experienced and the group developing sepsis received more analgesia.

Table 8.4.8 demonstrates the difference in the length of symptoms prior to the admission for the arm they were in and their length of stay. For all arms those developing sepsis and the significant pain experienced group stayed longer. The level of care required for those developing sepsis is given. The significant pain experienced had had their symptoms for a significantly shorter period prior to admission compared to all the other groups (p = 0.001).

### Patient's length of symptoms prior to enrolment & their length of stay

	Main gro pain	up excluding experienced	significant group	Significant pain experienced group		
Number (Total / Significant pain experience)	Mean length of sympt. prior to enrol. (days) ± SD	Mean length of stay no sepsis (days) ± SD	Mean length of stay sepsis (days) ±SD	Mean length sympt. prior to enrol. (days) ± SD	Mean length of stay no sepsis (days) ± SD	Mean length of stay sepsis (days) ± SD
Biliary emerg. BC (23 / 17) AC (27 / 10) Panc(13 / 0) - Sep HDU (1)	120 ± 30 90 ± 60 90 ± 90	1 ± 1 3 ± 0.5 4.5 ± 0.5	- - 16	30 ± 30 30 ± 30 -	3 ± 0.5 3.5 ±0.5 -	- -
- Sep ward OJ (15 / 0) - Sep ward	90 ± 90	4.5 ± 0.5	9±2 8	-	-	-
ERCP First (39 / 4) - Sep ward	90 ± 30	0.5 ± 0.5	3 ± 0	45 ±15	2.0 ± 0.5	-
Second (8 / 1) - Sep ward Emerg Chole (5)	$120 \pm 30$ $120 \pm 30$	2 ± 0.5 6 ± 1	4.5 ± 0.5	45 45	- 8	7
- Sep mbo	00 + 45	4.05 - 0.5	7 ± 2	00 + 45	0.5	-
Lap. chole. (125) - Sep ITU - Sep HDU - Sep ward	90 ± 45	1.25 ± 0.5	14 – 90 7 – 11 3 - 7	30 ± 15	2.5 ± 0.5	9
Open chole. (60) - Sep ITU - Sep HDU - Sep ward	100 ± 30	5 ± 2	7 – 11 6 – 10 4 - 5	35 ± 20	7 ± 1	10
ERCP lap. (23) - Sep HDU - Sep ward	100 ± 30	3 ± 1.5	9 7 ± 2	40 ± 20	5 ± 1	-
ERCP open (11) - Sep ward	90 ± 30	5 ± 1	8 ± 2	30 - 40	7 - 8	-
OTC lap. (22) - Sep HDU - Sep ward	115 ± 30	4 ± 1	11 7 ± 2	45 ± 20	6 ± 2	-
OTC open (10) - Sep ward	110 ± 30	6 ± 1	8 ± 2	30 - 40	7 - 8	-

**Table 8.4.8:** Demonstrates the mean length of symptoms and the length of stay for thesignificant pain experienced patients, compared to the other patients. In thosedeveloping sepsis the length of stay is broken down into the level of care they required.All the significant pain experienced patients developing sepsis were cared for on theward.

At the 12 weeks out patient appointment patients scored their pain at that time Figure 8.4.9. A number in the sepsis group had not long been discharged, particularly the ITU patients. Despite this the significant pain experienced patients pain group scored their pain significantly higher at every time point (p = 0.0009). At 26 weeks the significant pain experienced patients pain had decreased, but it remained higher than the other groups. By 12 weeks there was no significant difference between the laparoscopic and open approaches to surgery. There was also no difference between the two approaches for the significant pain experienced groups. At 6 and 12 months n = 4 and 9 patients were lost to follow-up, these patients were in the mild and the significant pain manageable group, 3 and 6 respectfully from the laparoscopic approach group.

The biliary emergency and ERCP patients are not shown as by six the majority, and 12 months after admission all had undergone surgery (n = 96 and n = 129 respectfully).



Pain score from enrolment to a year after cholecystectomy

**Figure 8.4.9:** Figure demonstrates the change in pain score from enrolment to a year after surgery. The numbers in each pain group include those just undergoing cholecystectomy, those who had had recent ERCP prior to their cholecystectomy and those who had cholecystectomy and OTC. They are arranged by the pain group they were placed in at enrolment. At 26 weeks the Mild group was 48 / 20 and Significant pain manageable (SPM) 56 / 21, and at 52 weeks 46 / 19 and 55 / 20 respectfully. This was due to 4 patients being lost to follow up at 6 months and 9 at 12 months. The other groups remained unchanged and no one was lost from follow up at 3 months. The ERCP and biliary emergency patients are not included as the majority had undergone cholecystectomy. SPE – significant pain experienced.

## Results

## Chapter 9 – Cytokines

#### 9.1 Biliary emergency - Cytokines

The biliary emergency patients were all enroled into the study within the first four hours of their admission to the surgical admission unit. Admissions were from general practitioners and the emergency department. Those with the highest cytokine concentration had the most elevated SIRS markers.

The cytokine concentration was not different for the patients who were in significant pain experienced group. They are not plotted separately in the biliary emergency cytokine concentration figures in Figure 9.1.1, but 74% of the biliary colic and 37% of the acute choloecystitis group were in the significant pain experienced group (Table 8.3.4). None of the obstructive jaundice and pancreatitis patients were placed in the significant pain experienced group.

Both early and late cytokines were elevated in the biliary emergency patients and inflammatory cytokines concentration decreased from admission onwards. The patients with obstructive jaundice and pancreatitis had the highest cytokine concentration on admission. The healthy control group's mean concentration is shown for comparison for this group and were used as controls throughout the study.



#### Cytokine concentration in the biliary emergency patients



By 48 hours for the biliary colic patients the cytokine concentration had returned to the level of the healthy controls. In the acute cholecystitis patients the cytokine concentration levels had returned to the healthy controls concentration by 48 hours for TNF- $\alpha$ , and 72 – 96 hours for IL-1 and IL-6. In the obstructed patients, undergoing ERCP to relieve the obstruction increased the decline in the cytokine concentration. TNF- $\alpha$  concentration declined ahead of IL-1 and IL-6 (Figure 9.1.2).

In contrast to the inflammatory cytokines, the IL-10 concentration did not change significantly during the study, particularly in the patients with biliary colic and acute cholecystitis. For the pancreatitis and obstructive jaundice patients the concentration was elevated at admission, but the change in concentration did not reach significance. All the biliary colic patients had had pain for at least 9 hours, and nearer to 24 hours in the other biliary emergency patients at admission (Table 8.1.2) therefore the peak in IL-10 concentration may have been missed.

Twenty-five of the twenty-eight obstructive jaundice and patients with pancreatitis underwent ERCP at this admission. This was undertaken between 48 and 72 hours. The cytokine concentration for these patients was measured pre ERCP, 2, and 24 hours after the procedure and is given in Figure 9.1.2. The inflammatory cytokine concentration increases two hours after ERCP, for both the early and late cytokine concentration and then continues the decline as the system drains. IL-10 concentration was unchanged after ERCP.

Ranson's criterion is a clinical prediction tool predicting prognosis and mortality risk of acute pancreatitis, with scores greater than or equal to 3 indicating severe pancreatitis. Patient's scoring 3 to 4 have a predicted mortality of 15%. The scoring is repeated at 48 hours. The TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 concentration most closely matched the Ranson criteria score and the SIRS markers.

Five patients with pancreatitis and the one patient with obstructive jaundice had a raised white cell count, and were commenced on antibiotics. These patients had the highest IL-10 concentration. Four were diagnosed with sepsis (3 pancreatitis and 1 obstructive jaundice) and had the highest IL-10 concentration, the patient with necrotizing pancreatitis, was admitted to HDU, had the highest IL-10 concentration (Figure 9.1.3).
This patient scored 4 on the Ranson's criteria at admission and 3 at 48 hours. Two other pancreatitis patients developed overt sepsis, From Table 8.2.7 there was one each of, positive blood cultures for *E. coli*, culture positive chest infection, scoring 3 on the Ranson's criteria at admission and 2 at 48 hours. The obstructive jaundice patient who developed sepsis was cared for on the surgical dependency unit, a step up from the ward. They had the second highest IL-10 concentration. The patients with a definite diagnosis of sepsis, all had the highest inflammatory cytokine concentration, and SIRS markers.

The two other pancreatitis patients with a raised white cell count only had one raised SIRS marker, and did not have positive cultures, but were commenced on antibiotics for the possibility of a chest infection, and the other for potential line sepsis. They scored 2 on the Ranson's criteria at admission and 1 at 48 hours

These five were the sickest patients in the group according to SIRS, and cytokine concentration. They were also the oldest in the group. The episodes of sepsis were diagnosed from day 4 of the admission onwards. All the patients underwent an ERCP on the third day of their admission. Their cytokine concentration is demonstrated in Figure 9.1.3.



## Cytokine concentration in emergency patients undergoing ERCP

**Figure 9.1.2:** Demonstrates cytokine concentration  $(\pm SD)$  (pg/ ml) in the biliary emergency patients undergoing ERCP. Only the pancreatitis and obstructive jaundice patients underwent ERCP, control patients are shown for comparison. All ERCP's were successful on the first attempt Enrol – enrolment.

## Cytokine concentration in emergency patients developing sepsis



**Figure 9.1.3:** Cytokine concentration in the four biliary emergency patients developing sepsis, and the two who were thought to possibly have sepsis. 72 hours from admission and the pre-ERCP value were equivalent and so plotted together.

## 9.2 ERCP patients - Cytokines

The ERCP patients were sent information about the study, and enroled if they wished to participate on the day of their ERCP, in contrast to the cholecystectomy patients who were enroled a few days before the procedure.

Figure 9.2.1 demonstrates the change in cytokine concentration following ERCP. Prior to ERCP the TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 concentration was elevated above the healthy controls. The systemic TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 and IL-6 concentration was highest in the group that ended up undergoing an emergency cholecystectomy, (p = 0.008 for IL-6). This possibly indicates a greater level of intra-peritoneal inflammation, which distorts the anatomy making it more difficult to perform the ERCP. But there was not a significant difference in the cytokine concentration between those who had a successful first ERCP and those who required a second ERCP to achieve drainage of the system.

Following ERCP the pro-inflammatory cytokine concentration increased when measured at two hours after the procedure. The concentration at 24 hours was dependent upon the outcome of the procedure. In those where the first ERCP had been successfully completed the cytokine concentration returned towards the level of the healthy controls. In those having second procedures the cytokine concentration did not fall to the level of the healthy controls until after the second successfully completed ERCP. This pattern of the inflammatory cytokines increasing at 2 hours after the procedure was also seen in the biliary emergency patients who underwent emergency ERCP, Figure 9.1.2. This entire group had successful ERCP's on the first occasion.

The peak in cytokine concentration at 2 hours could represent the response to the procedure, with the cytokine concentration not falling until the obstruction was relieved. Similar pattern in cytokine response after ERCP have been found by Adas *et al.*, (2013), and Wozniak *et al.*, (2001), they found a peak in inflammatory cytokine one hour after ERCP and then a fall in concentration after successfully completed procedures. In those developing sepsis after the first or second ERCP in this study, the cytokine concentration increased further at 24 hours after the successfully completed ERCP, and then decreased slowly back to the level of the healthy controls. Sepsis only being diagnosed after successfully completed ERCP's.

The IL-10 concentration prior to ERCP was elevated above the healthy controls but not significantly. Following successful ERCP and in those developing sepsis the IL-10 concentration decreased. The biliary emergency patients undergoing ERCP, their IL-10 concentration mirrored the elective ERCP patients, Figure 9.1.2. Those undergoing a second ERCP, in the elective ERCP group, their IL-10 did not decrease until after the ERCP was successfully completed. For those undergoing emergency cholecystectomy the IL-10 concentration rose following the surgery, the IL-10 concentration did not fall until after the cholecystectomy was performed, and if present, the sepsis had resolved Figure 9.2.2.



## Cytokine concentration in the ERCP patients

**Figure 9.2.1:** Cytokine concentration ( $\pm$  SD) (pg/ ml) in ERCP patients. For appropriate groups arrow demonstrates 2<sup>nd</sup> ERCP or cholecystectomy timing. Enrol – Enrolment.

Five patients underwent cholecystectomy and on table cholangiogram (OTC) following a failed first ERCP (Figure 9.2.2 patient A – E). As they had had an ERCP prior to emergency surgery, their results were not analysed with the elective cholecystectomy patients. Three procedures were performed laparoscopically (A – C), and two open procedures (D – E). All had bile cultures sent, four were positive for *E.coli* in four (B -E). Three developed overt signs of sepsis, all had positive bile and blood cultures for *E.coli*, and were diagnosed with sepsis by the clinical team (C – E). Those undergoing cholecystectomy, their pro-inflammatory cytokine concentration increased at 24 hours after ERCP, remaining elevated at 48 hours and then falling more slowly after the cholecystectomy, which took place between 24 and 30 hours after the ERCP.

Two laparoscopic approach patients did not develop sepsis, one had negative bile cultures (A), and one had positive bile cultures (B). Although not developing overt signs of sepsis, both had a greater cytokine rise, and earlier than the elective laparoscopic cholecystectomy patients who did not develop sepsis.

The open patients (D and E) and the culture negative laparoscopic approach patient (A) displayed a cytokine concentration peak at 24 hours following cholecystectomy. This mirrored the open elective cholecystectomy patients. Patient A's IL-10 concentration fell rapidly following surgery (negative culture). Patient B, who had positive bile culture but no other signs sepsis, their cytokine concentration mirrored the laparoscopic approach and the two open approach patients developing overt sepsis (C - E) peaking at 48 hours after surgery.

The two patients not developing overt sepsis had 2 SIRS markers elevated at fours hours after surgery, otherwise only one SIRS marker was elevated until 24 hours after surgery, and then all returned to normal.

As will be discussed later in this chapter, the elective laparoscopic cholecystectomy only patients developing sepsis after surgery, their cytokine concentration didn't increase until 48 hours after the procedure. Patients having elective laparoscopic or open cholecystectomy after ERCP, the rise in pro-inflammatory cytokine was delayed to between 48 to 72 hours. In contrast the three patients undergoing emergency laparoscopic cholecystectomy after ERCP demonstrated a rise in in pro-inflammatory

cytokine concentration from 2 hours onwards. In the laparoscopic approach patients with positive bile cultures (B – C) the cytokine concentration carried on increasing until 48hours and then declined. The reason for the difference in cytokine response is difficult to determine with the small patients numbers. One theory to test would be the ERCP being only the day before and the obstruction not being relieved, initiated an increase in cytokine concentration prior to surgery. These patients demonstrated a significantly higher systemic pro-inflammatory and IL-10 concentration prior to the procedure, except for IL-1 (p = 0.031, 0.391, 0.007, 0.011 for TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1, IL-6 and IL-10).



**Figure 9.2.2:** Cytokine change in the five patients undergoing emergency cholecystectomy after elective ERCP. 48 hours after ERCP, the concentration corresponds to 24 hours after emergency cholecystectomy.

## 9.3 Elective cholecystectomy – Cytokines

Surgical intervention evoked a cytokine response, this was compared with a two-tailed T-test to ensure that increases and decreases in concentration were captured. Within the group having cholecystectomy we recruited past the number of patients the power calculation indicated were required. Therefore the group was split into patients who had only cholecystectomy (125 laparoscopic approach and 60 open approach). A second group who had had an ERCP prior to cholecystectomy; all ERCP's had been in the preceding year (4 – 28 weeks before surgery), (23 laparoscopic approach and 11 open approach to cholecystectomy). Finally a third group who had abnormal liver function tests at pre-assessment, which remained abnormal on the blood test performed on the day of surgery, and therefore underwent cholecystectomy and on table cholangiogram (OTC) (22 laparoscopic approach and 10 open approach).

Within the cholecystectomy patients there were patients whose pain and quality of life scores placed them in the significant pain experienced group (Chapter 8.3). This group's IL-10 and inflammatory cytokine concentration was no different to other patients who had the same procedure and did not develop sepsis.

The results of the cytokine analysis are demonstrated in Figure 9.3.1, this Figure demonstrates all the patients together. To make interpretation easier, Figure 9.3.2 is the laparoscopic approach patients and 9.3.3 the open approach patients. For ease of interpretation the standard deviation is omitted from Figure 9.3.1, but is included with the mean in the later two Figures.



**Figure 9.3.1:** Demonstrates the cytokine concentration of all the patients undergoing elective cholecystectomy. Lap – laparoscopic, Enrol – enrolment.

## Cytokine concentration in elective cholecystectomy patients



## Cytokine concentration in elective laparoscopic cholecystectomy patients







Initially considering the inflammatory cytokines it can be seen that there is a difference between the open and laparoscopic approach patients cytokine response. For all the laparoscopic cholecystectomy patients the TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 and IL-6 concentration remained stable, or increase slightly up to the assessment at 48 hours. In contrast the cytokine concentration in the open approach patients begins to increase from 2 hours onwards. As would be expected the patients who did not develop sepsis, for all groups, had the smallest rise in cytokine concentration. Further interpretation does have to consider there are small numbers of patients in some of the groups, as it was not planned to analyse the recent ERCP and OTC patients separately.

#### Patients not developing sepsis

For the open cholecystectomy only patients, the peak cytokine concentration is reached between 24 and 48 hours. In contrast all the laparoscopic approach patients cytokine does not increase until 48 hours at the earliest. The open and laparoscopic cholecystectomy only patients, not developing sepsis, have the smallest rise in cytokine concentration. The patients who have had recent ERCP or OTC, and do not develop sepsis, their peak cytokine concentration is higher than the patients who undergo cholecystectomy only. All the patients developing sepsis increased their cytokine concentration significantly above those not developing sepsis (p = 0.019, 0.030, 0.001, 0.025 for TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1, IL-6 and IL-10). This is seen with both approaches. IL-6 demonstrated this most clearly, particularly in the laparoscopic approach patients. The IL-6 concentration remaining significantly higher, for longer, in the group developing sepsis, reflecting its role as a late cytokine.

The patients who have had a recent ERCP and then open cholecystectomy, without sepsis, their cytokine concentration peaks at 24 - 48 hours, the same as the open cholecystectomy alone patients. The OTC with open cholecystectomy patients, their peak cytokine concentration was at 48 hours. In the laparoscopic approach patients, the recent ERCP and on table cholangiogram patients, not developing sepsis, have a peak cytokine concentration at 48 hours, the same as the laparoscopic cholecystectomy patients alone.

#### Patients developing sepsis

For the patients developing sepsis, the cytokine concentration is greatest in the patients who have cholecystectomy only. This group includes patients who were admitted to ITU, and particularly in the laparoscopic group, had bowel injuries and not just respiratory or positive blood and bile cultures. This is reflected in the wide standard deviation due to the multiple causes of sepsis (particularly seen with IL-6). With the small number of patients and different causes of sepsis, it is difficult to separate procedure and sepsis related changes in cytokine concentration.

For all the patients developing sepsis, the open approach patient's cytokine concentration peaks earlier. The patients having open cholecystectomy alone their cytokine concentration peaks at 24 hours and remains elevated at 48 hours then declines. The laparoscopic cholecystectomy only group, developing sepsis, peak cytokine concentration is at 48 to 72 hours and then begins to decrease. For both laparoscopic and open approach patients the biggest increase in cytokine concentration is seen with IL-6.

The recent ERCP patients undergoing open cholecystectomy, have a peak cytokine concentration at 24 hours like the open cholecystectomy alone patients, for TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1. In contrast the IL-6 concentration peaked at 48 hours, 24 hours later than the early cytokines and the open cholecystectomy only patients developing sepsis. For the laparoscopic approach patients having a recent ERCP, the cytokine concentration has increased at 48 hours like the cholecystectomy alone patients, but the peak is at 72 hours for TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1, and IL-6.

For the OTC patients having an open cholecystectomy all three inflammatory cytokines have risen at 24 hours, but their peak cytokine concentration is at 48 hours. For the laparoscopic route again the cytokine is increasing at forty-eight hours but peaks at 72 hours.

IL-10 concentration does not significantly increase in those developing sepsis, above those not developing sepsis, but the concentration is higher in those developing sepsis for both approaches. In the laparoscopic approach patients the IL-10 concentration begins to increase earlier (24 hours) than the inflammatory cytokines but peaks at the same time point 48 to 72 hours for all approaches. The peak IL-10 concentration in the open approach patients occurs at 24 to 48 hours regardless of whether they have cholecystectomy alone, recent ERCP or OTC. This occurs with the inflammatory cytokines in the cholecystectomy only group and ahead of the recent ERCP and OTC patients.

The IL-10 concentration is regulated by the TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 concentration but the rise in IL-10 precedes the rise in inflammatory cytokines. Whether this is because we are measuring systemic and not peritoneal cytokines is unclear. Hanly's team (2007) found peritoneal acidification with carbon dioxide, correlated with a fall in the peritoneal inflammatory cytokines. But even in the absence of lipo-polysaccharide, peritoneal acidification stimulated a rise in IL-10 concentration. Conclusions from this study are difficult due to measuring systemic cytokines, but we certainly do see a rise in IL-10 concentration rise precedes the inflammatory cytokine rise and in the open and laparoscopic groups, including those who have had a recent ERCP or OTC.

Reviewing the cytokine concentration by the level of care the patients required demonstrated that the ITU then the HDU patients had the greatest increase in cytokine concentration, the ward patients had the smallest increase. This was seen in all the arms of the study. The length of the procedure was longer for those requiring the highest level of care. Longer laparoscopic procedures are a longer pneumoperitoneum, with greater acidification of the pneumperitoneum, inhibiting the increase in inflammatory cytokines, but not affecting the IL-10 concentration.

The multiple different groups can make this hard to visualize the change in inflammatory cytokines, therefore Figure 9.3.4 demonstrates the findings as a model with arbitrary units. Figure 9.3.5 demonstrates a model of the change in IL-10 concentration, with IL-6 representing the inflammatory cytokines.

We only measured the cytokine concentration every 24 hours, except for 2 hours time point, after the procedure. Therefore we do not know if the cytokines peaked earlier or increased higher between the times we measured. Also we measured the systemic cytokines and not the peritoneal cytokines and therefore we are inferring that the pattern is the same. From the pilot, where drain fluid was collected to measure peritoneal cytokines we established that this was an appropriate assumption to make, but there was only three patients with drains.



Model for inflammatory cytokine concentration change after intervention

**Figure 9.3.4:** Model of the cytokine concentration changes found in the study. The three inflammatory cytokines measured followed this pattern. The ERCP only (above), laparoscopic (second) and open (lowest two) approach is separated for ease of interpretation. The Figures highlight the delay in the laparoscopic approach, and the open approach with ERCP late cytokines or OTC in those developing and not developing sepsis. Enrol – enrolment, Early – early cytokines TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1, Late – IL-6. Lap or Open no sepsis is cholecystectomy only group.



Model for the change of IL-10 in relation to IL-6

**Figure 9.3.5:** Demonstrates the changes seen in IL-10 concentration compared to IL-6 as an example of an inflammatory cytokine. IL-6 and IL-10 laparoscopic approach (upper), IL-6 and IL-10 open approach (lower). The IL-10 concentration is less inhibited by the laparoscopic approach or recent ERCP or OTC. Lap / Open no sepsis is the cholecystectomy only patients.

Across a number of different laparoscopic procedures, such as colorectal resections, splenectomy and cholecystectomy it does appear that there are factors within laparoscopic surgery that attenuate the rise in cytokine concentration in the early post operative period (Sammour *et al.*, 2010, Kvanstom *et al.*, 2013, Wu *et al.*, 2012). Sammour team (2010), reached the conclusion that the rise in post-operative cytokine concentration is proportional to the magnitude of the operation, which is important. This out weighs the approach to surgery affect upon the cytokine concentration. The literature demonstrates the larger laparoscopic colorectal resections demonstrating a change in cytokine concentrations, whereas smaller operations such as hernia repair did not demonstrate a change in cytokine concentration (Sammour *et al.*, 2010, Kvanstom *et al.*, 2013, Wu *et al.*, 2012). Certainly in this study the cytokine concentration is not significantly different between the two approaches to surgery. But increased intervention, such as OTC, or increased dissection due to recent ERCP or OTC does increase the cytokine concentration in the patients not developing sepsis.

## Biliary obstruction and delayed cytokine increase

The clinical data illustrated the inflammatory cytokine concentration rising at the same time point in those with and without sepsis having the same procedure. The difference being the peak concentrations was greater and sustained for longer in the group developing sepsis. Being an observational study with set timings of systemic blood tests we do not know the exact timing of the onset of sepsis, but the cytokine concentration increase mirrored the SIRS markers and the clinical diagnosis of sepsis.

The findings indicate that factors around laparoscopic surgery delay the rise in cytokine concentration. But the findings cannot solely be explained by this, as those with instrumentation of the biliary tree, either as a recent ERCP or OTC also have a further delay on the rise in cytokine concentration. This could be because the system is obstructed (OTC patients), or has recently been obstructed, potentially with or without remaining oedema due to the recent ERCP. In these patients theoretically there is localised inflammatory markers that have not fully drained. Cholecystectomy, particularly in the presence of biliary inflammation, facilitates drainage of these localised inflammatory mediators into the systemic circulation. Potentially factors around surgery, and the biliary intervention, affect when this is detectable systemically.

Supporting this is the finding of the mean time from ERCP to surgery, for those developing sepsis was  $40 \pm 7$  days. In contrast those not developing sepsis the mean time between ERCP to surgery was  $103 \pm 23$  days (p = 0.002). This additional time theoretically giving time for the system to drain, and potentially bacterial overgrowth, due to biliary stasis, to be resolved and oedema settle. There was no difference between the patients who had had sphinceterotomy, versus those who had a stent *in-situ*. From research, biliary stasis is known to be inhibitory to the inflammatory cytokines but not IL-10 (Nesseler *et al.*, 2012). Factors around the pneumoperitoneum in the laparoscopic approach patients may magnify the delay in cytokine response. The OTC group where the system was obstructed had a trend towards more episodes of sepsis particularly in the laparoscopic approach patients, but this did not reach significance. These operations were longer and noted to be more complex. As was those who had had a recent ERCP, the operations were difficult due to adhesions, difficult to delineate anatomy, bile spillage and oedematous gall bladder.

## Source of sepsis

Thirty four patients who underwent cholecystectomy developed sepsis post-operatively. Eight of the elective ERCP patients, five ERCP only patients and three after emergency cholecystectomy after ERCP, were diagnosed with sepsis. The proportion of each type of post-operative sepsis did vary between the groups.

There was no evidence of a septic nidus from the enrolment cytokine bloods in any of the elective cholecystectomy patients, but this may not be evident at the systemic level only at the peritoneal cytokine level. We know from culture results in this study between 10 - 20% of surgical patients had positive bile cultures (Table 8.2.8). The presence of a septic nidus within the gall bladder, with the delayed cytokine response in the laparoscopic approach patients, and in the patients where the biliary system is obstructed or has recently been obstructed would be expected to predispose these patients to post-operative sepsis.

The open approach patients, receiving prophylactic antibiotics, had more episodes of biliary sepsis with positive peripheral blood cultures (p = 0.041), predominantly in the OTC group. This was also seen in the laparoscopic group undergoing OTC. These

patients were more likely to have had a significant bile spillage, defined as more than a small leak on cannulation of the duct.

Respiratory complications were significantly more frequently seen in the laparoscopic approach patients (Table 8.2.7). Smoking was also more common in those developing sepsis, and is a potential confounder. The laparoscopic group, also had a higher rate of sepsis amongst those who were diabetic (Table 8.2.6) (p = 0.045). There was a trend towards this in the open patients but it was not significant. Confounding conclusions about sepsis was the difference between the approaches in terms of the administration of prophylactic antibiotics. All of the open cholecystectomy patients received antibiotics, but for the laparoscopic approach patient, even with OTC or recent ERCP it was at the surgeon's discretion. The majority of the laparoscopic cholecystectomy patients who developed sepsis had not received antibiotics (90%) Table 8.2.8.

In conclusion we have demonstrated that the laparoscopic approach patients have a delay in their cytokine response following surgery. Instrumentation of the biliary tree also contributes to the delay in the increase in cytokine concentration after surgery. Patients who rate their pain as severe pre-operatively, those with pre-exiting respiratory disease and diabetes are at increased risk of developing post-operative sepsis. Therefore we should consider prophylactic antibiotics in these patients and patients having OTC or who have had a recent ERCP.

## Results

# Chapter 10 – Pain

### 10.1 Biliary emergency - Pain

The biliary emergency patients were enroled into the study on surgical assessment unit. They had all been reviewed and received analgesia prior to admission, from either their general practitioners or the team assessing them in the emergency department. On admission the admitting team also administered analgesia. When the patients were enroled they had been on surgical admissions unit on average for four hours, having been admitted and given time to review the information about the study.

Analysis of the mean pain score for those with biliary disease demonstrated that those with obstructive jaundice and pancreatitis had significantly more pain initially (p = 0.002). At two hours this difference was lost (p = 0.032 and p = 0.022 pre and p = 0.484 and p = 0.521 at 2 hours for pancreatitis and obstructive jaundice respectfully), due to administration of analgesia.

Analysis based on quality of life data demonstrated those in VAS significant pain group at enrolment into the study (VAS greater than or equal to 4 to less than 7), could be split into two groups; those who scored their quality of life similar to the mild pain group, denoted as 'Significant pain manageable'. The second group denoted as 'Significant pain experienced', scored their quality of life as significantly poorer than those in the mild or significant pain manageable group. Discussed Chapter 8.3.

Figure 10.1.1 demonstrates changes in the pain score for each group. The second part of the figure highlights the patients in the significant pain experienced group experienced more pain than the other patients with the same admission diagnosis. The significant pain experienced group had a longer admission than the other patients with identical diagnosis (Table 8.4.8).

The doctors' emergency admission pro forma had a question to verbally rate patient's pain, no other arm of the study was independently asked their pain score by the clinical

team treating the patients. This is included in the second part of Figure 10.1.1 to demonstrate the significant pain experience patients had responded to analgesia received prior to enrolment, and their pain had been acted upon. In Table 8.4.7 we highlighted the significant pain experienced group's dissatisfaction with the response and treatment of their pain throughout their admission, but these patients have received analgesia and were admitted.

The pain score on the admission pro forma places the significant pain experienced in the severe pain, and not the significant pain group. We reflected whether patients, particularly in this group scored their pain differently verbally when asked by a doctor who would be prescribing analgesia, this was not seen with the VRS in the pilot. The pancreatitis and obstructive jaundice patients' pain score had not decreased from their admission scoring and they score their pain as severe on the VAS at enrolment.



# VAS at each time point for each of the biliary emergency patients, and the VAS score in the biliary colic and acute cholecystitis group

**Figure 10.1.1:** Demonstrates the visual analogue pain score (±SD) at each time point for the biliary emergency admissions. The timing of the ERCP's is marked in the top figure, only the pancreatitis and obstructive jaundice patients underwent ERCP, all these two groups scored their pain as severe. The lower figure demonstrates the biliary colic (BC) and acute cholecystitis (AC) patients split into the significant (Signif.) pain manageable and mild pain group and significant (Signif.) pain experienced group. The doctors admission clerking pro forma asked a verbally rating of pain, which is given in the lower Figure, this had dropped by enrolment, hence patients were in the significant and not severe pain group. Admis – admission, Enrol – enrolment.

All the patients with an elevated white cell count were commenced on antibiotics, none of the biliary colic patients received antibiotics. All the acute cholecystitis patients received antibiotics, but no further sources of sepsis were documented besides cholecystitis. Five pancreatitis patients received antibiotics, one with positive blood cultures for *E.coli*, one with a chest infection, and one with necrotizing pancreatitis, diagnosed on a CT scan. Two further pancreatitis patients had raised white cell count and were commenced on antibiotics. One for a possible chest infection, and line sepsis as a potential source was raised with the other. These did not fulfill the definition of sepsis. One of obstructive jaundice patient developed sepsis

The majority of patients with obstructive jaundice and pancreatitis were discharged on day five. Seven pancreatitis patients and eight with obstructive jaundice were not discharged due to being in pain. The patients who developed sepsis, and the two with raised white cell count, had an increase in their pain score on day five, whereas the other patients pain score continued to decrease. This rise in pain was not mirrored by a rise in SIRS markers, which did not rise until at least  $18 \pm 8$  hours later, from the observation chart. The cytokines did not increase till 24 hours afterwards, but the cytokines were only being measured every 24 hours. The pain score remained elevated on day six only falling from day seven onwards. Figure 10.1.2 demonstrates the change in VAS pain score. The biliary colic and acute cholecystitis patients were omitted as none of this group developed sepsis.

The highest VAS scores was in the patient with necrotizing pancreatitis (admitted to HDU) and the obstructive jaundice patient (admitted to surgical dependency unit a step up from normal ward care). The lowest VAS scores were those where the source of sepsis was not fully determined. The numbers of patients are too small to draw conclusions, but throughout the study patients requiring higher levels of care had higher pain scores. The six patients with sepsis, their individual pain score are plotted in the second part of Figure 10.1.2, to illustrate the difference in pain scores between patients. As with other arms of the trial, the patients who developed sepsis, their pain score began to fall ahead of the decline in SIRS markers and pre-empted a significant fall in the systemic cytokine concentration.

# VAS in the pancreatitis and obstructive jaundice patients, highlighting those developing sepsis



**Figure 10.1.2:** The change in pain score in those patients developing and not developing sepsis who were admitted with pancreatitis or obstructive jaundice. The biliary colic and acute cholecystits patients have been omitted for ease of illustration, they also did not undergo ERCP, and none of these patients developed sepsis. Twenty-five of the twenty-eight obstructive jaundice and pancreatitis patients underwent an ERCP, between 48 and 72 hours after admission. The second half of the figure illustrates the individual pain scores in the four developing sepsis, and 2 with proposed sepsis but negative cultures. The patient with necrotizing pancreatitis and a chest infection required the highest level of support in the group of patients. Panc – pancreatitis, OJ – obstructive jaundice, Enrol – enrolment.

#### **10.2 ERCP patients – Pain**

The majority of patients had their ERCP completed at first attempt and were discharged on the day of the procedure Table 8.4.8. Two of this group developed sepsis. Eight patients had a second ERCP after an unsuccessful first procedure, three of this group developed sepsis. Five additional patients had an unsuccessful first ERCP and underwent an emergency cholecystectomy rather than a repeat ERCP at the clinician's discretion. This was made because the patients had two raised SIRS marker and concern about sepsis, but without substantive diagnosis. This was reflected in the raised cytokine concentration, and had very difficult unsuccessful ERCP's. They were perceived by the clinical team to be more unwell than the patients who underwent a second ERCP; none of this group had two raised SIRS markers elevated.

The patients who were discharged on the day of the procedure (n = 32) were asked if they would return for bloods and pain score for the study, reimbursement for travel was made. Twenty-three patients returned and nine were contacted by telephone. By 48 hours 37 had been discharged and 35 were contacted by telephone for their pain score. None of the patients developing sepsis had been discharged. Three patients undergoing second ERCP were discharged on the day of the second procedure, the rest, except for those developing sepsis, were discharged the following day. Having been discharged the patients pain scores may not be equivalent to the inpatients.

Of the seven patients not discharged on the day of ERCP who had had a successfully completed ERCP, six stayed due to pain, one because of social circumstances. Four patients (8%) were identified as fulfilling the significant pain experienced criteria; none were discharged on the day of the procedure, remaining in up to 72 hours after the procedure. Two remaining in due to pain developed sepsis, a chest infection and positive blood cultures. The significant pain experienced group was under represented in this arm, possibly reflecting the fact they underwent surgery earlier in the course of their disease Table 8.4.8.

Patients in the severe pain group at enrolment were significantly less likely to have a successfully completed ERCP at the first attempt (p = 0.025). This was principally due to having difficult anatomy, and difficult procedures. The severe pain group patients were more likely to develop post procedural sepsis (p = 0.021). Whether the increased

pain score at enrolment indicated localised intra-peritoneal sepsis, which became apparent post procedure is not possible to comment on from this study.

**Figure 10.2.1** demonstrates the pain score for the patients undergoing ERCP. The top figure demonstrates the pain score after the first ERCP. The lower figure demonstrates those who underwent a second ERCP or cholecystectomy, denoted as abandoned in the upper figure. The two developing sepsis after successful first ERCP are shown in both figures Figure 10.2.1 demonstrates the higher pain score in the significant pain experienced group and how they are more difficult to separate from the group developing sepsis following ERCP.



## The VAS pain score after first and second ERCP

**Figure 10.2.1:** demonstrates the pain score for the patients undergoing ERCP. The top figure demonstrates the pain score after the first ERCP. Those where it was abandoned were the people who went on to have a second ERCP, or cholecystectomy shown in the lower figure. The patients who had a raised amylase after the second ERCP there pain score was slower to fall, than where there was no problem post ERCP. The patients with sepsis had the highest pain score. Enrol – enrolment, 2<sup>nd</sup> – second ERCP.

As can be seen from the Figure 10.2.1 the pain the pain scores have increased two hours after the procedure in all groups of patients. From four hours onwards the pain scores fall in the patients where the ERCP has been successfully completed, but not in those where the system is still obstructed or who develop sepsis following the procedure. The SIRS and cytokines rising in the 2 developing sepsis only in the 24 hours bloods, but the pain score being higher from four hours onwards. Of the eight patients who had a second ERCP, three developed sepsis, these patients also had a higher pain score from 4 hours after the second procedure but only developed clinical signs of sepsis 24 hours after the successfully completed ERCP.

Of the five not developing sepsis after the second ERCP, two had a raised amylase following the procedure but never developed sepsis, their pain score was higher than the three not developing sepsis Figure 10.2.1. Unlike those developing sepsis their pain scores fell after 24 hours, and by 48 - 72 hours the blood amylase was back within the normal range. Like the sepsis patients the pain score pre-empted the blood and cytokine change, but with small numbers it is difficult to draw firm conclusions.

The patients were asked to rate their least and most expected and experienced pain, their response is shown in Figure 10.2.2. As with the biliary emergency patients the majority of patients under rated their expected most pain, compared to what they experienced. The patients in the significant pain experienced group expected to be in pain and unlike the other groups there prediction was not significantly different to their experience (p =0.910 for the significant pain experienced patients in all arms, p = 0.031 for other ERCP, p = 0.001 for other laparoscopic and p = 0.01 for other open patients). As in the other arms they tended to score their least pain mid way along the VAS and their most at the right hand end for least and most pain respectfully. Of the six in the significant pain experienced first ERCP, one underwent a second ERCP and developed sepsis, and the final one underwent a cholecystectomy after their first failed ERCP, and did not develop sepsis after cholecystectomy. Despite the diversity of outcomes in the group their expected and experienced pain score closely matched.

The least and most expected and recalled pain after ERCP



**Figure 10.2.2:** Demonstrates the patients expected and recalled pain after ERCP. One significant pain experienced (SPE) patient developed sepsis after a second ERCP, and one underwent a cholecystectomy. There pain scores are placed with the significant pain experienced group, because their expectation and recalled pain more closely matched this group, than the other sepsis and cholecystectomy patients. The Figure demonstrating the expected pain matching the recalled pain significantly more closely in the significant pain experienced group. This was also seen in the other arms of the study Figure 8.4.6. Chole – cholecystectomy.

## **10.3** Cholecystectomy patients – Pain

Ninety four (83%) of the laparoscopic cholecystectomy patients, who did not have ERCP or on table cholangiogram, were discharged on the day following surgery. The reason the other thirty one of this group was not discharged is demonstrated in Table 10.3.1. Eighty-one percent were not discharged due to pain. None of the patients developing sepsis were discharged at 24 hours, but had not been diagnosed with sepsis at this time point, but all were noted to be 'not quite right' (25%) or in pain (75%).

Two of the significant pain experienced group was discharged at 24 hours after cholecystectomy alone. Seventeen were not discharged due to pain in this group (77%), one developed sepsis. From Table 10.3.1 it can be seen that the significant pain experienced group can not be distinguished from the patients who went onto develop sepsis at the 24 hour time point. Only this group and the group developing sepsis remained as inpatients past 24 hours in the laparoscopic cholecystectomy only group. None of the laparoscopic approach patients who had had a recent ERCP or on table cholangiogram were discharged at 24 hours, principally due to pain.

# Reason for patients not being discharged at 24 hours after laparoscopic cholecystectomy

Reason for not being discharged at 24 hours	Number not discharged (%)	Number in significant pain	Notes
		experienced group (%)	
Sepsis group			
Laparoscopic cholecystectomy			
Pain	9 (75%)	1 (8%)	
Not being quite right	3 (25%)		2 bowel
			perforation,
			went to ITU,
			1 respiratory
			infection
			went to HDU
ERCP laparoscopic cholecystectomy			
Pain	3 (75%)	-	
Not being quite right	1 (25%)		1 chest
			infection
			smoker
Laparoscopic cholecystectomy OTC			
Pain	4 (80%)	-	
Not being quite right	1 (20%)		1 Chest
			infection
			COPD went
			to HDU
No sepsis group			
Laparoscopic cholecystectomy			
Pain	16 (84%)	16 (72%)	
Not being quite right	3 (16%)	3 (14%)	
ERCP laparoscopic cholecystectomy			
Pain	16 (84%)	3 (100%)	
Not being quite right	3 (16%)	0 (0%)	
Laparoscopic cholecystectomy OTC			
Pain	15 (88%)	3 (100%)	
Not being quite right	2 (12%)	0 (0%)	

**Table 10.3.1:** The table demonstrates the reason for not being discharged at 24 hours after laparoscopic cholecystectomy. The open patients are excluded as it was not planned to discharge them at this time point. None of the ERCP and OTC patients were discharged at 24 hours principally due to pain. The OTC patients were not usually discharged at 24 hours.

In the laparoscopic patient group sepsis was diagnosed 25 to 60 hours following cholecystectomy. Open approach patients who developed sepsis were diagnosed 2 to 33 hours post operatively, seven being diagnosed prior to 24 hours, predominantly around 20 hours post-operatively and five diagnosed after 24 hours. This is significantly different to the laparoscopic group (p = 0.002). This fits with the findings of the systemic cytokine concentration and the SIRS not being significantly different until measured 48 hours after surgery in the laparoscopic surgical group developing sepsis, as demonstrated in Figure 9.3.2. Despite this none of the patients with sepsis were discharged and the principal reason for this being pain.

Figure 10.3.2 demonstrates the pain scores following surgery; the standard deviation is omitted for ease of interpretation. Figure 10.3.3 and 10.3.4 is the pain scores plotted by approach to cholecystectomy.



## Pain scores for patients undergoing elective cholecystectomy

**Figure 10.3.2:** Demonstrates the pain score of the patients undergoing elective cholecystectomy, laparoscopic approach (above) and open (below). The standard deviation is omitted for ease of interpretation. Figures 10.3.3 and 10.3.4 demonstrate the pain scores with the standard deviation. SPE – significant pain experienced, Enrol - enrolment.



**Figure 10.3.3:** Demonstrates the pain score and the standard deviation for the laparoscopic approach patients undergoing, cholecystectomy alone (top), recent ERCP and cholecystectomy (middle), OTC and cholecystectomy (bottom). SPM – significant pain manageable, SPE – significant pain experienced, Enrol - enrolment.


#### Pain scores in the elective open cholecystectomy patients

**Figure 10.3.4:** Demonstrates the pain score and the standard deviation for the open approach patients undergoing, cholecystectomy alone (top), recent ERCP and cholecystectomy (middle), OTC and cholecystectomy (bottom). SPM – significant pain manageable, SPE – significant pain experienced, Enrol - enrolment.

From Figures 10.3.2 - 4, it can be seen that the patients who have undergone a recent ERCP or had an OTC, at enrolment have significantly more pain than the majority of patients who just have a cholecystectomy alone. This is seen in both the laparoscopic and the open approach patients. The patients who are not in the significant pain experienced group for each approach, their pain score decreases post operatively. The severe pain group VAS scores falling the quickest after surgery. The mild pain groups pain score increases from enrollment to two hours after surgery, and then decreases, this probably is the response to surgical intervention.

#### Patients not diagnosed with sepsis - excluding significant pain experienced group

From early in the post operative period for both approaches the mild and the significant pain manageable patients pain scores are similar. The severe pain group patients pain scores drop to also be similar to the mild and significant pain manageable group at 48 hours. Although higher initially the patients who have an OTC or ERCP, their pain scores fall to be similar to the patients who have elective cholecystectomy alone, from 24 - 48 hours onwards. Whether this is when the post-operative oedema settles and the biliary drainage improves, is not known from this study.

Despite the perception of the difference in magnitude of the open and laparoscopic approach the pain scores are remarkably similar. This could be because we had difficulties getting patients to cough prior to measuring their pain score, to affect both visceral and parietal pain. Therefore with the laparoscopic approach we are measuring patients who are mobile and receiving as required analgesia, whereas the open approach patients they are frequently in bed and on PCA to 72 hours. This is a problem with the comparison of the pain scores throughout the study.

For the recent ERCP or OTC patients their pain score peak at twenty four to forty-eight hours after surgery, and then markedly drop. This drop in pain score is seen for all pain groups at 48 hours, regardless of surgical approach, in all the patients undergoing OTC or recent ERCP and who do not develop sepsis. These groups, not developing sepsis, have a higher peak in cytokine concentration than the cholecystectomy only patients regardless of surgical approach. The systemic cytokine concentration falls 48 hours onwards. The fall in pain score could be due to the systemic cytokine concentration falling, with the intraperitoneal concentration falling before the systemic level. This would require a study measuring drain fluid levels. But it does support the pain scores responding to changes in cytokine concentration, and therefore the changes in pain scores being important in the group developing sepsis following surgery.

The problem with drawing conclusions is the small number of patients in the groups, particularly the significant pain experienced group, in the group who've had recent ERCP or have an OTC, as the study was not powered for analysing these subgroups.

#### Significant pain experienced group

Figures 10.3.3 and 4, demonstrate that the significant pain experienced pain group patients, increase their pain scores between four and six hours post operatively. By six hours their pain scores are diverging away from the other patients who do not develop sepsis. This is seen in both approaches and regardless as to whether the patients have had recent ERCP, on table cholangiogram or cholecystectomy alone. This corresponded to when the effects of surgery were decreasing, the patients were more alert, and was the time point when most visitors were present. Though patients were asked to complete the pain scores alone, visitors' presence may affect how the patients scored their pain. Up until six hours the sensory – discriminative dimension predominates, around this six-hour time point the affective – motivational and cognitive evaluative dimensions increase in importance.

In the open group with PCA to control of their pain, the pain scores in the significant pain experienced group are higher and similar to the laparoscopic approach patients. Unsuccessful attempts with the patient controlled analgesia, also increased from six hours onwards. The significant pain experienced group having significantly more unsuccessful attempts, in all three open groups.

The pain score for the significant pain experienced group just undergoing cholecystectomy peaks, for both approaches, at twenty-four hours and then gradually falls. The gradual fall mirroring the other pain groups not developing sepsis, undergoing cholecystectomy alone, but at a higher level. The cytokine concentration in this group also decreases from 24 hours onwards (Figure 9.3.2 and 3). The cytokine peak is not as marked as the recent ERCP and OTC groups' cytokine peak, and may explain the more gradual fall in pain score.

#### Patients developing sepsis

Excluding the significant pain experienced group, the laparoscopic approach patients developing sepsis pain score diverge significantly away from the group not developing sepsis between 6 and 24 hours after surgery. This pattern is seen for the recent ERCP, OTC and the cholecystectomy only patients. In contrast the laparoscopic cholecystectomy only patients who develop sepsis, their cytokines and the SIRS markers do not become significantly different until 24 – 48 hours after surgery, sepsis not being diagnosed till this time point. For the recent ERCP patients' the cytokines peak and the diagnosis of sepsis occurs at 24 to 48 hours, the OTC patients cytokines peak at 48 to 72 hours, sepsis being diagnosed closer to 48 hours in these groups. All the patients' pain scores continue to rise, peaking at 48 hours. This covers the period where the cytokine concentration is rising. The pain score decreased ahead of the reduction in the systemic cytokine concentration.

For the open approach patients, like the laparoscopic approach patients, the pain scores for the patients developing sepsis diverge away from the group not developing sepsis at 6 hours. Except for the significant pain experienced group. The cholecystectomy only patients' cytokine concentration peaks at 24 hours and their sepsis is diagnosed between 2 to 33 hours. The recent ERCP patients' cytokine concentration peaks between 24 to 48 hours, their sepsis being diagnosed 24 to 29 hours. The OTC cholecystectomy patients' cytokine concentration peaks at 48 hours, their sepsis being diagnosed 26 to 29 hours. As with the laparoscopic approach patients the pain score continues to rise to 48 hours, and then decreases as the cytokine concentration falls.

Given the variation in cytokine response between groups and between the two approaches to cholecystectomy the pain score response is remarkable similar, Figure 10.3.3 and 4. This could be that the pain response is generated by localised changes within the peritoneum, which are not detected by measuring systemic cytokines. The pilot study had three patients where drain fluid was measured and demonstrated the peritoneal cytokines rising ahead of the systemic cytokines, but this was not as early as the pain response. The factors that inhibit the cytokine response appear not to inhibit the pain response, and early on the pain response can differentiate between the group developing sepsis and the majority of patients not developing sepsis (significant pain experienced being the exception). There was a trend towards the patients who required a higher level of care above the ward for their sepsis to have higher VAS form four hours after surgery, but this did not reach significance. This is potentially due to the small number of patients admitted to HDU and ITU, and the diverse causes of sepsis. We arbitrarily took the time from enrolment for the biliary emergency patients, and the start of ERCP or surgery for the other arms and measured the time to first mention of sepsis in the clinical notes. It is not possible in this study to have a definite time of the onset of sepsis, which may also affects the analysis of the VAS scores.

In conclusion the pain score increases as the cytokine concentration is significantly increasing, with the change in pain score appearing to precede the change in cytokine concentration in the majority of patients. The cytokine concentration falls with or 24 hours after the pain score. Figure 10.3.5 is a simplified model of the pain score response, the second Figure demonstrating the pain scores overlaying the cytokine concentration model from Figure 9.3.4.



Model of pain score change after cholecystectomy, lower figure demonstrates relationship to cytokine change

**Figure 10.3.5** : Demonstrates the change in pain score following cholecystectomy (upper), for both approaches. The change in pain score for the group developing sepsis is shown with the model for change in cytokine concentration in those developing sepsis, laparoscopic approach (middle), open approach (lower). The units are different for pain and cytokine concentration but are over laid to demonstrate the relationship in timing. Due to difference in timing of recording pain score and cytokine concentration, 2 and 4 hours have been omitted.

Being able to distinguish the patients developing sepsis from the significant pain experienced group therefore becomes important to allow closer monitoring of the patients at risk of developing sepsis and initiate earlier treatment. Using the pain scores and quality of life questionnaires allowed us to distinguish the significant pain experienced group from the other patients prior to intervention, as will be discussed in Chapter **11**. This will help potentially identify patients developing sepsis earlier, though it should be remembered that some of the significant pain experienced post-operative sepsis. It will take a bigger study to look at a wider range of causes of sepsis and procedures to be able to confidently initiate treatment based on the patient's report of pain. From this study we are also unable to determine what is the source of the pain response, but we do demonstrate it is an indicator of potential post procedural problems.

It is difficult determining the sequencing of events, and the interaction between operative factors, biliary obstruction and stasis and analgesia, in a small study with diverse causes of sepsis. Many studies examining sepsis after laparoscopic surgery have focused on operative factors around the pneumoperitoneum. More recently studies, particularly after ERCP, it is becoming more apparent that pain is an early indicator of post-operative sepsis. In constructing future models of study we should try to examine multiple factors as part of the model.

#### Results

## Chapter 11 – Quality of life score and Hospital Anxiety and Depression score.

#### 11.1 Quality of Life and Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale

From the pilot study it had been evident that there was a group of patients who scored their quality of life poorer than the main group of patients. This group of patients experienced a lot of pain post operatively. In Chapter 8.3 we demonstrated the significant pain experienced group had pain score indistinguishable from the group developing sepsis, but the significant pain experienced group did not develop post-procedural sepsis. I wanted to develop a method to be able to separate the two groups pre-operatively, to be able to recognise the patients who were at risk of sepsis and instigate early treatment to optimise the outcome of the septic event. Not overlooking the fact that the significant pain experienced group could develop postoperative sepsis (Table 8.3.5).

From the literature review Quintana *et al.*, (2003, 2005), using the SF-36, had identified a group of patients whose pain was possibly not related to gallstones and gained minimal benefit from cholecystectomy. Shi *et al.*, (2008, 2009) used the Gastrointestinal Quality of Life Index (GIQLI) to identify patients in whom cholecystectomy did not achieve a 'Minimally clinically important difference – MICD' for each of the GIQLI domains. Ibrahim *et al.*, (2016) encouraging using the two questionnaires in combination to optimally assess quality of life, and advocating the use of the SF-36 and GIQLI.

The pilot highlighted a difference in quality of life in the significant pain group based on the VAS. Termed 'significant pain experienced' they scored their quality of life poorer than the other patients in the significant pain group, termed 'significant pain manageable'. We questioned the benefit significant pain experienced patients had from undergoing cholecystectomy. For the first 100 patients recruited in the study I collected their data and followed them up observing their QoL data to their outcome. This allowed me to gain information about the mean scores in each domain for each of the pain group, and to determine the domains, which were the better indicators of their pain group. Table 11.1.1 demonstrates the distribution of pain scores for first 100 patients who I gathered quality of life and Hospital anxiety and depression data on.

### The first 100 patients whose quality of life data was analysed to predict

Enrolment arm and numbers in each group	Episodes of sepsis in first 100 pts analysed	Number in mild pain VAS <4	Number in significant pain manageable VAS ≥ 4 - <7	Number in significant pain experienced VAS ≥ 4 - <7	Number in severe pain VAS ≥ 7
Biliary					
emerg					
- BC (7)	0	1	1	5	0
- AC (9)	0	2	3	4	0
- Panc (5)	1	0	0	0	5
- OJ (4)	0	0	0	0	4
ERCP (13)	2	0	6	1	6
Lap. chole. (30)	2	13	9	5	3
Open chole. (15)	3	6	3	4	2
ERCP lap. (6)	1	0	4	0	2
ERCP open (3)	0	0	2	1	0
OTC lap. (5)	1	0	3	1	1
OTC open (3)	1	0	2	0	1

#### pain group pre-operatively

**Table 11.1.1:** Demonstrates the number of patients in each group in the analysis of the first one hundred patients quality of life data. The number of patients developing sepsis in the first 100 is also demonstrated. The biliary emergency group is split into the different types of biliary disease. This group was analysed as a separate group, to understand how the quality of life data allowed the pain groups to be distinguished as discussed in the text. Emerg. – emergency, BC – biliary colic, AC – Acute cholecystitis, Panc – pancreatitis, OJ – obstructive jaundice, Lap. Chole. – Laparoscopic cholecystectomy, OTC – on table cholangiogram.

In the pilot study the most useful distinguishing question, was on the SF-36, 'Compared to one year ago, how would you rate your general health now?', the significant pain experienced group consistently rating this poorer than the other groups, following surgery. At enrolment all groups rated this worse and it did not to help distinguish the significant pain experienced patients prospectively.

The mild and significant pain manageable group scored their quality of life in a similar way. The significant pain experienced group scored their quality of life poorer. It was harder to distinguish the severe pain group from the two significant pain groups, as the group straddled the significant pain groups as shown in Figure 11.1.2. The severe pain group patients developing sepsis tended to have greater overlap with the significant pain experienced group. In the early stages of data gathering I was concerned patients' scoring their quality of life like the significant pain experienced group, were also in the severe pain group at enrolment.

#### Analysing the first one hundred patients and trying to use the quality of life data to place the patients in pain groups

Figure 11.1.2 highlights the distribution of the HAD scores for the first 100 patients. Table 11.1.3 gives the problems which were encountered using the HAD questionnaire in these patients. Examining the SF-36 and GIQLI responses, I wondered whether the greater number of questions would provide greater clarity between the groups. Table 11.1.4 illustrates the problems encountered with the SF-36 and GIQLI being used to separate the pain groups pre-operatively. Figure 11.1.5 highlights the quality of life questionnaire domains that permitted the most discrimination between the groups after the first 100 patients.

#### The Hospital Anxiety and Depression Score

HAD classification	Anxiety score	Depression score		
Normal	0 - 7	0 -7		
Borderline	8 - 10	8 - 10		
Abnormal	11 – 21	11 – 21		



**Figure 11.1.2:** Demonstrates the classification of the groups the HAD score places the patients in. The middle figure is the scores of the first one hundred patients for anxiety, and the bottom figure is their score for depression. The arrow highlights the scores for the main group developing sepsis.

#### Problems encountered using the HAD with the first 100 patients recruited Problems encountered using the HAD

The mild pain group and the significant pain manageable group overlapped their pain score – *the two groups were indistinguishable* 

The severe pain groups' scores lay between the significant pain manageable group, who scored lower on the HAD, and the significant pain experienced who scored higher on the anxiety and depression indices – *Figure 11.1.2* 

The group developing sepsis was predominantly within the severe pain group and scored the upper end of this groups domain – *area of greatest overlap with the significant pain experienced group* 

Ongoing observation demonstrated the HAD was more useful in distinguishing the groups when examining the change from pre to postoperatively, as the significant pain manageable and the severe pain groups both dropped their scores after surgery the greatest - *this didn't give the ability to predict who was in the significant pain experienced group pre-intervention* 

Fewer repeat HAD questionnaires at 12 weeks were collected for the biliary emergency and ERCP group as this was usually in the peri-operative period – *this hampered the reflection on how the HAD score changed in the different groups* 

The VAS for the biliary emergency and ERCP group also did not fall at 12 weeks, because of ongoing biliary problems – *therefore their HAD and VAS scoring was seen to be like the significant pain experienced group leading to incorrect initial conclusions and premises for splitting the pain groups* 

The mild, the significant pain manageable and the severe pain group scored highly preoperatively on having worrying thoughts, being frightened and feeling panicky - **post operatively these groups no longer scored highly on these questions and this helped begin to tease the groups apart** 

The severe pain group scored poorly on feeling relaxed and finding enjoyment in life, reflecting more frequent episodes of right upper quadrant pain in this group pre-operatively - *at 12 weeks, in patients who'd had surgery, the severe pain scored these questions like the mild and significant pain manageable group, helping distinguish groups* 

The significant pain experienced group scored highly on feeling worried, being frightened and panicky pre and post operatively, as well as on other questions in the questionnaire. But there was less of a distinct pattern with the rest of the questionnaire – *this pattern of answering was a start in distinguishing the groups* 

The significant pain experienced group tended to score their feelings more extreme, for example the questions about feeling frightened they scored as 'quite often' or 'very often', whereas the other groups scored it as 'occasionally' or 'not at all' – *pattern as above* 

Patients admitted to ITU or HDU, their scores remained higher at 12 weeks, as it was a shorter time since their discharge, and they had had a prolonged recovery - *this increased the complexity of the interpretation, because all the HAD scores dropped at 12 weeks, for all but the significant pain experienced group and the 2 patients requiring HDU / ITU were in the severe pain group at enrolment but behaving like the significant pain experienced patients. This also widened the HAD scoring range for the significant pain experienced group* 

**Table 11.1.3:** Demonstrates problems encountered using HAD to distinguish between the pain groups for first one hundred patients.

### Problems encountered using the SF-36 and the GIQLI with the first 100 patients

#### Problems encountered with the SF-36 and GIQLI

Again in the quality of life questionnaires the significant pain manageable and mild pain groups were difficult to distinguish - *taking the overall score did not allow me to reliably determine which group patients were in, and I realised it was important to look at individual domain scores in combination with the overall score. Even doing this the significant pain manageable and the mild pain group were difficult to distinguish, as their domain and overall scores overlapped significantly* 

Severe pain group response – again the severe pain group's scores fell between and overlapped with the significant pain manageable group above and significant pain experienced group below

The various domains on the quality of life questionnaires permitted more distinction between the groups, although the overall scores may not be different. The main domain that distinguished the mild and significant pain manageable from the severe pain group was the 'Bodily pain domain' of the SF-36, which contributes mainly to the 'Physical component score' (Table 4.8.3 page 121) - *this tended to be scored significantly lower (p = 0.039) for the severe pain group, and reduced the physical component score* 

The severe pain group score would improve the most from pre-operatively to 12 weeks after surgery - **as with the HAD questionnaire patients who had prolonged admissions with sepsis their scores did not improve as greatly and this made it harder to distinguish the severe pain group from the significant pain experienced group on scores, and hence set boundaries on the scores between groups** 

The significant pain experience group did tend to score lower on the physical domains contributing to the physical component score, but this was not significantly lower - *there was a lot of overlap with the significant pain experienced and the severe pain group in particular, but also with the significant pain manageable and mild pain group* 

 Table 11.1.4: Demonstrates the problems encountered with SF-36 and GIQLI.

Problems encountered with the SF-36 and GIQLI (continued)

The principal physical domain which the significant pain experienced group scored poorly on was the 'Bodily pain domain' on the SF-36 – *these scores overlapped significantly with the severe pain group, but helped separate the mild and significant pain manageable group* 

The significant pain experienced group diverged from the other groups was in the domains, 'Role emotional functioning', 'Mental health' and 'Vitality'. What was surprising was the group scored better in the 'Social role functioning'. Retesting at 12 weeks the scores were similar, but the 'Social role functioning' had dropped significantly (p = 0.032) - *discussion with the patient groups it became evident that when they had a lot of pain, or were being investigated or having surgery, family and friends gave support, which went again when they were 'recovered'. This happened in all the groups, but was particularly marked and important to the significant pain experienced group. This may explain the increased amount of contact with health services* 

The biliary emergency and ERCP group who had not had surgery, did not see a significant improvement in score at 12 weeks – *but tended to be in the peri-operative period leading to confusion as discussed above* 

Patients with sepsis, particularly those admitted to ITU and HDU, saw the smallest improvement in score - **difficult to differentiate from the significant pain experienced group as described above** 

GIQLI is a disease specific questionnaire and unsurprisingly there was a greater spread of scores in the 'gastrointestinal symptoms' domain, than there was on the SF-36 - *the only domain that allowed a differentiation between the mild pain group and the significant pain manageable* group. The mild pain group scoring this domain better than, Yu et al., (2018) study group, who were patients' undergoing cholecystectomy within 5 days of the onset of biliary symptoms. The significant pain manageable group scored their gastrointestinal symptoms at the same level as Yu's study group patients. Both groups demonstrating benefit from undergoing cholecystectomy

**Table 11.1.4 cont.:** Demonstrates the problems encountered with SF-36 and GIQLI.

#### Problems encountered with the SF-36 and GIQLI (continued)

The severe pain group patients scored their gastrointestinal symptoms the lowest of any of the pain groups. The significant pain experienced patients scored this domain not significantly differently to the significant pain manageable group and some as highly as the mid pain group – *this helped to distinguish the severe pain group from the other pain groups* 

The 'emotional status' domain on the SF-36 permitted the greatest distinction between the significant pain experienced group and the other groups. The significant pain experienced group scoring the lowest here, and below **Yu's team (2018)** emergency cholecystectomy patients. As with the SF-36 the significant pain experienced group, scored their 'social function' domain higher than was expected, and as with the SF-36 this was the domain that changed the least or decreased at reassessment at 12 weeks, for the same reasons - *this helped to distinguish the severe pain group from the other pain groups* 

The GIQLI the gastrointestinal domain has 19 items and a score range of 0 -76, the physical 7 items 0 – 28, and the emotional and social functioning 5 items 0 – 20 each - *this predominance of the gastrointestinal symptoms domains to the overall score meant using the overall score in isolation from the domains did not allow us to distinguish between the groups because of the weighting of this group* 

Reassessing at 12 weeks allowed evaluation of the scores for each group. It was evident that the mild, significant pain manageable, and severe pain groups had achieved the increase in scores matching the 'minimum clinically important difference' (MCID) described by **Shi** *et al.*, (2009) - *the significant pain experienced did not achieve the MCID in the emotional, and social function domains, and not consistently in the physical and gastrointestinal symptoms* 

**Table 11.1.4 cont.:** Demonstrates the problems encountered with SF-36 and GIQLI.

### Main conclusion encountered with the SF-36 and GIQLI with the first 100 patients (continued)

Due to the weighting of the questionnaire the above did not always give an overall score that was significantly higher at 12 weeks, particularly for the severe pain group and those who developed sepsis, or were in the peri-operative period at the second questionnaire for the biliary emergency and elective ERCP group – *this made difficulties interpreting the differences between groups* 

Analysis after the first one hundred patients I found the questionnaire overall scores with the domains were helping to distinguish the group. The significant pain manageable and mild pain groups together were the most easily distinguishable. But there was overlap with the severe patients, particularly the significant pain experienced group and upper end of the severe pain group, who tended to be the group who developed sepsis postoperatively

 Table 11.1.4 cont.: Demonstrates the conclusions and problems encountered

 with using the SF-36 and GIQLI to distinguish between the pain groups at the

 analysis of the first one hundred patients.

#### Quality of life domains and their contribution towards distinguishing between the pain groups



**Figure 11.1.5:** Analysis of the first one hundred patients' quality of life scores permitted learning about which were the important domains on the quality of life questionnaires, to distinguish the patients who would potentially have problems with pain post procedure or after their admission. PSS – is the physical summary score and MSS – is the mental summary score. The first figure for the PSS, MSS and Total score is for the mild and significant pain manageable group, the second is the significant pain experienced group. The severe pain group fell between these two groups.

#### Second hundred patients onwards

From the second hundred patients onwards I took the enrolment questionnaire and tried to use the scores across the three questionnaires to place them in pain group, without referencing the VAS. For this I used the domains in Figure 11.1.5. From early on it was evident that none of the questionnaires in isolation permitted identification with accuracy of the group, and by using all three questionnaires there was improved accuracy, but it was not totally accurate. Table 11.1.6 highlights the three groups of patients who were difficult to place when using the quality of life questionnaires. As Quintana *et al.*, (2003, 2005) and Shi *et al.*, (2008, 2009), the quality of life questionnaires could highlight the patients the patients who benefitted less from undergoing cholecystectomy. The group that they had identified was equivalent to the group we had termed significant pain experienced. Both the significant pain experienced and the groups could not be based just on questionnaires, or the VAS, but on other perioperative observations as well.

#### The three groups of patients who were difficult to place in groups based upon the quality of life questionnaires in the second hundred patients

### Three groups of patients difficult to place based on quality of life questionnaires

Patients who developed post procedural sepsis but were not in the severe pain group, but the significant pain manageable group at enrolment – *particularly biliary related complications because they scored their quality of life as the other significant pain manageable group patients, but their gastrointestinal symptoms were worse, but not significantly so, than the main group at enrolment* 

Within this group were two patients developed unexpected sepsis, a bowel perforation patient and a clip becoming displaced off the cystic duct, these two patients were indistinguishable from the main group of significant pain manageable patients at enrolment – *patients with intra-operative complications would always be difficult to distinguish without a high level of suspicion* 

Difficult to distinguish, was two significant pain experienced patients. Their scores at enrolment were not significantly different to the rest of their group in any of the domains, and their pain scores were also not different. Both developed respiratory sepsis and were at all points difficult to distinguish from the other significant pain experienced group - except both had difficult procedures, one a laparoscopic cholecystectomy and the second an ERCP. This highlighted that it was imperative we did not dismiss the significant pain experience group's pain as not important, but investigate it completely

**Table 11.1.6:** The table highlights the three groups of patients who were difficultto place in pain groups based upon their pre-operative quality of lifequestionnaires. This highlighted that distinguishing between the groupdeveloping sepsis and those who experienced significant pain but did notdevelop sepsis was based not just on questionnaires but on other peri-operativeobservations as well.

Towards the end of this group I was increasing in accuracy being able to distinguish the mild and significant pain manageable group out from the significant experienced group. The severe pain group remained the hardest to separate. It was also evident that the patients who required OTC or had had ERCP recently scored their pain as significant manageable, but had more bodily pain. This highlighted that for many patients it was the overall best fit across a range of domains, not matching the scores in all of the domains in the model in Figure 11.1.5. The more patients' scores I looked at the general health domain of the SF-36, and to a lesser extent the physical condition of the GIQLI increased in the discrimination between the significant pain experienced group and the other groups. Table 11.1.7 describes the main conclusions after analysing the second hundred patients.

#### Conclusions from the second hundred patients analysed

#### Conclusions from the second hundred patients analysed

There was not, within the severe pain group, a group of patients who rated their quality of life poorer than the average for the severe pain group, i.e. not an equivalent split as was seen in the significant pain group - *the exact reason for this remained unclear, as the groups were not significantly different in size* 

At the end of reviewing two hundred scores, I had improved in distinguishing all but the severe pain group. Up until then I had not used the patients enrolment VAS score - *appreciating only the significant pain group, had two distinct groups I incorporated the VAS into the analysis, after making a preliminary decision on the quality of life data. This permitted separation of the pain groups more easily, and used the QoL and HAD to separate the significant pain group* 

The SF-36 and GIQLI with their multiple domains to match was being shown to be more accurate, but no one questionnaire in isolation was completely accurate - *using all the domains of all the questionnaires to give a best fit provided the greatest accuracy with the overall score. Particularly with the patients who had biliary obstruction or developed biliary related sepsis post operatively, as they scored their gastrointestinal symptoms worse than the patients who were not obstructed or didn't develop complications* 

**Table 11.1.7:** Demonstrates the main conclusions from analysing the data at the end of the second hundred patients.

I drew up approximate scoring points for each domain to try and separate the mild and significant pain manageable groups from the significant pain experienced, shown in **Table 11.1.8 a** – **b**. The severe pain group straddled the other two groups. They were separable on their lower bodily pain and gastrointestinal symptoms, but scored their other domains similar to the mild and significant pain manageable group. Using this I scored each patient at enrolment and predicted their pain group, and reviewed the accuracy of scoring, for the final one hundred and eight one patient's.

#### Mean score in each domain in the SF-36 and the boundary set for each domain to separate the significant experienced group

	Mild and	Boundary	Significant pain	
	Significant pain	score	experienced	
	manageable group		group mean	
	mean score (± SD)		score (± SD)	
Physical	76.8 ± 16.5	72.3	70.3 ± 18.9	
function				
Role physical	60.6 ± 18.1	56.2	52.7 ± 19.4	
Bodily pain *	62.0 ± 17.4	54.1	46.6 ± 20.1	
(Severe pain	(49.5 ± 18.7)			
group)				
General health*	62.3 ± 15.8	54.4	48.1 ± 17.9	
Vitality	55.9 ± 20.1	51.1	47.1 ± 19.4	
Social function*	78.5 ± 17.8	70.2	64.1 ± 22.1	
Role emotional*	74.9 ± 19.1	67.9	60.3 ± 14.4	
Mental health *	68.5 ± 16.5	58.9	50.4 ± 14.9	
Physical	45.7 ± 10.4	42.4	40. 2 ± 9.3	
summary score				
Mental	43.7 ± 8.9	38.9	35.5 ± 8.7	
summary score				

**Table 11.1.8 a:** The mean (±SD) SF- 36 domain scores for the mild and the significant pain manageable group, and the severe pain score. After reviewing the quality of life scores for the first two hundred patients at enrolment, a boundary score was calculated above which the patients went into the mild and significant pain manageable group, below which they were placed in the significant pain experienced. The group placement was determined by the best fit of the number of domains scoring above and below. The \* denotes the domains where the scores diverged the most. The severe pain group scored closest to the lower end of the significant pain manageable group except in the 'Bodily pain domain', there score is shown separately in the table.

#### Mean score in each domain in the GIQLI and HAD score and the boundary set for each domain to separate the significant experienced group

	Mild and Significant pain manageable group mean score (± SD)	Boundary score	Significant pain experienced group mean score (± SD)
GI symptoms (Severe pain	61.3 ± 8.5	58.7	51.7 ± 7.9
group)	(54.4 ± 6.1)		
Physical	19.9 ± 4.9	18.0	14.9 ± 5.1
condition			
Emotional	14.9 ± 3.3	12.1	9.7 ± 2.8
status*			
Social function*	15.4 ± 3.1	13.4	11.2 ± 4.1
Total score	108.9 ± 15.8	104.3	99.3 ± 12.2

	Mild and	Boundary	Significant pain	
	Significant pain manageable	score	experienced group mean score	
	group mean		(± SD)	
	score (± 5D)			
Anxiety	6 ± 4	10	14 ± 3	
Depression	5 ± 4	9	13 ± 4	

**Table 11.1.8 b:** The mean (±SD) GIQLI (upper) and HAD scores for the mild and the significant pain manageable group, and the severe pain score. After reviewing the quality of life scores for the first two hundred patients at enrolment, a boundary score was calculated above which the patients went into the mild and significant pain manageable group, below which they were placed in the significant pain experienced. The group placement was determined by the best fit of the number of domains scoring above and below. The \* denotes the domains where the scores diverged the most. The severe pain group scored closest to the lower end of the significant pain manageable group except in the 'GI symptoms domain shown in the table.

#### Final group of patients

The accuracy of predicting the pain groups gradually increased and the boundary score between the significant pain group and the other pain groups gradually more refined, until I had a range of scores within which I expected each pain group to score their quality of life on the questionnaires. Not all of the patients fitted perfectly for each domain, but the number of domains matching increased in number as we improved in accuracy and built a score range for the severe pain group, between the other groups. At the end of the study the number placed in the correct pain group was 86%, the inaccuracy being in patients who were incorrectly not assigned to the severe pain group, prior to reviewing the VAS score.

Mild and significant pain manageable group domain scores also increased in accuracy, with 89% of the patients correctly placed in the correct pain group, and 91% correctly excluded from the significant pain experienced group. The inaccuracy in the groups was particularly with the patients who were enroled prior to cholecystectomy and on table cholangiogram, as these patients had a low 'Bodily pain and GI symptom scores'. Their pain and their lower quality of life score increased the inaccuracy of their placement, and about appropriateness for surgery.

The severe pain group also became more predictable, although there remained overlap with the significant pain experienced group below and to a lesser the significant pain manageable and the mild pain group above. The accuracy for this group was 76%.

The enrolment, 12 and 26 week domain scores for each of the pain groups is shown in Figure 11.1.8 - 11.1.10. This demonstrates the change in pain scores that occurred with each pain group. The data at 52 weeks was similar to the 12 and 26 week scores. The main change at 26 weeks being in the scores for the 'General health', 'Bodily pain' and the 'GI symptoms' domain on the SF-36 and GIQLI respectively, in those admitted to ITU and HDU. Being lower at 12 weeks as they had more recently been discharged. There was no difference in quality of life score between the open and laparoscopic approach groups at 12 weeks or further out.



Change in SF-36 domain scores from Enrolment, 12 and 26 weeks

**Figure 11.1.8:** Demonstrates each of the domain scores (full description below).



Change in SF-36 domain scores from Enrolment, 12 and 26 weeks (cont.)

Figure 11.1.8 cont.: Demonstrates each of the domain scores (full description below).



Change in SF-36 domain scores from Enrolment, 12 and 26 weeks (cont.)

**Figure 11.1.8 cont.:** Demonstrates each of the domain scores and the mental and physical summary score. The scores are split into the mild with significant pain manageable (SPM), severe pain and the significant pain experienced (SPE) group. Each of the scores demonstrates the standard deviation for the score. The mild and SPM, have the highest score in each domain, and increases to 12 weeks, but does not increase significantly to 26 weeks. The severe group SF-36 score, at enrolment, falls between the mild group and the SPE. At 12 weeks their quality of life score has increased, but does not reach the same level as the mild pain group, as some of the patients had not long been discharged from hospital, following treatment of their sepsis. At 26 weeks, their quality of life scores increase to the level of the mild pain group. The SPE group's SF-36 score is the lowest at enrolment and does not increase at 12 or 26 week. The "Bodily pain' domain score for the severe pain group is particularly low (third Figure page 314).



Change in GIQLI domain scores from Enrolment, 12 and 26 weeks

**Figure 11.1.9:** Demonstrates the GIQLI scores for the pain groups. Like the SF-36 scores, the mild and SPM group increase at 12 weeks, but not significantly further. The severe pain group's score increased at 12 weeks, but increase further at 26 weeks. The SPE don't increase significantly from the enrolment score. The severe pain group score particularly poorly in the GI symptoms domain (upper most Figure).

30 Mean GIQLI score social 25 20 function Mild & SPM 15 10 Severe 5 SPE 0 Enrol 12 weeks 26 weeks Time in weeks 150 Mean GIQLI total score 140 130 120 Mild & SPM 110 Severe 100 SPE 90 80 26 weeks Enrol 12 weeks Time in weeks

Change in GIQLI domain scores from Enrolment, 12 and 26 weeks continued

**Figure 11.1.9 cont.:** The GIQLI 'Social function' domain sore and the 'Total' score. The severe pain group GIQLI 'Total' score was low because of the weighting of the 'GI symptoms' score, compared to the other groups.



**Figure 11.1.10**: Demonstrates the HAD anxiety and depression score for the three pain groups. Unlike the quality of life scores, the HAD scores demonstrate less anxiety and depression with a lower score. As with the quality of life scores the severe pain group scored between the mild and SPM group and the SPE group. The severe pain group score decreases from enrolment to 12 weeks and then decreases further increases to 26 weeks. The SPE group does not significantly decrease following surgery.

Reviewing each of the pain groups demonstrated that the significant pain experienced group only achieved the Shi's teams (2008, 2009), minimum clinically important difference (MICD), in one, 'Physical function' of the GIQLI domains. Scoring their change in quality of life at a level which Quintana's team (2003, 2005) termed 'Inappropriate or of uncertain indication for cholecystectomy'. The other pain group's patients satisfied the MICD score and the Quintana's level for appropriateness for cholecystectomy. This level not being reached until 26 weeks in those admitted to ITU or HDU with sepsis. This was particularly apparent in the physical domains of the questionnaires.

For the final group of 181 patients, I attempted to place the patients in the pain groups initially with two of the quality of life questionnaires, then added in the VAS, and then the final questionnaire. This demonstrated that with two questionnaires I could maintain the accuracy identifying the mild and significant pain manageable. Those who were scoring at the lower end of the QoL range, I accurately placed in the significant pain experienced group. Where I was inaccurate was with the severe group patients in the central overlap area. Particularly for the severe pain group there was compensation occurring between domains, for example they were scoring poorly in the 'Bodily pain' domain, but people were coming to visit and they were compensating this poor score with a higher 'Social function' score.

Table 11.1.11 demonstrates the accuracy of scoring with only 2 quality of life questionnaires, compared to three and the VAS. The table demonstrates the most accurate combination of two questionnaires was the SF-36 and GIQLI, due to the increased number of domains to allow fitting to the range of scores for each of the pain groups.

### The accuracy of using two versus three quality of life scores to predict the group the patients were in at enrolment

		Accuracy on	Accuracy on adding the VAS and the third quality of life	
	n	using 2 quality		
		of life		
		questionnaires	questionnaire	
SF-36 and HAD	60	43 (72%)	52 (87%)	
GIQLI and HAD	60	41 (68%)	51 (85%)	
SF-36 and GIQLI	61	46 (75%)	53 (87%)	

**Table 11.1.11:** Demonstrates the accuracy of placement of the patients into

 pain groups using two and three quality of life questionnaires.

Compared to one year ago, how would you rate your health in general now?

The SF-36 includes the above question. As mentioned previously this was a good discriminative question. The results for 12, 26 and 52 weeks after surgery; are shown in Table 11.1.12. By fifty-two weeks all the patients who were enroled in the study had undergone cholecystectomy. Except for the one patient who had had been readmitted elsewhere, following successful ERCP, with gall stone pancreatitis and died from this, they had been deemed to frail for surgery at the first admission. It can be seen from this table a third of the significant pain experienced group believe that they have not benefited from surgery. Three significant pain experienced patients developed sepsis and it is these patients who rate their health the worst at 12 months. The other patient is the person who sustained a bile duct injury.

# The response to the question 'Compared to one year ago, how would you rate you general health now' at 12 and 52 weeks, based on enrolment pain group

	VAS pain score				
	Mild pain	SPM	SPE	Severe	Sepsis
				pain	
Much better (%)					
12 weeks	37.4%	38.2%	10.5%	54.3%	14.8%
52 weeks	44.9%	43.1%	12.9%	56.9%	41.1%
Somewhat better (%)					
12 weeks	34.7%	38.2%	15.8%	28.6%	33.3%
52 weeks	43%	47.8%	14.2%	34.8%	37.5%
About the same (%)					
12 weeks	22.5%	20.6%	57.9%	14.3%	25%
52 weeks	12.1%	9.1%	41.8%	8.3%	19.8%
Somewhat worse (%)					
12 weeks	4.1%	2.9%	10.5%	0%	8.3%
52 weeks	0%	0%	19.1%	0%	1.2%
Much worse (%)					
12 weeks	0%	0%	5.3%	0%	16.7%
52 weeks	0%	0%	12%	0%	0.4%

**Figure 11.1.12:** The patient's response to the supplementary question on the SF-36 about rating their health to one year ago.
### 11.2 Patients recruited to multiple parts of the study

Patients were recruited to multiple parts of the study, their data was kept separate, only pairing it up after the data had been analysed. This permitted a check on accuracy and examined the question of whether patients moved between pain groups. For the biliary emergency group significantly more went on to have cholecystectomy within the sixmonth study period, in the significant pain experienced group (p = 0.049). There was also significantly more contact between the primary care physician and the consultant for this group (81% versus 12% p = 0.003), and they were more likely to have opted for surgery with the consultant with the shortest waiting list, which was usually the open approach consultant.

Analysis of the assignment to groups demonstrated a 70% agreement in assigning them to pain groups. Table 11.2.1 demonstrated the patients who went onto have cholecystectomy in the study period. The group with the greatest inaccuracy being the patients initially placed in the severe pain group. Admitted with obstructive jaundice or pancreatitis, or with obstruction for elective ERCP this was treated and they were readmitted in a lower pain group. Or they had had biliary colic or acute cholecystitis and when admitted for cholecystectomy required an OTC for biliary obstruction.

# Pain group patients were independently placed in when they participated in a second part of the study

	Patients going on to have cholecystectomy	Independently placed in the same pain group		
	Biliary emergency	admissions n = 78		
Mild n = 10	4 (30%)	4 (100%)		
Significant pain manageable n =13	5 (39%)	4 (80%)		
Significant pain experienced n = 27	20 (74%)	20 (100%)		
Severe pain n = 28	8 (28%)	2 (25%)		
	Elective ERCP n = 52			
Significant pain manageable n = 20	8 (40%)	7 (88%)		
Significant pain experienced n = 6	5 (83%)	5 (100%)		
Severe pain n = 26	14 (54%)	3 (21%)		

**Table 11.2.1:** Demonstrates the number of the biliary emergency and ERCP patients, who went onto have a cholecystectomy during the study period. All consented to taking part again in the study. The significant pain experienced patient in the ERCP group had an emergency cholecystectomy performed.

We have demonstrated that the quality of life questionnaires can distinguish the pain groups and in particular the significant pain experienced group. This allows patients potentially developing sepsis to be recognised earlier. Secondly it allows the surgical team to discuss the benefits of surgery and set realistic expectations about benefit and pain management.

## Discussion

### Chapter 12 – Discussion

### 12.1 Cytokine response to biliary intervention

Concepcion – Martin *et al.*, (2016), found pain was the only indicator of post ERCP sepsis and pancreatitis in the first 24 hours. In this study we have demonstrated the cytokine concentration increase to be most impaired after laparoscopic surgery. Analysis of these results indicates an interaction of factors, rather than a single factor inhibiting the increase in cytokine concentration. To our knowledge this is the first study that has examined the interaction of a number of factors, proposing they interact together to delay cytokine response. Previous studies have used animal or *in-vitro* models, and have mainly examined bowel surgery. This study examined the effect of the disease and treatment Figure 12.1.1 highlights factors considered potentially to be involved.

# Proposal for factors, which could interact, to affect the timing of the cytokine response to sepsis

	<u>Analgesia</u>
Laparoscopic factors	- morphine inhibits migration of
- CO2 acidification	- morphine inhibits inflammatory
- temperature CO2	cytokine release
- dessication of tissue due to CO2	- morphine dampens down systemic
- pressure, and abdo distension	
- volume of wash	concentration
- wash around liver to hush out CO2	- PCA less immune system
	disturbance than boluses of morphine
Delayed	d rise in
cyto	kine
concer	ntration
Intervention factors	<u>Other</u>
- ERCP within weeks - months / OTC	- bile spillage in the peritoneum
<ul> <li>limited ventilation in pre-existing respiratory disease in laparoscopic surgery</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>biliary obstruction with biliary stasis being inhibitory to inflammatory cytokines, not IL-10</li> </ul>
- less tissue trauma in laparoscopic	- longer surgery in those developing
surgery leading to delayed rise	sepsis, many without antibiotics
- magnitude and length of surgery	- prolonged symptoms of galistones disease prior to surgery
- bile spillage on opening duct	- age (older)
	- gender (males)

**Figure 12.1.1:** Proposed factors, from this study and the work of others (from the introduction), which potentially delay the rise in inflammatory cytokine concentration after surgery. The impact of each factor is unknown, and if they do contribute how they interact together. Each factor is discussed in the discussion. CO2 – carbon dioxide, PCA – patient controlled analgesia, OTC – on table cholangiogram.

#### Factors around laparoscopic surgery

Matsumoto *et al.*, (2001), demonstrated the laparoscopic approach to surgery attenuated the rise in the cytokine concentration in the early post-operative period. Demonstrated in laparoscopic colorectal and splenectomy surgery (Sammour *et al.*, 2010, Kvanstom *et al.*, 2013 and Wu *et al.*, 2012). This is the first time the attenuation of cytokine concentration has been demonstrated after laparoscopic cholecystectomy.

Factors implicated in contributing to the delayed cytokine increase include carbon dioxide, inhibiting the cytokine production and decreasing the cellular and humoral response (Yahara *et al.*, 2002, Watson *et al.*, 1995, and West *et al.*, 1997). The pneumoperitoneum dropping the core temperature, causing desiccation and acidification and the length of time the pressure is over 12 mmHg are all implicated (Hanly *et al.*, 2007 b). This is mediated locally by the cells within the peritoneum and systemically. These factors were implicated in the study in the group developing sepsis after surgery and in the severe pain group. Longer procedures, difficult procedures, volume of wash and in the open group longer incisions, were also important (Figure 8.4.1 a, b and c). We demonstrated patients weight and BMI was also important in predicting sepsis after ERCP and cholecystectomy by either approach (Figure 8.4.2).

Obviously a number of these factors interplay together, but this fits with individual factors identified by others. Two factors implicated, which we did not measure, is the decompression of the pneumoperitoneum at the end of the procedure. And the volume of wash used to suction the gas from around the liver at the end of the procedure. This would be useful to measure in a further study.

Peritoneal acidification correlated with the fall in the serum and peritoneal inflammatory cytokines (Hanly *et al.*, 2007) Peritoneal acidification stimulates an increase in IL-10, even in the absence of lipo-polysaccharide on the bacterial coat. We demonstrated IL-10 concentration in the laparoscopic group rising before the inflammatory cytokines, even in those not developing sepsis. IL-10 concentration peaking concurrently with the inflammatory cytokines peaking (Figure 9.3.2 and 9.3.3). The IL-10 concentration, in this study, was not significantly greater in the recent ERCP / OTC patients, despite their longer pneumoperitoneums. Neither was there a delay in the rise in IL-10 concentration, despite the delay in the inflammatory cytokines

increasing after surgery by either approach. There was no detectable difference in concentration between the two approaches. Whether this reflects IL-10 not being inhibited by the pneumoperitoneum, as opposed to not being stimulated by the acidification of the pneumoperitoneum is unclear Hanly *et al.*, (2007). Possibly the early IL-10 concentration increase is stimulated by the pneumoperitoneum, later on the increase in concentration could be maintained by the increase in inflammatory cytokine concentration, as the effect of the pneumoperitoneum decreases. TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 being the standard regulators of IL-10 concentration (Oberholzer *et al.*, 2002a). Certainly the decline in IL-10 concentration mirrors these cytokines returning to baseline concentration. This potential interplay is difficult to interpret without measuring peritoneal cytokines.

The peak cytokine concentration for the group not developing sepsis after cholecystectomy, was similar for both approaches. Given the difference in the size of the wounds it could be expected the open approach would have a greater cytokine rise. Lin *et al.*, (2000) and Sammour *et al.*, (2010), in a meta-analysis of cytokines concentration after colorectal surgery, found the inflammatory cytokine concentration reflected the magnitude of the surgery, out weighing the approach to surgery. Hernia repair, and gynaecological surgery, are shorter procedures and do not demonstrate an increase in cytokines in the laparoscopic approach, due to the magnitude of the operation is less (Sammour *et al.*, 2010). No studies have compared approach to cholecystectomy, to report a difference in cytokine concentration, we have demonstrated the magnitude of surgery being sufficient to evoke a cytokine response

### Factors around analgesia

Opiates, particularly strong opiates, are known to inhibit the migration of inflammatory mediators and immune cells and the release of inflammatory cytokines (Laing *et al.*, 2016). Principally acting to inhibit B and T cell and monocyte function, including migration, differentiation and mediator release and dampening down local and systemic inflammatory response (Sacerdote and Panerai, 2012, Schafer and Zollner 2013). Morphine is thought to act by binding to the opioid receptor and inhibiting the response at the level of transcription, in myeloid and lymphoid cells (Roeckel, 2016). There are very few studies examining the interaction of analgesia and the type of surgery.

Patients with a recent ERCP or undergoing an OTC with their cholecystectomy received a higher dose of morphine compared to those who underwent cholecystectomy alone (Table 8.4.3 and 8.4.4). The former patients displaying a delayed increase in cytokine concentration compared to the cholecystectomy alone patients (Figure 9.3.2). Overall these patients cytokine concentration was greater, even for the patients not developing sepsis, than the patients just underwent cholecystectomy alone. These patients also had longer operations, and hence longer pneumoperitoneum, greater volume of wash and more difficult procedures. They did demonstrate a delayed rise in inflammatory cytokine concentration.

The open patients all had morphine patient controlled analgesia (PCA) and received on average more morphine than the equivalent laparoscopic approach patient. The open patients did not demonstrate as delayed cytokine response as the laparoscopic approach patients undergoing equivalent surgery (Figure 9.3.4). Comparisons of bolus morphine versus PCA, has demonstrated that PCA is less disruptive to the immune system (Sacerdote and Panerai, 2012, Schafer and Zollner 2013). This may also partially explain the difference between the open and laparoscopic approach patients seen in this study.

For the surgical and ERCP patients the morphine equivalent dose received by the patients developing sepsis was greater, regardless of the approach to surgery (Table 8.4.4). Despite this these patient's cytokine concentration increased and peaked at the same time as patients undergoing surgery by the same intervention but not developing sepsis (Figure 9.3.2 and 9.3.3). This response could be being driven by the septic insult.

Laing (2016), demonstrated less immune modulation with paracetamol and NSAID's, and decreased septic events, Amodeo *et al.*, (2018), demonstrated tramadol inhibited the immune system than morphine and codeine. Poor compliance to the analgesia protocol and the unavailability of intravenous paracetamol, and tramadol in this study, do not allow us to comment on this.

Sepsis was seen more frequently in the group who scored their pain as severe at enrolment, regardless of approach to surgery (p = 0.001). But sepsis was not seen in all patients in the severe pain group, despite this group receiving more analgesia (Table

8.4.4). The analgesia received by the significant pain experienced group was equivalent and often greater than the group developing sepsis but their rate of sepsis was less (p = 0.0009). This probably is the lack of chronicity of biliary disease in the significant pain experienced group, but it does illustrate the likely interaction of factors affecting the cytokine response.

Intervention factors - Elective surgery compared to ERCP and emergency cholecystectomy

In the main study the patient's cytokine concentration is greater than the healthy controls cytokine concentration at enrolment. In the biliary emergency arm the cytokine concentration reflected the severity of the biliary disease (Figure 9.1.1). Those developing sepsis after elective ERCP had a greater cytokine concentration at enrolment but unlike the biliary emergency patients the difference was not significant except for IL-6 (Figure 9.2.1).

The elective ERCP patients going on to have an emergency cholecystectomy do not demonstrate a slower rise in their cytokine concentration compared to the rise after open cholecystectomy alone (Figure 9.2.1 and Figure 9.3.3). Despite receiving morphine boluses, before and after ERCP and then a morphine PCA after emergency surgery, their cytokine response is not inhibited even in the laparoscopic approach patients (Figure 9.2.1). With only four patients in this group it is difficult to draw conclusions. One possibility is the systemic cytokine concentration is already increased at enrolment, the systemic concentration was not significantly greater (Figure 9.3.2 and 9.3.3), but there could be localised inflammation within the peritoneum and the immune cells already recruited are less inhibited by morphine, particularly if it principally inhibits immune cell recruitment. Similar to the elective cholecystectomy patients the peak cytokine concentration occurred at 24 hours in the open approach and 48 hours in the laparoscopic emergency cholecystectomy group.

### Intervention factors - ERCP or OTC and surgery

Concepción-Martin *et al.*, (2016), reported a general non-specific rise in cytokine concentration four hours after elective ERCP. The group developing complications only being reliable differentiated from the other patients from 8 - 12 hours onwards for IL-6 and 24 hours after for TNF- $\alpha$ . We also demonstrated a non-specific increase at 2 hours,

with the group developing sepsis or emergency cholecystectomy not having a significantly higher TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 concentration until 24 hours after ERCP.

Concepción-Martin et al., (2016), proposed an early inhibition of the cytokine response secondary to the instrumentation of the biliary tree. Also described by Chen et al., (2003), in their model of post ERCP pancreatitis. Pro-inflammatory cytokines not rising until 8 hours after pancreatic injury, and not being detected systemically until 24 to 48 hours after the procedure. This would fit the delay demonstrated for both approaches in the rise in cytokine concentration for patients who had recent ERCP or OTC and surgery. Potentially factors around laparoscopic surgery delaying the cytokine increase further. This delayed cytokine response after recent ERCP or OTC has not previously been reported. The exact reason is unclear it is hypothesised the obstruction of the system and the biliary stasis could inhibit cytokine response. Recent ERCP causing oedema of the tract sub-clinically affecting drainage. Bile is known to inhibitory to the increase in concentration of the inflammatory cytokines, but not inhibitory to cytokines such as IL-10 (Nesseler et al., 2012). Table 8.2.3 demonstrates a greater rate of sepsis in those who had recent ERCP or OTC with cholecystectomy than those who underwent cholecystectomy alone, regardless of the approach to surgery. Alternatively a 'septic nidus' with biliary stasis could proliferate without, or eliciting a minimal, inflammatory cytokine response. Only following surgery is the systemic cytokine concentration increased. It is not supported by the immediate rise in cytokine concentration seen in the biliary emergency patients undergoing emergency ERCP and the elective ERCP patients developing sepsis demonstrating an increase in inflammatory cytokine concentration at two hours following ERCP.

### Other factors - Type of sepsis and co-morbidities

Laparoscopic approach patients developed significantly more respiratory sepsis following surgery (Table 8.2.7 and 8.4.1), except the laparoscopic cholecystectomy with OTC group. This could be related to the pneumoperitoneum. The OTC patients developed biliary and haematological sepsis possibly because the bile stasis, spillage and instrumentation being more important than the length of the pneumoperitoneum. Potentially they may have pre-procedural biliary sepsis, as they had positive bile cultures. As we did not measure it directly, it is not possible to say whether the bile spillage was sufficient to cause T-cell anergy and decreased proliferation and cytokine

release, seen with peritonitis with macrophages and T-cells (Green and Beere, 2000, Heffernan *et al.*, 2013).

The open approach patients had significantly more positive bile and blood cultures (p = 0.036) (Table 8.2.7). Possibly the open cholecystectomy procedure releases bacteria and localised inflammatory cytokines into the systemic circulation, earlier due to the increased trauma of gaining access. Whereas the generation of the pneumoperitoneum inhibits normal ventilation of the lungs, increasing the risk of chest infections; particularly in those with pre-existing respiratory disease. Post-operative pain limits normal ventilation, predisposing to respiratory complications, this would be expected in the open approach patients, these patients received PCA, and did not have significantly higher pain scores.

Patients for both approaches developing respiratory sepsis tend to require a higher level of care, and tend to be diagnosed later than those with positive blood cultures (Table 8.2.5). Suggesting the sepsis developed post-operatively, supported by the lack of recording of clinical concern on the anaesthetic chart, about current respiratory problems, whereas pre-existing respiratory disease was recorded. Both the respiratory sepsis and the positive bile / blood culture patients scored their pain score in the severe pain group, from enrolment onwards. Therefore the enrolment pain score could be indicating a potential problem or likely hood of longer surgery. Therefore making a case for consideration of prophylactic antibiotics.

We would expect the patients with positive bile cultures to demonstrate an earlier cytokine increase, but there was a uniform delay in the laparoscopic approach patients, and no delay with respiratory sepsis in the open patients (Table 8.2.7). Surgical factors appearing to be more important.

Antibiotic prophylaxis does not appear to be required in the majority of laparoscopic approach patients, who do not develop sepsis after surgery. But in patients with co-existing co-morbidities, particularly respiratory problems, diabetes and smokers this does become important (Table 8.2.6). These patients have significantly more sepsis (p = 0.005). The patients who developed sepsis were also significantly older and more males

developed sepsis in each group in the study (p = 0.004). But overall the men also received more morphine.

Kishimoto study (2009), demonstrated that cytokine concentration decreases with age, and is lower in all males compared to premenopausal females. We did not see a lower cytokine level in the males, but the male patients and the older patients had a higher rate of sepsis, and required a higher level of care to treat their sepsis (Table 8.2.5). But this could also be secondary to the cause of sepsis and a bigger study is required to examine this further. Sacrerdote and Franchi, (2012), found the immunocompromise caused by opiates was more of a significant problem in older patients. Amodeo *et al.*, (2018), demonstrated older patients taking longer to recover from the post-operative immunosuppression, particularly when morphine is used for postoperative analgesia. We had too few episodes of secondary sepsis to be able to comment on this, but we did have more sepsis in the older patient group (Figure 8.2.4).

Potentially age is a confounder because the group developing sepsis were older, and the males were older. Another potential confounder is common bile duct stones are commoner in older patients, which increases the likely hood of recent ERCP or on table cholangiogram, but our patients mean age was not significantly greater in these groups (Table 8.2.3).

### Hypothetical model

Previous research, has focused upon individual factors, or factors only around the generation of the pneumoperitoneum, or analgesia. Single factors alone fail to explain all the variation in finding found in this study and by others. We attempted to describe a model which described the interplay of factors Figure 12.1.2 - 3. The current model still cannot entirely explain the full range of clinical responses seen in this observational study.

This being a single centre observational study with the small numbers and multiple causes of sepsis, it is difficult to draw firm conclusions, this requires a multi-centre approach to have sufficient power to draw firm conclusions. Further clarity would be gained by measuring peritoneal as well as systemic cytokine concentration, but placing a drain is not a routine clinical procedure and patients declined this in the pilot study.

Therefore alternative approaches are required for example measuring cytokine concentration in the bile aspirated for culture, or measuring the cytokine concentration in the bile of all gall bladders removed at cholecystectomy.



Hypothesis for the interaction of factors influencing the cytokine response in patients undergoing ERCP alone (Part a)

**Figure 12.1.2 a:** Hypothesis for cytokine and pain response demonstrated in the study. This Figure should be read in conjunction with Figure 12.1.2 b on the following page. Unsuccess – unsuccessful, pt – patient, lap. chole. – laparoscopic cholecystectomy, Op. – operative.

<u>Hypothesis for the interaction of factors influencing the cytokine</u> response in patients undergoing ERCP (Part b)

ERCP patients going on to have emergency cholecystectomy



**Figure 12.1.2 b:** Hypothesis for cytokine and pain response demonstrated, underlined in capitals is the unexplained factor, where analgesia received increases due to the failed ERCP, but this didn't appear to delay the rise in the cytokine concentration. This should be read in conjunction with Figure 14.1.2 a on the previous page. Op. – operative.



**Figure 12.1.3:** Hypothesis of factors interplaying to alter the timing of the cytokine response after cholecystectomy. Balance is the contribution of negative (-ve) and positive (+ve) factors illustrated above, delaying rise in the laparoscopic approach.

### 12.2 Pain as an early indicator of post procedural sepsis

It has been well demonstrated that the early recognition and treatment of sepsis improves the overall outcome of sepsis. The aim of this study was to find a way to identify sepsis earlier in patients undergoing laparoscopic cholecystectomy. From the pilot study we were aware the cytokine response was not reliable and the pain scores gave an earlier indication of post procedural problems.

The majority of work examining reported pain as a marker of post procedural sepsis, has been following ERCP or elective colorectal surgery. Cote *et al.*, (2015) and Concepción - Martin *et al.*, (2016), recognised pain following ERCP as a good indicator of potential post procedural problems and used it as an indicator for admission. No studies had examined cholecystectomy, or a surgical model where pain was part of the disease course. I was also interested to establish if it were a marker of problems after ERCP, would it be a marker at other points in the gall bladder disease treatment.

Correlating patients pain score, with their cytokine concentration and their outcome of surgery, revealed that as early as four to six hours after cholecystectomy or ERCP those developing sepsis reported significantly more pain. Examining their cytokine concentration at this time point revealed no significant difference in cytokine concentration to patients not developing sepsis in the same arm (Figure 9.3.2 and 3 and 10.3.3 and 10.3.4 for the cholecystectomy patients and Figure 9.2.1 and 10.1.2 for the ERCP patients). In the cytokine discussion we have highlighted the cytokine concentration increase was affected by multiple different factors. In contrast the timing of the pain score becoming significantly greater for the group developing sepsis was remarkably constant. This was seen irrespective of approach to surgery, regardless of recent ERCP or OTC, and in the elective ERCP patients. The timing of this increase in pain score being similar to those demonstrated by Cote *et al.*, (2015) and Concepción - Martin *et al.*, (2016).

#### Pain and the immune system

Watkins and Maier (2005), reported that postoperative pain contributes to immunosuppression, with decreased cell mediated immunity and a reduction in the non-specific immune response. This could be interpreted as explaining the results found in the laparoscopic approach patients, but we see similar reported levels of pain in the

open patients without the delayed rise in cytokine concentration. This supports the hypothesis of other factors, discussed above, having a greater role in delaying the immune response, and post procedural pain being an indicator and not a cause of sepsis.

Nicholson and Hall (2011), discussed the pivotal role that IL-1 has in producing the mediators of the pain response, demonstrating blockade of IL-1 production and it's receptor, improving post-operative pain. Ren and Dubner (2010) reporting IL-1 $\beta$  acting peripherally on the primary afferent neurons to synthesis and release substance P. This study did demonstrate an increase of IL-1 in the open approach and the ERCP patients, at 2 hours, which potentially could contribute to the pain response between 4 and 6 hours. The intra-peritoneal IL-1 levels being reduced by factors around the pneumoperitoneum in the laparoscopic approach patients may explain the reduced post-operative pain after laparoscopic surgery. Systemically we could not demonstrate a significant rise in IL-1 concentration in the laparoscopic approach patients until 48 hours, well after the pain score became significantly different at 4 – 6 hours.

Hsing and Wang (2015), report the recovery in the intra-peritoneal IL-1 concentration at four to six hours following laparoscopic surgery, with this corresponding to an increase in post-operative pain after laparoscopic surgery, and a more significant increase in those with post-operative complications. This would correspond with the timing of the increase in the pain scores in the laparoscopic approach patients, but the same timing was seen in the open approach patients. It has alternatively been proposed that the pain response is secondary to localised increases in inflammatory cytokines within the central nervous system. Watkins and Maier (2005), established that the peripheral cytokines had a minor effect upon the central nervous system, compared with the central nervous system.

Factors discussed in Section 12.1, limit the local cytokine concentration accumulation. In those developing sepsis a certain concentration level of cytokine could invoke a pain response within the peritoneum. Further time being required for the intra-peritoneal concentration to increase and reach the level to spill over into the systemic circulation. Matsuzaki and colleagues (2014), reported that carbon dioxide used to generate the pneumoperitoneum suppressed the inflammatory and metabolic response of peritoneal neutrophils and macrophages until 4 ½ hours after surgery. This has been proposed to

correspond with the increase in pain score in those developing sepsis after laparoscopic surgery. This theory should mean we should be able to recognise sepsis earlier in the open compared to the laparoscopic approach patients but this was not the case.

Concepción – Martin *et al.*, (2016), note an increase in pain score at six hours in those developing post ERCP complications, but no detectable change in systemic cytokine concentration until 12 to 24 hours after ERCP. They report the suppression of the cytokine response after ERCP means that it is not until four to six hours have elapsed for the local concentration to be sufficient to stimulate local nerve fibres within the peritoneum. The increase in intra-peritoneal cytokine concentration not being sufficient to be detected systemically until 12 to 24 hours after intervention. This limits the earlier recognition of sepsis but fits the findings found in this study.

Watkins and Maier, (2005) found localised inflammatory response enhance the sensory nerve terminals expression of opioid receptors, in those developing sepsis after surgery. Suggesting the increased analgesia requirement in the patients developing sepsis occurs as a result of the sepsis, rather than pre-disposing the patient to developing sepsis. Wordliczek *et al.*, (2000) demonstrated local nerve damage following elective surgery increased immune cells within the dorsal root ganglia, which in turn causes a measurable pain response. In this study the patients developing sepsis had longer more difficult procedures, requiring increased dissection (Table 8.4.1).

Wordliczek *et al.*, (2000), demonstrated inhibiting systemic cytokine synthesis prior to laparoscopic cholecystectomy, particularly IL-1, there was decreased requirement for opiates in the post operative period. This implicates the increasing cytokine concentration in those developing sepsis being responsible for the pain, rather than post-operative other factors such as post-operative analgesia causing the sepsis. Mayes and colleagues (1993) described an exaggerated pain response when cytokines flooded over onto healthy neurons, or when they were exposed to bile, or bowel contents, bacteria, fungi or viruses.

Cook *et al.*, (2018), has highlighted the role of other inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6. But this is in inflammatory conditions, such as arthritis, atherosclerosis and Alzheimer's, in which the cytokines are acting directly to increasing responsiveness

to stimulation. The role of cytokines in surgery and sepsis being less clear, and potentially being an interaction between multiple factors. This would fit with the variation in the timing of the cytokine response that we observed, and the constancy of the pain response.

The study did demonstrate that pain is a marker of post-operative sepsis, and although the clinical team did not objectively score the patients pain they did not discharge patients with sepsis, principally because of 'not being quite right or having a lot of pain' (Table 10.3.1). The timing of the diagnosis of each type was consistently later in patients who had undergone laparoscopic surgery compared to those who had open surgery, or ERCP (Table 8.2.5). The patients who required the higher level of care for each approach had their sepsis diagnosed later than those cared for on the ward. As an observational study it is important to highlight that the exact time point for the onset of sepsis was not possible to verify. Particularly as the causes of sepsis were diverse, and we were using systemic cytokine concentration as a proxy for peritoneal cytokine concentration.

Measuring patient's pain would not only permit earlier treatment or closer observation, with potential improvement in outcome, for those with potential septic complications. It would also allow the discharge of those at low risk of complications. Why the patients developing sepsis score their pain higher in the early post-operative period is difficult to fully determine from this observational study. Figure 12.2.1 is the hypothesis we developed to try and explain the results we observed, It is based around the Figures we developed for the changes in cytokine concentration dependent upon the approach to surgery (Figure 12.1.2 a and b and 12.1.3).

# Hypothesis for the findings of the pain score increasing prior to the cytokine concentration in those developing sepsis



**Figure 12.2.1:** Demonstrates a potential hypothsis to explain the findings of this study. The factors in italics are those discussed in Figure 12.1.1 and act as limiters on the increase in the local cytokine concentration. This is the step which determines when the diagnosis of sepsis is made. As this was an observational study it was not possible to test the hypothesis.

### Analgesia

Excluding the significant pain experienced group, men rate their pain higher following cholecystectomy or ERCP. Male participants had a higher rate of sepsis, but this experience of increased pain is seen regardless of developing sepsis. The men received more morphine during their admission, irrespective of the arm they were in. Lloyd *et al.*, (2008), demonstrated a higher concentration of  $\mu$  – opioid receptors in the male mid – brain, correlating with them experiencing greater benefit from the morphine they received. Matching female and male patients they found the female patients scored their pain as high but they benefited less from the morphine administered. Whether the greater use of morphine in the male patients is related to the increased number of cases of sepsis, or the morphine requirements increased due to sepsis, cannot be definitively determined from this study.

The open approach patients all had PCA, whereas the laparoscopic approach patients and the patients in the other arms had analgesia available on request. We asked patients to measure their pain after coughing, important maneuvers to decrease sepsis (Lynch *et al.*, 1997), an action that assesses parietal and visceral pain (Joris *et al.*, 1995). Patients were not very compliant with this. Patients with PCA were less mobile, and this increases the complexity of making comparisons between the groups. Particularly at 24 hours after ERCP or surgery, the mild and significant pain manageable patients not on PCA were mobilising and preparing for discharge, whereas the PCA patients were not.

### 12.3 Significant pain experienced group and the VAS

Within the patients not developing sepsis, in each arm of the study, were a group of patients who experienced more pain than the other patients admitted for the same reason. This group of patients termed 'Significant pain experienced group'.

Pain is obviously subjective and the significant pain experienced patients developed sepsis significantly less frequently (p = 0.008); but expressed similar levels of pain on their VAS scores. The group received equivalent amounts of analgesia to the group developing sepsis. Their reduced rate of sepsis, was due to their shorter history of symptoms and their younger age. The procedures were rated as less complex (Figure 8.4.1), with reduced likely hood of localised inflammation.

Based on the VAS alone it was not possible to distinguish the significant pain experienced group from those developing post-procedural sepsis. The QoL and HAD questionnaires in combination with the VAS permitted us to identify the significant pain experienced patients pre-operatively (Table 11.1 11). This will permit more targeting of treatment to those who are likely to be developing sepsis and those with significant issues with pain management. The non-significant pain experienced patients with lower pain scores after intervention it permits us to consider planning for day surgical procedures, and early discharge if pain is controlled.

Gebhart (2000), stated 'pain is real for the person experiencing it and should not be dismissed but thoroughly investigated.' The significant pain experienced patients' rated their pain higher in the peri-operative period, expected and recalled being in more pain. Up until fours after surgery the significant pain experienced group VAS scores were equivalent to the other pain groups (Figure 10.3.2 – 10.3.4). After this their analgesia requirements, and pain scores increased as the importance of operative factors decreased. This corresponded to when the patients became more alert, and the relevance of psychological factors increased, as did the presence of visitors. This was also the time point the VAS scores in those developing sepsis diverged significantly from the other patients not developing sepsis.

The significant pain experienced group believed their pain was unrecognised (Table 8.4.7), despite receiving significantly more opiate analgesia (Table 8.4.3 and 8.4.4). It

would appear from their VAS scores the benefit they receive from morphine is less, and those on PCA had more unsuccessful attempts recorded. This may be secondary to the increased analgesia they have received prior to admission (Table 8.4.3), with studies highlighting pre-operative analgesia causing hyperalgesia, making it harder to attain adequate post-operative pain relief (Carroll *et al.*, 2004). Their pain should not be dismissed as just their experience of pain, but it was less likely to be due to sepsis.

The expectation was for a group experiencing more pain but not developing sepsis to be found in the severe pain group as well. Careful analysis failed to demonstrate this, and poor rating of QoL was only found in the group within the significant pain group. Discussion with significant pain experienced patients highlighted the chronicity of their pain, with patients potentially becoming habituated to it, and therefore rating their pain score at enrolment as significant but not severe.

The significant pain experienced group was over represented in the biliary colic group. This is a subjective diagnosis, with the majority who rated their pain as mild and significant pain manageable at enrolment being discharged prior to 24 hours and therefore excluded from the study. The group were also over represented in was the open cholecystectomy group. This was unexpected, as the significant pain experienced patients were younger, and younger patients tended to move from open to laparoscopic surgery (Table 8.2.3). Discussion around their decision-making about surgery demonstrated that they were anxious about swapping consultant, in case they had to wait longer and the open surgeon had a shorter waiting list, and they wanted to undergo surgery to reduce their pain. Six patients swapped to the laparoscopic approach, two mild and four significant pain manageable group. Their data was excluded from the analysis in case their preference of approach biased their response. Separate analysis demonstrated they were mainly self employed and wanted to return to work earlier.

It was postulated that the higher dose of analgesia required delayed the diagnosis of sepsis. Principally the additional morphine in the group developing sepsis slowed the rise in cytokine concentration and the development of abnormal SIRS markers. There were no increased cases of sepsis in the significant pain experienced, despite more frequently receiving analgesia prior to admission (Table 8.4.3 and 8.4.4). They also did

not have delayed presentation of sepsis compared to the other groups receiving less analgesia.

The study highlights the divergence between the health professionals' assessment of pain and the patient's experience of pain, and the value of assessment of the effectiveness of analgesia intervention in patients. The value of education about pain management at pre-assessment, during admission and at discharge cannot be underestimated in improving all patients' experiences. Clinic letters indicated there was a paucity of discussion around alternative diagnosis for patients right upper quadrant pain, and alternatives to surgery for its management. Particularly in the significant pain experienced group we have demonstrated a third rated their health as worse, and continued to experience significantly pain up to a year after surgery (Table 8.4.9 and 11.1.12). This raises the question of the benefit they received from cholecystectomy.

### 12.4 Using quality of life measures\_distinguishing groups of patients

Somasekar *et al.*, (2002), demonstrated biliary disease negatively impacts upon patients QoL and HAD scores. Cholecystectomy improves QoL scores on patient rated scores Someasekar *et al.*, (2002) and Yu *et al.*, (2018), and in this study. Within the group undergoing cholecystectomy we, and others, have found a group of patients who do not benefit from surgery (Quintana *et al.*, 2003, 2005). Quintana *et al.*, (2005) study included the SF-36 question 'Compared to one year ago, how would you rate your health in general now?' This was a useful discriminator question for the appropriateness for surgery, but was only beneficial following surgery.

The pilot study demonstrated a group of patients who scored their quality of life poorer, and experienced more pain post-operatively. The study aimed to distinguish this group pre-operatively, allowing us to recognise those developing sepsis that scored their pain in a similar pattern, from this group who did not develop sepsis. This would allow us to commence treatment for sepsis earlier for those who required it. Secondary it would permit discussion around alternatives to surgery, the benefits of surgery and the optimisation of pain management.

Shi *et al.*, (2009) and Quintana *et al.*, (2005 and 2008), have both used QoL measures to identify those who benefitted and did not benefit from cholecystectomy. Shi *et al.*, (2009), calculated the 'Minimal clinically important difference' (MICD) for improvement in QoL, permitting evaluation of whether cholecystectomy had been beneficial to patients. Both have attempted to identify patients pre-operatively where cholecystectomy may not be beneficial.

In this study the mild and significant pain manageable group, QoL score was equivalent to Shi *et al.*, (2009), group 'much better' after cholecystectomy, and Quintanna *et al.*, (2005 and 2008) group of 'appropriate surgical candidates'. The severe pain group scored similar to Shi *et al.*, (2009), 'somewhat better' group and Quintanna *et al.*, (2005 and 2008) group of 'uncertain indication or benefit' group at three months. At six months scoring as 'much better' or Quintanna *et al.*, group of 'appropriate for cholecystectomy'. In this study the severe pain group had more patients developing sepsis than the other groups, and at 3 months those requiring ITU and HDU had not long been discharged.

The significant pain experienced group's quality of life scores did not change significantly pre to post operatively up to twelve months after surgery. Scoring their QoL at the level of Shi *et al.*, (2009) and Quintanna *et al.* (2005 and 2008), groups described as 'inappropriate' for surgery.

Patients identified as appropriate candidates for cholecystectomy improved maximally in body pain, symptom score, vitality and social function. The patients described as 'inappropriate for cholecystectomy' scored minimal improvements in their body pain and psychological domains scores. The severe pain group score was lower in the 'Bodily pain' and the 'Symptom score' domains at 3 months, these domains taking longer to improve. The mental health domains were not uniformly lower at enrolment in the severe pain group, possibly because being unwell garnered more social contact, and had improved at 3 months. This was a distinguisher from the significant pain experienced patients who scored poorer in all domains at enrolment and at 3 months.

The study demonstrated the QoL scores were comparatively reproducible with patients participating in multiple arms of the study being independently reassigned to the same group by their QoL scores with an accuracy of over 70%. The severe pain group was less accurately reassigned to the same group, as the cause of their pain had been treated and they had a lower pain score on readmission. This improved pain was reflected in the QoL scores, and is not seen as a failure of the questionnaires.

### Predicting pre-operatively pain groups

The aim was to develop the findings of Shi *et al.*, (2009) and Quintanna *et al.* (2005 and 2008), and not only discriminate the patients who would not benefit from cholecystectomy prior to surgery; but identify those with postoperative pain which was potentially an indicator of a septic event, from those who required more support with pain management. This we were able to do with questionnaires with good accuracy by the end of the study (Table 11.1.11).

We tried to refine the number of questionnaires required to discriminate the patient's benefit from cholecystectomy, finding the pre-operative VAS permitted identification of the mild and severe pain groups. This left a smaller group, the significant pain group, where the QoL questionnaires were required to sub-divide the group into the significant

pain manageable and experienced group. Removing one questionnaire, particularly the SF-36 and GIQLI, reduced the accuracy. The multiple domain scores in the two questionnaires permitted greater accuracy, by allowing an overall best fit of domain scores (Table 11.1.11). This was important because there was compensation between domains. For example the 'Social function' domain in the severe pain group compensated poor scores in 'Bodily pain', as people visited them due to being off sick. This discriminated them from the significant pain experienced group who scored poorly in both domains. The HAD score, was the quickest to complete, but the reduced number of domains reduced its discrimination power between overlapping groups.

We have also demonstrated the work of Quintana *et al.*, (2005, 2008) and Shi *et al.*, (2009), with cholecystectomy patients, is also valid for patients undergoing OTC or have had a recent ERCP and are undergoing cholecystectomy, and with elective ERCP patients.

### **12.5 Conclusions**

The study has the limitations of being an observational study, with a small number of patients, and hence small number of cases of sepsis, and an imbalance in genders in some groups. The causes of sepsis were diverse, from being related to biliary sepsis, procedural related, or related to co-morbidities, and the level of care required was not standard.

From the pilot to the main study compromises were made to increase the acceptability of the study to patients. This included measuring systemic and not peritoneal cytokines, and reducing and adjusting the timing of measuring the cytokine concentration. This caused a loss of clarity in the timing of the cytokines rising and peaking, and prevented a comparison of the response between the peritoneal cytokine and the systemic cytokines.

We found the significant pain experienced patients experience significant amounts of long-term pain, leading to the question of allocation of resources and the pre-operative counseling patients prior to surgery. Poor adherence to analgesia protocols required adjustment in the results analysis. This lead to the initiation of regular VAS assessment of pain and response to analgesia, and staff and patient education around analgesia, and counseling about pain becoming an integral part of the pre-assessment and discharge pro formas. The QoL results has lead to a more robust assessment of patients pain prior to them being listed for cholecystectomy.

Particularly at 24 hours, there was significant variation between patients mobilising and preparing for discharge and those on PCA. Repeating this study I would tighten the assessment of pain, to enable a more robust comparison between groups. The results analysis would have benefited from the use of a statistics package to highlight areas where the results indicated a significant difference between groups. The study highlighted the difference between the significant pain experienced patients and the other groups. Comparison of this group to others requires caution because of these patients' different psychology and expectations of surgery. The VAS in combination with QoL questionnaires permits identification of this group from the other groups.

Patients developing sepsis after laparoscopic surgery demonstrated a delay in their cytokine response, with interventions such as OTC or having had a recent ERCP also delaying the cytokine response. Notwithstanding the variation in cytokine response, those developing sepsis score their pain significantly higher from six hours onwards.

Previous studies have examined single factors around laparoscopic surgery, or analgesia. This study has examined multiple factors and developed an evidenced based model of how these multiple factors potentially interact to delay the rise in the cytokine concentration following intervention. A higher rate of sepsis has been demonstrated in for example male and older patients, and raises the question of other potential factors interplaying to determine the cytokine response. This includes genetic variation to factors including BMI, co-morbidities and the microbial moiety encountered.

The study permits us to clinically identify those who benefit less from surgery, and in whom alternative diagnosis should be considered and alternative approaches to managing their pain discussed. The quality of life data allows us to distinguish these patients from those developing postoperative complications such as sepsis. This is important with limited health care resources, and central in the appropriate use of antibiotics and early recognition of sepsis.

# Appendix

# Appendix 1 – Quality of life questionnaires

# <u>36-Item Short Form Survey Instrument (SF-36)</u>

### Choose one option for each questionnaire item.

- 1. In general, would you say your health is:
- 1 Excellent
- 2 Very good
- 🔘 3 Good
- 🔘 4 Fair
- 🔘 5 Poor
- 2. Compared to one year ago, how would you rate your health in general now?
- 1 Much better now than one year ago
- 2 Somewhat better now than one year ago
- 3 About the same
- 4 Somewhat worse now than one year ago
- 5 Much worse now than one year ago

The following items are about activities you might do during a typical day. Does **your health now limit you** in these activities? If so, how much?

	Yes, limited a	a Yes, limite	d a	No, not limited at
	lot	little		all
3. <b>Vigorous activities</b> , such as running, lifting heavy objects, participating in strenuous sports	1 (	2	0	3

	Yes, limited a lot	Yes, limited a little	No, not limited at all
Moderate activities, such as on woving a table, pushing a vacuum cleaner, bowling or playing golf	1 0	2 0	3
5. Lifting or carrying groceries	0 1	0 2	Оз
6. Climbing <b>several</b> flights of stairs	O 1	0 2	<b>O</b> 3
7. Climbing <b>one</b> flight of stairs	01	02	<b>O</b> 3
8. Bending, kneeling, or stooping	01	0 2	O 3
9. Walking more than a mile	O 1	02	O 3
10. Walking <b>several blocks</b>	O 1	02	O 3
11. Walking <b>one block</b>	O 1	02	Оз
12. Bathing or dressing yourself	01	<b>O</b> 2	Оз

During the **past 4 weeks**, have you had any of the following problems with your work or other regular daily activities **as a result of your physical health**?

13. Cut down the amount of time you spent on work or other activities	$\supset 1 \rightarrow$	2
---	-------------------------	---

14. Accomplished less than you would like

1 2

)

15. Were limited in the **kind** of work or other activities

16. Had **difficulty** performing the work or other activities (for example, it took extra effort)

During the **past 4 weeks**, have you had any of the following problems with your work or other regular daily activities **as a result of any emotional problems** (such as feeling depressed or anxious)?

. Cut down the <b>amount of time</b> you spent on work or other activities	Yes No
	1/2
. Accomplished less than you would like	1)2
. Didn't do work or other activities as carefully as usual	) 1 ) 2

20. During the **past 4 weeks**, to what extent has your physical health or emotional problems interfered with your normal social activities with family, friends, neighbors, or groups?

- 🔘 1 Not at all
- 2 Slightly
- 3 Moderately
- 4 Quite a bit
- $\bigcirc$  5 Extremely
- 21. How much **bodily** pain have you had during the **past 4 weeks**?
- 🔵 1 None
- 2 Very mild
- 🔘 3 Mild
- 🔵 4 Moderate
- 🔵 5 Severe

)

2

1

### 0 6 - Very severe

22. During the **past 4 weeks**, how much did **pain** interfere with your normal work (including both work outside the home and housework)?



5 - Extremely

These questions are about how you feel and how things have been with you **during the past 4 weeks**. For each question, please give the one answer that comes closest to the way you have been feeling.

How much of the time during the **past 4 weeks**...

	All of Most of the the time time	A Some of the good time bit of the time	A little of the time	None of the time
23. Did you feel full of pep?	0 10 2	0 30 4	0 5	0 6
24. Have you been a very nervous person?	0 10 2	0 30 4	05	0 6
25. Have you felt so down in the dumps that nothing could cheer you up?	0 10 2	0304	05	06
26. Have you felt calm and peaceful?	0 10 2	0 30 4	0 5	0 6

	All of Most of the the time time	A Some of the good time bit of the time	A little of the time	None of the time
27. Did you have a lot of energy?	0 10 2	0 30 4	0 5	0 6
	0 0	0 0	0	0
28. Have you felt downhearted and blue?	1 2	3 4	5	6
29. Did you feel worn out?	0 10 2	0 3 4	0 5	0 6
30. Have you been a happy person?	0 10 2	0 30 4	0 5	0 6
31. Did you feel tired?	0 10 2	0 30 4	0 5	0 6

32. During the **past 4 weeks**, how much of the time has **your physical health or emotional problems** interfered with your social activities (like visiting with friends, relatives, etc.)?

- 1 All of the time
- 2 Most of the time
- 3 Some of the time
- 4 A little of the time
- 5 None of the time

How TRUE or FALSE is **each** of the following statements for you.

	Definitely true	Mostly true	Don't know	Mostly false	Definitely false
33. I seem to get sick a little easier than other people	0 1	02	03	04	0 5
34. I am as healthy as anybody I know	0 1	02	Оз	04	05
35. I expect my health to get worse	0 1	02	Оз	04	05
36. My health is excellent	0 1	0 2	Оз	O 4	05
### **GIQLI Survey Questionnaire**

The Gastrointestinal Quality of Life Index (GIQLI) Please circle one choice for each question.

1. How often during the past 2 weeks have you had pain in the abdomen?

- 1. All of the time
- 2. Most of the time
- 3. Some of the time
- 4. A little of the time
- 5. Never

2. How often during the past 2 weeks have you had a feeling of fullness in the upper abdomen?

- 1. All of the time
- 2. Most of the time
- 3. Some of the time
- 4. A little of the time
- 5. Never

3. How often during the past 2 weeks have you had bloating (sensation of too much gas in the abdomen)?

- 1. All of the time
- 2. Most of the time
- 3. Some of the time
- 4. A little of the time
- 5. Never

4. How often during the past 2 weeks have you been troubled by excessive passage of gas through the anus?

- 1. All of the time
- 2. Most of the time
- 3. Some of the time
- 4. A little of the time
- 5. Never

5. How often during the past 2 weeks have you been troubled by strong burping o r belching?

- 1. All of the time
- 2. Most of the time
- 3. Some of the time
- 4. A little of the time
- 5. Never

6. How often during the past 2 weeks have you been troubled by gurgling noises from the abdomen?

- 1. All of the time
- 2. Most of the time
- 3. Some of the time
- 4. A little of the time
- 5. Never

7 How often during the past 2 weeks have you been troubled by frequent bowel movements?

- 1. All of the time
- 2. Most of the time
- 3. Some of the time
- 4. A little of the time
- 5. Never

8. How often during the past 2 weeks have you found eating to be a pleasure?

- 1. All of the time
- 2. Most of the time
- 3. Some of the time
- 4. A little of the time
- 5. Never

9. Because of your illness, to what extent have you restricted the kinds of food you eat?

- 1. Very much
- 2. Much
- 3. Somewhat
- 4. A little
- 5. Not at all

10. During the past 2 weeks, how well have you been able to cope with everyday stresses?

- 1. Extremely poorly
- 2. Poorly
- 3. Moderately
- 4. Well
- 5. Extremely well

11. How often during the past 2 weeks have you been sad about being ill?

- 1. All of the time
- 2. Most of the time
- 3. Some of the time
- 4. A little of the time
- 5. Never

12. How often during the past 2 weeks have you been nervous or anxious about your illness?

- 1. All of the time
- 2. Most of the time
- 3. Some of the time
- 4. A little of the time
- 5. Never

13. How often during the past 2 weeks have you been happy with life in general?

- 1. Never
- 2. A little of the time
- 3. Some of the time
- 4. Most of the time
- 5. All of the time

14. How often during the past 2 weeks have you been frustrated about your illness?

- 1. All of the time
- 2. Most of the time
- 3. Some of the time
- 4. A little of the time
- 5. Never

15. How often during the past 2 weeks have you been tired or fatigued?

- 1. All of the time
- 2. Most of the time
- 3. Some of the time
- 4. A little of the time
- 5. Never

16. How often during the past 2 weeks have you felt unwell?

- 1. All of the time
- 2. Most of the time
- 3. Some of the time
- 4. A little of the time
- 5. Never

17. Over the past week, have you woken up in the night?

- 1. Every night
- 2. 5-6 nights
- 3. 3-4 nights
- 4. 1-2 nights
- 5. Never

18. Since becoming ill, have you been troubled by changes in your appearance?

- 1. A great deal
- 2. A moderate amount
- 3. Somewhat
- 4. A little bit
- 5. Not at all

19. Because of your illness, how much physical strength have you lost?

- 1. A great deal
- 2. A moderate amount
- 3. Somewhat
- 4. A little bit
- 5. Not at all

20. Because of your illness, to what extent have you lost your endurance?

- 1. A great deal
- 2. A moderate amount
- 3. Somewhat
- 4. A little bit
- 5. Not at all
- 21. Because of your illness, to what extent do you feel unfit?
  - 1. Extremely unfit
  - 2. Moderately unfit
  - 3. Somewhat unfit
  - 4. A little unfit
  - 5. Fit

22. During the past 2 weeks, how often have you been able to complete your normal daily activities (school, work, household)?

- 1. All of the time
- 2. Most of the time
- 3. Some of the time
- 4. A little of the time
- 5. Never

23. During the past 2 weeks, how often have you been able to take part in your usual patterns of leisure or recreational activities?

- 1. All of the time
- 2. Most of the time
- 3. Some of the time
- 4. A little of the time
- 5. Never

24. During the past 2 weeks, how much have you been troubled by the medical treatment of your illness?

- 1. Very much
- 2. Much
- 3. Somewhat
- 4. A little
- 5. Not at all

25. To what extent have your personal relations with people close to you (family or friends) worsened because of your illness?

- 1. Very much
- 2. Much
- 3. Somewhat
- 4. A little
- 5. Not at all

26. To what extent has your sexual life been impaired (harmed) because of your illness?

- 1. Very much
- 2. Much
- 3. Somewhat
- 4. A little
- 5. Not at all

27. How often during the past 2 week, have you been troubled by fluid or food coming up into your mouth (regurgitation)?

- 1. All of the time
- 2. Most of the time
- 3. Some of the time
- 4. A little of the time
- 5. Never

28. How often during the past 2 weeks have you felt uncomfortable because of your slow speed of eating?

- 1. All of the time
- 2. Most of the time
- 3. Some of the time
- 4. A little of the time
- 5. Never

29. How often during the past 2 weeks have you had trouble swallowing your food?

- 1. All of the time
- 2. Most of the time
- 3. Some of the time
- 4. A little of the time
- 5. Never

30. How often during the past 2 weeks have you been troubled by urgent bowel movements?

- 1. All of the time
- 2. Most of the time
- 3. Some of the time
- 4. A little of the time
- 5. Never

31. How often during the past 2 weeks have you been troubled by diarrhea?

- 1. All of the time
- 2. Most of the time
- 3. Some of the time
- 4. A little of the time
- 5. Never

32. How often during the past 2 weeks have you been troubled by constipation?

- 1. All of the time
- 2. Most of the time
- 3. Some of the time
- 4. A little of the time
- 5. Never

33. How often during the past 2 weeks have you been troubled by nausea?

- 1. All of the time
- 2. Most of the time
- 3. Some of the time
- 4. A little of the time
- 5. Never

34. How often during the past 2 weeks have you been troubled by blood in the stool?

- 1. All of the time
- 2. Most of the time
- 3. Some of the time
- 4. A little of the time
- 5. Never

35. How often during the past 2 weeks have you been troubled by heartburn?

- 1. All of the time
- 2. Most of the time
- 3. Some of the time
- 4. A little of the time
- 5. Never

36. How often during the past 2 weeks have you been troubled by uncontrolled stools?

- 1. All of the time
- 2. Most of the time
- 3. Some of the time
- 4. A little of the time
- 5. Never

### Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS)

**Instructions:** Read each item and circle the reply which comes closest to how you have been feeling in the past week. Don't take too long over your replies: your immediate reaction to each item will probably be more accurate than a long thought out response.

3

0

I feel tense or 'wound up':	
Most of the time	3
A lot of the time	2
Time to time, occasionally	1
Not at all	0

### I still enjoy the things I used to enjoy:

Definitely as much	0
Not quite so much	1
Only a little	2
Not at all	3

### I get a sort of frightened feeling like something awful is about to happen: Very definitely and quite badly

## Yes, but not too badly2A little, but it doesn't worry me1

Not at all

### I feel as if I am slowed down:

Nearly all of the time	3
Very often	2
Sometimes	1
Not at all	0

#### I get a sort of frightened feeling like 'butterflies in the stomach': Not at all

i tot at an		•
Occasionally	/	1
Quite often		2
Very often		3

### I have lost interest in my appearance:

Definitely	3
l don't take as much care as l should	2
I may not take quite as much care	1
l take just as much care as ever	0

PTO

0

### I can laugh and see the funny side of things:

0 1

2

3

0

As much as I always could
Not quite so much now
Definitely not so much now
Not at all

### Worrying thoughts go through my mind:

A great deal of the time	3
A lot of the time	2
From time to time but not too often	1
Only occasionally	0

### I feel cheerful:

Not at all	3
Not often	2
Sometimes	1
Most of the time	0

### I can sit at ease and feel relaxed: Definitely

Usually	1
Not often	2
Not at all	3

# I feel restless as if I have to<br/>be on the move:3Very much indeed3Quite a lot2Not very much1Not at all0

### I look forward with enjoyment to things:

A much as I ever did	0
Rather less than I used to	1
Definitely less than I used to	3
Hardly at all	2

### I get sudden feelings of

panic:	
Very often indeed	3
Quite often	2
Not very often	1
Not at all	0

### l can enjoy a good book or radio or TV programme:

Often	0
Sometimes	1
Not often	2
Very seldom	3

### Appendix

### **Appendix 2** – **Conclusions from the pilot study group meeting**

Point	Decision		
Patients' believed	Discussion around how to be more clear in the		
their reported pain	study recruitment that the study team was		
was not addressed	separate from the clinical team and did not relay		
	information between them		
	Patients had felt let down by this		
	Decision made about written and repeated		
	verbal information about the study group		
	being separate at each clinical encounter		
Too frequent blood	Aware we had had problems recruiting because		
tests	of this and patients believed they were a		
	significant block to participation		
	Decision made to perform blood test at		
	enrolment, one following the procedure and		
	then every 24 hours. I was concerned we'd		
	miss peaks in cytokine concentration but		
	wanted a representative group to participate		
Discussion with	Patients highlighted minimal discussion with them		
patients about	about analgesia, even at discharge and frequent		
analgesia	delays in medication		
	Decision made to educate staff with posters		
	and presentations by myself and the		
	pharmacist at ward, departmental meetings		
	and staff induction. Information about the		
	study included		

### Patients' concerns from the review study group meeting

**Appendix Table 2.1.1:** Detailing the patients' principal concerns and the conclusions, which were reached, and adjustments made to the study protocol. The decision is in italics.

### Procedural concerns from the review study group meeting

Point	Decision	
Drain fluid cytokine concentration rose ahead of the systemic cytokine concentration	Discussion around drain insertion and reassurance that it would be placed in a port site in the laparoscopic approach patients Clinicians felt it inappropriate to place drains, the ERCP and biliary emergency patients would only have systemic cytokines and drains would only be placed in high risk patients therefore was the comparison valid <b>Decision made to measure systemic cytokines only</b>	
VAS or VRS	The VRS scores had demonstrated digit preference, particularly for whole or ½ integers. The group experiencing a lot of pain had scored their least and worst pain 5 or 10. The relationship was good between VAS and VRS but VAS gave a greater scatter of results Decision made to use the VAS patient preference to use the simpler VAS in part b of <u>Figure 4.7.2 page 117</u> as the others confusing in the early period after anaesthesia. To also use this for least and worst pain	
Timing and administration of the VAS	The majority of the 11 and 17 hours VAS administered by the nurses were incomplete or completed at 24 hours. Patients were happy to measure the VAS more frequently than blood tests, but staff and patients did not want their, or other patients, rest disturbed. Not all patients were mobile and patients had been poorly compliant with the request to cough immediately before completing the questionnaire. We also discussed about the questionnaire and analgesia <i>Decision made to complete additional VAS at 4 and 6 hours, to encourage the patients to be compliant with coughing. To score the VAS twice to measure reproducibility</i>	
Analgesia protocol	Poor adherence to the pain protocol, in particularly the administration of NSAID's, but also paracetamol. Study was conducted prior to i.v. paracetamol being on the hospital formulary. Discussed about the other routes that were available and the other forms of analgesia, other than strong opiates <b>Decision made to educate staff with posters and presentations by myself</b> <b>and the pharmacist at ward, departmental meetings and staff induction.</b> <b>Information about the study included</b>	
Trainees performing the procedures	Trainees performed ERCP and cholecystectomy and were mainly first year trainees Decision made to perform the study in the second six months of the higher trainees attachment to the firm, which would also coincide with the junior doctors second six months of foundation year and therefore people should be more experienced and proficient	
Standardise the local anaesthesia approach and anaesthesia protocol	No decision could be reached Decision made to differ and to look if one route of local analgesia was optimal	
Lack of space and time on the morning of surgery	Everyone was aware there was a lack of space and time for everyone to see the patients and consent them for the theatre and the study and for them to complete the questionnaires. Offered to complete the QoL and consent in advance, but still concern over this <i>Decision made to complete consent, VAS, bloods and QoL at pre-assessment, but ERCP patients could be seen on the day of the procedure due to the list time</i>	
Taking cytokine concentration at the time of diagnosis of sepsis	This had failed as the lead investigator had not been called, no feasible solution to this Decision made to record from the notes the time of diagnosis and SIRS and continue cytokine concentration measurements at the set times in the study	

Appendix Table 2.1.2: Details procedural concerns and decisions of protocol changes.

Point	Decision		
Financial concerns	Reducing the number of blood tests and not sampling drain fluid would reduce the number of ELISA kits required <b>Decision made to not sample drain fluid and</b> <b>reduce the number of kits</b>		
Variation between ELISA plates	Concerns about differences between plates and whether the differences were due to changes in cytokine concentration or differences between plates Decision made to run the control patients samples on multiple plates to act as internal controls but this would require more blood to be taken from the controls		
Taking one control sample and number of controls, gender and ethnic variation	There was interest whether there was diurnal variation in cytokine concentration Decision made to enrol 15 controls and commence one control in the study every hour from 8am to 10pm. We enroled 5 men and included 5 non Caucasian controls to look for variation between groups. There was no diurnal variation, found therefore subsequent samples could have been standardised to the times of the main theatre list. But it allowed diurnal variation to be excluded from differences in the biliary emergency group		

### Experimental concerns from the review study group meeting

**Appendix Table 2.1.3:** Detailing the concerns and the conclusions around the experimental work, and adjustments made to the study protocol. The decision is in italics.

### Appendix

### **Appendix 3 - Patient Information Forms**

Patient information forms for

•	Those admitted	with biliary en	nergencies	page 373
---	----------------	-----------------	------------	----------

- Those attending for planned ERCP page 377
- Those attending for elective cholecystectomy page 381
- Those attending for elective cholecystectomy who have had previous ERCP page 385
- Those attending for elective cholecystectomy and on table cholangiogram

page 389

• Those having urgent ERCP / urgent cholecystectomy / post cholecystectomy surgery (the alternatives were deleted as appropriate

		page 393
•	Healthy controls	page 397

### Patient information sheet for those admitted with biliary emergencies

### Introduction

You have been asked to take part in the study because the doctors looking after you think that gallstones are the cause of the pain you have in your abdomen (tummy).

The study is asking people who have gallstones causing problems to take part to see how the body responds to the gallstones. We are looking at markers of infection and seeing what happens to them when you have pain or problems from your gallstones. We are also looking at your level of pain to see if it can show us earlier when you have gallstone problems.

### What will happen if I take part?

The research doctor will explain the study to you and then ask you to read this leaflet. What will happen to you is shown in a plan of the study on page 3 of this leaflet. If you decide you want to take part, you will be asked to sign a form (consent form) to say you agree to take part.

The infection markers are found in your blood so we will be asking to take some blood samples as in the diagram. At each time about 5 - 10mls of blood (one - two teaspoons) is taken. It maybe a little uncomfortable having the blood test taken and you can sometimes get a bruise afterwards. Blood tests will be at the start, two and 24 hours. We will try and combine the blood tests with other blood tests you have to investigate the gallstones so you don't need to have too many blood tests. If you are worried about the blood tests you can just complete the pain scores and questionnaire, please tell the researcher.

At the same time as having the blood test the research doctor will ask you to put a mark on a line to show how much pain you have at that moment. This will be repeated after the blood test, in case being worried about your blood test changes how much pain you have. If you are still in hospital the following day we will ask you to tell us the most and the least pain you had experienced over the 24 hours. The researcher will tell you if it is the pain now or over the 24 hours being scored. Pain will be scored at the start, 2, 4, 6 and 24 hours after starting the study.

We also want to know how the pain affects your normal daily life and so we will also be asking you to fill in a questionnaire about this at the start. We are interested to see how this changes so will ask your permission to post or complete by telephone these questionnaires at 3, 6 and 12 months after being in hospital.

We also ask your permission to look at your hospital notes and occasionally contact your GP (family doctor) to see how many times you

have needed to see a doctor for about your gallstones and your general health.

### What will happen to my information and my blood?

When you sign the form to take part your information will be given a code to identify it. All your information will be marked identified by this code, and not your name to make it anonymous (no one can identify it as you). Information will be kept on secure computers and will just be kept under the code number. One list of names with code numbers will be kept securely on a separate computer, this will allow us to contact you to send the questionnaires out.

### What happens if I don't take part?

If you decide you do not want to take part it will not change how the doctors look after you care for you. Just tell the research doctor you don't want to take part; you don't have to give a reason.

### What happens if I change my mind?

If you take part, but then decide you no longer want to carry on in the trial, just contact the research doctor and tell us. Again you don't have to give a reason for no longer taking part. We will ask you if you want us to remove all your information already entered out of the trial. Alternatively you can allow us to use the information we already have, but not gather any more information. This will not affect your care. We will destroy all your blood samples in storage.

### Do I need to know anything else?

If you have certain tests or have an operation to have your gallbladder taken out (a cholecystectomy), we will ask your permission again to collect information about these tests or surgery. You do not have to take part in the other parts of the research.

The research doctor is a different doctor to the doctors looking after you for your gallstones. The information the research doctor has about your pain will not be available to the doctors looking after you. They will not assess you for pain, or give you pain killers, the research doctor will ask you to tell the team looking after you so they can assess you. You will need to explain to the doctors looking after you about your pain. The reason for this is we are trying to make your as normal as possible.

With your permission the research doctor will let your GP (family doctor) know you are taking part in the research in case we need to ask them information from your GP notes. This information will be about how long you have had problems with your gallstones, what problems and treatment you have had. Please tell us if you don't want us to contact your family doctor.

### The Study Plan





### How do I contact the research team?

Please keep this information sheet as it tells you about the study. If there are questions, change in details or you wish to withdraw then please contact as below and ask for Doctor Rachel Soulsby.

Telephone number **0115 969 1169** (this maybe an answer phone, please leave your contact details and a preferred time to return the call).

Or email <u>nuhgallstonestudy@nuh.nhs.uk</u>

Or write Nottingham City Hospital, Hucknall Road, Nottingham, Nottinghamshire NG5 1PB

Thank you for considering taking part the researcher will come back and ask if you have any questions and to sign the consent form.

### Patient information sheet for those attending for planned ERCP

### **Introduction**

You have been asked to take part in the study because the doctors looking after you think that gallstones are the cause of the pain you have in your abdomen (tummy), and possibly the problem with your blood test that is causing your skin to be a yellowish colour (jaundice).

The study is asking people who have gallstones causing problems to take part to see how the body responds to the gallstones. We are looking at markers of infection and seeing how they change when you have pain, problems from your gallstones or investigations for your gallstones. We are also looking at your level of pain to see if it can show us earlier when you have gallstone problems or any problems after tests for your gallstones.

### What will happen if I take part?

The research doctor will explain the study to you and then ask you to read this leaflet. What will happen to you is shown in a diagram on page 3 of this leaflet. If you decide you want to take part, you will be asked to sign a form (consent form) to say you agree to take part.

The infection markers are found in your blood so we will be asking to take some blood samples as in the diagram. At each time about 5 - 10mls of blood (one - two teaspoons) is taken. It maybe a little uncomfortable having the blood test taken and you can sometimes get a bruise afterwards. Blood tests will be at the start, two and 24 hours after the ERCP test. We will always try and combine the blood tests with blood tests required for the ERCP test so you don't need to have too many blood tests. If you are worried about having blood tests you can just complete the pain scores and questionnaire, please tell the research doctor.

At the same time as having the blood test the research doctor will ask you to put a mark on a line to show how much pain you have at that moment. This will be repeated after the blood test, in case being worried about your blood test changes how much pain you have. If you are still in hospital the following day we will ask you to tell us the most and the least pain you had experienced over the 24 hours. The researcher will tell you if it is the pain now or over the 24 hours being scored. Pain will be scored at the start, 2, 4, 6 and 24 hours after the ERCP test.

We also want to know how the pain affects your normal daily life and so we will also be asking you to fill in a questionnaire about this. We are interested to see how this changes so will ask your permission to post or complete by telephone these questionnaires in 3, 6 and 12 months after your ERCP test.

### What will happen to my information and my blood?

When you sign the form to take part your information will be given a code to identify it. All your information will be marked identified by this code, and not your name to make it anonymous (no one can identify it as you). Information will be kept on secure computers and will just be kept under the code number. One list of names with code numbers will be kept securely on a separate computer, this will allow us to contact you to send the questionnaires out.

### What happens if I don't take part?

If you decide you do not want to take part it will not change how the doctors look after you care for you. Just tell the research doctor you don't want to take part; you don't have to give a reason.

### What happens if I change my mind?

If you take part, but then decide you no longer want to carry on in the trial, just contact the research doctor and tell us. Again you don't have to give a reason for no longer taking part. We will ask you if you want us to remove all your information already entered out of the trial. Alternatively you can allow us to use the information we already have, but not gather any more information. This will not affect your care. We will destroy all your blood samples in storage.

### Do I need to know anything else?

If you are admitted to hospital with problems from your gallstones or have an operation to have your gallbladder taken out (a cholecystectomy), we will ask your permission again to collect information about these tests or surgery. You do not have to take part in the other parts of the research.

The research doctor is a different doctor to the doctors looking after you for your gallstones. The information the research doctor has about your pain will not be available to the doctors looking after you. They will not assess you for pain, or give you pain killers, the research doctor will ask you to tell the team looking after you so they can assess you. You will need to explain to the doctors looking after you about your pain. The reason for this is we are trying to make your as normal as possible.

With your permission the research doctor will let your GP (family doctor) know you are taking part in the research in case we need to ask them information from your GP notes. This information will be about how long you have had problems with your gallstones, what problems and treatment you have had. Please tell us if you don't want us to contact your family doctor.

### The Study Plan





### How do I contact the research team?

Please keep this information sheet as it tells you about the study. If there are questions, change in details or you wish to withdraw then please contact as below and ask for Doctor Rachel Soulsby.

Telephone number **0115 969 1169** (this maybe an answer phone, please leave your contact details and a preferred time to return the call).

Or email <u>nuhgallstonestudy@nuh.nhs.uk</u>

Or write Nottingham City Hospital, Hucknall Road, Nottingham, Nottinghamshire NG5 1PB

Thank you for considering taking part the researcher will come back and ask if you have any questions and to sign the consent form.

### Patient information sheet for those admitted for elective cholecystectomy (surgery to remove the gallbladder)

### Introduction

You have been asked to take part in the study because the doctors looking after you are planning an operation to remove your gallbladder. This is because they think the gallstones are the cause of the pain you have in your abdomen (tummy).

The study is asking people who have gallstones causing problems to take part to see how the body responds to the gallstones. We are looking at markers of infection and seeing what happens to them when you have pain or problems from your gallstones, or surgery for your gallstones. We are also looking at your level of pain to see if it can show us earlier when you have gallstone problems, or any problems after surgery for your gallstones.

### What will happen if I take part?

The research doctor will explain the study to you and then ask you to read this leaflet. What will happen to you is shown in a diagram on page 3 of this leaflet. If you decide you want to take part, you will be asked to sign a form (consent form) to say you agree to take part.

The infection markers are found in your blood so we will be asking to take some blood samples as in the diagram. At each time about 5 - 10mls of blood (one - two teaspoons) is taken. It maybe a little uncomfortable having the blood test taken and you can sometimes get a bruise afterwards. Blood tests will be at the start, two, and 24 hours after the surgery. We will always try and combine the blood tests with blood tests required for the surgery (cholecystectomy) so you don't need to have too many blood tests. If you are worried about having blood tests you can just do the pain score and the questionnaires, please tell the research doctor.

At the same time as having the blood test the research doctor will ask you to put a mark on a line to show how much pain you have at that moment. This will be repeated after the blood test, in case being worried about your blood test changes how much pain you have. If you are still in hospital the following day we will ask you to tell us the most and the least pain you had experienced over the 24 hours. The researcher will tell you if it is the pain now or over the 24 hours being scored. Pain will be scored at the start, 2, 4, 6 and 24 hours after the surgery (cholecystectomy).

We also want to know how the pain affects your normal daily life and so we will also be asking you to fill in a questionnaire about this. We are interested to see how this changes so will ask your permission to post or complete by telephone these questionnaires in 3, 6 and 12 months after being in hospital.

We also ask your permission to look at your hospital notes and occasionally contact your GP (family doctor) to see how many times you have needed to see a doctor about your gallstones and your general health.

### What will happen to my information and my blood?

When you sign the form to take part your information will be given a code to identify it. All your information will be marked identified by this code, and not your name to make it anonymous (no one can identify it as you). Information will be kept on secure computers and will just be kept under the code number. One list of names with code numbers will be kept securely on a separate computer, this will allow us to contact you to send the questionnaires out.

### What happens if I don't take part?

If you decide you do not want to take part it will not change how the doctors look after you care for you. Just tell the research doctor you don't want to take part; you don't have to give a reason.

### What happens if I change my mind?

If you take part, but then decide you no longer want to carry on in the trial, just contact the research doctor and tell us. Again you don't have to give a reason for no longer taking part. We will ask you if you want us to remove all your information already entered out of the trial. Alternatively you can allow us to use the information we already have, but not gather any more information. This will not affect your care. We will destroy all your blood samples in storage.

### Do I need to know anything else?

If you have certain tests following surgery for gallstones, we will ask your permission again to collect information about these tests or surgery. You do not have to take part in the other parts of the research.

The research doctor is a different doctor to the doctors looking after you for your gallstones. The information the research doctor has about your pain will not be available to the doctors looking after you. The research doctor also will not assess you for pain, or give you pain killers, the research doctor will ask you to tell the team looking after you so they can assess you. You will need to explain to the doctors looking after you about your pain. The reason for this is we are trying to make your as normal as possible.

With your permission the research doctor will let your GP (family doctor) know you are taking part in the research in case we need to ask them information from your GP notes. This information will be about how long you have had problems with your gallstones, what problems and treatment you have had. Please tell us if you don't want us to contact your family doctor.

### The Study Plan





### How do I contact the research team?

Please keep this information sheet as it tells you about the study. If there are questions, change in details or you wish to withdraw then please contact as below and ask for Doctor Rachel Soulsby.

Telephone number **0115 969 1169** (this maybe an answer phone, please leave your contact details and a preferred time to return the call).

Or email <u>nuhgallstonestudy@nuh.nhs.uk</u>

Or write Nottingham City Hospital, Hucknall Road, Nottingham, Nottinghamshire NG5 1PB

Thank you for considering taking part the researcher will come back and ask if you have any questions and to sign the consent form.

### Patient information sheet for admissions for elective cholecystectomy (gallbladder removal surgery) whom have had previous ERCP

### **Introduction**

You have been asked to take part in the study because the doctors looking after you are planning an operation to remove your gallbladder. They think that gallstones are the cause of the pain you have in your abdomen (tummy).

The study is asking people who have gallstones causing problems to take part to see how the body responds to the gallstones. We are looking at markers of infection and seeing what happens to them when you have pain or problems from your gallstones, or surgery for your gallstones. We are also looking at your level of pain to see if it can show us earlier when you have gallstone problems, or any problems after surgery for your gallstones. We are interested to see if your previous ERCP (telescope test to investigate your stones) affects how your body responds to surgery, either with blood markers or pain.

### What will happen if I take part?

The research doctor will explain the study to you and then ask you to read this leaflet. What will happen to you is shown in a diagram on page 3 of this leaflet. If you decide you want to take part, you will be asked to sign a form (consent form) to say you agree to take part.

The infection markers are found in your blood so we will be asking to take some blood samples as in the diagram. At each time about 5 - 10mls of blood (one - two teaspoons) is taken. It maybe a little uncomfortable having the blood test taken and you can sometimes get a bruise afterwards. We will try and combine blood tests with those required for surgery (cholecystectomy) so you don't need to have too many blood tests. If you are worried about having blood tests you can just do the pain score and the questionnaires, please tell the research doctor.

At the same time as having the blood test the research doctor will ask you to put a mark on a line to show how much pain you have at that moment. This will be repeated after the blood test, in case being worried about your blood test changes how much pain you have. If you are still in hospital the following day we will ask you to tell us the most and the least pain you had experienced over the 24 hours. The researcher will tell you if it is the pain now or over the 24 hours being scored. Pain will be scored at the start, 2, 4, 6, and 24 hours after the surgery (cholecystectomy).

We also want to know how the pain affects your normal daily life and so we will also be asking you to fill in a questionnaire about this. We are interested to see how this changes so will ask permission to post or complete by telephone these questionnaires in 3, 6 and 12 months after surgery. We ask

permission to look at your hospital notes and occasionally contact your GP (family doctor) to see how the gallstones affect you and about your general health. This includes information about your ERCP.

### What will happen to my information and my blood?

When you sign the form to take part your information will be given a code to identify it. All your information will be marked identified by this code, and not your name to make it anonymous (no one can identify it as you). Information will be kept on secure computers and will just be kept under the code number. One list of names with code numbers will be kept securely on a separate computer, this will allow us to contact you to send the questionnaires out.

### What happens if I don't take part?

If you decide you do not want to take part it will not change how the doctors look after you care for you. Just tell the research doctor you don't want to take part; you don't have to give a reason.

### What happens if I change my mind?

If you take part, but then decide you no longer want to carry on in the trial, just contact the research doctor and tell us. Again you don't have to give a reason for no longer taking part. We will ask you if you want us to remove all your information already entered. Alternatively you can allow us to use the information we already have, but not gather any further information. This will not affect your care. We will destroy all your blood samples in storage.

### Do I need to know anything else?

If you have certain tests following surgery for gallstones, we will ask your permission again to collect information about these tests or surgery. You do not have to take part in the other parts of the research.

The research doctor is a different doctor to the doctors looking after you for your gallstones. The information the research doctor has about your pain will not be available to the doctors looking after you. The research doctor also will not assess you for pain, or give you pain killers, the research doctor will ask you to tell the team looking after you so they can assess you. You will need to explain to the doctors looking after you about your pain. The reason for this is we are trying to make your as normal as possible.

With your permission the research doctor will let your GP (family doctor) know you are taking part in the research in case we need to ask them information from your GP notes. This information will be about how long you have had problems with your gallstones, what problems and treatment you have had. Please tell us if you don't want us to contact your family doctor.

### The Study Plan





### How do I contact the research team?

Please keep this information sheet as it tells you about the study. If there are questions, change in details or you wish to withdraw then please contact as below and ask for Doctor Rachel Soulsby.

Telephone number **0115 969 1169** (this maybe an answer phone, please leave your contact details and a preferred time to return the call).

Or email <u>nuhgallstonestudy@nuh.nhs.uk</u>

Or write Nottingham City Hospital, Hucknall Road, Nottingham, Nottinghamshire NG5 1PB

Thank you for considering taking part the researcher will come back and ask if you have any questions and to sign the consent form.

### Patient information sheet for admissions for elective cholecystectomy (gallbladder removal surgery) with on table cholangiogram (OTC) (investigation of the bile duct)

### **Introduction**

You have been asked to take part in the study because the doctors looking after you are planning an operation to remove your gall bladder at the same time they will check no stones are blocking the pathway from the gallbladder to the bowl. They think that gallstones are the cause of the pain you have in your abdomen (tummy). Possibly a stone in the pathway to the bowel has caused your liver blood tests to be altered.

The study is asking people who have gallstones causing problems to take part to see how the body responds to the gallstones. We are looking at markers of infection and seeing what happens to them when you have pain or problems from your gallstones, or surgery for your gall stones. We are looking at your level of pain to see if it can show us earlier when you have gallstone problems, or any problems with surgery for your gallstones. We are interested to see if the bile duct exploration affects how your body responds to surgery, either with blood markers or pain.

### What will happen if I take part?

The research doctor will explain the study to you and then ask you to read this leaflet. What will happen to you is shown in a diagram on page 3 of this leaflet. If you decide you want to take part, you will be asked to sign a form (consent form) to say you agree to take part.

The infection markers are found in your blood so we will be asking to take some blood samples as in the diagram. At each time about 5 - 10mls of blood (one to two teaspoons) is taken. It maybe a little uncomfortable having the blood test taken and you can sometimes get a bruise afterwards. We will try and combine blood tests with those required for surgery (cholecystectomy so you don't need to have too many blood tests. If you are worried about having blood tests you can just complete the pain scores and questionnaire, please tell the research doctor.

At the same time as having the blood test the research doctor will ask you to put a mark on a line to show how much pain you have at that moment. This will be repeated after the blood test, in case being worried about your blood test changes how much pain you have. If you are still in hospital the following day we will ask you to tell us the most and the least pain you had experienced over the 24 hours. The researcher will tell you if it is the pain now or over the 24 hours. Pain will be scored at the start, 2, 4, 6, and 24 hours after the surgery (cholecystectomy).

We also want to know how the pain affects your normal daily life and so we will also be asking you to fill in a questionnaire about this. We are interested

to see how this changes so will ask your permission to post or complete by telephone these questionnaires in 3, 6 and 12 months after being in hospital. We ask your permission to look at your hospital notes and occasionally contact your GP (family doctor) to see how gallstones affect you and about your general health.

### What will happen to my information and my blood?

When you sign the form to take part your information will be given a code to identify it. All your information will be marked identified by this code, and not your name to make it anonymous (no one can identify it as you). Information will be kept on secure computers and will just be kept under the code number. One list of names with code numbers will be kept securely on a separate computer, this will allow us to contact you to send the questionnaires out.

### What happens if I don't take part?

If you decide you do not want to take part it will not change how the doctors look after you care for you. Just tell the research doctor you don't want to take part; you don't have to give a reason.

### What happens if I change my mind?

If you take part, but then decide you no longer want to carry on in the trial, just contact the research doctor and tell us. Again you don't have to give a reason for no longer taking part. We will ask you if you want us to remove all your information already entered out of the trial. Alternatively you can allow us to use the information we already have, but not gather any more information. This will not affect your care. We will destroy all your blood stored samples.

### Do I need to know anything else?

The research doctor is a different doctor to the doctors looking after you for your gallstones. The information the research doctor has about your pain will not be available to the doctors looking after you. The research doctor also will not assess you for pain, or give you pain killers, the research doctor will ask you to tell the team looking after you so they can assess you. You will need to explain to the doctors looking after you about your pain. The reason for this is we are trying to make your as normal as possible.

With your permission the research doctor will let your GP (family doctor) know you are taking part in case we need to ask them information from your GP notes. This information will be about how long you have had problems with your gallstones, what problems and treatment you have had. Please tell us if you don't want us to contact your family doctor.

### The Study Plan





### How do I contact the research team?

Please keep this information sheet as it tells you about the study. If there are questions, change in details or you wish to withdraw then please contact as below and ask for Doctor Rachel Soulsby.

Telephone number **0115 969 1169** (this maybe an answer phone, please leave your contact details and a preferred time to return the call).

Or email <u>nuhgallstonestudy@nuh.nhs.uk</u>

Or write Nottingham City Hospital, Hucknall Road, Nottingham, Nottinghamshire NG5 1PB

Thank you for considering taking part the researcher will come back and ask if you have any questions and to sign the consent form.

### Patients information sheet for those having urgent ERCP / urgent cholecystectomy / post cholecystectomy surgery

### Introduction

You kindly took part in the research study looking at how the body responds to gallstones disease. Particular seeing the markers of infection change with gallstones, and examining if pain is a marker of problems, particularly infections in patients with gallstones.

The team looking after you are wishing to investigate your gallstone problems further with a special telescope test / with surgery / with another operation to see if they can confirm what the problem is and treat the problem. The research study team are asking if we can continue following you with blood tests and pain scoring to see how these change with the next investigations and treatment.

#### What will happen if I take part?

Like last time the research doctor will explain the study to you and then ask you to read this information leaflet with the study plan on page 3. If you decide to take part you will be asked to sign another form (consent form) to say you agree to continuing in the trial now there has been a change in what is happening to you.

The research doctor will ask your permission to take a blood sample when you sign the form. This will be repeated two hours after the telescope test / surgery, and 24 hours afterwards. If you stay in over 24 hours we would like permission to take a blood test every 24 hours until you are discharged or up to one week. If you are still in at one week we will with your permission take the blood test every 48 hours.

At each time about 5 – 10mls of blood (one - two teaspoons) is taken. It maybe a little uncomfortable having the blood test taken and you can sometimes get a bruise afterwards. Blood tests will be at the start, two and 24 hours. We will try and combine the blood tests with other blood tests you have to investigate the gallstones so you don't need to have too many blood tests. If you are worried about the blood tests you can just complete the pain scores and questionnaire, please tell the researcher.

At the same time as having the blood test the research doctor will ask you to put a mark on a line to show how much pain you have at that moment. This will be repeated after the blood test, in case being worried about your blood test changes how much pain you have. If you are still in hospital the following day we will ask you to tell us the most and the least pain you had experienced over the 24 hours. The researcher will tell you if it is the pain now or over the 24 hours being scored. Pain will be scored at the when you sign this form, 2, 4, 6 and 24 hours after the telescope test / surgery. As before, we ask your permission to collect information from your notes about your telescope test / your surgery.

### What will happen to my information and my blood?

When you signed the first consent form to take part you were given a unique identification code. We will continue to use this code to keep your information under, and not your name to make it anonymous (no one can identify it as you). Information will be kept on secure computers and will just be kept under the code number. One list of names with code numbers will be kept securely on a separate computer, this will allow us to contact you to send the questionnaires out.

### What happens if I don't take part?

If you decide you do not want to take part it will not change how the doctors look after you care for you. Just tell the research doctor you don't want to take part; you don't have to give a reason. We will ask if you want us to destroy all data and samples you have already given, or whether we can use these but not collect any further data on you.

### What happens if I change my mind?

If you take part, but then decide you no longer want to carry on in the trial, just contact the research doctor and tell us. Again you don't have to give a reason for no longer taking part. We will ask you if you want us to remove all your information already entered out of the trial. Alternatively you can allow us to use the information we already have, but not gather any more information. This will not affect your care. We will destroy all your blood samples in storage.

### Do I need to know anything else?

We are grateful that you have taken part in the research trial, you don't have to take part in this next part, but we appreciate you considering doing so. We may ask your permission to take part again if they go on to do surgery / further surgery.

The research doctor is a different doctor to the doctors looking after you for your gallstones. The information the research doctor has about your pain will not be available to the doctors looking after you. They will not assess you for pain, or give you pain killers, the research doctor will ask you to tell the team looking after you so they can assess you. You will need to explain to the doctors looking after you about your pain. The reason for this is we are trying to make your as normal as possible.

We ask your permission for the research doctor to contact your GP (family doctor) for information on support and problems you had after discharge from hospital. Please tell us if you don't want us to contact your family doctor.

### The Study Plan




### How do I contact the research team?

Please keep this information sheet as it tells you about the study. If there are questions, change in details or you wish to withdraw then please contact as below and ask for Doctor Rachel Soulsby.

Telephone number **0115 969 1169** (this maybe an answer phone, please leave your contact details and a preferred time to return the call).

Or email <u>nuhgallstonestudy@nuh.nhs.uk</u>

Or write Nottingham City Hospital, Hucknall Road, Nottingham, Nottinghamshire NG5 1PB

Thank you for considering taking part the researcher will come back and ask if you have any questions and to sign the consent form.

## Healthy controls information sheet

### **Introduction**

We are carrying out a study looking at what happens to the markers of inflammation when people have gallstones. We are also looking at what happens when they have certain tests to investigate the gallstones or when they have surgery for the gallstones. We also want to know how much pain they have, and does the pain change with having tests, over time or if there are problems.

We can see how a person results change, and we can compare them to other people with similar problems or having similar tests or surgery. But we would also like to compare them to people who do not have gallstones, who are fit and well and do not have investigations or surgery and this is why you are being asked to take part.

### What if I do have gallstones or other medical problem?

You can just say no to taking part, you don't have to give a reason. The researcher is a doctor and if you are happy to share your medical problem you can ask the research doctor and she will keep anything you tell her confidential. A lot of people who are well do have gallstones and if they are not causing you a problem you can take part, we will just note it down.

### What will happen if I take part?

The research doctor will explain the study to you and then ask you to read this leaflet. What will happen to you is shown in a diagram on page 3 of this leaflet. If you decide you want to take part, you will be asked to sign a form (consent form) to say you agree to take part.

The infection markers are found in your blood so we will be asking to take some blood samples as in the diagram. At each time about 50mls of blood (just under three tablespoons) is taken. It maybe a little uncomfortable having the blood test taken and you can sometimes get a bruise afterwards. If you are worried about having blood tests you can just do the pain score and the questionnaires, please tell the research doctor. We will also perform the blood tests the patients have at enrollment, two and twenty-four hours, this includes full blood count, urea and electrolytes, liver function tests and Creactive protein.

At the same time as having the blood test the research doctor will ask you to put a mark on a line to show how much pain you have at that moment. This will be repeated after the blood test, in case being worried about your blood test changes how much pain you have. At 24 hours we will ask you to tell us the most and the least pain you had experienced over the 24 hours. The researcher will tell you if it is the pain now or over the 24 hours being scored. Pain will be scored at the start, 2, 4, 6, and 24 hours after you sign to take part in the study. We also want to know how pain affects normal daily life of the people with gallstones. We would like to compare it to people without gallstones, and so we will also be asking you to fill in a questionnaire about this. We are interested to see how this changes so will ask permission to post or complete by telephone these questionnaires in 3, 6 and 12 months after surgery.

We ask permission to look at your hospital notes and occasionally contact your GP (family doctor) to look at your medical problems. If you do not wish to take part in this part of the study you can opt out of this part and we won't collect this information.

### What will happen to my information and my blood?

When you sign the form to take part your information will be given a code to identify it. All your information will be marked identified by this code, and not your name to make it anonymous (no one can identify it as you). Information will be kept on secure computers and will just be kept under the code number. One list of names with code numbers will be kept securely on a separate computer, this will allow us to contact you to send the questionnaires out.

### What happens if I don't take part?

If you decide you do not want to take part just tell the research doctor you don't want to take part; you don't have to give a reason.

### What happens if I change my mind?

If you take part, but then decide you no longer want to carry on in the trial, just contact the research doctor and tell us. Again you don't have to give a reason for no longer taking part. We will ask you if you want us to remove all your information already entered. Alternatively you can allow us to use the information we already have, but not gather any further information. This will not affect your care. We will destroy all your blood samples in storage.

### Do I need to know anything else?

We are grateful for yours and the patient's feedback about how you find the trial and any information to improve it is gratefully received.

If you are diagnosed with gallstones within three months of taking part, and are happy to inform the researcher, please let me know, contact details are on page 4. The researcher is a doctor, but she is not able to give you advice about medical problems, and she will ask you to see your GP (family doctor) to discuss medical problems if necessary. This is because it is your GP (family doctor) who will be providing ongoing care. If one of your blood tests is abnormal the researcher will give you your results in a letter it is your choice to go to your GP (family doctor).

### The Study Plan





### How do I contact the research team?

Please keep this information sheet as it tells you about the study. If there are questions, change in details or you wish to withdraw then please contact as below and ask for Doctor Rachel Soulsby.

Telephone number **0115 969 1169** (this maybe an answer phone, please leave your contact details and a preferred time to return the call).

Or email <u>nuhgallstonestudy@nuh.nhs.uk</u>

Or write Nottingham City Hospital, Hucknall Road, Nottingham, Nottinghamshire NG5 1PB

Thank you for considering taking part the researcher will come back and ask if you have any questions and to sign the consent form.

# Appendix

# **Appendix 4 - Consent Forms**

Patient consent forms for

•	Those admitted with biliary emergencies	page 402
•	Those attending for planned ERCP	page 403
•	Those attending for elective cholecystectomy	page 404
•	Those attending for elective cholecystectomy whom have	e had previous ERCP
		page 405
•	Those attending for elective cholecystectomy and on table	cholangiogram
		page 406
•	Those having urgent ERCP / urgent cholecystectomy /	post cholecystectomy
surg	gery (the alternatives were deleted as appropriate	
		page 407
•	Healthy controls	page 408

### Consent form for those admitted with biliary emergencies

We ask you to initial every statement you agree with. If you do not wish to take part in one part of the trial **do not** initial that statement. If happy to start the trial sign and date the bottom of the form with the research doctor. Please feel free to withdraw consent at any point if you change your mind.

- 1) I have read and understand the information leaflet
- 2) I have been able to ask the questions I wish to
- 3) I am happy to have the blood tests taken as in the research information sheet

#### 4) I am happy to score my pain

- 5) I am happy to complete the quality of life questionnaires about how gallstones affects my day to day life
- 6) I understand there are forms to fill out at 3, 6 and 12 months, I am happy to complete these
- 7) I wish them to be posted / to complete by telephone (delete as appropriate).
- 8) My contact details are:-
- If I am discharged before 24 hours I am happy to be rung at home for my pain score
- 10) My preferred number is:- as above OR
- 11) My preferred contact time is
- 12) I give permission for information from my hospital notes to be recorded by the research team
- 13) I give my permission for the research team to contact my GP (family doctor) for information described in the information leaflet

14) I wish to see the information collected about me

15) I would like to see a summary about the research findings

I have completed all the points for the part of the trial I wish to take part in					
Name	Signature	Date//			
Researcher I have explained the research, given the information sheet,					
answered the questions asked, and given the contact details card.					
Name	Signature	Date//			

### Consent form for those attending for planned ERCP

We ask you to initial every statement you agree with. If you do not wish to take part in one part of the trial **do not** initial that statement. If happy to start the trial sign and date the bottom of the form with the research doctor. Please feel free to withdraw consent at any point if you change your mind.

- 1) I have read and understand the information leaflet
- 2) I have been able to ask the questions I wish to
- 3) I am happy to have the blood tests taken as in the research information sheet
- 4) I am happy to score my pain
- 5) I am happy to complete the quality of life questionnaires about how gallstones affects my day to day life
- 6) I understand there are forms to fill out at 3, 6 and 12 months, I am happy to complete these
- 7) I wish them to be posted / to complete by telephone (delete as appropriate).
- 8) My contact details are:-
- If I am discharged before 24 hours I am happy to be rung at home for my pain score
- 10) My preferred number is:- as above OR
- 11) My preferred contact time is
- 12) I give permission for information from my hospital notes to be recorded by the research team
- 13) I give my permission for the research team to contact my GP (family doctor) for information described in the information leaflet
- 14) I wish to see the information collected about me
- 15) I would like to see a summary about the research findings

I have completed all the points for the part of the trial I wish to take part in

Name	Signature	Date	<u>/</u>	/		
Researcher I have explained the research, given the information sheet,						
answered the questions asked, and given the contact details card.						
Name	Signature	Date	<u> </u>	<u> </u>		

### Consent form for those attending for elective cholecystectomy

We ask you to initial every statement you agree with. If you do not wish to take part in one part of the trial **do not** initial that statement. If happy to start the trial sign and date the bottom of the form with the research doctor. Please feel free to withdraw consent at any point if you change your mind.

- 1) I have read and understand the information leaflet
- 2) I have been able to ask the questions I wish to
- 3) I am happy to have the blood tests taken as in the research information sheet
- 4) I am happy to score my pain
- 5) I am happy to complete the quality of life questionnaires about how gallstones affects my day to day life
- 6) I understand there are forms to fill out at 3, 6 and 12 months, I am happy to complete these
- 7) I wish them to be posted / to complete by telephone (delete as appropriate).
- 8) My contact details are:-
- If I am discharged before 24 hours I am happy to be rung at home for my pain score
- 10) My preferred number is:- as above OR
- 11) My preferred contact time is
- 12) I give permission for information from my hospital notes to be recorded by the research team
- 13) I give my permission for the research team to contact my GP (family doctor) for information described in the information leaflet
- 14) I wish to see the information collected about me
- 15) I would like to see a summary about the research findings

I have completed all the points for the part of the trial I wish to take part in

Name	Signature	Date	<u> </u>	<u>/</u>		
Researcher I have explained the research, given the information sheet,						
answered the questions asked, and given the contact details card.						
Name	Signature	Date	<u> </u>	<u>/</u>		

### Consent form for those attending for elective cholecystectomy who have had previous ERCP

We ask you to initial every statement you agree with. If you do not wish to take part in one part of the trial **do not** initial that statement. If happy to start the trial sign and date the bottom of the form with the research doctor. Please feel free to withdraw consent at any point if you change your mind.

- 1) I have read and understand the information leaflet
- 2) I have been able to ask the questions I wish to
- 3) I am happy to have the blood tests taken as in the research information sheet
- 4) I am happy to score my pain
- 5) I am happy to complete the quality of life questionnaires about how gallstones affects my day to day life \_\_\_\_\_
- 6) I understand there are forms to fill out at 3, 6 and 12 months, I am happy to complete these
- 7) I wish them to be posted / to complete by telephone (delete as appropriate).
- 8) My contact details are:-
- If I am discharged before 24 hours I am happy to be rung at home for my pain score
- 10) My preferred number is:- as above OR
- 11) My preferred contact time is
- 12) I give permission for information from my hospital notes to be recorded by the research team including my previous ERCP
- 13) I give my permission for the research team to contact my GP (family doctor) for information described in the information leaflet
- 14) I wish to see the information collected about me
- 15) I would like to see a summary about the research findings

I have completed all the points for the part of the trial I wish to take part in

 Name \_\_\_\_\_\_
 Signature \_\_\_\_\_\_
 Date \_\_\_\_/
 /\_\_\_/

Researcher I have explained the research, given the information sheet,

answered the questions asked, and given the contact details card.

Name	Signa	ture	 Date	/	 

# Consent form for those attending for elective cholecystectomy with on table cholangiogram

We ask you to initial every statement you agree with. If you do not wish to take part in one part of the trial **do not** initial that statement. If happy to start the trial sign and date the bottom of the form with the research doctor. Please feel free to withdraw consent at any point if you change your mind.

- 1) I have read and understand the information leaflet
- 2) I have been able to ask the questions I wish to
- 3) I am happy to have the blood tests taken as in the research information sheet

### 4) I am happy to score my pain

- 5) I am happy to complete the quality of life questionnaires about how gallstones affects my day to day life \_\_\_\_\_
- 6) I understand there are forms to fill out at 3, 6 and 12 months, I am happy to complete these
- 7) I wish them to be posted / to complete by telephone (delete as appropriate).
- 8) My contact details are:-
- 9) If I am discharged before 24 hours I am happy to be rung at home for my pain score
- 10) My preferred number is:- as above OR
- 11) My preferred contact time is
- 12) I give permission for information from my hospital notes to be recorded by the research team
- 13) I give my permission for the research team to contact my GP (family doctor) for information described in the information leaflet
- 14) I wish to see the information collected about me
- 15) I would like to see a summary about the research findings

Researcher I have explained the research, given the information sheet,

answered the questions asked, and given the contact details card.

 Name
 Date
 /

# Consent form for those having urgent ERCP / urgent cholecystectomy / post cholecystectomy surgery

We ask you to initial every statement you agree with. If you do not wish to take part in one part of the trial **do not** initial that statement. If happy to stay in the trial for this new investigation sign and date the bottom of the form with the research doctor. Please feel free to withdraw consent at any point if you change your mind.

- 1) I have read and understand the information leaflet
- 2) I have been able to ask the questions I wish to
- 3) I am happy to have the blood tests taken as in the research information sheet
- 4) I am happy to score my pain
- 5) I am happy to complete the quality of life questionnaires about how gallstones affects my day to day life
- 6) I understand there are forms to fill out at 3, 6 and 12 months, I am happy to complete these
- 7) I wish them to be posted / to complete by telephone (delete as appropriate).
- 8) My contact details are:-
- If I am discharged before 24 hours I am happy to be rung at home for my pain score
- 10) My preferred number is:- as above OR
- 11) My preferred contact time is
- 12) I give permission for information from my hospital notes to be recorded by the research team
- 13) I give my permission for the research team to contact my GP (family doctor) for information described in the information leaflet
- 14) I wish to see the information collected about me
- 15) I would like to see a summary about the research findings

have completed all the points for the part of the trial I wish to take part in						
Name	Signature	Date//				
Researcher I have explained the research, given the information sheet,						
answered the qu	estions asked, and given the co	ontact details card.				
Name	Signature	Date//				

### Consent form for the healthy controls

We ask you to initial every statement you agree with. If you do not wish to take part in one part of the trial **do not** initial that statement. If happy to start the trial sign and date the bottom of the form with the research doctor. Please feel free to withdraw consent at any point if you change your mind.

- 1) I have read and understand the information leaflet
- 2) I have been able to ask the questions I wish to
- 3) I am happy to have the blood tests taken as in the research information sheet
- 4) I am happy to score my pain
- 5) I am happy to complete the quality of life questionnaires about how gallstones affects my day to day life
- 6) I understand there are forms to fill out at 3, 6 and 12 months, I am happy to complete these
- 7) I wish them to be posted / to complete by telephone (delete as appropriate).
- 8) My contact details are:-
- If I am discharged before 24 hours I am happy to be rung at home for my pain score
- 10) My preferred number is:- as above OR
- 11) My preferred contact time is
- 12) I give permission for information from my hospital notes to be recorded by the research team
- 13) I give my permission for the research team to contact my GP (family doctor) for information described in the information leaflet

14) I wish to see the information collected about me

15) I would like to see a summary about the research findings

I have completed all the points for the part of the trial I wish to take part in					
Name	Signature	Date//			
Researcher I have explained the research, given the information sheet,					
answered the questions asked, and given the contact details card.					
Name	Signature	Date//			

## Appendix

# Appendix 5 – Pro forma For Data Collection

Proforma for data collection for data from patients in the following groups

0	Biliary admission patients	page 410
0	ERCP patients	page 419
0	Cholecystectomy patients	page 429

Data for the group who had had an ERCP previously, for those who underwent on table cholangiogram, or who had an urgent ERCP were recorded upon the ERCP form. Those who had urgent cholecystectomy or post cholecystectomy surgery was recorded on the cholecystectomy form. The data for the healthy controls was recorded upon the biliary admission patients form. Separate forms were not designed to try and aim for standardisation of data collected.

# Biliary admission patients

Patient unio	que Identifie	r		
Time – Enro	ollment / 2 h	ours / 24 hours / (	Other	
Date	II			
<u>Demograph</u>	nics			
Patient ident	tifier			
Age at first e	enrollment	years		Sex – M / F
Biliary eme	rgency patie	ents Date	: / /	<u>.</u>
Diagnosis o Biliar o Acut o Obst o Pano	ry colic e Cholecystif ructive jaunc creatitis	iis lice		
Length of sy	mptoms prio	r to admission	hour	'S
Length of tin	ne from admi	ission to enrollmen	t	
Previous epi	isodes of righ	nt upper quadrant p	bain	
Number of A	E attendanc	e with RUQ pain		
Number of p	prior admissio	ons with RUQ pain		
Date Date	Biliary colic	Cholecystitis	Obstructive jaunduce	Pancreatitis

Highest level of care during admission Ward / HDU / ITU

**US results** 

Stones present <ul> <li>Single</li> <li>Multiple</li> <li>Sludge</li> </ul> GB wall thickness Bile duct <ul> <li>dimensions</li> <li>Stones in biliary</li> <li>tree</li> <li>Grade of</li> <li>sonographer</li> </ul>	This admission	Previously - Date
CT results		
Evidence pancreatitis Pancreatic necrosis Pseudocyst Other pathology	This admission - Date	Previously - Date
ERCP performed Y / N Findings	Time from enrolmen	t
Cholecystectomy perform	ned Y / N Time from en	rolment

Findings

### <u> PMH –</u>

Patient weight	kgs	Patient Height	cms
BMI			
Respiratory diseas Cardiac disease o	se Y / N r hypertensio	Type: on Y / N Type:	
Diabetes Type	/	Diet / Tablet / Insulin	
Thyroid disease	Нуро / Нур	ber	
IBS / Non specifi	c pain / Sp	hincter of Oddi dysfunction	

Previous surgery

- o Non abdominal
- Abdominal (mark approach, reason and all which apply)
  - Laparoscopic elective
  - Laparoscopic emergency
  - o Open elective
  - Open emergency
  - Appendicectomy
  - Gynaecological surgery
  - $\circ$  Adhesions
  - o Bowel
  - $\circ$  Other

More than five emergency admissions in the last five years

**Reflux medication** 

Self medication / Ranitidine prescribed / Proton pump inhibitor prescribed

Anxiety / Depression SSRI prescribed Y / N

Pre-existing pain problem Y / N

Long term analgesia Y / N

- $\circ$  Medication?
- o Medication
- o Immunosuppression
- $\circ$  Steroids
- Recent blood transfusion

Smoker Y / N / Quit in the last 6 months

Alcohol

### Allergies

### <u>Social</u>

Full time / Part time / N	o paid employm	ent / Car	ing for family	<sup>,</sup> member
Able bodied partner or pa	arent or child >14	l years	Y / N	
Non-planned contact with	health care pro	fessional		
Additional analgesia pres	cribed Y	'N		
Mean return to employme	ent / usual activi	ies	days	

<u>Analgesia –</u>

	Prior to	admission	Admission to enrollmen		
Paracetamol Ibuprofen Diclofenac Codeine Tramadol Morphine Other					
Paracetamol Ibuprofen Diclofenac Codeine Tramadol Morphine Other	2 hours	24 hours	48 hours	72 hours	96 hours

Use second grid if in > 96 hours

Time from enrolment Paracetamol Ibuprofen Diclofenac Codeine Tramadol Morphine Other

## <u>Antibiotics –</u>

Type - Date commenced / /

Length of course - days

Microbiology results

## Observations –

Pulse BP Temperature Respiratory rate WBC	Prior to admissio	A on ti e	Admission o enrolment	2 hours	24 hours
Pulse BP Temperature Respiratory rate WBC	48 hours	72 hours	96 s hours		

<u>Bloods –</u>

	At enrolm ent	2 hours if not previou sly availabl e	24 hou rs	48 hou rs	72 hour s	96 ho urs
Hb Haemat ocrit						
WBC						
neutrop						
hils						
Plt						
Coag if						
available						
Na K						
Ur						
Cr						
eGFR						
Bilirubin						
ALP						
ASI						
CRP						
Glucose						
LDH						
Са						
Base						
deficit						
pressure						
02						
Fluid						
sequestra						
tion						

Ranson's criteria for pancreatitis patients -

# <u>Cytokine results –</u>

	TNF-α IL-1 IL-6 IL-10	Enrol	ment	2 hours	24 hours
	TNF-α IL-1 IL-6 IL-10	48 hours	72 hours	96 hours	
Pai	in scores				
	VAS	Enrolment Pre / Post analgesia	2 hours	4 hours	6 24 hours hours
	VAS	48 hours	72 hours	96 hours	
	Least pa Most pa	Expec VAS p score ain in	cted bain	Actual VAS pain score	Time of this
	Pre- operativ 12 week 26 week 52 week	VAS score s s s	HAD score	SF-3 scor	36 GIQLI re score
	Pre- operativ 12 week 26 week 52 week	Compa s s s s	red to 3 mor	nths ago ques	stion

### Semi-structured pain questions

Pain questions

- Experienced problems with pain?
   Y / N
- $_{\odot}$  Has pain been discussed with you? Y / N
- $_{\odot}$  Was analgesia discussed with you? Y / N
  - Including declining prescribed medication
     Y / N
- Was the information?
  - o Helpful Y / N
  - Sufficient Y / N
  - Understandable Y / N

### If you experienced pain

- Was your level of pain assessed? Y / N
- Did you receive analgesia within 15 minutes of requesting it?
   Y / N
- If you were not prescribed analgesia was your pain assessed? Y / N
- Was alternative methods of managing pain discussed with you? Y / N

### At 12 weeks

- How long did you take analgesia for after discharge? days
- $\circ~$  Did you see a doctor after discharge? Y  $\,/~$  N
  - For infection
  - $\circ$  For problems with pain
  - For other pain pronlems
  - My GP invited me for review
- Post-operative patient Would you consider having laparoscopic / open (as appropriate) surgery again?Y / N

### **ERCP** patients

Patient unique Identifier\_\_\_\_\_ Time – Enrollment / 2 hours / 24 hours / Other

Date - \_\_/\_\_/

For those biliary emergencies going on to have ERCP this section was completed, enrolment being taken as time of ERCP and confirmation the patient wished to continue in study. If did not want bloods and pain scoring completed permission to record information was going to be sought but no patient opted to not have bloods and pain score.

### **Demographics**

Patient identifier -

Age at first enrollment - \_\_\_\_\_ years Sex – M / F

Participated in emergency section - Y / N

Date of ERCP

Reason for ERCP

Diagnosis

- o Obstructive Jaundice
- o Pancreatitis
- Bile duct dilatation on MRCP

Previous MRCP Y / N Position of stone

## Past biliary history

	Biliary colic	Cholecystitis	Obstructive jaunduce	Pancreatitis			
Date Date							
Length of sy	mptoms prio	r to admission	days				
Length of time from admission to enrollment							
Previous epi	sodes of righ	nt upper quadrant p	ain				
Number of A	Number of AE attendance with RUQ pain						
Number of prior admissions with RUQ pain							
US results							
		This admission	Previ	ously			

- Date

Stones present GB wall thickness Bile duct dimensions Stones in biliary tree Grade of

sonographer

### **CT results**

Evidence pancreatitis Pancreatic necrosis Pseudocyst Other pathology	This admission - Date	Previously - Date
<u>PMH –</u>		
Patient weight kgs	Patient Height	cms BMI
Respiratory disease Y /	N Туре:	
Cardiac disease or hyperte	ension Y / N Type:	
Diabetes Type I / II	Diet / Tablet / Ins	sulin
Thyroid disease Hypo /	Hyper	
IBS / Non specific pain /	Sphincter of Oddi dysfu	unction
Previous surgery		

- o Non abdominal
- Abdominal (mark approach, reason and all which apply)
  - Laparoscopic elective
  - Laparoscopic emergency
  - Open elective
  - Open emergency
  - Appendicectomy
  - Gynaecological surgery
  - Adhesions
  - Bowel
  - Other

More than five emergency admissions in the last five years

Reflux medication Self medication / Ranitidine prescribed / Proton pump inhibitor prescribed Anxiety / Depression SSRI prescribed Y / N Pre-existing pain problem Y / N Long term analgesia Y / N o Medication?

Smoker Y / N / Quit in the last 6 months

Alcohol

Allergies

### <u>Social</u>

Full time / Part time / No paid employment / Caring for family member
Able bodied partner or parent or child >14 years Y / N
Non-planned contact with health care professional
Additional analgesia prescribed Y / N
Mean return to employment / usual activities days

### ERCP

Antibiotic cover Y / N

o Type

• Length of course

### Sedation Y / N

- o Type
- o Amount
- Antispasmodic
- Anti-emetic

Length of procedureminsGrade of endoscopistERCP successfully completed YEase of procedure

• Easy / Medium / Difficult but completed Abandoned

### If not why not?

- o Failure to tolerate procedure
- Failure to canulate sphincter
- Failure to negotiate stricture
- $\circ$  Pain
- Allergic reaction
- $\circ$  Other

### Sphincterotomy

- Diverticulum Y / N
- Oedema Y / N
- Sphincter canulation
  - Easy / Medium / Difficult but completed Abandoned
- Sphincterotomy performed
   Y / N
- Stone retrieved Y / N
- Stent insertion Y / N / Abandoned

- Stricture present Y / N
- Stricture dilated Y / N
- Biopsy taken Y / N
- o Biopsy result

### Post ERCP complication

- o Pain
- Bleeding
- o Pancreatitis
- o Sepsis

### Repeat ERCP for failed procedure

- Time after abandoned procedure
- o Length of procedure
- o Grade of endoscopist
- o Successfully completed

Time from ERCP to cholecystectomy being performed Laparoscopic or open cholecystectomy Discharge on day of procedure Y / N Returned at 24 hours for review Y / N Scoring by phoneY / N Time from ERCP to discharge

### <u>Analgesia –</u>

### Prior to admission

Admission to procedure

Paracetamol Ibuprofen Diclofenac Codeine Tramadol Morphine Other

Paracetamol Ibuprofen Diclofenac Codeine Tramadol Morphine Other	2 hours	24 hours	48 hours	72 hours	96 hours
<u>Antibiotics –</u>					
Туре -	Date co	ommenced	1	/	
Length of course -	(	days			

Microbiology results

# <u>Observations –</u>

Pulse BP Temperature Respiratory rate WBC	Prior to admission		Admission to enrolment		2 hours	24 hours
Pulse BP Temperature Respiratory rate WBC	48 hours	72 hou	Irs	96 hours		

## Bloods –

	At enrolm ent	2 hours if not previo usly availab le	24 ho urs	48 ho urs	72 ho urs	96 ho urs
Haemato crit WBC - neutrophi Is						
Plt Coag if available Na K Ur						
Cr eGFR Bilirubin ALP AST GGT						
Albumin CRP Glucose LDH Ca Base						
deficit Partial pressure O2 Fluid sequestr ation						

Ranson's criteria for pancreatitis patients -

## Cytokine results –

	Enrolment	2 hours	24 hours
TNF-α			
IL-1			
IL-6			
IL-10			

	48 hours	72 hours	96 hours
TNF-			
α			
IL-1			
IL-6			
IL-10			

### Pain scores

26 weeks 52 weeks

VAS	Enrolment	2 hours	4 hours	6 hours	24 hours
VAS	48 hours	72 hours	96 hours		
Least pa Most pa	Expe VAS scor ain in	ected pain e	Actual VAS pain score	S Tim	ne of this
Pre- operativ 12 week 26 week 52 week	VAS score s s s	HAD score	SF	-36 ore	GIQLI score
Pre- operativ 12 week	Comp re rs	ared to 3 mo	nths ago qu	estion	

### Semi-structured pain questions

Pain questions

- Experienced problems with pain?
   Y / N
- Has pain been discussed with you?
   Y / N
- $_{\odot}$   $\,$  Was analgesia discussed with you?  $\,$   $\,$  Y /  $\,$  N  $\,$ 
  - Including declining prescribed medication
     Y / N
- Was the information?
  - Helpful Y / N
  - Sufficient Y / N
  - Understandable Y / N

If you experienced pain

- Was your level of pain assessed? Y / N
- Did you receive analgesia within 15 minutes of requesting it?
   Y / N
- If you were not prescribed analgesia was your pain assessed?
   Y / N
- Was alternative methods of managing pain discussed with you?
   Y / N

### At 12 weeks

- How long did you take analgesia for after discharge? days
- Did you see a doctor after discharge? Y / N
  - For infection
  - For problems with pain
  - For other pain pronlems
  - My GP invited me for review
- Post-operative patient Would you consider having laparoscopic / open (as appropriate) surgery again?
   Y / N

# **Cholecystectomy patients**

Patient unique Identifier			
Time – Enrollment / 2 hours / 24 hours / Other			
Date//			
For those biliary emergencies and ERCP patients going on to have cholecystectomy this section was completed, enrolment being taken as time of cholecystectomy and confirmation the patient wished to continue in study. If did not want bloods and pain scoring completed permission to record information was going to be sought but no patient opted to not have bloods and pain score.			
<u>Demographics</u>			
Patient identifier			
Age at first enrollment years Sex – M / F			
Participated in emergency section - Y / N			
Participated in the ERCP section – Y / N			
Date of surgery / /			
Past biliary history			
Biliary Cholecystitis Obstructive Pancreatitis colic jaunduce Date Date			
Length of symptoms prior to admission days			
Length of time from admission to enrollment			
Previous episodes of right upper quadrant pain			
AE attendance with RUQ pain			
Number of prior admissions with RUQ pain			
Previous ERCP Y / N			
Date of procedure / /			

**US results** 

Stones present GB wall thickness Bile duct dimensions Stones in biliary tree Grade of sonographer	This admission	Previously - Date	
CT results Evidence pancreatitis Pancreatic necrosis Pseudocyst Other pathology	This admission - Date	Previously - Date	
<u>PMH –</u>			
Patient weight kgs	Patient Height	cms	
BMI			
Respiratory disease Y /	N Туре:		
Cardiac disease or hypertension Y / N Type:			
Diabetes Type I / II	Diet / Tablet / Ins	ulin	
Thyroid disease Hypo / Hyper			
IBS / Non specific pain / Sphincter of Oddi dysfunction			

### Previous surgery

- Non abdominal
- Abdominal
- Laparoscopic elective
- Laparoscopic emergency
- o Open elective
- Open emergency
- Appendicectomy
- Gynaecological surgery
- o Adhesions
- o Bowel
- o Other

More than five emergency admissions in the last five years

Reflux medication

Self medication / Ranitidine prescribed / Proton pump inhibitor prescribed

SSRI prescribed Y / N

Pre-existing pain problem Y / N

Long term analgesia Y / N

• Medication?

Smoker Y / N / Quit in the last 6 months

Alcohol

Allergies
## <u>Social</u>

Full time / Part time / No paid employment / Caring for family member

Able bodied partner or parent or child >14 years Y / N

Non-planned contact with health care professional

Additional analgesia prescribed Y / N

Mean return to employment / usual activities days

### **Cholecystectomy**

ASA grade I / II / III / IV

#### Pre-op

Referred to consultant who performed procedure Y / N

#### Reason to swap consultant

- Wanted laparoscopic surgery
- Wanted open surgery
- o Length of waiting time
- Reason not stated
- Performed as emergency

ERCP previously Y / N Date / /

- Successfully completed Y / N / Post procedural complications
- Stent / Sphincterotomy
- LFT's returned to normal
   Y
   N

OTC performed Y / N

- Successfully completed
   Y / N
- T tube placed Y / N

## Surgical access

Type of surgery Laparoscopic / Open / Converted Previous abdominal surgery Y / N

Length of surgery mins

Length of pneumoperitoneum mins

Length of incision mm

Laparoscopic incision

- 2 x 10 mm and 2 x 5 mm
- 1 x 10 mm 2 x 5 mm
- o 2 x 10mm 1 x 5 mm

Incision lengthened for gall bladder removal mm Which port removed from

- o Umbilical
- Upper central

Open port insertion / Verres needle Volume of gas used mls CO2 temperatureWarm / Room temperature / Cold CO2 pressure

- Maximal mmHg
- Lowest mmHg
- Length of time at each pressure
  - All at maximal / Majority at maximal / Half and half / Mainly at an intermediate pressure / Majority at low / All at low
- o Anaesthetist asked for pressure to be reduced

## **Operative findings**

### Adhesions

 None / Few filmy / Many but not requiring division / Many requiring division / Dense

## Calot's triangle

- o Easily identified
- o Moderately difficult to find
- Required a lot of dissection to identify

## Gall bladder (mark all which apply)

- Distended with mucus
- Distended with pus
- o Aspirated
- o Thick walled
- o Necrotic
- o No stones
- One large stone
- One stone and few small stones
- Multiple small stone

## Stones (mark all which apply)

- Stones in duct retrieved and cholangiogram performed
- Stones in duct not retrieved cholangiogram performed
- o Stones in duct retrieved no cholangiogram performed
- Stones in duct not retrieved no cholangiogram performed
- Ducts not checked for stones
- Stones spilt when duct divided
- Stones spilt in gall bladder dissection
- Stones spilt in gall bladder extraction
- Stones all retrieved / Stones mostly retrieved / Some stones retrieved / Stones not retrieved

#### Bile

- No bile contamination
- Bile aspirated from gall bladder
- o Bile spilt at division of duct
- Bile spilt dissecting gall bladder
- Bile spilt removing from abdominal cavity

- Bile well washed out / Bile partially washed out / Bile not washed out
- o Drain placed

Dissection gall bladder

- o Easy dissection
- o Moderate dissection
- Difficult dissection
- Significant bleeding
- o Gall bladder wall left on liver bed

Wash (mark all which apply)

- Volume used mls
- Wash used for dissection
- Good wash at end / Some wash / No wash
- $_{\odot}$  Patients position on table altered to wash out  $\,$  Y /  $\,$  N

Abdomen decompressed at the end of the procedure Y / N

Local anaesthetic

- Type used including percentage
- Diluted Y / N
   Volume used to dilute

mls

- Volume of local anaesthetic used
- o When used
  - All at start / Mainly at start / Half and half / Mostly at end / All at end
- Site of infiltration (tick all which apply)
  - o Skin only
  - Skin mainly
  - o Small amount skin
  - o Gall bladder bed
  - o Around peritoneum
  - o Right hemidiaphragm
  - Sprayed into peritoneum

## Surgical histology

Report

## **Post-operative**

Highest level of post operative care

<ul> <li>ITU Length of stay</li> </ul>	N/A
--	-----

- HDU Length of stay
   N/A
- Ward Length of stay
   N/A
- Day surgery Length of stay
   N/A

## Time from cholecystectomy to discharge

hours

- Reason for not being discharged at 24 hours
- o Pain
- o Infection
- Not being well enough for discharge
- o Social reasons
- o Not stated
- Not applicable as discharged
- Developed post operative complication Y / N
  - Positive blood culture
  - Positive bile cultures
  - Chest infection
  - o Bile leak
  - Bile duct injury
  - Trocar injury
  - o Other

Secondary infection Y / N

- Time from cholecystectomy to diagnosis of sepsis hours
- o What
- Other infections

Rachel E. Soulsby

## Second surgery

Second surgery performed Y / N

Time from cholecystectomy hours or days

Open / Laparoscopic

Findings

<u>Analgesia –</u>

	Prior to a	dmissi	on	Admissi enrollmo	Admission to enrollment		
Paracetamol Ibuprofen Diclofenac Codeine Tramadol Morphine Other							
	Received theatre	in	Receive recovery	d in /	Time to f dose wh back on	first en ward	
Paracetamol Ibuprofen Diclofenac Codeine Tramadol Morphine Other						Ward	
Paracetamol Ibuprofen Diclofenac Codeine Tramadol Morphine Other	2 hours	24 hours	48 hou	72 rsho	2 ours	96 hours	

Time from
enrolment
Paracetamol
Ibuprofen
Diclofenac
Codeine
Tramadol
Morphine
Other

## Antibiotics –

Туре -	Date commenced	/	/	Induction

Length of course - days

Microbiology results

Developed secondary infections  $\,Y\,$  /  $\,N$ 

# Observations –

	Prior to admission	Adm to enrol	ission Iment	2 hours	24 hours
Pulse BP Temperature Respiratory rate WBC					
	48 hours	72 hours	96 hours		
Pulse					
Temperature Respiratory rate WBC					

Bloods –

	At enro	2 Iment no pr av	hrs if ot eviously vailable	24 hrs	48 hrs	72 hrs	96 hrs
Hb Haemato WBC - neutrop Plt Coag if available Na K Ur Cr eGFR Bilirubin ALP AST GGT Albumin CRP Glucose LDH Ca Base def Partial pressure Fluid sequestr	icit odils icit oO2 ration						
<u>Cytokine res</u> TNF-α IL-1 IL-6 IL-10	<u>sults –</u> Enrolme	ent	2 hours		24 h	ours	
TNF- α IL-1 IL-6 IL-10	48 hours	72 hours	96 h	ours			

#### Pain scores

VAS score	Enrolment Pre / Post analgesia	2 hours	4 hours	6 hours	24 hours
VAS score	48 hours	72 hours	96 hours		
Least pai Most pair	Expec VAS p score n	eted bain	Actual VAS pain score	Time	of this
Pre- operative	VAS score	HAD score	SF- e sco	-36 C ore s	GIQLI Core

Preoperative 12 weeks 26 weeks 52 weeks

Preoperative 12 weeks 26 weeks 52 weeks

## Semi-structured pain questions

Pain questions

- Experienced problems with pain?
   Y / N
- $_{\odot}$  Has pain been discussed with you? Y / N
- Was analgesia discussed with you? Y / N
  - $\,\circ\,\,$  Including declining prescribed medicationY /  $\,$  N
- Was the information?
  - Helpful
     Y / N
  - Sufficient Y / N
  - Understandable
     Y / N
- If you experienced pain
  - Was your level of pain assessed? Y / N
  - Did you receive analgesia within 15 minutes of requesting it? Y / N
  - If you were not prescribed analgesia was your pain assessed? Y / N
  - Was alternative methods of managing pain discussed with you? Y / N

#### At 12 weeks

- How long did you take analgesia for after discharge? days
- $\circ~$  Did you see a doctor after discharge? Y  $\,/~$  N
  - o For infection
  - For problems with pain
  - For other pain pronlems
  - My GP invited me for review
- Post-operative patient Would you consider having laparoscopic / open (as appropriate) surgery again? Y / N

Apppendix

# **Appendix 6 – VAS Scoring Sheet**

# **VAS Scoring Sheet**

Patient unique Identifier\_\_\_\_\_ Part of study – Biliary emergency / ERCP / Cholecystectomy / Further intervention Time – Enrollment / 2 hours / 24 hours / Other Date - \_\_\_\_/\_\_\_\_ Form – A / B / C

{above completed by research doctor, A was before the bloods, B afterwards C if third one if patient had recently had analgesia}

Please record what your pain is now by making a cross on the line below and sign underneath the line.

No pain at all possible pain

Worst

I\_\_\_\_\_I

# VAS scoring sheet for LEAST and WORST pain

Patient unique Identifier\_\_\_\_\_ Part of study – Biliary emergency / ERCP / Cholecystectomy / Further intervention Time – 24 hours / Other Date - \_\_\_ / \_\_\_\_ Form – A / B / C Expected / Experienced

{above completed by research doctor, A was before the bloods, B afterwards C if third one if patient had recently had analgesia}

Please record what your pain is now by making a cross on the line below and sign underneath the line.

What is the **LEAST** (little / lowest / most comfortable) amount of pain

No pain at all possible pain

Worst

١\_\_\_\_\_١

What is the MOST (worst / largest / most uncomfortable) amount of pain

No pain at all possible pain Worst

١\_\_\_\_\_١

# **Appendix 7 - Detailed instructions for cytokine ELISA**

## **ELISA instructions**

## <u>For TNF-α</u>

- Standards 0-5 were supplied as lypophilized samples which required reconstituting with high quality distilled water. Dilution carried out only when the standards had reached room temperature.
- Standards concentration was 0, 14.9, 43, 130, 428 and 1385pg/ml respectfully.
- Each standard vial was diluted by the volume recommended on each vial, with Gilson micropipettes (Biosphere filter tips, Starstedt, Biosphere. For each dilution a clean disposable plastic tip was used. Once diluted mixing was carried out by gentle agitation or swirling, vortexing was not used as it risked denaturing the protein.
- Controls 1 and 2 were reconstituted with 2mls of distilled water.
- Standards and controls were stable once diluted for a maximum of 4days at 2-8°C, or frozen a maximum of twice, to -20°C (stable for a maximum of 2 months) or -70°C (stable until expiration date).
- Wash solution was stored in a clean plastic container. 2mls of wash solution concentrate was added to 400mls of distilled water for the wash solution. Distilled water being measured in a volumetric flask. Prepared wash solution was stable until expiry date, but to avoid contamination we prepared fresh solution each time we performed an assay.
- $\circ$  Incubation buffer with preservatives, anti-TNF-α-HRP conjugate (in buffer) with preservatives, conjugate buffer with preservatives, concentrated chromogen (tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) in DMF), substrate buffer (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in acetate/citrate buffer) and stop solution (H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> 1.8N) came ready to use.
- The concentrated chromogen should be kept out of direct sunlight.
- Horizontal micro titre plate shaker capable of 700rpm±100rpm (Titertek Flow Laboratory) was turned on prior to preparing the plates to allow it to achieve optimum function.
- Ensure prior to using reagents, standards, controls or samples they are thoroughly mixed.
- $\circ$  Into all wells pipette 50µl of incubation buffer.
- Into the appropriate wells pipette 200µl of standard control or sample.
- Pipetting should take no longer than 30minutes to avoid drift and ensure accuracy in the results.
- The plate was covered with a Press apply Adhesive sealing film for Microwell plates, (Anachem, Bedfordshire, UK) plate cover, and incubate for 2hours at room temperature on a horizontal plate shaker at 700±100rpm. Ensure the plate is secured in place.
- $\circ$  Towards the end of the incubation dilute the concentrated conjugate as shown in the table of dilution shown below. The dilated anti TNF- $\alpha$ -HRP

Number of wells	Concentrated conjugate	Conjugate buffer	Working volume
8	50µl	500μl	550µl
16	100µl	1000µl	1100µl
24	150µl	1500µl	1650µl
32	200µl	2000µl	2200µl
48	300µl	3000µl	3300µl
96	600µl	6000µl	6600µl

conjugate should be made up in a clean test tube (Scientific Laboratory Supplies, Nottingham, UK).

- At the end of incubation aspirate the liquid from each well, and dry the plate.
- The plate should then be washed three times as follows: -
  - Pipette 400µl of wash solution into each well (fills the well completely).
  - Aspirate the fluid from each well.
  - Dry the plate.
- $\circ$  Into each well pipette 100µl of standard 0.
- $\circ$  Then into each pipette 50μl of appropriately diluted anti-TNF-α conjugate. Again pipetting should take place over a maximum of 30minutes.
- Cover the plate with a fresh plate cover and incubate for 2hours on a horizontal shaker set at 700±100rpm.
- After 2hours aspirate all the liquid from each well, and dry the plate.
- Wash the plate three times following the three steps given above.
- For pipetting the chromogenic solution and stop solution avoid using pipettes with metal parts.
- Pipette 200µl of chromogenic solution into 1 vial of substrate buffer. This must be used within 15minutes of preparation. If a blue colour develops within a few minutes of preparation prior to use, then the chromogenic solution is unstable and should be discarded.
- Pipette 200µl of the freshly prepared chromogenic solution into each well.
- Cover the plate, and incubate for 30minutes at 700±100rpm on the horizontal plate shaker. During this time ensure the plate is out of direct sunlight to ensure the chromogen is not affected and the accuracy of the results.
- Pipette 50µl of stop solution into each well.
- Read each plate at 450nm and 490nm as described below, within 15minutes of applying the stop.
- Where samples generated values higher than the highest standard the original serum sample was dilated with standard 0, and the dilated sample reanalysed on a subsequent plate.

## <u>For IL-1β</u>

- The six standards (0-5) once at room temperature should each be diluted with 2mls of high quality distilled water, measured in a Gilson micropipette. The vial should be gently agitate or swirled to ensure all the lyophilised sample is dissolved. Vortexing should be avoided because of the risk of denaturing the proteins.
- The concentrations of the standards was 0, 33, 100, 335, 670, 1400pg/ml respectfully.
- Controls 1 and 2 were also reconstituted with 2mls of distilled water, once they had reached room temperature.
- Both the standards and controls once reconstituted could be stored at 2-8°C for a maximum of 4days, or at -20°C for 2months (with two cycles of defrosting and re-freezing, although we never refroze samples), or at -70°C until the expiry date.
- Volumetric flask was used to measure 400mls of distilled water, to this 2mls of wash solution was added. This was stored in a clean plastic container, and made up on the day of the assay.
- $\circ$  All the following were made up ready to use anti-IL-1β-HRP conjugate (in buffer) with preservatives, substrate buffer (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in acetate/citrate buffer), concentrated chromogen tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) in DMF and stop solution (H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> 1.8N).
- To achieve optimal speed the Horizontal micro titre plate shaker (Titertek Flow Laboratory) was turned on prior to preparing the plates to allow it to achieve speed of 700rpm±100rpm.
- Concentrated chromogen should be protected from direct sunlight.
- Ensure all reagents, standards, controls and samples are thoroughly mixed prior to use.
- $\circ$  Aim to completely pipette all standards, controls, samples and anti-IL-1 $\beta$  within 30minutes to avoid drift and ensure accuracy.
- Pipette 200µl of standard, control or sample into the pre-designated wells.
- $\circ$  To each well pipette 50µl of anti-IL-1 $\beta$  conjugate.
- Cover the plate with a Press apply Adhesive sealing film for Microwell plates, (Anachem, Bedfordshire, UK) plate cover, and incubate for 2hours at room temperature on a horizontal plate shaker at 700±100rpm.Ensure the plate is secured in place.
- At the end of 2hours remove the plate from the shaker and aspirate the liquid from each well, dry the plate.
- $\circ$  Into each well pipette 400µl of wash (completely fills the well).
- Aspirate the wash from each well.
- Dry the plate.
- Repeat the last 3 steps to wash the plate 3 times.
- $\circ$  Within 15minutes of its use prepare the chromogen solution. This is done by pipetting 200µl of chromogen into 1 vial of substrate buffer. The appearance of a blue colour before the chromogen is added to the plate indicates the chromogenic solution is unstable and should be discarded.
- To each well add 200µl of the freshly prepared chromogenic solution.
- Cover the plate again with a fresh plate cover, and incubate for 15minutes on the horizontal shaker at 700±100rpm, at room temperature. To avoid the chromogenic solution degrading the plate should be kept out of direct sunlight during this incubation step.

- $\circ~$  At the end of this incubation period add 50  $\mu l$  of stop solution to each well.
- The plate was read as described below at 450 and 490nm.
- $\circ~$  Samples with absorbance higher than the highest standard were treated as follows; -
  - Human serum diluent vials were warmed from 2-8°C to room temperature (18-25°C), and then reconstituted with 6mls of distilled water to each vial.
  - $\circ$  Dilute the original serum sample to a ratio of 1:4 with diluent.
  - Repeat the analysis of the sample on a subsequent plate.

## For IL-6

- Allow the standards (0-5) and two controls to reach room temperature. Then reconstitute with 1ml of high quality distilled water, and gentle agitation or swirling to ensure the entire lyophilised sample is dissolved. Avoid vortexing the sample, as there is a risk of denaturing the proteins.
- The standards concentrations are 0, 16, 45, 147, 462, 1690pg/ml.
- Standards and controls can be stored for a maximum of 4days at  $2-8^{\circ}$ C once diluted. Freezing to  $-20^{\circ}$ C allow the sample to be kept for 2months, and to  $-70^{\circ}$ C for preservation to the expiry date. Once frozen the sample can be defrosted a maximum of twice.
- Wash solution is prepared in a clean plastic container, by adding 2mls of wash solution concentrate to 400mls of distilled water. Although wash solution was stable until the expiry date, for this research fresh wash solution was prepared for each assay.
- $\circ$  Solution's A and B, anti-IL-6-RP conjugate (in a buffer), chromogen (tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) in DNF) and stop solution (H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> 1.8N) came ready to use.
- The chromogen should be kept out of direct sunlight.
- The Horizontal micro titre plate shaker (Titertek Flow Laboratory) was turned on prior to preparing the plates to allow it to achieve speed of 700rpm±100rpm.
- Ensure that all samples and reagents are at room temperature and mixed well before starting to pipette onto the plate. Pipetting should take no longer than 30minutes to avoid drift and accuracy of the results
- $\circ$  Into each well pipette 50µl of solution B.
- Into the first six wells in columns' A and B pipette 100µl of the standards in ascending order of concentration. Into the final two wells pipette 100µl of controls 1 and 2 respectfully. Into the remaining wells pipette 100µl of sample in duplicate.
- When pipetting is complete cover the plate with a Press apply Adhesive sealing film for Micro well plates, (Anachem, Bedfordshire, UK) plate cover.
- Incubate for 1hour at room temperature on a horizontal plate shaker (Titertek Flow Laboratory) at 700±100rpm. Ensure the plate is secured in place.
- From each well aspirate the fluid and dry the plate.
- $\circ$  To each well add 400µl of wash solution, filling the well.
- Aspirate each well and dry the plate.
- Repeat the last two steps twice more.
- To each well add 100µl of anti IL-6 conjugate.
- $\circ$  Then add 50µl of solution A to each well in turn.
- The pipetting steps should take no longer than 30 minutes, to avoid drift.
- Cover the plate with a new Press apply Adhesive sealing film for Micro well plates (Anachem, Bedfordshire, UK).
- Secure in place on the horizontal plate shaker (Titertek Flow Laboratory), and incubate for 1hour at 700±100 rpm.
- Aspirate each well and dry the plate.
- Add 400µl of wash to each well, then aspirate each well and dry the plate.
- Wash and dry the plate two further times.

- Over a maximum of 15minutes pipette 200µl of the chromogen into each well using a non-metallic pipette.
- Again cover the plate with a new sealing film (Press apply Adhesive sealing film for Microwell plates Anachem, Bedfordshire, UK).
- Once the plate is secured on the horizontal plate shaker (Titertek Flow Laboratory), incubate for 15minutes at 700±100rpm. During this incubation stage the plate should be kept out of direct sunlight to avoid degradation of the chromogen.
- $\circ$  At the end of incubation add 100µl of stop solution to each well.
- The plate was read at 450 and 490nm as described below.
- Where the absorbances were off the scale then the original sample was diluted in a ratio of 1:2 with solution A. The diluted sample was then analysed on a subsequent plate.

#### <u>For IL-10</u>

- All the vials in the kit were allowed to warm to room temperature.
- When the standards (0-5) and controls (1-2) reached room temperature they were reconstituted by adding 1ml of distilled water to each vial. Then gently agitated by swirling to ensure all the lyophilised sample is dissolved. Avoid vortexing the sample, as there is a risk of denaturing the proteins.
- Solution A was reconstituted with distilled water the volume dependent upon the amount indicated on the vial.
- A volumetric flask should be used to measure 400mls of distilled water, to this should be added 2ml concentrate washing solution. The prepared wash solution should be kept in a clean plastic container. Despite being stable until the kits expiration date, in this work fresh wash solution was prepared on the day of analysis to avoid contamination.
- $\circ$  Solution B, Anti-IL-10-HRP conjugate (in a buffer), and stop solution (H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>) do not require dilution.
- The chromogen requires dilution as the point indicated below and should be kept out of direct sunlight to avoid degradation.
- To achieve optimal function the Horizontal micro titre plate shaker (Titertek Flow Laboratory) was turned on prior to preparing the plates.
- $\circ$  Into each well pipette 100µl of solution B.
- $\circ$  Into appropriate wells pipette 100µl of standard in ascending order of concentration. Into the remaining wells pipette 100µl of either the two controls or the samples. All standards, controls and samples should be plated in duplicate.
- The above two steps should take no longer than thirty minutes to avoid sample drift.
- Cover the plate with a Press apply Adhesive sealing film for Microwell plates, (Anachem, Bedfordshire, UK) plate cover, and secure the plate on the shaker.
- $\circ$  The horizontal plate shaker (Titertek Flow Laboratory) should be at 700±100rpm, and the plate left to incubate for two hours at room temperature on the shaker.
- At the end of the incubation period aspirate the fluid from each well and dry the plate.
- $\circ~$  Into each well pipette 400  $\mu l$  of wash solution, which should fill the well to the brim.
- After filling each well aspirate the wash from each and dry the plate.
- These two steps should be repeated a further two times.
- $\circ$  To each well add 100µl of solution A.
- Following this add 50µl anti-IL-10 to each well. These two steps should be completed within thirty minutes.
- Cover the plate with the plate cover (Press apply Adhesive sealing film for Microwell plates, Anachem, Bedfordshire, UK).
- Secure in position on the horizontal plate shaker (Titertek Flow Laboratory) and incubate at 700±100rpm, for two hours at room temperature.
- At the end of the incubation period aspirate the fluid from each well and dry the plate.

- $\circ~$  To each well in turn add 400  $\mu l$  of wash solution, then aspirate each well and dry the plate.
- Repeat this step twice more.
- Into one of the vials of substrate buffer add 200µl of concentrated chromogen (TMB in DMF). Mix by gentle agitation.
- If the chromogenic solution develops a blue colour, it should be discarded. The chromogenic solution should be used within 15minutes of preparation.
- To each well add 200µl of chromogenic solution.
- Cover the plate with a further adhesive cover (Press apply Adhesive sealing film for Microwell plates, Anachem, Bedfordshire, UK).
- Out of direct sunlight and at room temperature incubate the plate on the horizontal shaker at 700±100rpm for 30minutes.
- After 30minutes add 50µl of stop solution to each well.
- $\circ~$  Read the plate at 450 and 490nm, as soon as possible after adding the stop solution.
- If a sample generates a value higher than the highest standard the original sample should be diluted with solution A in a ratio of 1:2.

#### **Reading the plate.**

- Plates should be read immediately after stop solution to avoid degradation of the chromogen. If this is not feasible then the plate should be kept out of the light and read within a maximum of 3hours.
- A standard curve is constructed at 450nm, for samples or controls with absorbances above the standard read at 450nm, a second reading at 490nm. This allows a high sensitivity of assay at the 450nm wavelength and an extended standard range using the absorbancies at 490nm.
- Readings at 490nm do not replace the 450nm readings, and should only be used where the values are off the scale at 450nm.
- For each control and sample the average value of absorbance of the two wells is used to measure concentration.
- Various software programmes exist for reading the plates, for this research the Stingray programme (Stingray Pharmaceuticals) was used with a Rosys anthos 2001 mass spectrometer attached.
- At the first screen choose 'Create a new profile'.
- Mark out the plate template with the position of standards, controls, samples, blanks and unused wells.
- Under Stingray assay master, name the assay, and the assay type, highlighting curve fitting, GLP.
- Under Transformation manager, highlight Calculate concentration.
- The following screen is Define transformation highlighting type curve fit, and output name concentration.
- Under Input matrix highlight 'Raw 1 Anthos AN2001 450, 490 pre concentration.
- On the curve fit method screen choose 'Polynomial order 2'.
- The following screen allows the standard graph to be titled and axis labelled, in this research we used Cytokine concentration in pg/ml linear scale for the x-axis, and OD at 450nm linear scale for the y-axis.
- The summary screen should display 'Curve fit uses x-values defined in standard set, y-values on matrix Raw 1.
- The values for the standards screen depend on the cytokine measured and are shown in the table below.

Standard	TNF-α	IL-1β	IL-6	IL-10
1	0	0	0	0
2	14.9	33	19	11
3	43	100	55	40
4	130	335	194	120
5	428	670	607	420
6	1385	1400	2350	1335

• When the plate was ready to be read press the 'read to run' button.

# **Bibliography**

## **Bibliography**

Aashu, A., Bhattacharjee, P.K., Halder, S.K., Nidhi, N., (2016). A prospective study of different complications following laparoscopic cholecystectomy in a tertiary care hospital in Eastern India. *International Surgery Journal*, **3(4):** 2349-2902.

Abbott, J., Hawe, J., Srivastava, P., Hunter, D., Garry, R., (2001). Intraperitonealgas drain to reduce pain after laparoscopy: Randomized masked trial. *Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, **98(1)**: 97-100.

Abraham, E., Glauser, M.P., Butler, T., Garbino, J., Gelmont, D., Laterre, P.F., Kudsk, K., Bruining, H.A., Otto, C., Tobin, E., Zwinglestein, C., Lesslauer, W., Leighton, A., (1997). P55 Tumour necrosis factor receptor fusion protein in the treatment of patients with severe sepsis and septic shock. A randomised multicentre trial. Ro 45-2081 Study Group. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, **277**: 1531-38.

Abraham, E., Anzueto, A., Gutierrez, G., Tessler, S., San Pedro, G., Wunderink, R., Dal Nogare, A., Nasraway, S., Berman, S., Cooney, R., Levy, H., Baughman, R., Rumbak, M., Light, R.B., Poole, L., Allred, R., Constant, J., Pennington, J., Porter, S., (1998). Double blind randomised controlled trial of monoclonal antibody to human tumour necrosis factor in treatment of septic shock. NORASEPT II Study Group. *Lancet*, **351**: 929-33.

Abramowicz, D., Schandene, L., Goldman, M., Crusiaux, A., Vereerstraeten P, De Pauw, L., Wybran, J., Kinnaert, P., Dupont, E., Toussaint, C., (1989). Release of tumour necrosis factor, interleukin-2 and gamma interferon in serum after injection of OKT3 monoclonal antibody in kidney transplant recipients. *Transplantation*, **47**: 606-8.

Adas, G., Kemik, A., Adas, M., Koc, B., Gurbuz, E., Akcakaya, A., Karahan, S., (2013). Metabolic and Inflammatory responses after ERCP. *International Journal of Biomedical Sciences*. **9(4):** 237-242.

Adrie, C., and Pinsky, M.R., (2000). The inflammatory balance in human sepsis.*Intensive Care Medicine*, **26:** 364-75.

Afghani, E., Lo, S.K., Covington, P.S., Cash, B.D., Pandol, S.J., (2017). Sphincter of Oddi Function and Risk Factors for Dysfunction. *Frontiers in Nutrition*, **4(1):** 3-5.

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project Statistical Brief No. 160 August (2013). *National inpatient hospital costs: the most expensive conditions by payer, 2011.* 

Aggarwal, B.B., Eessalu, T.E., Hass, P.E., (1985). Characterization of receptors for human tumour necrosis factor and their regulation by gamma-interferon. *Nature*, **318:**665-7.

Akhtar, K., Kamalky-asl, I.D., Lamb, W.R., Laing, I., Walton, L., Pearson, R.C., Parrott, N.R., (1998). Metabolic and inflammatory responses after laparoscopic and open inguinal hernia repair. *Annals of the Royal College of Surgeons of England*, **80**: 125-30.

Akira, S., Yoshida, K., Tanaka, T., Taga, T, Kishimoto, T., (1995). Targeted disruption of the IL-6 related genes: gp130 and NF-IL-6. *Immunology Review*, **148**: 221-53.

Akoh, J.A., Watso, W.A., Bourne, T.P., (2016). Day case laparoscopic cholecystectomy: Reducing the admission rate. *International Journal of Surgery*, **9(1)**: 63–7.

Alexander, H.R., Doherty, G.M., Venzon, D.J., Merino, M. J., Fraker, D. L., Norton, J. A., (1992). Recombinant interleuk*C*n-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1ra): Effective therapy against gram-negative sepsis in rats. *Surgery*, **112**: 188.

Alexander, D.J., Ngoi, S.S., Lee, L., So, J., Mak, K., Chan, S., Goh, P.M., (1996). Randomized trial of periportal peritoneal bupivacaine for pain relief after laparoscopic cholecystectomy, *British Journal of Surgery*, **83(9)**: 1223-25.

Ali, A., Na, M., Svensson, M.N.D., Magnusson, M., Welin, A., Schwarze, J.-C., Mohammad, M., Josefsson, E., Pullerits, R., Jin, T., (2015). IL-1 Receptor Antagonist Treatment Aggravates Staphylococcal Septic Arthritis and Sepsis in Mice. *PLOS-One*, **10(7)**: e0131645.

Alijani, A., Hanna, G.B., Cuschieri, A., (2004). Abdominal wall lift versus positivepressure capnoperitoneum for laparoscopic cholecystectomy: Randomized controlled trial. *Annals Surgery*, **239**: 388-94.

Alkatout, I., Schollmeyer, T., Hawaldar, N.A., Sharma, N., and Mettler, L., (2012). Principles and Safety Measures of Electrosurgery in Laparoscopy. *Journal of the Society of Laparoscopic Surgeons*, **16(1)**: 130-139.

Allendorf, J.D., Bessler, M., Whelan, R.L., Trokel, M., Laird, D.A., Terry, M.B., Treat, M.R., (1997). Postoperative immune function varies inversely with the degree of surgical trauma in a murine model. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **11**: 427-30.

Altamura, M., Tafaro, A., Casale, D., Pepe, M., Colella, R., Jirillo, E., Venezia, P., (2002). A comparative study between conventional and laparoscopic cholecystectomy: Evaluation of phagocytic and T-cell mediated antibacterial activities. *Journal of* 

American Pain Society Quality of Care Committee, (1995) Quality Improvement Guidelines for the Treatment of Acute Pain and Cancer Pain. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, **274(23):** 1874-1880.

American Society of Anesthesiologists Task Force on Acute Pain Management, (2012). Practice guidelines for acute pain management in the perioperative setting: an updated report by the American Society of Anesthesiologists task force on acute pain Management. *Anesthesiology*, **116(2)**: 248–273.

Amoedo, G., Bugada, D., Franchi, S., Moschetti, G., Grimaldi, S., Panerai, A., Allegri,
M.,Sacerdote, P., (2018). Immune function after major surgical interventions: the effect of postoperative pain treatment. *Journal of Pain Research*, 11; 1297 – 1305.

Andersson, J., (2005). The inflammatory reflex- introduction. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, **205**: 122-5.

Andrejko, K.M., Deutschman, C.S., (1996). Acute-phase gene expression correlates with intrahepatic tumour necrosis factor-alpha abundance but not with plasma tumour necrosis factor concentrations during sepsis/systemic inflammatory response syndrome in the rat. *Critical Care Medicine*, **24(12)**: 1947-52.

Angele, M.K., and Faist, E., 2002. Clinical review: Immunodepression in the surgical patient and increased susceptibility to infection. *Critical Care*, 6 (4): 298 -305.

Angele, M.K., Pratschke, S., Hubbard, W.J., Chaudry, I.H., (2014). Gender differences in sepsis – Cardiovascular and immunological aspects. *Virulence*, **5(1)**: 12-19.

Angus D.C., van der Poll T., (2013). Severe sepsis and septic shock. *New England Journal of Medicine*, Aug 29, 369(9): 840-51.

Antonucci, E., Fiaccadori, E., Donadello, K., Taccone, F.S. Franchi, F., Scolletta, S., (2014). Myocardial depression in sepsis: from pathogenesis to clinical manifestations and treatment. *Journal of Critical Care*, 29(4): 500–511.

Ashcroft, G.S., Masterson, G.R., (1994). Interleukin-6 and wound healing (letter). *British Journal of Anaesthesia*, **73:** 426

Asitz, M.E., Rackow, E.C., Kim, Y.B., Weil, M.H., (1991). Monophoshoryl lipid A induces tolerance to lethal hemodynamic effects of endotoxemia. *Circulatory Shock*, **33**: 92-7.

Assimakopoulos, S.F., Scopa, C.D., Vagianos, C.E., (2007). Pathophysiology of increased intestinal permeability in obstructive jaundice. *World Journal Gastroenterology*, **16**: 6458–6464.

Avrutis, O., Meshoulam, J., Yutkin, O., Mikchalevski, V., Haskel, L., Adler, S., Durst, A., (2001). Duodenal laceration presenting as massive hematemesis and multiple intraabdominal abscesses after laparoscopic cholecystectomy. *Laparoscopy Endoscopy and Percutaneous Techniques*, **11(5)**: 330-333.

Ayala, A., Wang, P., Ba, Z.F., Perrin, M.M., Ertel, W., Chaudry, I.H., (1991). Differential alterations in plasma II-6 and TNF levels after trauma and hemmorrhage. *American Journal of Physiology*, **260**: R167-171.

Ayala, A., Elphick, G.F., Kim, Y.S., Huang, X., Carreira-Rosario, A., Santos, S. C., Shubin, N., Chen, Y., Reichner, J., Chung, C.-S., (2014). Sepsis-induced Potentiation of Peritoneal Macrophage Migration is mitigated by PD-1 Gene Deficiency. *Journal of Innate Immunology*, **6(3)**: 325-338.

Babineau, T.J., Marcello, P., Swalis, W., Kenler, A., Bistrian, B., Forse, R.A., (1994). Randomised Phase I/II trial of macrophage-specific immunomodulator (PGG-glucan) in high-risk surgical patients. *Annals of Surgery*, **220**: 601-9.

Bacci, M.R., Leme, R.C.P., Zing, N.P.C., Murad, N., Adami, F., Hinnig, P.F., Feder, D., Chagas, A.C.P., Fonseca, F.L.A., (2015). IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  serum levels are associated with early death in community-acquired pneumonia patients. *Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Research*, **48(5)**: 1590.

Badia, J.M., Whawell, S.A., Scott-Coombes, D.M., Abel, P.D., Williamson, R.C. and Thompson, J.N., (1996). Peritoneal and systemic cytokine response to laparotomy. *British Journal of Surgery*, **83(3)**: 347-8.

Bagby, G.J., Plessala, K.J., Wilson, L.A., Thompson, J.J., Nelson, S., (1991). Divergent efficacy of antibody to tumour necrosis factor-α in intravascular and peritonitis models of sepsis. *Journal of Infectious Disease*, **163**: 83-88.

Baigrie, R.J., Lamont, P.M., Kwiatkowski, D., Dallman, M.J., Morris, P.J., (1992). Systemic cytokine response after major surgery. *British Journal of Surgery*, **79:** 757-60.

Balaguė, C., Targarona, E.M., Pujol, M., Filella, X., Espert, J.J., Trias, M., (1999). Peritoneal response to a septic challenge. Comparison between open laparoscopy, pneumoperitoneum laparoscopy and wall lift laparoscopy. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **13**: 792-6.

Balk, R.A., (2014). Systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS). Where did it come from and is it still relevant today? *Virulence*, **5**(1): 20-26.

Barczynski, M., Herman, R.M.. (2004). Low-pressure pneumoperitoneum combined with intraperitoneal saline washout for reduction of pain after laparoscopic cholecystectomy: A prospective randomized study. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **18**: 1368–73.

Bardiya, Z., Rhee, P., Pandit, V., Hsu, C-H, Khalil, M., Okeefe, T., Neumayer, L., Joseph, B., (2016). Seasonal Variation in Emergency General Surgery, *Annals of Surgery*, **263(1)**: 76-81.

Bartlett, J.G., Onderdonk, A.B., Louie, T., Kasper, D.L., Gorbach, S.L., (1978). A review. Lessons from an animal model of intra-abdominal sepsis. *Archives Surgery*, **113:** 853-57.

Basil, M. C., and Levy, B. D., (2016). Specialized pro-resolving mediators: endogenous regulators of infection and inflammation, *Nature Review Immunology*, **16:** 51 -67.

Basok, A., Shnaider, A., Man, L., Chaimovitz, C., Douvdevani, A., 2001. CD40 is expressed on human peritoneal mesothelial cells and upregulates the production of interleukin-15 and RANTES. *Journal American Society of Neprology*, **12**: 695-702.

Baxter, J.N., and O'Dwyer, P.J., (1995). Pathophysiology of laparoscopy. *British Journal of Surgery*, **82(1):** 1-2.

Beilin, B., Shavit, Y., Hart, J., Mordashov, B., Cohn, S., Notti, I., Bessler, H., (1996). Effects of anaesthesia based on large versus small doses of fentanyl on natural killer cell cytotoxicity in the perioperative period. *Anaesthia And Analgesia*, **82**: 492-7.

Beilin, B., Shavit, Y., Trabekin, E., Mordashev, B., Mayburd, E., Zeidel, A., Bessler, H., (2003a). The effects of postoperative pain management on immune response to surgery. *Anaesthesia and Analgesia*, **97(3)**: 822-7.

Beilin, B., Bessler, H., Mayburd, E., Smirnov, G., Dekel, A., Yardeni, I., Shavit, Y., (2003b). Effects of preemptive analgesia on pain and cytokine production in the postoperative period. *Anesthesiology*, **98(1)**: 151-5.

Berg, D.J., Kuhn, R., Rajewsky, K., Muller, W., Menon, S., Davidson, N., Grunig, G., and Rennick, D., (1995). Interleukin-10 is a central regulator of the the response to LPS in murine models of endotoxic shock and the Shwartzman reaction but not endotocin tolerance. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, **96**: 2339-2347.

Bergstrom, M., Falk, P., Park, P.O., Holmdahl, L., (2008). Peritoneal and systemic pH during pneumoperitoneum with CO<sub>2</sub> and helium in a pig model. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **22**: 359–364.

Bernard, H.R., and Hartman, T.W., (1993). Complications after laparoscopic cholecystectomy. *American Journal of Surgery*, **165**: 533-5.

Bernik, T.R., Friedman, S.G., Ochani, M., DiRaimo, R., Ulloa, L., Yang, H., Czura, C.J., Ivanova, S.M., Tracey, K.J., (2002a). Pharmacological stimulation of the cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, **195**: 781-8.

Bernik, T.R., Freidman, S.G., Ochani, M., DiRaimo, R., Susarla, S., Czura, C., Tracey, K.J., (2002b). Cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway inhibition of tumour necrosis factor during ischaemia reperfusion. *Journal of Vascular Surgery*, **36(6)**: 1231-6.

Berthoud, H.R., Neuhuber, W.L., (2000). Functional and chemical anatomy of the afferent vagal system. *Autonomic Neuroscience*, **85:** 1-17.

Beutler, B., Milsark, I.W., Cerami, A.C., (1985). Passive immunization against cachectin/tumour necrosis factor protects mice from lethal effects of endotoxin. *Science*, **229:** 869-71.

Beutler, B., Cerami, A., (1987). Cachectin: more than a tumour necrosis factor. *New England Journal of Medicine*, **316**: 379-85.

Beutler, B., and Cerami, A., (1988). The common mediator of shock, cachexia and tumour necrosis. *Advances in Immunology*, **42:** 213-231.

Bhatia, M., Brady, M., Shokuhi, S., Christmas, S., Neoptolemos, J. P., Slavin, J., (2000). Inflammatory mediators in acute pancreatitis. *Journal of Pathology*, **190:** 117-25.

Bianchi, M., Maggi, R., Pimpinelli, F., Rubino, T., Parolaro, D., Poli, V., Cilibreto, G., Panerai, A.E., Sacerdote, P., (1999). Presence of a reduced opioid response in interleukin-6 knock-out mice. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, **11**: 1501-7.

Biffl, W.L., Moore, E.E., Moore, F.A., Peterson, V. M., (1996). Interleukin-6 delays neutrophil apoptosis via a mechanism involving platelet-activating factor. *Journal of Trauma*, **40**: 575-9.

Bilbao, A., Escobar, A., Gracia-Perez, L., Navarro, G., Quirós, R., (2016). The Minnesota living with heart failure questionnaire: comparison of different factor structures. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, **14**: 23.

Binagi, S., Keune, J., Awad, M., (2015). Immediate Postoperative Pain: An Atypical Presentation of Dropped Gallstones after Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy. *Case Reports in Surgery*, **2015**: 1-3.

Binder, W., Mousa, S.A., Sitte, N., Kaiser, M., Stein, C., Schafer, M., (2004). Sympathetic activation triggers endogenous opioid release and analgesia within peripheral inflamed tissue. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, **20(1)**: 92-100.

Bishoff, J.T., Allaf, M.E., Kirkels, W., Moore, R. G., Kavoussi, L.R., Schroder, F., (1999). Laparoscopic bowel injury: incidence and clinical presentation. *Journal of Urology*, **161(3)**: 887-90.

Black, R.A., Ruach, C.T., Kozlosky, C.J.,(1997). A metalloproteinase disintegrin that releases TNF-  $\alpha$  from cells. *Nature*, **385**: 729-732.

Bleakman, D., Jones, M.V., Harrison, N.L., (1995). The effects of four general anesthetics on intracellular  $[Ca^{2+}]$  in cultured rat hippocampal neurons. *Neuropharmacology*, **34**: 541-51

Blobner, M., Bogdanski, R., Kochs, E., Henke, J., Findeis, A., Jelen-Esselborn, S., (1998). Effects of intraabdominally insufflated carbon dioxide and elevated intraabdominal pressure on splanchnic circulation: an experimental study in pigs. *Anesthesiology*, **89(2)**: 475-82.

Bloomfield, G.L. Dalton, J.M., Sugerman, H.J., DeMaria, E.J., Bullock, R., (1995). Treatment of increasing intracranial pressure secondary to the abdominal compartment syndrome in a patient with combined abdominal and head trauma. *Journal of Trauma*, **39:** 1168-70.

Bolton, C.F., (1996). Sepsis and the systemic inflammatory response syndrome: neuromuscular manifestations. *Critical Care Medicine*, **24**: 1408-16.

Bolufer, J.M., Delgado, F., Blanes, F., Martinez-Abad, M., Canos, J. I., Martin, J., Oliver, M. J., (1995). Injury in laparoscopic surgery. *Surgical Laparoscopic Endoscopy*, **5:** 318-23.

Bone, R.C., (1991). The pathogenesis of sepsis. Annals Internal Medicine, 115: 457.

Bone, R.C., Balk, R.A., Cerra, F.B., Dellinger, R.P., Fein, A.M., Knaus, W.A., Schein, R.M., Sibbald, W.J., (1992). Definitions for sepsis and organ failure and guidelines for the use of innovative therapies in sepsis. The ACCP/SCCM Consensus Conference Committee. American College of Chest Physicians/Society of Critical Care Medicine. *Chest*, **101**: 1644-55.

Bone, R.C., Balk, R.A., Fein, A.M., Perl, T.M., Wenzel, R.P., Reines, H.D., Quenzer, R.W., Iberti, T.J., Macintyre, N., Schein, R.M., (1995). A second large controlled clinical study of E5, a monoclonal antibody to endotoxin: results of a perspective, multicentre, randomised, controlled trial. The E5 sepsis Group. *Critical Care. Medicine*, **23**: 994-1006.

Bone, R.C., (1996 a). Why sepsis trials fail. *Journal American Medical Association*, **276:** 565-6.

Bone, R.C., (1996 b). Toward a theory regarding the pathogenesis of the systemic inflammatory response syndrome: What we do and do not know about cytokine regulation. *Critical Care Medicine*, **24(1)**: 163-172.

Boontham, P., Chandran, P., Rowlands, B., Eremin, O., (2003). Surgical sepsis: dysregulation of immune function and theraputic implications. *Surgical Journal Royal College Surgeons Edinburgh and Ireland*, August: 187-206.

Borovikova, L., Ivanova, S., Zhang, M., Yang, H., Botchkina, G.I., Watkins, L.R., Wang, H., Abumrad, N., Eaton, J.W., Tracey, K.J., (2000). Vagus nerve stimulation attenuates the systemic inflammatory response to endotoxin. *Nature*, **405(6785):** 458-62.

Bower, R.H., Cerra, F.B., Bershadsky, B., licari, J.J., Hoyt, D.B., Jensen, G.L., Van Beuren, C.T., Rothkopf, M.M., Daly, J.M., Adelsberg, B.R., (1995). Early enteral administration of a formula (impact) supplemented with arginine, nucleotides, and fish oil in intensive care unit patients: results of a multicentre, prospective randomised clinical trial. *Critical Care Medicine*, **23**: 436-49.

Bowley, D.M.G., Butler, M., Shaw, S., Kingsnorth, A., (2003). Disproportional pessimism predicts delayed return to normal activities after inguinal hernia operation. *Surgery*, **133(2)**: 141-6.

Brack, A., Labuz, D., Schiltz, A., Rittner, H.L., Machelska, H., Schafer, M., Reszka, R., Stein, C., (2004). Tissue monocytes/macrophages in inflammation: Hyperalgesia versus opioid-mediated peripheral antinociception. *Anesthesiology* **101(1)**: 204-211.

British Medical Journal Best Practice Online (2016). Sepsis in Adults. *British Medical Journal*, August 2016.

Broadwell, R.D., and Sofroniew, M.V., (1993). Serum proteins bypass the blood-brain fluid barriers for extracellular entry to the central nervous system, *Experimental Neurology*, **120**: 245-63.

Broche, F., and Tellado, J., (2001). Defense mechanisms of the peritoneal cavity. *Current Opinions in Critical care*, **7(2):** 105-16.

Brokleman, W.J.A., Lensvelt, M., Borel Rinkes, I.H.M., Klinkenbijl, J.H.G., Reijnen, M.M.P.J., (2011). Peritoneal changes due to laparoscopic surgery. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **25(1):** 1-9.

Brune, I.B., Wilke, W., Hensler, T., Feussner, H., Holzmann, B., Siewert, J.R., (1998). Normal T lymphocyte and monocyte function after minimally invasive surgery. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **12**: 1020-4. Bryant, C.E., Perretti, M., Flower, R.J., (1998). Suppression by dexamethasone of inducible nitric oxide synthase protein expression in vivo:a possible role of lipocortin 1. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, **55**: 279-285.

Burroughs, T. E., Desikan, R., Waterman, B.M., Gilin, D., McGill, J., (2004). Development and Validation of the Diabetes Quality of Life Brief Clinical Inventory. *Diabetes Spectrum*, **17(1):** 41 – 49.

Bustos, B., Gomez-Ferrer, F., Balique, J.G., Porcheron, J., Gobernado, M., Cantón, E., (1997). Laparoscopy and septic dissemination caused by perioperative perforation of the occluded small bowel: an experimental study. *Surgical Laparoscopy Endoscopy*, **7**: 228-31.

Butterworth, J.F., and Strichartz, G.R., (1990). Molecular mechanisms of local anaesthesia: a review. *Anesthesiology*, **72**: 711-34.

Byrne, K., Sielaff, T.D., Michna, B., Carey, P.D., Blocher, C.R., Vasquez, A., Sugerman, H.J., (1990). Increased survivaltime after delayed histamine and prostaglandin blockade in a porcine model of severe sepsis-induced lung injury. *Critical Care Medicine*, **18**: 303-8.

Callahan, L.A., and Supinski, G.S., (2009). Sepsis-induced myopathy. *Critical Care Medicine*, **37(10)**: S354-S367.

Calvo, M., Dawes, J.M., Bennett, D.L.H., (2012). The role of the immune system in the generation of neuropathic pain. *The Lancet Neurology*, **11(7)**: 629-642.

Carey, P.D., Wakefield, C.H., Thayeb, A., Monson, J.R., Darzi, A., Guillou, P.J., (1994). Effects of minimally invasive surgery on hypochlorous acidproduction by neutrophils. *British Journal Surgery*, **81:** 557-60.

Carpenter, S., and Fitzgerald, K.A., (2019). Cytokines and Long Noncoding RNAs, *Cold Spring Harbor Perspective in Biology*, **11(3):** 1 - 21.

Carraro, A., El Mazioum, D., Bihl, F., (2011). Health-related quality of life outcomes after cholecystectomy. *World Journal of Gastroenterology*, **17(45):** 4945-4951.

Carrilho-Ribeiro, L., Serra, D., Pinto-Correia, A., Velosa, J., de Moura, M.C., (2002). Quality of life after cholecystectomy and after successful lithotrpsy for gallbladder stones: a matched –pairs comparison. *European Journal of Gasteroenterology and hepatology*, **14(7)**: 741-4.

Carroll, I.R., Angst, M.S., Clark, J.D., (2004). Management of Perioperative Pain in Patients Chronically Consuming Opioids. *Stamford Press*.

Casey, L., Balk, R.A., Bone, R.C., (1993). Plasma cytokine and endotoxin levels correlate with survival in patients with the sepsis syndrome. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, **119(8)**: 771-778.

Cassado, A., dos-A., D'Império Lima, M. R., Bortoluci, K.R., (2015). Revisiting Mouse Peritoneal Macrophages: Heterogeneity, Development, and Function. *Frontiers in Immunology*, **6:225**, on-line.

Castro-Torres, I.G., Cardenas-Vazquez, R. de J., Velazquez-Gonzalez, C., Ventura-Martinez, R. d, De la O-Arciniega, M., Naranjo-Rodriguez, E.B. Martinez-Vazquez, M., (2015). Future therapeutic targets for the treatment and prevention of cholesterol gallstones. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, **765**, 366-374.

Célèrier, E., Rivat, C., Jun, Y., Laulin, J-P, Larcher, A., Reynier, P., Simonnet, G., (2000). Long lasting hyperalgesia induced by fentanyl in rats: Preventive effects of ketamine. *Anaesthesiology*, **92**: 465-72.

Champault, G., Cazacu, F., Taffinder, N., (1996). Serious trocar accidents in laparoscopic surgery: A French survey of 103 852 operations. *Surgical Laparoscopic Endoscopy*, **6:** 367-70.

Chandio, A., Khatoon, Z., Chandio, K., Naqvi, S.M., Naqvi, S.A., (2017). Immediate outcome of day case laparoscopic cholecystectomy. *Transplantation Open*, **2(2):** 1 – 4.

Chaudhary, D., Verma, G.R., Gupta, R., Bose, S.M., Ganguly, N.K., (1999). Comparative evaluation of the inflammatory mediators in patients undergoing laparoscopic versus conventional cholecystectomy. *Australia New Zealand Journal of Surgery*, **69**: 369-72.

Cheah, W.K., Lenzi, J.E., So, J.B.Y., Kum, C.K., Goh, P.M.Y., (2001). Randomized trial of needlescopic versus laparoscopic cholecystectomy, *British Journal of Surgery*, **88(1):** 45-7.

Chen, C – C., Wang, S – S., Lu, R – H., Lu, C – C., Chang, F – Y., Lee, S – D., (2003). Early changes of serum proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines after endoscopic reterodrade cholangiopancreatography. *Pancreas*, **26** (4): 375 - 380.

Chen, L., Huang, L.Y., (1992). Protein kinase C reduces magnesium block of NMDA-receptor channels as a mechanism of modulation. *Nature*, **356**: 521-3.

Chen, J., Jiang, S., Cao, Y., Yang, Y., (2014). Altered miRNAs expression profiles and modulation of immune response genes and proteins during neonatal sepsis. *Journal Clinical Immunology*, **34:** 340–8.

Chensue, S.W., Terebuh, P.D., Remick, D.G., Scales, W.E., Kunkel, S.L., (1991). In vivo biologic and immunohistochemical andalysis of interleukin-1 alpha and tumour necrosis factor during experimental endotoxaemia. Kinetics, Kupffer cell expression and glucocorticoid effects. *American Journal of Pathology*, **138(2)**: 395-402.

Cheruvu, C.V.N., Eyre-Brook, I.A., (2002). Consequences of prolonged wait before gallbladder surgery. *Annals of The Royal College of Surgeons of England*, **84:** 20-22.
Cho, J.M., La Porta, A.J., Clark, J.R., (1994). Response of serum cytokines in patients undergoing laparoscopic cholecystectomy. *Surgcal Endoscopy*, **8:** 1380-4.

Choudhary A, Bechtold ML, Arif M, Szary, N.M., Puli, S.R., Othman, M.O., Pais, W.P., Antillion, M.R., Roy, P.K., (2011) Pancreatic stents for prophylaxis against post-ERCP pancreatitis: a meta-analysis and systematic review. *Gastrointestinal Endoscopy* **73(2):** 275–282.

Chowdhury, A.H., Camara, M., Martinez-Pomares, L., Zalitoun, A.M., Eremin, O., Aithal, G.P., Lobo, D., (2016). Immune dysfunction in patients with obstructive jaundice before and after endoscopic reterograde pancreatography. *Clinical Science*, **130** (17): 1535-44.

Christen, Y., Reymond, M.A., Vogel, J.J., Klopfenstein, C.E., Morel, P., Bounameaux, H., (1995). Hemodynamic effects of intermittent pneumatic compression of the lower limbs during laparoscopic cholecystectomy. *American Journal of Surgery*, **170**: 395-8.

Christensen, T., Bendix, T., Kehlet, H., (1982). Fatigue and cardiorespiratory function following abdominal surgery. *British Journal of Surgery*, **69:** 417-9.

Chung, F., Ritchie, E., Su, J., (1997). Postoperative pain in ambulatory surgery. *Anesthesia and Analgesia*, **85(4):** 808-16.

Cimolai, M.C., Alvarez, S., Bode, C., and Bugger, H., (2015). Mitochondrial mechanisms in septic cardiomyopathy. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, **16(8):** 17763–17778.

Clini, C., Wolthuis, A., D'Hoore, A., (2013). Peritoneal fluid cytokines and matrix metalloproteinases as early markers of anastomotic leakage in colorectal anastomosis: a literature review and meta-analysis. *Colorectal Disease*, **15(9)**: 1070-7.

Cohen, I.R., Sciutto, M.S., Brown, G.L., Polk, H.C. Jr., (1984). Failure of opsonization as a sign of lethal sepsis, *Journal of infectious Disease*, **149**: 651.

Cohen, J., (2002). The immunopathogenesis of sepsis. Nature, 420 (6917): 885-891.

Collet, D., Vitale, G.C., Reynolds, M., Klar, E., Cheadle, W.G., (1995). Peritoneal host defences are less impaired by laparoscopy than by open operation. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **9**: 1059-64.

Concepcion-Martin, M., Gomez-Olivia, C., Juanes, A., Mora, Josefina, Vidal, S., Diez, X., Torras, X., Villanueva, C., Farre, A., Guarner-Argente, C., Guarner, C., (2016). IL-6, IL-10 and TNF- $\alpha$  do not improve early detection of post-endoscopic reterograde cholangiopansreatography acute pancreatitis: a prospective cohort study. *Scietific Reports*, **6**.

Connolly, H.V., Maginniss, L.A., Schumacker, P.T., (1997). Transit time heterogeneity in canine small intestine: Significance for oxygen transport. *Journal Clinical Investigations* **99**: 228-38.

Conte, D., Holcik, M., Lefebvre, C.A., Lacasse, E., Picketts, D.J., Wright, K.E., Korneluk, R.G., (2006). Inhibitor of apoptosis protein cIAP2 is essential for lipopolysaccharide-induced macrophage survival. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*. **26:2,** 699–708.

Cook, A. D., Christensen, A. D., Tewari, D., McMahon, S. B., Hamilton, J. A., (2018). Immune cytokines and their receptors in inflammatory pain. *Trends in Immunology*, **39: 3**, page 240 – 255.

Coopersmith, C.M., Chang, K.C., Swanson, P.E., (2002). Overecpression of Bcl-2 in the intestinal epithelium improves survival in septic mice. *Critical Care Medicine*, **30(1)**: 195-201.

Cope, A., Bezemer, J., Kneebone, R., Lingard, L., (2015). 'You see?' Teaching and learning how to interpret visual cues during surgry. *Medical Education*, **49(11):** 1103-1116.

Cote, G.A., Lynch, S., Easler, J.J., Keen, A., Sherman, S., Hui, S., Xu, H., (2015). Development and validsation of a prediction model for unplanned admission following Endoscopic Reterograde Pancreatography. *Clinical Gastroenterology Hepatology*, **13(13)**: 2323-2332.

Cristaldi, M., Rovati, M., Elli, M., Gerlinzani, S., Lesma, A., Balzarotti, L., Taschieri, A.M., (1997a). Lymphocytic subpopulation changes after open and laparoscopic cholecystectomy: a prospective comparative study on 38 patients. *Surgical Laparoscopy Endoscopy and Percutaneous Techniques*, **7(3)**: 255-261.

Cristaldi, M., Rovati, M., Elli, M., Gerlinzani, S., Lesma, L., Balzarotti, L., Taschieri, A.M., (1997b). Lymphocytic subpopulation changes after open and laparoscopic cholecystectomy: a prospective and comparative study on 38 patients. *Surgical Laparoscopic Endoscopy*, **10**: 481-4.

Crowe, M., Ispahani, P., Humphreys, H., Kelley, T., Winter, R., (1998). Bacteraemia in the adult intensive care unit of a teching hospital in Nottingham, UK. *European Journal Clinical Microbiology Infectious Disease*, **17**: 377-84.

Crozier, T.A., Muller, J.E., Quittkat, D., Sydow, M., Wuttke, W., Kettler, D., (1994). Effect of anaesthesia on the cytokine responses to abdominal surgery. *British Journal Anaesthiology*, **72**: 280-5.

Cruickshank, A.M., Fraser, W.D., Burns, H.J.G., Shenkin, A., (1990). Response of serum interleukin-6 in patients undergoing elective surgery of varying severity. *Clinical Sciences*, **79:** 161-165.

Cui, J.G., Holmin, S., Mathiesen, T., Meyerson, B.A., Linderoth, B., (2000). Possible role of inflammatory mediators in tactile hypersensitivity in rat model neuropathy. *Pain*, **88**: 239-48.

Cuzzocrea, S., Sautebin, L., De Sarro, G., Costantino, G., Rombolà, L., Mazzon, E., Ialenti, A.,De Sarro, A.,Ciliberto, G., Di Rosa, M., Caputi, A.P., Thiemermann, C., (1999). Role of IL-6 in the pleurisy and lung injury caused by carrageenan. *The Journal of Immunology*. **163:9**, 5094–5104.

Czura, C.J., and Tracey, K.J., (2005). Autonomic neural regulation of immunity. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, **257:** 156-66.

Dahl, J.B., and Kehlet, H., (1991). Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs:rationale for use in severe postoperative pain. *British Journal of Anaesthiology.*, **66**: 703-12.

Dasgupta, M.K., Larabie, M., Halloran, P.F., (1994). Interferon-gamma levels in peritoneal dialysis effluents: Relation to peritonitis. *Kidney International*, **46**: 475-81.

Davies, M.G., Hagen, P.O., (1997). Systemic inflammayory response syndrome. *British Journal of Surgery*, **84(7):** 920-935.

Davis, K.A., Masella, J., Blennerhassett, M.G., (1998). Acetylcholine metabolism in the inflamed rat intestine. *Experimental Neurology*, **152**: 251-8.

De Backer, D., and Dorman, T., (2017). A Continuous Move Toward Better Care of Patients With Sepsis. *Journal of American Medical Association*, **317(8):** 807-808.

De Beaux, A.C., and Carter, D.C. (1996). Endescopic reterograde cholangiopancreatography and acute pancreatitis. *Gut*, **38**: 799-800.

De Cruz, S.J., Kenyon, N.J., Sandrock, C.E., (2009). Bench to bedside review: the role of nitric oxide in sepsis. *Expert Review Respiratory Medicine*, **3(5)**: 511 – 521.

De Jongh, R.F., Vissers, K.C., Meert, T.F., Booij, Leo, H.D.J., DeDeyne, C.S., Heylen, R.J., (2003). The role of interleukin-6 in nociception and pain. *Anesthesia and Analgesia*, **96(4)**: 1096-1103.

De Loach, L.J., Higgins, M.S., Caplan, A.B., Stiff, J.L., (1998). The visual analog scale in the immediate postoperative period: Intrasubject variability and correlation with a numeric scale. *Anesthesia and Analgesia*, **86(1)**: 102-6.

De Witte, J., Rietman, G.W., Vandenbroucke, G., Deloof, T., (1998). Postoperative effects of tramadol administered at wound closure. *European Journal of Anaesthesiology*, **15**: 190-95.

Decker, D., Lindemann, C., Springer, W., Low, A., Hirner, A., von Ruecker, A., (1999). Endoscopic *vs* conventional hernia repair from an immunologic point of view. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **13**: 335-9.

Deitch, E.A., Specian, R.D., Berg, R.D., (1991). Endotoxin-induced bacterial translocation and mucosal permeability: role of xanthine oxidase, complement activation, and macrophage products. *Critical Care Medicine*, **19**: 785-90.

Deitch, E.A., (2012). Gut-origin sepsis: evolution of a concept. Surgeon, 10: 350-6.

Dey, B.K., Mueller, A.C., Dutta, A., (2014). Long non-coding RNAs as emerging regulators of differentiation, development, and disease. *Transcription*, **5**: e944014.

Diatchenko, L., Slade, G.D., Nackley, A.G., Bhalang, K., Sigurdsson, A., Belfer, I., Goldman, D., Xu, K., Shabalina, S., Shagin, D., Max, M.B., Makarov, S., Maixner, W., (2005). Genetic basis for individual variations in pain perception and the development of a chronic pain condition. *Human Molecular Genetics*, **14(1)**: 135-43.

Diebel, L.N., Dulchavsky, S.A., Wilson, R.F., (1992a). Effect of increased intraabdominal pressure on mesenteric arterial and intestinal mucosal blood flow. *Journal of Trauma*, **33**: 45-9. Diebel, L.N., Saxe, J., Dulchavsky, S., (1992b). Effect of intra-abdominal pressure on abdominal wall blood flow. *American Surgery*, **58**: 573-6.

Din, Y., Lin, Y., Zhu, T., Huang, M., Xu, Q., (2014). Interleukin 6 increases dysfunction of organs in sepis rats through sirtuin 1. *International Journal of Clinical and Experimental Medicine*, **7(9)**: 2593-2598.

Dinarello, C.A., (1991). The proinflammatory cytokines interleukin-1 and tumour necrosis factor and the treatment of septic shock syndrome. *Journal Infectious Diseases*, **163:** 1177-84.

Dinarello, C.A., (1996). Biological basis for interleukin-1 in disease. *Blood*, **87(6)**: 2095-2147.

Dinarello, C.A., (1997). Proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines as mediators in the pathogenesis of septic shock. *Chest*, **112:** 3218-29S.

Dinarello, C.A., (1998). Interleukin-1, interleukin-1 receptors and interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. *International Review of Immunology*, **16:** 457-99.

Dinarello, C.A., (2004). Infection, fever, and exogenous and endogenous pyrogens: some concepts have changed. *Journal of Endotoxin Research*, **10: 4**, 201–222.

Desjardins, P.J., Mehlisch, D.R., Chang, D.J., Krupa, D., Polis, A.B., Petruschke, R.A., Malmstrom, K., Geba, G.P., (2005), The time to onset of analgesia of rofecoxib based on a patient-level meta analysis of 13 randomized, placebo-controlled postoperative oral surgery pain studies. *Clinical Journal of Pain*, **21(3)**: 241-250.

Dominioni, L., Dionigi, R., Cividini, F., (1980). Determination of C-Reactive protein and alpha-1-antitrypsin for quantitative assessment of surgical trauma. *European Surgical Research*, **12 Supplement 1:** 133. Donnelly, S.C., Strieter, R.M., Reid, P.T., Kunkel, S.L., Burdick, M.D., Armstrong, I., Mackenzie, A., and Haslett, C., (1996). The assosciation between the mortality rates and decreased concentrations of IL-10 and Il-1 receptor antagonist in the lung fields of patients with the adult respiratory distress syndrome. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, **125**: 191-196.

Donovan, B.D., (1983). Patient attitudes to postoperative pain relief. *Anaesthesia Intensive Care*, **11**: 125-9.

Donovan, M., Dillon, P., McGuire, L., (1987). Incidence and characteristics of pain of pain in a sample of medical-surgical inpatients. *Pain*, **30**: 69-87.

Douvdevani, A., Einbinder, T., Yulzari, R., Rogachov, B., Chaimovitz, C., (1996). TNF-receptors on human peritoneal mesothelial cells: Regulation of receptor levels and shedding by IL-1 $\alpha$  and TNF- $\alpha$ . *Kidney International*, **50(1)**: 219-28.

Dreiher, J., Almog, Y., Sprung, C.L., Codish, S., Klein, M., Einav, S., Bar-Lavie, Y., Singer, P.P., Nimrod, A., Sachs, J., Talmor, D., Friger, M., Greenberg, Olsfanger, Hersch, M., Novack, V., SEPSIS-ISR Group (2012). Temporal trends in patient characteristics and survival of intensive care admissions with sepsis: a multicentre analysis. *Critical Care Medicine*, **40**: 855-860.

Du Clos, T.W., (2009). Functions of C-reactive protein. *Annals of Medicine*, **32(4):** 274-8.

Dubuisson, D., Melzack, R., (1976). Classification of clinical pain descriptions by multiple group discriminant analysis. *Experimental neurology*, **51**: 480-7.

Dunn, D., Nair, R., Fowler, S., McCloy, R., (1994). Laparoscopic cholecystectomy in England and Wales: results of an audit by the Royal College of Surgeons of England. *Annals Royal College Surgeons of England*, **76**: 269-275.

Dupont, H., Montravers, P., Mohler, J., Carbon, C., (1998). Disparate findings on the role of virulence factors of enterococcus faecalis in mouse and rat models of peritonitis. *Infectious Immunology*, **66**: 2570-2575.

Dwerryhouse, S.J., Melsom, D,S., Burton, P.A., Thompson, M.H., (1995). Acute intestinal after laparoscopic cholecystectomy. *British Journal of Surgeons*, **82(10)**: 1413.

Eaton, T.A., Comer, S.D., Revicki, D.A., Trudeau, J.J., van Inwegen, R.G., Stauffer, J.W., Katz, N.P., (2013). Determining the clinically important difference in visual analog scale scores in abuse liability studies evaluating novel opioid formulations. *Quality of Life Research*, **21 (6):** 975 -981.

Egawa, H., Morita, M., Yamaguchi, S., Nagao, M., Iwasaki, T., Hamaguchi S, Kitajima, T., Minami, J., (2006). Comparison between intraperitoneal CO2 insufflation and abdominal wall lift on QT dispersion and rate-corrected QT dispersion during laparoscopic cholecystectomy. *Surgical Laparoscopic Endoscopy Percutaneous Techniques*, **16**:78-81.

El-Aleem, S.A.A., Morales-Aza, B.M., Mcqueen, D.S., Donaldson, L.F., (2005). Inflammation alters somatostatin mRNA expression mRNA expression in sensory neurons in the rat. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, **21(1)**: 135-41.

El-Hakim, A., Chiu, K.-Y., Sherry, B., Bhuiya, T., Smith, A., Lee, B., (2004). Peritoneal and systemic inflammatory mediators of laparoscopic bowel injury in a rabbit model. *The Journal of Urology*, **172 (4, Part 1 of 2):** 1515-1519.

Eleftheriadis, E., Kotzampassi, K., Papanotas, K., Heliadis, N., Sarris, K., (1996). Gut ischaemia, oxidative stress, and bacterial translocation in elevated abdominal pressure in rats. *World Journal of Surgery*, **20(1):** 11-6.

Engin, A., Bozkurt, S., Ersoy, E., (1998). Stress hyperglycaemia in minimally invasive surgery. *Surgical Laparoscopic Endoscopy*, **8:** 435-437.

Ericsson, A., Arias, C., Sawchenko, P.E. (1997). Evidence for an intramedullary prostaglandin-dependent mechanism in the activation of stress-related neuroendocrine circuitry by intravenous interleukin-1. *Journal Neuroscience*, **17**: 7166-79.

Eriksson, A.S., Sinclair, R., Cassuto, J., Thomsen, P., (1992). Influence of lidocaine on leucocyte function in the surgical wound. *Anaesthesiology*, **77**: 74-78.

Ertel, W., Faist, E., Nestle, C., Hueltner, L., Storck, M., Schildberg, F.W., (1990). Kinetics of interleukin-2 and interleukin-6 synthesis following major mechanical trauma. *Journal Surgical Research*, **48**: 622-628.

Evrard, S., Falkenrodt, A., Park, A., Tassetti, V., Mutter, D., Marescaux, J., (1997). Influence of CO<sub>2</sub> pneumoperitoneum on systemic and peritonealcell-mediated immunity. *World Journal of Surgery*, **21**: 353-7.

Eypasch, E., Williams, J.I., Wood-Dauphine, S., Ure, B.M., Schmülling, C., Neugebauer, E., Troidl, H., (1995). Gasterointestinal quality of life index: development, validation, and application of a new instrument. *British Journal of Surgery*, **82(2)**: 216-22.

Faculty of Pain Medicine, (2019). www.rcoa.ac.uk

Farley, D.R., Greenlee, S.M., Larson, D.R., Harrington, J.R., (2004). Double-blind, Prospective, Randomized study of Warmed, Humidified Carbon Dioxide Insufflation vs Standard Carbon Dioxide for Patients Undergoing Laparscopic Cholecystectomy. *Archives of Surgery*. **139(7)**. 739-744.

Fatima, J., Baron, T.H., Topazian, M.D., Houghton, S.G., Iqbal, C.W., Ott, B.J., Farley, D.R. Farnell, M.B., Sarr, M.G., (2007). Pancreaticobiliary and duodenal perforations after periampullary endoscopic procedures: diagnosis and management. *Archives of Surgery*, **142(5)**:448–455.

Faulkner, L., Buchan, G., Baird, M., (2000). Interleukin-10 does not affect phagocytosis of particulate antigen by bone marrow-derived dendritic cells but does impair antigen presentation. *Immunology*, **99**: 523-31.

Feinmann, C., Ong, M., Harvey, W., Harris, M., (1987) Psychological factors influencing postoperative pain and analgesic consumption. *British Journal Oral Maxillofacial Surgery*, **25**: 285-92.

Feng, B., Mao, Z.R., Pang, K., Zhang, S.L. and Li, L., (2015) Association of tumor necrosis factor alpha -308G/A and interleukin-6 -174G/C gene poly- morphism with pneumonia-induced sepsis. *Journal of Critical Care*, **30(5)**;920-923.

Fenster, L.F., Lonborg, R., Thirlby, R.,C.T., William, L. (1995). What symptoms does cholecystectomy cure? Insights from an outcomes measurement project and review of the literature. *The American Journal of Surgery*, **169(5)**: 533-8.

Ferreira L.E., and Baron T.H., (2007). Post-sphincterotomy bleeding: who, what, when, and how. *American Journal of Gastroenterology* **102(12)**:2850–2858.

Ferrer, T.J., Webb, J.W., Wallace, B.H., Bridges, C.D., Palmer, H.E., Robertson, R.D., Cone, J.B., (1998). Interleukin-10 reduces morbidity and mortality in murine multiple organ dysfunction syndrome. *Journal of Surgical Research*, **77**: 157-164.

Fink, M.P., Gardiner, M., MacVittie, T.J., (1985). Sublethal haemorrhage impairs the acute peritoneal inflammatory response in the rat. *Journal of Trauma*, **25**: 234-7.

Fink, M., Antonson, J., Wang, H., Rothschild, H.R., (1991). Increased intestinal permeability in endotoxic pigs: Mesenteric hypoperfusion as an etiologic factor. *Archives of Surgery*, **126**: 211-218.

Fisher, C.J.Jr., Agosti, J.M., Opal, S.M., Lowry, S.F., Balk, R.A., Sadoff, J.C., Abraham, E., Schein, R.M., Benjamin, E., (1996). Treatment of septic shock with tumour necrosis factor recepto: Fc fusion protein. *New England Journal of Medicine*, **334:** 1697-1702.

Fletcher, D.R., Hobbs, M.S.T., Tan, P., Valinsky, L.J., Hockey, R.L., Pikora, T.J., Knuiman, M.W., Sheiner, H.J., Edis, A., (1999). Complications of cholecystectomy: Risks of laparoscopic approach and protective effects of operative cholangiography. A population based study. *Annals of Surgery*, **229(4)**: 449-57.

Flock, J., (1999). Extracellular matrix-binding proteins as targets for the prevention of *Staphylococcus aureus* infections. *Molecular Medicine Today*, **5**: 532-537.

Fong, Moldawer, L.L., Shires, G.T., Lowry, S.F. (1990). The biological charateristics of cytokines and their implication in surgical injury. *Surgical Gynecology Obstetrics*, **170**: 363-78.

Fornara, P., Doehn, C., Seyfarth, M., Jocham, D., (2000). Why is urological laparoscopy minimally invasive? *European Urology*, **37**: 241-50.

Freeman, B.D., and Buchman, T.G., (2000). Gene in a haystack: tumour necrosis factor polymorphisms and outcomes in sepsis, *Critical Care Medicine*, **28**: 3090-1.

Freeman M.L., (2007) Pancreatic stents for prevention of post-endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography pancreatitis. *Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology* **5(11):** 1354–1365.

Freidman, G., Jankowski, S., Marchant, A., Goldman, M., Kahn, R.J., Vincent, J.L., (1997). Blood interleukin-10 levels parallel the severity of septic shock. *Journal of Critical Care*, **12:** 183-7.

Fujimura, N., Sumita, S., Narimatsu, E., (2000). Alterations in diaphragmatic contractility during septic peritonitis in rats: Effect of polyethylene glycol-absorbed superoxide dismutase, *Critical Care Medicine*, **28** (7): 3090-1.

Fujishima, S., Aikawa, N., (1995). Neutrophil-mediated tissue injury and its modulation. *Intensive Care Med.*, **21**: 277-85.

Galizia, G., Prizio, G., Lieto, E., Castellano, P., Pelosio, L., Imperatore, V., Ferrara, A., Pigatelli, C., (2001). Hemodynamic and pulmonary changes during open, carbon dioxide pneumoperitoneum and abdominal wall-lifting cholecystectomy. A prospective, randomized study. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **15**:477-83.

Gallagher, J., Fisher, C., Sherman, B., Munger, M., Meyers, B., Ellison, T., Fischkoff, S., Barchuk, W.t., Teoh, L., Velagapudi, R., (2001). A multicentre, open-label, prospective, randomised, dose-ranging pharmacokinetic study of the anti-TNF-alpha antibody afelimomab in patients with sepsis syndrome. *Intensive care Medicine*, **27**: 1169-78.

Gallos, G., Jones, D.R., Nasr, S., Emala, C.W., Lee, H.T., (2004). Local anaesthetics reduce mortality and protect against renal and hepatic dysfunction in murine septic peritonitis. *Anesthesiology*, **101(4)**: 902-11.

Gan, T.J., Joshi, G.P., Viscusi, E., Cheung, R. Y., Dodge, W., Fort, J.G., Chen, C., (2004). Preoperative parentral parecoxib and follow-up oral valdecoxib reduce length of stay and improve quality of patient recovery after laparoscopic cholecystectomy surgery. *Anaesthesia and Analgesia*, **98(6)**: 1665-1673.

Garrison, R.N., Spain, D.A., Wilson, M.A., Keelen, P.A., Harris, P., (1998). Microvascular changes explain the "Two-Hit" theory of multiple organ failure. *Annals of Surgery*, **227(6):** 851-60.

Gebhart, G.F., (2000). Scietific Issues of Pain and Distress. National Academies Press.

Gilliland, H.E., Armstrong, M.A., Carabine, U., McMurray, T.J., (1997). The choice of anaesthetic maintenance technique influence the antiinflammatory cytokine response to abdominal surgery. *Anaesthesia and Analgesia*, **85(6)**: 1394-8.

Girard, D., Paquet, M.E., Paquin, R., Beaulieu, A.D., (1996). Differential effects of interleukin (IL-15) and IL-2 on human neutrophils: Modulation of phagocytosis, cytoskeleton rearrangement, gene expression, and apoptosis by IL-15. *Blood*, **88**: 3176-3184.

Girardin, E., Roux-Lombard, P., Grau, G.E., Suter, P., Gallati, H, Dayer, J. M., (1992). Imbalance between tumour necrosis factor-alpha and soluble TNF receptor concentrations in severe meningococcaemia. The J5 Study Group. *Immunology*, **76:** 20-3.

Giri, J.G., Wells, J., Dower, S.K., McCall, C.E., Guzman, R.N., Slack, J., Bird, T.A., Shanebeck, K., Grabstein, K.H.,Simms, J.E., (1994). Elevated levels of shed type II IL-1 receptor in sepsis. Potential role for type II receptor in regulation of IL-1 responses. *Journal of Immunology*, **153**: 5802-9.

Giroir, B.P., Horton, J.W., White, D.J., McIntyre, k.L., Lin, C.Q., (1994). Inhibition of tumour necrosis factor prevents myocardial dysfunction during burn shock. *American Journal of Physiology*, **267(Heart Circ Physiol 36):** H118-24.

Gitzelmann, C.A., Mendoza-Sagaon, M., Talamini, M.A., Ahmad, S.A., Pegoli, W. Jr., Paidas, C.N., (2000). Cell-mediated immune response is better preserved by laparoscopy than laparotomy. *Surgery*, **127**: 65-71.

Goldfarb, M., Brower, S., Schwaitzberg, S.D., (2010). Minimally invasive surgery and cancer: Controversies part 1. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **24**:304-34.

Goehler, L.E., Gaykema, R., Nguyen, K., Hansen, M., Maier, S.F., Watkins, L.R., (1999). Interleukin-1 $\beta$  in immune cells of the abdominal vagus nerve: a link between the immune and nervous systems? *Journal Neuroscience*, **19**: 2799-806.

Goehler, L.E., Gaykema, R.P., Hansen, M.K., Anderson, K., Maiser, S.F., Watkins, L.R., (2000). Vagal immune-to brain communication: a visceral chemosensory pathway. *Autonmic Neuroscience*, **85:** 49-59.

Gogos, C.A., Drosou, E., Bassaris, H.P., Skoutelis, A., (2000). Pro-versus antiinflammatory cytokine profile in patients with severe sepsis: a marker for prognosis and future therapeutic options. *Journal Infectious Disease*, **181**: 176-80.

Gold-Deutch, R., Mashiach, R., Boldur, I., Ferszt, M., Negri, M., Halperin, Z., Lin, G., Sackier, J., Halevy, A., (1996). How does infected bile affect the postoperative course of patients, undergoing laparoscopic cholecystectomy? *American Journal of Surgery*, **172**: 272-4.

Golder, M., and Rhodes, M., (1998). Short note: Prospective randomized trial of 5- and 10-mm epigastric ports in laparoscopic cholecystectomy. *British Journal of Surgery*, **85(8):** 1066-7.

Goldie, A.S., Fearon, C.H., Ross, J.A., Barclay, G.R., Jackson, R.E., Grant, I.S., Ramsay, G., Blyth, A.S., Howie, J.C., (1995). Natural cytokine antagonists and endogenous core antibodies in sepsis syndrome. *Journal American Medical Association*, **274(2):** 172-7.

Goode, H.F., and Webster, N.R., (1993). Free radicalsand antioxidants in sepsis. *Critical Care Medicine*, **21:** 1770-6.

Gotzche, P.C., (2000). Extracts from 'clinical evidence'. Non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs. *British Medical Journal*, **320**: 1058-61. Gracely, R. H., Dubner, R., (1981). Pain assessment in humans - A reply to Hall. *Pain*, **11:** 109-120.

Green, D.R., and Beere, H.M., (2000). Apoptosis: gone but not forgotten. *Nature*, **405**: 28-9.

Greenman, R.L., Schein, R.M.H., Martin, M.A., Wenzel, R.P., MacIntyre, N.R., Emmanuel, G., Chmel, H.,Kohler, R.B.,McCarthy, M., Plouffe, J., (1991). A controlled clinical trial of E5 murine monoclonal IgM antibody to endotoxin in the treatment of gram-negative sepsis. The XOMA Sepsis Study Group. *Journal American Medical Association*, **266**: 1097-102.

Greer, J.R., (2015). Pathophysiology of cardiovascular dysfunction in sepsis. *British Journal Anaesthetics Education*, **15(6):** 316 – 321.

Gregory, J., and McGowan, L., (2016). An examination of the prevalence of acute pain for hospitalised adult patients: a systematic review. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, **25(5-6)**: 583-598.

Greif, W.M., and Forse, R.A., (1998). Hemodynamic effects of the laparoscopic pneumoperitoneum during sepsis in a porcine endotoxic shock model. *Annals Surgery*, **227:** 474-80.

Grewe, M., Gyufko, K., Krutmann, J., (1995). Interleukin-10 production by cultured human keratinocytes: regulation by ultraviolet B and ultraviolet A1 radiation. *Journal of Investigational Dermatology* **104:** 3-6.

Griffith, J.P., Everitt, N.J., Lancaster, F., Boylston, A., Richards, S.J., Scott, C.S., Benson, E.A., Sue-Ling, H.M., McMahon, M.J., (1995). Influence of laparoscopic and conventional cholecystectomy upon cell-mediated immunity. *British Journal Surgery*, **82(5):** 677-80.

Groselj-Grenc M, Ihan A, Pavcnik-Arnol M, Kopitar AN, Gmeiner-Stopar T, Derganc M., (2009). Neutrophil and monocyte CD64 indexes, lipopolysaccharide-binding

protein, procalcitonin and C-reactive protein in sepsis of critically ill neonates and children. *Intensive Care Medicine*, 35(11), 1950–1958.

Grossman, S.A., Sheidler, V.R., Swedeen, K., Mucenski, J., Piantadosi, S., (1991) Correlation of patients and care giver ratings of cancer pain. *Journal Pain Symptom Management*, **6**: 53-57.

Grossman, J., Mohr, S., Lapetina, E.G., Fiocchi, C., Levine, A.D., (1999). Sequential and rapid activation of selected capases during apoptosis of normal intestinal epithelial cells. *American Journal of Physiology*, **276**: 6677-6686.

Guice, K.S., Oldham, K.T., Caty, M.G., Johnson, K.J., Ward, P.A., (1989). Neutrophildependent, oxygen-radical mediated lung injury associated with acute pancreatitis. *Annals of Surgery*, **210**: 740-7.

Guillou PJ (1995). Adjuvant biological response modifiers after major surgery or trauma. *British Journal of Surgery*, **82**: 721-723.

Gupta, A., and Watson, D.I., (2001). Effect of laparoscopy on immune function. *British Journal of Surgery*, **88 (10):** 1296-1306.

Gurtner, G.C., Robertson, C.S., Chung, S.C.S., Ling, T.K.W., Ip, S.M., Li, A.K.C., (1995). Effects of carbon dioxide pneumoperitoneum on bacteraemia and endotoxaemia in animal models of peritonitis. *British Journal of Surgery*, **82**: 844-8.

Guyatt, G.H., Walter, S., Norman, G., (1987). Measuring change over time: Assessing the usefulness of evaluative instruments. *Journal of Chronic Disease*, **40**: 171-8.

Gürleyik, E., Gürleyik, G., Unalmiser, S., (1996). Blockade of transdiaphragmatic lymphatic absorption reduced systemic inflammatory response syndrome during experimental peritonitis: evaluation with body oxygen kinetics in rats. *European Journal Surgery*, **162**: 729-34.

Hadjiminas, D.J., McMasters, K.M., Peyton, J.C., and Cheadle, W.G., (1994). Tissue necrosis factor mRNA expression following cecal ligation and puncture or intraperitoneal onjection of endotoxin. *Journal Surgical Research*, **56(6)**: 549-55.

Haj, M.A., Neilly, I.J., Robbie, L.A., Adey, G.D., Bennett, B., (1995). Influence of white blood cells on the fibrinolytic responses to sepsis: studies of septic patients with and without severe leucopenia. *British Journal Haematology*, **90**: 541-7.

Hajri, A., Mutter, D., Wacks, S., Bastien, C., Gury, J.F., Marescaux, J., Aprahamian,
M., (2000). Dual effect of laparoscopy on cell-mediated immunity. *European Surgical Research*, 32(5): 261-6.

Halevy, A., Lin, G., Gold-deutche, R., Lavi, R., Negri, M., Evans, S., Cotariu, D., Sackier, J.M., (1995). Comparison of C-reactive protein concentration for laparoscopic versus open cholecystectomy. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **9**: 280-2.

Han, S.A., Lee, W.J., Park, C.M., Yun, S.H., Chun H.K., (2010). Comparison of immunologic outcomes of laparoscopic vs open approaches in clinical stage III colorectal cancer. *International Journal Colorectal Disease*, **25**: 631-8.

Hanly, E.J., Mendoza-Sagaon, M., Murata, K., Hardacre, J.M., De Maio, A., Talamini,
M.A., (2003). CO<sub>2</sub> pneumoperitoneum modifies the inflammatory response to sepsis. *Annals of Surgery*, 237(3): 343-50.

Hanly, E.J., Bachman, S.L., Marohn, M., Boden, J., Herring, A., De Maio, A., Talamini, M., (2007 a). Carbon dioxide pneumoperitoneum-mediated attenuation of the inflammatory response is independent of systemic acidosis. *Surgery*, **137(5)**: 559-566.

Hanly, E.J., Aurora, A.A., Shih, S.P., Fuentes, J.M., Marohn, M.R., Maio, A., Talamini, M.A., (2007 b). Peritoneal acidosis mediates immunoprotection in laparoscopic surgery. *Surgery*, **142**: 357–364.

Hansbrough, J.F., Bender, E.M., Zapata-Sirvent, R., Anderson, J., (1984). Altered helper and suppressor lymphocyte populations in surgical patients. A measure of postoperative immunosuppression. *American Journal of Surgery*, **148**: 303-7.

Harrois A, Huet O, Duranteau J., (2009). Alterations of mitochondrial function in sepsis and critical illness. *Current Opinion in Anaesthesioliogy*, April 22(2):143-9.

Hartmann, J., Maaben, V., Rieber, P., Fricke, H., (1995). T lymphocytes from normal human peritoneum are phenotypically different from their counterparts in peripheral blood and CD3-lymphocyte subsets contain mRNA for the recombination activating gene RAG-1. *European Journal Immunology*, **25**: 2626-2631.

Hashizume, M., and Sugimachi, K., (1997). Needle and trochar injury during laparoscopic surgery in Japan. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **11**: 1198-1201.

Hausmann, M.J., Rogachev, B., Weiler, M., Chaimovitz, C., Douvdevani, A., (2000). Accessory role of human peritoneal mesothelial cells in antigen presentation and T-cell growth. *Kidney International*, **57(2)**: 476-486.

Heath, D.I., Cruickshank, A., Gudeon, A., Jehanli, A., Shenkin, A., Imrie, C.W., (1995). The relationship between pancreatic enzyme release and activation and the acute phase protein response in patients with acute pancreatitis. *Pancreas*, **10**: 347-53. Hecker, B.R., and Albert, L., (1988). Patient controlled analgesia: a randomized, prospective comparison between two commercially available PCA pumps and conventional analgesia therapy for post-operative pain. *Pain*, **35**: 115-20.

Heel, K.A., and Hall, J.C., (1996). Peritoneal defences and peritoneum-associated lymphoid tissue. *British Journal Surgery*, **83:** 1031-6.

Heffernan, D.S., Monaghan, S.F., Thakkar, R.K., Tran, M. L., Chung, C.-S., Gregory, S.H., Cioffi, W.G., Ayala, A., (2013). Inflammatory Mechanisms in sepsis: Elevated Invariant Natural Killer T-cell numbers in mouse and their modulatory effect on Macrophage function. *Shock*, **40(2)**: 122-128.

Heidecke, C.-D., Hensler, T., Weighardt, H., Zanti, N., Wagner, H., Siewert, J.R., Holzmann, B., (1999). Selective defects of T lymphocyte function in patients with lethal intraabdominal infection. *American Journal of Surgery*, **178**: 288-92.

Heikkila, K., Peltonen, L.-M., Salanterä, S., (2016). Postoperative pain documentation in a hospital setting: A topical review. *Scandinavian Journal of Pain*, **11**: 77-89.

Helmy, S.A.K., Wahby, M.A.M., El-Nawaway, M., (1999). The effect of anaesthesia and surgery on plasma cytokine production, *Anaesthesia*, **54(8)**: 733-38.

Hendricks, T., Bleichrodt, R.P., Lomme, R.M.L.M., De Man, B.M., van Goor, H., Buyne, O.R., (2010). Peritoneal Cytokines Predict Mortality after Surgical Treatment of Secondary Peritonitis in the Rat. *Journal of the Americal College of Surgeons*, **211(2)**: 263-270.

Henny, C.P., Hofland, J. (2005). Laparoscopic surgery: Pitfalls due to anesthesia, positioning, and pneumoperitoneum. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **19**:1163-71.

Hesse, D.G., Tracey, K.J., Fong, Y., Manogue, K.R., Palladino, M.A., Jr, Cerami, A., Shires, G.T., Lowry, S.F., (1988). Cytokine appearance in endotoxaemia and primate bacteraemia. *Surgical Gynecology Obstetrics* **166**: 147-153.

Hildebrandt, U., Kessler, K., Pistorius, G., Lindemann, W., Ecker, K.W., Feifel, G., (1999). Granulocyte elastase and systemic cytokine response after laparoscopic- assisted and open resections in Crohn's disease. *Diseases Colon Rectum*, **42**: 1480-6.

Hill, A.D.K., Banwell, P.E., Darzi, A., Menzies-Gow, N., Monson, J.R.T., Guillou, P.J., (1995). Inflammatory markers following laparoscopic and open hernia repair. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **9**: 695-8.

Hirata, K., Ikeda, S., Honma, T., Mitaka, T., Furuhata, T., Katsuramaki, T., Hata, F., Mukaiya, M., (2001). Sepsis and cholestasis: basic findings in the sinusoid and bile canaliculus. *Journal of Hepatobiliary Pancreatic Surgery*, **8**: 20-26.

Ho, J., Chan, H., Wong, S.H., Wang, M.H.T., Yu, J., Xiao, Z.,, Liu, X., Choi, G., Leung, C.C.H., Wong, W.T., Li, Z., Gin, T., Chan, M.T.V., Wu, W.K.K., (2016). The involvement of regulatory non-coding RNAs in sepsis: asystematic review. *Critical Care*, **20(383)**: 1555-3.

Hogan, Q.H., (2002). No pre-emptive analgesia: is that so bad? *Anesthesiology*, **96(3)**: 526-7.

Hole, A., Unsgaard, G., (1983). The effect of epidural and general anaesthesia on lymphocyte function during and after major orthopaedic surgery. *Acta Anaesthesiology Scandinavia*, **27**: 135-41.

Holte, K., Klarsklov, B., Christensen, D. S., Lund., C., Nielsen, K.G., Bie, P., Kehlet, H., (2004). Liberal Versus Restrictive Fluid Administration to Improve Recovery After Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy: A Randomized, Double-Blind Study. *Annals of Surgery*. **240(5)**: 892-899.

Hong, T.-H., Chang, C.H., Ko, W.-J., Lin, C.-F., Liu, H.-H., Chow, L.-P., Huang, C.T., Yu, S.-L., and Chen, Y.-S., (2014). Biomarkers of early sepsis may be correlated with outcome. *Journal of Translational Medicine*, **12:**146.

Hoogendijk, A.J., Garcia-Laorden, M.I., van Vight, L.A., Wiewel, M.A., Belkasim-Bohoudi, H., Duitman, J.W., Horn, J., Schultz, M.J., Scicluna, B., van't Veer, C., de Vos, A., van der Poll, T., (2017). Sepsis Patients Display a Reduced Capacity to Activate Nuclear Factor-B in Multiple Cell Types. *Critical Care Medicine*, **45(5)**: 524-531.

Horn, E.P., (1999). Postoperative shivering: aetiology and treatment. *Current Opinion in Anaesthesia*, **12(4):** 449-53.

Hotamisligil G.S., (2006). Inflammation and metabolic disorders. Nature 444: 860-867.

Hotchkiss, R.S., Swanson, P.E., Freeman, B.D., Tinsley, K.W., Cobb, J.P., Matuschak, G.M., Buchman, T.G., Karl, I.E., (1999a). Apoptotic cell death in patients with sepsis, shock and multiple organ dysfunction. *Critical Care Medicine*, **27**(7): 1230-1251.

Hotchkiss, R.S., Swanson, P.E., Knudson, C.M., Chang, K.C., Cobb, J.P., Osborne, D.F., Zollner, K.M.,Buchman, T.G., Korsmeyer, S.J., Karl, I.E., (1999b). Overexpression of Bcl-2 in transgenic mice decreases apoptosis and improves survival in sepsis. *Journal of Immunology*. **162**: 4148-4156.

Hotchkiss, R.S., Tinsley, K.W., Swanson, P.E., Chang, K.C., Cobb, J.P., Buchman, T.G., Korsmeyer, S.J., Karl, I.E., (1999c). Prevention of lymphocyte cell death in sepsis improves survival in mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science U.S.A.*, **96**: 14541-6.

Hotchkiss, R.S., Schmieg, R.E., Swanson, P.E., Freeman, B.D., Tinsley, K.W., Cobb, J.P., Karl, IE., Buchman, T.G., (2000). Rapid onset of intestinal epithelial and lymphocyte apoptotic cell death in patients with trauma and shock, *Critical Care Medicine*, **28(9)**: 3207-3217.

Hotchkiss, R.S., and Karl, I.E., (2001). Cytokine blockade in sepsis – Are two better than one? (Editorials), *Critical Care Medicine*, **29(3)**: 671-2.

Hotchkiss, R.S., Tinsley, K.W., Swanson, P.E., Karl, I.E., (2002). Endothelial cell apoptosis in sepsis, *Critical Care Medicine*, **30(5)**: S225-8.

Hotchkiss, R.S., and Karl, I.E., (2003). Medical Progress: The Pathophysiology and Treatment of Sepsis (Review Article), *New England Journal of Medicine*, **348 (2):** 138-150.

Hou, L., Li, W., Wang, X., (2003). Mechanism of interleukin-1β induced calcitonin gene-related peptide production from dorsal root ganglion neurons of neonatal rats. *Journal Neuroscience Research*, **73**: 188-97.

Hou, T., Huang, D., Zeng, R., Ye, Z., Zhang, Y., (2015). Accuracy of serum interleukin (IL) -6 in sepsis diagnosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Clinical and Experimental Medicine*, **8(9):** 15238-15245.

Howard, M., and O'Garra, A., (1992). Biological properties of interleukin 10. *Journal of Clinical Immunology*. **12(4)**: 239–247.

Howard, M., Muchamuel, T., Andrade, S., Menon, S., (1993). Interleukin 10 protects mice from lethal endotoxemia. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*. **177(4)**: 1205–1208.

Hsing, C.H., and Wang, J.J., (2015). Clinical implication of perioperative inflammatory cytokine alteration. *Acta Anaesthesiology Taiwan*, **53** (1): 23 – 28.

Hu, P., Mclachlan, E.M., (2002). Macrophage and lymphocyte invasion of dorsal root ganglia after peripheral nerve lesions in the rat. *Neuroscience*, **112**: 23-38.

Hua, S., and Cabot, P.J., (2010). Mechanism of peripheral immune-cell-mediated analgesia in inflammation: clinical and therapeutic implications. *Trends Pharmacological Science*, **31**: 427-433.

Hung, A.L., Lim, M., Doshi, T.L., (2017). Targeting cytokines for treatment of neuropathic pain. *Scandinavian Journal of Pain*, **17(10)**.

Huang, N., Cunningham, F., Laurito, C.E., Chen, C., (2001). Can we do better with postoperative pain management? *The American Journal of Surgery*, **182(5)**: 440-8.

Hultgren, O., Kopf, M., Tarkowski, A., (1996). *Staphylococcus aureus* induced septic arthritis and septic death is decreased in IL-4 deficient mice: Role of IL-4 as promoter for bacterial growth. *Journal of Immunology*, **160**: 5082-7.

Hunt, S. M., McKenna, S. P., McEwen, J., Backett, E. M., Williams, J., Papp, E., (1980). A quantitative approach to perceived health status: A validation study. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*. **34** (4): 281–6.

Ibrahim, A., Knight, S.R., Makaram, N., Ibrahim, I., Harrison, E.M., (2016). Standardised measurement of Quality of Life following Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy: A Systematic Review. *International Journal of Surgery*, **36(S1)**: S117-S118.

Ikeda, T., Sessler, D.I., Tayefeh, F., Negiishi, C., Turakhia, M., Marder, D., Bjorksten, A.R., Larson, M.D., (1998). Meperidine and alfenanil do not reduce the gain or maximum intensity of shivering. *Anaesthesiology*, **88**: 858-65.

Inoue, A., Ikoma, K., Morioka, N., Kumagai, K., Hashimoto, T., Hide, I., Nakata, Y., (1999). Interleukin-1 $\beta$  induces substance P release from primary afferent neurons through the cyclo-oxygenase-2 system. *Journal Neurochemistry.*, **73**: 2206-13.

International Baccalaureate syllabus, ib.BioNinja (revision website for biology). www.ib.bioninja.com.au

Irvine, E.J., (1999). The quality of quality of life. Gut., 44: 450-1.

Jacobi, C.A., Ordermann, J., Zieren, H.U., Volk, H.D., Bauhofer, A., Halle, E., Muller, J.M., (1998). Increased systemic inflammation after laparotomy vs laparoscopy in an animal model of peritonitis. *Archives of Surgery*, **133(3)**: 258-62.

Jacobi, C.A., Ordermann, J., Halle, E., Volk, H.D., Muller, J.M., (1999). Impact of laparoscopy with carbon dioxide versus helium on local and systemic inflammation in an animal model of peritonitis. *Journal of Laparoendoscopic & Advanced Surgical Techniques*. *Part A*, **9(3)**: 305-12.

Jacobi, C.A., Sterzel, A., Braumann, C., Halle, E., Stosslein, R., Krahenbuhl, L., Muller, J.M., (2001). The impact of conventional and laparoscopic colon resection (CO<sub>2</sub> or helium) on intraperitoneal adhesion formation in a rat peritonitis model. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **15(4)**: 380-6.

Jakeways, M.S., and Carli, F., (1993). Laparoscopic vs open cholecystectomy. *British Journal of Anaesthesiology*, **70:** 597.

Jansen, P.M., Boermeester, M.A., Fischer, E., de Jong, I.W., van der Poll, T., Moldawer, L.L., Hack, C.E., Lowry, S.F., (1995). Contribution of interleukin-1 to activation of coagulation and fibrinolysis, neutrophil degranulation, and the release of secretory-type phospholipase  $A_2$  in sepsis: studies in non human primates after interleukin-1 alpha administration and during lethal bacteremia. *Blood*, **86**: 1027-34.

Jansson, K., Redler, B., Truedsson, L., Magnuson, A., Ungerstedt, U., Norgen, L., (2004). Postoperative on-line monitoring with intraperitoneal microdialysis is a sensitive clinical method for measuring increased anaerobic metabolism that correlates to the cytokine response. *Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology*, **39(5)**: 434-439.

Jayne, D.G., Windsor, A.C.J., Guillou, P.J., (1998). Contribution of mesothelial cells to the peritoneal inflammatory response, *British Journal of Surgery*, **85(11)**: 1588.

Jayne, D.G., Perry, S.L., Morrison, E., Famery, S.M., Guillou, P.J., (2000). Activated mesothelial cells produce heparin-binding growth factors:implications for tumour metastases. *British Journal of Cancer*, **82**: 1233-1238

Johnson, D.R.E., Spencer, M.P., Cerra, F.B., Konstantidides, F., Rothenberger, D.A., Madoff, R.D., (1994). Laparoscopic *versus* open colectomy: a comparative study of systemic stress response. *Surgery Endoscopy*, **8**: 447.

Jolobe, O.M., (2017). Abdominal pain after surgery and complications of laparoscopic cholecystectomy. *British Medical Journal*, **357.** 

Jorgensen, T., Teglbjerg, J.S., Wille-Jorgensen, P., Bille, T., Thorvaldsen, P., (1991). Pain persisting pain after cholecystectomy. A prospective investigation. *Scandinavian Journal Gastroenterology*, **26**: 124-8.

Joris, J., Cigarini, I., Legrand, M., Jacquet, N., De Groote, D., Franchimont, P., Lamy, M., (1992). Metabolic and respiratory changes after cholecystectomy performed via laparotomy or laparoscopy. *British Journal Anaesthiology*, **69**: 341-5.

Joris, J., Thiry, E., Paris, P., Weerts, J., Lamy, M., (1995). Pain after laparoscopic cholecystectomy: Characteristics and effect of intraperitoneal bupivicaine. *Anaesthesia and Analgesia*, **81(2)**: 379-84.

Joshi, G.P., and White, P.F., (2001). Management of acute and postoperative pain. *Current Opinion in Anaesthesiology*, **14(4):** 417-21.

Joshi, G.P., Viscusi, E.R., Gan, T.J., Minkowitz, H., Cippolle, M., Schuller, R., Cheung R.Y., (2004). Effective treatment of laparoscopic cholecystectomy pain with intravenous followed by oral COX-2 specific inhibitor. *Anaesthesia and Analgesia*, **98(2)**: 336-42.

Jörres, A., Ludat, K., Sander, K., Dunkel, K, Lorenz, F., Keck, H., Frei, U., Gahl, G., (1996). The peritoneal fibroblast and the control of peritoneal inflammation, (Peritoneal dialysis). *Kidney International*, **76 (Suppl 56):** S22-27.

Kagan, B.L., Baldwin, R.L., Munoz, D., Wisnieski, B.J., (1992). Formation of ionpermeable channels by tumour necrosis factor-alpha. *Science*, **255**: 1427-30.

Kagiwada, K., Chida, D., Sakatani, T., Asano, M., Nambu, A., Kakuta, S., Iwakura, Y., (2004). Interleukin (IL)-6, but nit IL-1, induction in the Brain downstream of cyclooxygenase-2 is essential for the induction of frbrile response against peripheral IL- $1\alpha$ . *Endocrinology*, **145(11)**: 5044-48.

Kaneto, H., Fuji, J., Seo, H.G., Suzuki, K., Matsuoka, T., Nakamura, M., Tatasumi, H., Yamasaki, Y.,Kamada, T., Taniguchi, N., (1995). Apoptotic cell death triggered by nitric oxide in pancreatic beta-cells. *Diabetes*, **44**: 733-8.

Karayiannakis, A.J., Makri, G.G., Mantzioka, A., Karousos, D., and Karatzas, G., (1997). Systemic stress response after laparoscopic or open cholecystectomy: a randomized trial. *British Journal of Surgery*, **84**: 467-71.

Kartim, F., Wang, C.C., Gerau, R.W.I.V., (2001). Metabotrophic glutamate receptor subtypes 1 and 5 are activators of extracellular signal-regulated kinase signalling required for inflammatory pain in mice. *Journal of Neuroscience*, **21**: 3771-9.

Kawai, M., Zhao, J., Ishiguro, H., Takeyama, H., (2014). Carbon dioxidepneumoperitoneum in rats reduces ischemia/reperfusion-induced hepatic apoptosis and inflammatory responses by stimulating sensory neurons. *Molecular Medicine Reports*, **2014:** 1303 - 1308.

Kawashima, K., and Fujii, T., (2000). Extraneuronal cholinergic system in lymphocytes. *Pharmacology Therapeutics*, **86:** 29-48.

Keane, J., Gershon, S., Wise, R.P., Mirabile-Levens, E., Kasznica, J., Schwiterman, W.D., Siegel, J.N., Braur, M.M., (2001). Tuberculosis associated with infliximab, a tumour necrosis factor (alpha) neutralizing agent, *New England Journal Medicine*, **345**: 1098-104.

Kehlet, H., Rosenberg, J., (1997). Surgical stress: pain, sleep and convalescence. In: Kinney, J.M., Tucker, H. N., eds. (1997). *Physiology, Stress and malnutrition: Functional Correlates and Nutritional Intervention*. New York: Lippincott-Raven.: 95-112.

Kehlet, H., Nielsen, H.J., (1998). Impact of laparoscopic surgery on stress responses, immunofunction, and risk of infectious complications. *New Horizons*, **6(Suppl. 2)**: 80-87.

Kehlet, H., (1999). Acute pain control and accelerated postoperative surgical recovery. *Surgical Clinics North America*, **79:** 431-43.

Kelman, G.R., Swapp, G.H., Smith, I., Benzie, R.J., Gordon, N.L., (1972). Cardiac output and arterial blood-gas tension during laparoscopy. *British Journal Anaesthiology*, 44: 1155-1161.

Kennedy, J.A., Clements, W.D., Kirk, S.J., McCaigue, M.D., Campbell, |G.R., Erwin, P.J., Halliday, M.I., Rowlands, B.J., (1999). Characterization of the Kupffer cell response to exogenous endotoxin in a rodent model of obstructive jaundice. *British Journal of Surgery*, **86**: 628-33.

Kenner, J.R., Holaday, J.W., Benton, E.W., (1990). Prolactin in murine lymphocytes: morphologic and biochemical evidence. *Programme Neuroendocrine Immunology*, **3**: 188.

Kest, B., Sarton, E., Dahan, (2000). Gender differences in opioid mediated analgesia: Animal and human studies. *Anesthesiology*, **93(2)**: 539-47.

Kim, K., and Schwarzkopf, R., (2018). Preoperative chronic opioid users in total knee arthroplasty – which patients persistently abuse opiates following surgery? *The Journal of Arthroplasty*, **33(1)**: 107-112.

Kim, S.Y., Kim, N.K., Baik, S.H., Min, B.S., Hur, H., Lee, J., Noh, H-Y, Lee, J. H., Koo, B-N., (2016). Effects of postoperative pain management on immune function after laparoscopic resection of colorectal cancer – A randomized study. *Medicine*, **95(19)**: e3602.

Kimura, F., Miyazaki, M., Suwa, T., Sugiura, T., Shinoda, T., Itoh, H., Ambiru, S., Shimizu, H., Nakagawa, K., (1998). Plasma concentrations of cytokine antagonists in patients with infection following liver resection. *British Journal of Surgery*, **85(12)**: 1631-1635.

Kinnaert, P., De Wilde, J.-P., Bournonville, B., Husson, C., Salmon, I., (1996). Direct activation of human peritoneal mesothelial cells by heat-killed microorganisms, *Annals of Surgery*, **224(6)**: 749-55.

Kisat, M., Villegas, C.V., Onguti, S., Zafar, S.N., Latif, A., Efron, D.T., Haut, E.R., Schneider, E.B., Lipsett, P.A., Zafar, H., Haider, A. H., (2013). Predictors of sepsis in moderately severely injured patients: an analysis of the National Trauma Data Bank. *Surgical Infection* **14**: 62–8.

Kishimoto, K., Hiraguri, M., Koide, N., Hanazaki, K., Adachi, W., (2009). Postoperative suppression of inflammatory cytokines after distal gastrectomy in elderly patients. *Surgery Today*, **39(6)**: 487-492.

Kissmeyer-Nielsen, P., Jensen, M.B., Laurberg, S., (1999). Perioperative growth hormone treatment and functional outcome after major abdominal surgery: A randomized, double-blind, controlled study. *Annals of Surgery*, **229(2)**: 298-302.

Kiviniemi, H., Juyonen, T., Makela, J., (1994). Acute-phase response in patients with uncomplicated endoscopic reterograde cholangiopancreatography. *Hepatobiliary Surgery*, **8:** 128-31.

Kjeldsen, H.B., and Klausen, Q.W., (2016). Preferred Presentation of the Visual Analog Scale for Measurement of Postoperative pain. *Pain Practice*, **16(8)**: 980-984.

Klava, A., Windsor, A., Boylston, A.W., Reynolds, J.V., Ramsden, C.W., Guillou, P.J., (1997). Monocyte activation after open and laparoscopic surgery. *British Journal of Surgery*, **84(8)**: 1152-6.

Kloosterman, T., Von Bloomberg, B.M.E., Borgstein, P., Cuesta, M.A., Scheper, R.J., Meijer, S., (1994). Unimpaired immune functions after laparoscopic cholecystectomy. *Surgery*, **115**: 424-8.

Kobayashi, Y., Miyaji, C., Wantanbe, H., Umezu, H., Hasegawa, G., Abo, T., Arakawa, M., Kamata, N., Suzuki, H., Kodama, T., Naito, M., (2000). Role of macrophage scavenger receptors in endotoxic shock. *Journal of Pathology*, **192**: 263-272.

Koening, A., Koening, U.D., Heicappel, R., Stoeckel, H., (1987). Differences in lymphocyte mitogenic stimulation pattern depending on anaesthesia and operative trauma: I. Halothane-nitrous oxide anaesthesia. *European Journal of Anaesthesiology*, **4:** 17-24.

Koksoy, C., Kuzu, M.A., Kurt, I., Kurt, N., Yerdel, M.A., Tezcan, C., Aras, N., (1995). Haemodynamic effects of pneumoperitoneum during laparoscopic cholecystectomy: a prospective comparative study using bioimpedance cardiography. *British Journal of Surgery*, **82(7)**: 972-4.

Kopernik, G., Avinoach, E., Grossman, Y., Levy, R., Yulzari, R., Rogachev, B., Douvdevani, A., (1998). The effect of a high partial pressure of carbon dioxide environment on metabolism and immune function of human peritoneal cells-Relevance to carbon dioxide pneumoperitoneum. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, **179:** 1503-1510.

Kopf, M., Baumann, H., Freer, G., Fredenberg, M., Lamers, M., Kishimoto, T., Zinkernagel, R., Bluethmann, H., Köhler, G., (1994). Impaired immune and acute-phase responses in interleukin-6-deficient mice. *Nature*, **368: 6469,** 339–342.

Korolija, D., Sauerland, S., Wood-Dauphinee, S., Abbou, C.C., Eypasch, E., Garcia Caballero, M., Lumsden, M.A., Millat, B., Monson, J.R.T., Nilsson, G., Pointer, R., Schwenk, W., Shamiyeh, A., Szold, A., Targarona, E., Ure, B., Neugebauer, E., (2004). Evaluation of quality of life after laparoscopic surgery. Evidence based guidelines of the European Association for Endoscopic Surgery. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **18**: 879-897.

Krishnakumar, S., and Tambe, P., (2009). Entry complications in Laparoscopic Surgery. *Journal Gynecology and Endoscopic Surgery*, **1(1):** 4-11.

Krist, L.F., Eestermans, I.L., Steenbergen, J.J., Hoefsmit, E.C., Cuesta, M.A., Beelen, R.H., (1995). Cellular composition of milky spots in the human greater omentum: an immunochemical and ultrastructural study. *Anatomical Record*, **241**: 163-174.

Kroemer, G., (1997). The proto-oncogene Bcl-2 and its role in regulating apoptosis. *Nature Medicine*, **3:** 614.

Kron, I.,L., Harman, P.K., Nolan, S.P., (1984). The measurement of intra-abdominal pressure as a criteria for abdominal re-exploration. *Annals of Surgery*, **199:** 28-30.

Kronborg, O., (1993). Treatment of perforated sigmoid diverticulitis: aprospective randomised trial. *British Journal of Surgery*, **80:** 505-7.

Krutzik, S.R., Sieling, P.A., Modlin, R.L., (2001). The role of Toll-like receptors in host defense against microbial infection. *Current Opinions in Immunology*, **13:** 104-8.

Kumaki, S., Armitage, R., Ahdieh, M., Park, L., Cosman, D., (1996). Interleukin-15 upregulates Interleukin-2 receptor alpha chain but down-regulates its own high-affinity binding sites on human T and B cells. *European Journal of Immunology*, **26**: 1235-9.

Kumar, V., Abbas, A.K., Fausto, N., Aster, J.C., (2014). Chapter 18 – Liver and Gall bladder. *Robbins and Cotran Pathologic Basis of Disease*.

Kuntz, C., Wunsch, A., Bodeker, C., Bay, F., Rosch, R., Windeler, J., Herfarth, C., (2000). Effect of pressure and gas type on intra-abdominal, subcutaneous and blood pH in laparoscopy. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **14**: 361-367.

Kvarnstrom, A., Swartling, T., Kurlberg, G., Bengtson, J-P. Bengtsson, A., (2013). Proinflammatory Cytokine Release in Rectal Surgery: Comparison Between Laparoscopic and Open Surgical Techniques. *Archivum Immunologiae et Therapiae Experimentalis*. **61(5):** 407-411.

Labbe, k., Danialou, G., Gvozdic, D., Demoule, A., Divangahi, M., Boyd, J.H., Petrof, B.J., (2010). Inhibition of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 prevents diaphragmatic inflammation and maintains contractile function during endotoxemia. *Critical Care*, **14**: R187.

Landry, D.W., and Oliver, J.A., (2001) The pathogenesis of vasodilatory shock. *New England Journal of Medicine*, **345:** 588 - 595.

Lannergard A, Friman G, Ewald U, Lind L, Larsson A., (2005). Serum amyloid A (SAA) protein and high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP) in healthy newborn infants and healthy young through elderly adults. *Acta Paediatrica* **94(9)**, 1198–1202.

Larkin, C.M., Santos-Martines, M.J., Ryan, T., Radomski, M.W., (2016). Sepsisassociated thrombocytopenia. *Thrombosis Research*, **141:**11–6. Latifi, S.Q., O'Riordan, M.A., Levine, A.D., (2002). Interleukin-10 controls the onset of irreversible septic shock. *Infection and Immunity*, 70:8, 4441 – 4446.

Liu, S., Carpenter, R.L., Neal, J., (1995). Epidural anaesthesia and analgesia: Their role in postoperative outcome. *Anaaesthesiology*, **82(6):** 1474-506.

Lee, H-L., Lee, K-M., Son, S-J., Hwang, S-H., Cho, H-J., (2004a). Temporal expression of cytokines and their receptors mRNAs in a neuropathic pain model. *Neuroreport*, **15(18)**: 2807-11.

Lee, K-M., Kang, B-S. Lee, H-L., Son, S-J., Hwang, S-H., Kim, D-S., Park, J-S., Cho, H-J., (2004b). Spinal NF-κB activation induces COX-2 upregulation and contributes to inflammatory pain hypersensitivity. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, **19(12)**: 3375-81.

Lee, H. M., Min, S.K., Lee, H.K., (2014) Long-term results of laparoscopic common bile duct exploration by choledochotomy for choledocholithiasis: 15 year experience from a single centre. *Annals of Surgical Treatment and Research*, **86:1**, 1 - 6.

Lee, S.W., Southall, J.C., Gleason, N.R., Huang, E.H., Bessler, M., Whelan, R.L., (2000). Lymphocyte proliferation in mice after a full laparotomy is the same whether performed in a sealed carbon dioxide chamber or in room air. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **14**: 235-8.

Lekander, M., Elofsson, S., Neve, I - M., Hansson, L - O., Unden, A - L., (2004). Selfrated health is related to levels of circulating cytokines. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, **66(4)**: 559 - 563.

Leturcq, D.J., Moriarty, A.M., Talbott, G., Winn, R.K., Martin, T.R., Ulevitch, R.J., (1996). Antibodies against CD14 protect primates from endotoxin-induced shock. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, **98**(7): 1533 - 38.

Levy, M.M., Fink, M.P., Marshall, J.C., Abraham, E., Angus, D., Cook, D., Cohen, J., Opal, S.M., Vincent, J.L., Ramsay, G., (2003). SCCM/ESICM/ACCP/ATS/SIS 2001 SCCM/ESICM/ACCP/ATS/SIS International Sepsis Definitions Conference. *Critical Care Medicine*, **31**: 1250 -1256.

Levy, M.M., Evans, L.E., Rhodes A., (2018). The Surviving Sepsis Campaign Bundle: 2018 update. *Intensive Care Medicine*, **44: 6**, 925 – 8.

Liang, X., Liu, R., Chen, C., Ji, F., Li, T., (2016). Opioid System Modulates the Immune Funcyion: A Review. *Translation Perioperative Pain Medicine*, **1(1):** 5 -13.

Lin, E., Calvano, S. E., and Lowry, S. F. (2000). Inflammatory cytokines and cell response in surgery. *Surgery* 127: 117 - 126.

Lien, H.H., Huang, C.C., Wang, P.C., Huang, C.S., Chen, Y.H., Lin, T.L., Tsai, M.C. (2010). Changes in quality-of-life following laparoscopic cholecystectomy in adult patients with cholelithiasis. *Journal Gastrointestinal Surgery*, **14**:126 – 130.

Lindenlaub, T., and Sommer, C., (2003). Cytokines in sural nerve biopsies from inflammatory and non-inflammatory neuropathies. *Acta Neuropathology*, **105**: 593 - 602.

Liu, Y., and Hou, Q.X. (2006). Effect of carbon dioxide pneumoperitoneum during laparoscopic surgery on morphology of peritoneum. *Zhonghua Yi Xue Za Zhi.*, **86:**164 – 166.

Lloyd, D.R., Wang, X., Murphy, A.Z., (2008). Sex Differences in μ-Opioid Receptor Expressions in the Rat Midbrain Periaqueductal Gray Are Essential for Eliciting Sex Differences in Morphine Analgesia. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, **28(52)**: 14007 - 14017.

Lobo, S.M., Lobo, F.R., Bota, D.P., Lopes – Ferreira, F., Soliman, H.M., Mérlot, C., Vincent, J.L., (2003). C-reactive protein levels correlate with mortality and organ failure in critically ill patients. *Chest* **123(6):** 2043 – 2049.

Lu, C-H., Chao, P-C., Borel, C.O., Yang, C-P., Yeh, C-C., Wong, C-S., Wu, C-T., (2004). Preincisional intravenous pentoxifylline attenuating perioperative cytokine response, reducing morphine consumption and improving recovery of bowel function in patients undergoing colorectal cancer surgery. *Anaesthesia and Analgesia*, **99(5)**: 1465 - 71.

Lund, C., Selmar, P., Hansen, O.B., Jensen, C.M., Kehlet, H., (1987). Effect of extradural morphine on somatosensory evoked potentials to dermatomal stimulation. *British Journal of Anaesthiology*, **59:** 1408 - 11.

Lundblad, R., Sandven, P., and Giercksky, K.E., (1995). The physical nature of a large bowel perforation predicts severity of the subsequent inflammatory response. *Shock*, **3(6):** 455 - 61.

Lynch, E.P., Lazor, M.A., Gellis, J.E., Orav, J., Goldman, L., Marcantonio, E.R., Edward, R., (1997) Patient Experience of Pain After Elective Noncardiac Surgery. *Anesthesia and Analgesia* **85(1):** 117 – 123.

Lyngdoh, T., Vollenweider, P., Waeber, G., Marques-Vidal, P., (2011). Association of statins with Inflammatory cytokines: a population based study. *Atherosclerosis* **219(1)**: 253 - 258.

Lyons, A., Kelly, J.L., Rodrick, M.L., Mannick, J.A., Lederer, J.A., (1997). Major injury induces increased production of interleukin-10 by cells of the immune system with a negative impact on resistance to infection. *Annals of Surgery*, **226**: 450 - 458.

McAllister, S.K., Bland, L.A., Arduino, M.J., Aguero, S.M., Wenger, P.N., Jarvis, W.R., (1994). Patient cytokine responsein transfusion-associated sepsis. *Infection and Immunology*, **62**: 2126 - 28.

McAnena, O.J., Austin, O., O'Conell, P.R., Hederman, W.P., Gorey, T.F., Fitzpatrick, J., (1992). Laparoscopic versus open appendicectomy: a prospective evaluation. *British Journal of Surgery*, **79:** 818 - 20.

McBride, W.T., Armstrong, M.A., Crockard, A.D., McMurray, T.J., Rea, J.M., (1995). Cytokine balance and immunosuppressive changes at cardiac surgery: contrasting response between patients and isolated CPB circuits. *British Journal of Anaesthesiology*, **75**: 724 - 33.

McCall, J.L., Sharples, K., Jadallah, F., (1999). Systemic review of randomized controlled trials comparing laparoscopic with open appendicectomy. *British Journal of Surgery*, **84**: 1045 - 50.

McDougall, E.M., Figenshau, R.S., Clayman, R.V., Monk, T.G., Smith, D.S., (1994). Laparoscopic pneumoperitoneum: impact of body habitus. *Journal of Laparoendoscopic Surgery*, **4**: 385 - 91.

McHorney, C.A., Ware, J.E., Raczek, A.E., (1993). The MOS 36-Item Short-Form Health Survey (SF-36): II, psychometric and clinical tests of validity in measuring physical and mental health constructs. *Medical Care*, **31**: 247 - 63.

McLauchlan, G., Anderson, I., Graut, I., Fearon, K.C.H., (1995). Outcome of patients with abdominal sepsis treated in an intensive care unit. *British Journal of Surgery*, **82**: 524 - 529.

McMahon, A.J., Ross, S., Baxter, J.N., Russell, I.T., Anderson, J.R., Morran, C.,G., Sunderland, G.T., Galloway, D.J., O'Dwyer, P.J., (1995). Symptomatic outcome one year after laparoscopic and minilaparotomy cholecystectomy:a randomised trial. *British Journal of Surgery*, **82(10):** 1378 - 82.

McMahon, A.J., O'Dwyer, P.J., Cruikshank, A.M., McMillan, D.C., O'Reilly, D.S., Lowe, G.D., Rumley, A., Logan, R.W., Baxter, J.N., (1993). Comparison of the response to laparoscopic and minilaparotomy cholecystectomy. *British Journal of Surgery*, **80**: 1255-8.

McMahon, A.J., Russell, I.T., Ramsay G., Sunderland, G., Baxter, J.N., Anderson, J.R., Galloway, D., O'Dwyer, P.J., (1994). Laparoscopic and minilaparotomy cholecystectomy: a randomised trial compairing postoperative pain and pulmonary function. *Surgery*, **115**: 533 - 9.

McNiol, E.D., Ferguson, M.C., Haroutounian, S., Carr, D.B., Schumann, R., (2016). Intravenous paracetamol for pain after surgery in adults and children. *Cochrane Review Article*.

McPherson, R.A., Matthew, R., Pincus, M.R., (2011). *Henry's Clinical Diagnosis and Management by Laboratory Methods*. 22nd ed. Elsevier Saunders: Philadelphia. 254 - 5.

Ma, Y., Vilanova, D., Atalar, K., Delfour, O., Edgeworth, J., Ostermann, M., Hermandez-Fuentes, M., Razafimahatratra, S., Michot, B., Persing, D.H., Ziegler, I., Törös, B., Mölling, P., (2013). Genome-wide sequencing of cellular microRNAs identifies a combinatorial expression signature diagnostic of sepsis. *PLoS One*, **8**: e75918.

Machado, M.C.C., Coelho, A.M.M., Martins, J.O., Sampietre, S.N., Molan, N.A.T., Patzina, R.A., Machado, M.A.C., Jancar, S., (2010). CO2 Abdominal Insufflation Decreases Local and Systemic Inflammatory Response in Experimental Acute Pancreatitis. *Pamcreas*, **39(2)**: 175 -81.

Machado, M. C. C., and Coelho, A. M. M., (2012). Role of Peritoneal Macrophages on Local and Systemic Inflammatory Response in Acute Pancreatitis. *Acute Pancreatitis,* **Chapter 8.** 

Macrae, W.A., (2001). Chronic pain after surgery. *British Journal of Anaesthesia*, **87(1):** 88 - 98.

Maggi Jr, L.B., Sadeghi, H., Weigand, C., Scarim, A.L., Heitmeier, M.R., Corbett, J.A., (2000). Antiinflammatory actions of 15 deoxy delta 12, 14 prostaglandin J2 and troglitazone: evidence for heat shock-dependent and independent inhibition of cytokine-induced inducible nitric oxide synthase expression. *Diabetes*, **49(3)**: 346 - 355.
Magrina, J.F., (2002). Complications of laparoscopic surgery. *Clinical Obstetrics and Gynecology*, **45(2):** 469 - 480.

Maier, S.F., Wiertelak, E.P., Martin, D., Watkins, L.R., (1993). Interleukin-1 mediates the behavioural hyperalgesia produced by lithium chloride and endotoxin. *Brain Research*, **623**: 321 - 4.

Mancini, N., Burioni, R., Clementi, M., (2015). Microbiological diagnosis of sepsis: The confounding effects of a "Gold Standard". *Methods Molecular Biology*, **1237:** 1 - 4.

Mantz, J., Delumeau, J.C., Cordier, J., Petitet, F., (1994). Differential effects of propofol and ketamine on cytosolic calcium concentrations of astrocytes in primary culture. *British Journal of Anaesthiology* **72**: 351 - 3.

Mao, J., Price, D.D., Mayer, D.J., (1995). Mechanisms of hyperalgesia and morphine tolerance: A current view of their possible interactions. *Pain*, **62**: 259 -74.

Mao, A.P., Shen, J., Zuo, Z., (2015). Expression and regulation of long noncoding RNAs in TLR4 signaling in mouse macrophages. *BMC Genomics*, **16:** 45.

Marano, M.A., Moldawer, L.L., Fong, Y., Wei, H., Minei, J., Yurt, R., Cerami, A., Lowry, S.F., (1988). Cachectin / TNF production in experimental burns and Pseudomonas infection. *Archives of Surgery*, **123**: 1383 - 8.

Marchant, A., Alegre, M.L., Hakim, A., Piérard, G., Marécaux, G., Friedman, G., De Groote, D., Kahn, R.J., Vincent, J.L., Goldman, M., (1995). Clinical and biological significance of interleukin-10 plasma levels in patients with septic shock. *Journal of Clinical Immunology*, **15**: 266 - 273.

Marshall JC, and Reinhart K, (2009). International Sepsis Forum. Biomarkers of sepsis. *Critical Care Medicine*, **37**(7): 2290 – 2298.

Martin, C., Boisson, C., Haccoun, M., Thomachot, L., Mege, J.L., (1997). Patterns of cytokine evolution (tumour necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin-6) after septic shock, hemorrhagic shock, and severe trauma. *Critical Care Medicine*, **25**: 1813 -1819.

Martin-Romero, C., Santos Alvarez, J., Goberna, R., Sánchez-Margalet, V., (2000). Human leptin enhances activation and proliferation of humancirculation T lymphocytes. *Cellular Immunology*, **199:** 15-24.

Martineau, L., and Shek, P.N., (2000). Peritoneal cytokine concentrations and survival outcome in an experimental bacterial infusion model of peritonitis. *Critical Care Medicine*, **28**: 788-794.

Martinez - Urrutia, A., (1975), Anxiety and pain in surgical patients. *Journal Consultations Clinical Psychology*, **43**: 437 - 42.

Matsumoto, T., Tsuboi, B., Dolgor, T., Bandoh, T.Y., Kitano, S., (2001). The effect of gasses in the intraperitoneal space on cytokine response and bacterial translocation in a rat model. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **15:** 80 - 84.

Matsuzaki, S., Canis, M., Botchorishvili, R., (2014). 'Gain more working space at at a low intraperitoneal pressure' may be a difficult, but worthy anaesthesiologic challenge. *Review Espanol Anestesiologic Reanim*, **61**: 2 - 5.

Matthew, G., Watson, D.I., Ellis, T.S., Jamieson, G.G., and Rofe, A.M., (1999). The role of peritoneal immunity and the tumour-bearing state on the development of wound and peritoneal metastases after laparoscopy, *Australia New Zealand Journal Surgery*, **69:** 14 - 18.

Maury, C.P., and Teppo, A.M., (1987). Raised serum levels of cachectin / tumour necrosis factor-alpha in renal allograft rejection. *Journal Experimental Medicine*, **166**: 1132 - 7.

Maury, C.P., and Teppo, A.M., (1989). Tumour necrosis factor in the serum of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheumatology*, **32**: 146-150.

Maves, T.J., Pechman, P.S., Gebhart, G.F., Meller, S.T., (1993). Possible chemical contribution from chronic gut sutures produces disorders of pain sensation like those seen in man. *Pain*, **54**: 57-69.

Max, M.B., Portenoy, R. K., Laska, E. M. (editors), (1990). The design of clinical analgesic trials, *Raven Press, New York*.

May, L.T., Santhanam, U., Tatter, S.B., Ghrayeb, J., Sehgal, P.B., (1989). Multiple forms of human interleukin-6: phosphoglycoproteins secreted by many different tissues. *Annals New York Academy of Science*, **557**: 114-21.

Melzack, R., Casey, K.L., (1968). Sensory, motivational, and central control determinants of pain. A new conceptual model. 423-443.

Mentes, B.B., Akin, M., Irkörücü, O., Tatlicioğlu, E., Ferahköşe, Z., Yildinm, A., Maral, I., (2001). Gastrointestinal quality of life in patients with symptomatic or asymptomatic cholelithiasis before and after laparoscopic cholecystectomy. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **15**:1267–1272.

Merskey, H., Bogduk, N., *editors* (1994). Classification of chronic pain – Descriptions of chronic pain syndromes and definitions of pain terms, 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. *IASP press, Seattle,* 40-43.

Mertens zur Borg, I.R., Lim, A., Verbrugge, S.J., IJzermans, J.N., Klein, J., (2004). Effect of intraabdominal pressure elevation and positioning on hemodynamic responses during carbon dioxide pneumoperitoneum for laparoscopic donor nephrectomy: A prospective controlled clinical study. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **18**:919-23.

Michaloliakou, C., Chung, F., Sharma, S., (1996). Preoperative multimodal analgesia facilitates recovery after ambulatory laparoscopic cholecystectomy. *Anaesthesia and analgesia*, **82(1)**: 44-51.

Middlebrook, A.J., Martina, C., Chang, Y., Lukas, R.J., DeLuca, D., (2002). Effects of nicotine exposure on T-cell development in fetal thymus organ culture: arrest of T-cell maturation. *Journal of Immunology*, **169**: 2915-24.

Milligan, D.W., Raftrey, A.T., (1974). Observations on the pathogenesis of peritoneal adhesions: a light and electron microscopical study. *British Journal of Surgery*, **61:** 274-280.

Milligan, E.D., Twining, C., Chacur, M., Biedenkapp, J., O'Connor, K., Poole, S., (2003). Spinal glia and proinflammatory cytokines mediate mirror-image neuropathic pain in rats. *Journal of Neuroscience*, **23**: 1026-40.

Millitz, K., Moote, D.J., Sparrow, R.K., Girotti, M.J., Holliday, D.L., McCarty, T.D., (1994)., Pneumoperitoneum after laparoscopic cholecystectomy, frequency and duration as seen on upright chest radiograph. *Australian Journal of Radiology*, **163**: 837.

Ming, J., Banerjee, S., Li, D., Sindberg, G.M., Wang, F., Ma, J., Roy, S., (2015). Opioid exacerbation of Gram positive sepsis, induced by gut microbial modulation, is rescued by IL-17A neutralization. *Scientific reports*, **5**.

Modzelewski, B., (2003). The role of soluble TNF p55 and p75 receptors in the development of septic syndrome. *Polski Merkuriusz Lekarski*. **14:79**, 69–72.

Moiniche, S., Kehlet, H., Dahl, J.B., (2002). A qualitative and quantitative systemic review of pre-emptive analgesia for post-operative pain relief: the role of timing of analgesia. *Anesthesiology*, **96**: 725-41.

Morris, J.A., Eddy, V.A., Blinman, T.A., Rutherford, E.J., Sharp, K.W., (1993). The staged celiotomy for trauma. *Annals of Surgery*, **217:** 576-85.

Muller, B., Becker, K.L., Kranzlin, M., Schachinger, H., Huber, P.R., Nylen, E.S., Snider, R.H., White, J.C., Schmidt-Gayk, H., Zimmerli, W., Ritz, R., (2000). Disordered calcium homeostasis of sepsis: association with calcitonin precursors. *European Journal Clinical Investigation*, **30**(9): 823-831.

Munford, R.S., and Pugin, J., (2001). Normal responses to injury prevent systemic inflammation and can be immunosuppressive. *American Journal of Respiratory Critical Care Medicine*, **163**: 316-21.

Murphy, P.G., Borthwick, L.S., Johnston, R.S., Kuchel, G., Richardson, P.M., (1999a). Nature of the reterograde signal from injured nerves that induces interleukin-6 mRNA in neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience*, **19:** 3791-800.

Murphy, P.G., Ramer, M.S., Borthwick, Gauldie, J., Richardson, P.M., Bisby, M.A., (1999b). Endogenous interleukin-6 contributes to hypersensitivity to cutaneous stimuli and neuropeptides associated with chronic nerve constriction in mice. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, **11**: 2243-53.

Myles, P.S., Myles, D.B., Galagher, W., Boyd, D., Chew, C., MacDonald, N., Dennis, A., (2017). Measuring acute postoperative pain using the visual analog scale: the minimal clinically important difference and patient acceptable symptom state. *British Journal of Annaesthesia*, **118(3)**: 424-429.

Naito, Y., Tamai, S., Shingu, K., Matsui, T., Segawa, H., Nakai, Y., Mori, K., (1992). Responses of plasma adrenocotrophic hormone cortisol and cytokines during and after upper abdominal surgery. *Anesthesiology*, **77**: 426-31.

Nalin, C.M., (1995). Apoptosis research enters the ICE age. Structure, 3: 143-5.

Napolitano, L.M., (2018). Sepsis 2018: Definitions and Guideline Changes. *Surgical Infection*, **19(2):** 117 – 125.

Narchi, P., Lecoq, G., Fernandes, H., Benhamou, D., (1990). Intraperitoneal local anaesthetics and scapular following day-case laparoscopy. *Anesthesiology*, **73:** A5.

Narchi, P., Benhamou, D., Fernandez, H., (1991). Intraperitoneal local anaesthetic for shoulder pain after day-case laparoscopy. *Lancet*, **338:** 1569-70.

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2016. Sepsis: recognition, diagnosis and early managemnt. *NICE Guidelines*.

Navez, B., Tassetti, V., Scohy, J.J., Mutter, D., Guiot, P., Evrard, S., Marescaux, J., (1998). Laparoscopic management of acute peritonitis. *British Journal of Surgery*, **85**: 32-6.

Nayak, L., Menias, C.O., and Gayer, G., (2013). Dropped gallstones: spectrum of imaging findings, complications and diagnostic pitfalls. *British Journal of Radiology*, **86(1028)**, 2013.

Neidhardt, R., Keel, M., Steckholzer, U., Safret, A., Ungethuem, U., Trentz, O., Ertel, W., (1997). Relationship of interleukin-10 plasma levels to severity of injury and clinical outcome in injured patients, *Journal of Trauma*, **42**: 863-70.

Nesseler, N., Launey, Y., Aninat, C., Morel, F., Mallédant, Y., Seguin, P., (2012). Clinical review. The liver in sepsis. *Critical Care*, **16(5)**: 235.

Neudecker, J., Sauerland, S., Neugebauer, E., Bergamaschi, R., Bonjer, H.J., Cuschieri, A., Fuchs, K.H., Jacobi, C.H., Jansen, F.W., Kolvusalo, A.M., Lacy, A., McMahon, M.J., Millat, B., Schwenk, W., (2002). The European Association for Endoscopic Surgery clinical practice guideline on the pneumoperitoneum for laparoscopic surgery. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **16**: 1121-43.

Nevaderani, M., Eslick, G., Faraj, S., Vagg, D., Cox, M., (2017). Study of the early management of acute pancreatitis. *Australia, New Zealand Journal of Surgery*, Oct; 87(10): 805-9.

Newman, H.F., Northup, J.D., Rosenblum, M., and Abrams, H., (1968). Complications of cholelithiasis, *American Journal of Gastroenterology*, **50**: 476-96.

Newman, W.H., Zhang, L.M., Leeper-Woodford, S.K., Castresana, M.R., (1996). Human blood vessels release tumour necrosis factor-alpha from a smooth muscle source. *Critical Care Medicine*, **24(2)**: 294-97.

Newman, W.H., Zhang, L.M., Leeper-Woodford, S.K., Shaker, I.J., Ecreg, S.K., Castresana, M.R., (1997). Inhibition of release of tumour necrosis factor alpha from human vascular tissue and smooth muscle cells by glucocorticoids. *Critical Care Medicine*, **25**: 519-22.

Newsome, C.T., Flores, E., Ayala, A., Gregory, S., Reichner, J.S., (2011). Improved antimicrobial host defense in mice following poly-(1,6)- $\beta$ -D-glucopyranosyl-(1,3)- $\beta$ -D-glucopyranose glucan treatment by a gender-dependent immune mechanism. *Clinical Vaccine Immunology*, **18**: 2043–9.

Ng, A., Swami, A., Smith, G., Robertson, G., Lloyd, D.M., (2004). Is intraperitoneal levobupivicaine with epinephrine useful for analgesia following laparoscopic cholecystectomy? A randomised controlled trial. *European Journal of Anaesthesiology*, **21(8):** 653-7.

Nicholson, D.W., Ali, A., Thornberry, N.A., Vaillancourt, J.P., Ding, C.K., Gallant, M., Gareau, Y., Griffin, P.R., Labelle, M., Lazebnik, Y.A., (1995). Identification and inhibition of the ICE/CED-3 protease necessary for mamalian apoptosis. *Nature*, **376**, 37-43.

Nicholson, G., Hall, G.M., (2011). Effects of anaesthesia on the inflammatory response to injury. *Current Opinion in Anaesthesiology*, **24(4):** 370-374.

Nies, C., Krack, W., Kaufmann, T., (1996). Randomised trial laparoscopic versus conventional cholecystectomy regarding outcome and inflammatory response. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **10**: 554.

NIH Consensus Development Pannel on Gallstones and Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy, (1993). Gallstones and Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy, *Journal American Medical Association*, **269 (8)**; 1018-1024.

Nilsson, E., Ros, A., Rahmqvist, M., Backman, K., Carlsson, P., (2004). Cholecystectomy: costs and health-related quality of life: a comparison of two techniques. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, **16(6)**: 473-482.

Nimah, M., Brilli, R.J., (2003). Coagulation dysfunction in sepsis and multiple organ system failure. *Critical Care Clinical*, **19:** 441-458.

Nockher, W.A., Scherberich, J.E., (1997). Expression and release of monocyte lipopolysaccharide receptor antigen CD14 are suppressed by glucocorticoids *in-vivo* and *in-vitro*. *Journal of Immunology*, **158(3)**: 1345-52.

Novitsky, Y.W., Callery, M.P., (2002). Laparoscopic surgery and the nuances of systemic immunity. *Journal of Clinical Gastroenterology*, **34(2)**: 109-10.

Nygren J (2006). The metabolic effects of fasting and surgery. *Best Practice Research Clinical Anaesthesiology*, **20:** 429-438

Obata, H., Saito, S., Fujita, N., Fuse, Y., Ishizaki, K., Goto, F., (1999). Epidural block with mepivacaine before surgery reduces long-term post-thoracotomy pain. *Canadian Journal of Anaesthisiology*, **46**: 1127-32.

Oberholzer, A., Keel, M., Zellweger, R., Stekholzer, U., Trentz, O., Ertel, W., (2000a). Incidence of septic complications and multiple organ failure in severely injured patients is sex specific, *Journal of Trauma*, **48(5)**: 932-7.

Oberholzer, A., Oberholzer, C., and Moldawer, L.L., (2000b). Cytokine signaling-regulation of the immune response in normal and critically ill states. *Critical Care Medicine*, **28(4)**: N3-12.

Oberholzer, A., Oberholzer, C., and Moldawer, L.L., (2001). Sepsis syndromes: understanding the role of innate and acquired immunity, *Shock*, **16**: 83-96.

Oberholzer, A., Oberholzer, C., and Moldawer, L.L., (2002). Interleukin-10: A complex role in the pathogenesis of sepsis syndromes and its potential as an anti-inflammatory drug, *Critical Care Medicine*, **30(1)**: S58-63.

Ocuin, L.M., Bamboat, Z.M., Balachandran, V.P., Cavnar, M.J., Obaid, H., Plitas, G., DeMatteo, R.P., (2011). Neutrophil IL-10 suppresses peritoneal inflammatory monocytes during polymicrobial sepsis. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*. **89(3):** 423-432.

Offner, F., Philippe, J., Vogelaers, D., Colardyn, F., Baele, G., Baudrihaye, M., Vermeulen, A., Leroux-Roels, G., (1990). Serum tumour necrosis factor levels in patients with infectious disease and septic shock. *Journal of Laboratory and Clinical Medicine*, **116**: 100-5.

Ogihara, Y., Isshiki, A., Kindscher, J.D., Goto, H., (1999). Abdominal wall lift versus carbon dioxide insufflation for laparoscopic resection of ovarian tumours. *Journal of Clinical of Anesthiology*, **11**: 406-412.

Ohzato, H., Yoshizaki, K., Nishimoto, N., Ogata, A., Tagoh, H., Monden, M., Gotoh, M., Kishimoto, T., Mori, T., (1992). Interleukin-6 as a new indicator of inflammatory status: detection of serum levels of interleukin-6 and C-reactive protein after surgery. *Surgery*, **111**: 201-209.

Oka, Y., Murata, A., Nishijima, J., Yasuda, T., Hiraoka, N., Ohmachi, Y., Kitagawa, K., Yasuda, T., Toda, H., Tanaka, N., (1992). Circulating interleukin 6 as a useful marker for predicting postoperative complications. *Cytokine*, **4(4)**: 298-304.

Okusawa, S., Gelfand, J.A., Ikejima, T., Connolly, R.J., Dinarello, C.A., (1988). Interleukin-1 induces a shock-like state in rabbits. Synergism with tumour necrosis factor and the effect of cyclooxygenase inhibition. *Journal of Clinical Investigations*, **81:** 1162-72. Ong, C.K-S., Seymour, R.A., (2004). Pain measurement in humans. *Surgery Journal of the Royal College of Surgens of Edinburgh and Ireland*, **2(1):** 15-27.

Ong, C.K-S., Lirk, P., Seymour, R.A., Jenkins, B.J., (2005). The efficacy of preemptive analgesia for acute postoperative pain management: A meta analysis. *Anesthesia and Analgesia*, **100(3)**: 757-773.

Ono, S., Ueno, C., Aosasa, S., Tsujimoto, H., Seki, S., Mochizuki, H., (2001). Severe sepsis induces deficient interferon-gamma and interleukin-12 production, but interleukin-12 therapy improves survival in peritonitis. *American Journal of Surgery*, **182**: 491-7.

Opal, S.M., Fisher, C.J., Jr., Dhainaut, J.F., Vincent, J.L., Brase, R., Lowry, S.F., Sadoff, J.C., Slotman, G.J., Levy, H., Balk, R.A., Shelly, M.P., Pribble, J.P., LaBrecque, J.F., Lookabaugh, J., Donovan, H., Dubin, H., Baughman, R., Norman, J., DeMaria, E., Matzel, K., Abraham, E., Seneff, M., (1997). Confirmatory interleukin-1 receptor antagonist trial in severe sepsis: a phase III, randomised, double blind placebo controlled, multicentre trial. The interleukin-1 Receptor Antagonist Sepsis Investigator Group. *Critical Care Medicine*, **25**:1115-24.

Opal, S.M., and DePalo, V.A., (2000), Anti-inflammatory cytokines, *Chest*, **117:** 1162-72.

Osterberg, J., Ljungdahl, M., Lundholm, M., Engstrand, L., Haglund, U., (2004). Microbial translocation and inflammatory response in patients with acute peritonitis. *Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology*, **39**(7): 657-664.

Ott, D.E., (1991). Laparoscopic hypothermia. *J. of Laparoendoscopic Surgery*, **1:** 127-31. Read in Baxter, J.N., O'Dwyer, P.J., (1995). Pathophysiology of laparoscopy. *British Journal of Surgery*, **82(1):** 1-2. Ottoson, J., Dawidson, I., Brandberg, A., Idvall, J., Sandor, Z., (1991). Cardiac output and organ blood flow in experimental septic shock: Effect of treatment with antibiotics, corticosteroids, and fluid infusion. *Circulatory Shock*, **35**: 14.

Page, G.G., Blakely, W.P., Ben-Eliyahu, S., (2001). Evidence that postoperative pain is a mediator of the tumour-promoting effects of surgery in rats. *Pain*, **90**: 191-9.

Panes, J., Granger, D.N., (1998). Leukocyte-endothelial cell interactions: molecular mechanisms and implications in gastrointestinal disease. *Gastroenterology*, **114**: 1066-1090.

Papathanassoglou, E.D.E., Moynihan, J.A., Ackerman, M.H., (2000). Does programmed cell death (apoptosis) play a role in the development of multiple organ dysfunction in critically ill patient? A review of a theoretical framework. *Critical Care Medicine*, **28(2)**: 537-49.

Park, J.Y., and Pillinger, M.H., (2007). Interleukin-6 in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. *Bulletin of the NYU hospital for joint diseases*. **65**, **suppl. 1**, S4–S10.

Parker, S.J., Watkins, P.E., (2001). Experimental models of Gram-negative sepsis. *British Journal of Surgery*, **88(1):** 22-30.

Parks, R.W., Halliday, M.I., McCrory, D.C., Erwin, P., Smye, M., Diamond, T., and Rowlands, B.J., (2003). Host immune response and intestinal permeability in patients with jaundice. *British Journal of Surgery*, **90(2)**: 239-245.

Parameswaran, N., Patial, S., (2010). Tumor necrosis factor-a signaling in macrophages. *Critical Reviews in Eukaryotic Gene Expression*, **20: 2**, 87–103.

Parsons, P.E., Gillespie, M.K., Moore, E.E., Moore, F.A., Worthen, G.S., (1995). Neutrophil response to endotoxin in the adult respiratory distress syndrome: role of CD14. *American, Journal of Respiration Cell and Molecular Biology*, **13**: 152-60. Pasqualucci, A., DeAngelis, V., Contardo, R., Colo, F., Terrosu, G., Donini, A., Pasetto, A., Bresadola, F., (1996). Preemptive analgesia: Intraperitoneal local anaesthetic in laparoscopic cholecystectomy: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Anaesthesiology*, **85(1)**: 11-20.

Patel, R., Deen, K.I., Youngs, J., Warwick, J., Keighley, M.R., (1994). Interleukin-6 is a prognostic indicator of outcome in severe intra-abdominal sepsis. *British Journal of Surgery*, **81**: 1306-1308.

Pathan, N., Hemingway, C.A., Alizadeh, A.A., Stephens, A.C., Boldrick, J.C., Oragui,
E.E., McCabe, C., Welch, S.B., Whitney, A., O'Cara, P., Nadel, S., Relman, D.A.,
Harding, S.E., Levin, M., (2004). Role of interleukin 6 in myocardial dysfunction of
meningococcal septic shock. *The Lancet*, 363:9404, 203–209.

Paul, A., Troidl, S., Peters, S., and Stuttmann, R., (1994). Fatal ischaemia following laparoscopic cholecystectomy. *British Journal of Surgery*, **81:** 1207.

Pavlin, J.D., Rapp, S.E., Polissar, N.L., Malmgren, J.A., Koerschgen, M., Keyes, H., (1998). Factors affecting discharge time in adult outpatients. *Anaesthesia and Analgesia*, **87(4)**: 816-26.

Perretti, M., Flower, R.J., (1996). Measurement of lipocortin 1 levels in murine peripheral blood leucocytes by flow cytometry: modulation by glucocorticoids and inflammation. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, **118**: 605-610.

Perkins, F., Kehlet, H., (2000). Chronic pain as an outcome of surgery: A review of predictive factors. *Anesthesiology*, **93(4)**: 1123-33.

Peters, M.J., Mukhtar, A., Yunus, R.M., Khan, S., Pappalardo, J., Memon, B., (2009). Meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials comparing open and laparoscopic anti-reflux surgery. *American Journal of Gastroenterology*, **104**: 1548-62; quiz 1547. Peterson, P.K., Sharp, B., Gekker, G., Brummitt, C., Keane, W.F., (1987). Opioidmediated suppression of interferon-gamma production by cultured peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *Journal of Clinical Investigations*, **80**: 824-31.

Pilz, G., Fraunberger, P., appel, R., Kreuzer, E., Werdan, K., Walli, A., Seidel, D., (1996). Early prediction of outcome in score-identified, post cardiac surgical patients at high risk for sepsis, using soluble tumour necrosis factor receptor-p55 concentrations. *Critical Care Medicine*, **24(4)**: 596-600.

Pinsky, M.R., Vincent, J.L., Deviere, J., Alegre, M., Kahn, R.J., Dupont, E., (1993). Serum cytokine levels in human septic shock. Relation to multiple-system organ failure and mortality. *Chest*, **103**: 565-75.

Pique, J.M., Whittle, B.J., Esplugues, J.V., (1989). The vasodilator role of nitric oxide in the rat gastric microcirculation. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, **174:** 293-6.

Pirttikangas, C.O., Salo, M., Mansikka, M., Grönroos, J., Pulkki, K., Peltola, O.,, (1995). The influence of anaesthetic technique upon the immune response to hysterectomy: a comparison of propofol infusion and isoflurane. *Anaesthesia*, **50**: 1056-61.

Pixley, R.A., Zellis, S., Bankes, P., DeLa Cadena, R.A., Page, J.D., Scott, C.F., Kappelmayer, J., Wyshock, E.G., Kelly, J.J., Colman, R.W., (1995). Prognostic value of assessing contact system activation and factor V in systemic inflammatory response syndrome. *Critical Care Medicine*, **23**: 41-51.

Pleym, H., Spigset, O., Kharasch, E.D., Dale, O., (2003). Gender differences in drug effects: implications for anaesthesiologists. *Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica*, **47(3)**: 241-59.

Preiser, J.C., Schmartz, D., Van der Linden, P., Content, J., Vanden Bussche, P., Buurman, W.A., Sebald, W., Dupont, E., Pinsky, M.R., Vincent, J.L., (1991). Interleukin-6 administration has no acute hemodynamic or hematolofic effect in the dog. *Cytokine*, **3**: 1-4.

Pruitt, J.H., Copeland, E.M.I., Moldawer, L.L., (1995). Interleukin-1 and interleukin-1 antagonism in sepsis, systemicinflammatory response syndrome, and septic shock. *Shock*, **3**: 235-51.

Pujol-Borrel, R., Todd, I., Doshi, M., McNally, J.M., Feldman, M., Bottazzo, G.F. (1987). HLA class II induction in human islet cells by interferon-gamma plus tumour necrosis factor or lymphotoxin. *Nature*, **326**: 304-6.

Pusajo, J.F., Bumaschny, E., Agurrola, A., Rodriguez, A., Hernandez, M., Chiacchiara, D., (1994). Postoperative intra-abdominal pressure: its relation to splanchnic perfusion, sepsis, multiple organ failure and surgical reintervention. *International Critical Care and Digestion*, **13**: 2-8.

Puttick, M.I., Scott-Coombes, D.M., Dye, J., (1996). Warming of CO<sub>2</sub> pneumoperitoneum attenuates the postoperative intraperitoneal cytokine response following laparoscopic cholecystectomy. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **10**: 554.

Puttick, M.I., Scott-Coombes, D.M., Dye, J., Nduka, C.C., Menzies-Gow, N.M., Mansfield, A.O., (1999). Comparison of immunologic and physiologic effects of CO<sub>2</sub> pneumoperitoneum at room and body temperatures. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **13**: 572-5.

Qin, X., Sheth S.U., Sharpe S.M., Dong, W., Lu, Q., Xu, D., Deitch, E.A., (2011). The mucus layer is critical in protecting against ischemia-reperfusion-mediated gut injury and in the restitution of gut barrier function. *Shock* **35**:275-81.

Quezado, Z.M., and Natanson, C., (1992). Systemic haemodynamic abnormalities and vasopresser therapy in sepsis and septic shock. *American Journal Kidney Disease*, **20**: 214-22.

Quintana, J.M., Arostegui, I., de Tejada, I.L., Perdigo, L., (2003). Predictors of improvement in health related quality of life in patients undergoing cholecystectomy. *British Journal of Surgery*, **90(12)**: 1549-55.

Quintana, J.M., Cabriada, J., Arostegui, I., Oribe, V., Perdigo, L., Varona, M., Bilbao, A., (2005) Health-Related Quality of Life and Appropriateness of Cholecystectomy. *Annals of Surgery*, **241(1)**: 110-118.

Ra, Y.S., Kim, C.H., Lee, Y.G., Han, J.I. (2010). The analgesic effect of the ultrasound guided transverse abdominis plane block after laparoscopy cholecystectomy. *Korean Journal of Anesthesiology*, **58(4)**: 362–68.

Raftery, A.T., (1979). Regeneration of peritoneum: a fibrinolytic study. *Journal of Anatomy*, **129:** 659-64.

Rajan, G., and Sleigh, J.W., (1997) Lymphocyte counts and the development of nosocomial sepsis. *Intensive Care Medicine*, **23**; 1187.

Ramamurthy, N.K., Rudralingam, V., Martin, D.F., Galloway, S.W., and Sukumar, S.A., (2013). Out of sight but kept in mind: complications and imitations of dropped gallstones. *The American Journal of Roentgenology*, **200(6)**: 1244–1253.

Rangel-Frausto, M.S., Pittet, D., Costigan, M., Hwang, T., Davis, C.S., Wenzel, R.P., (1995). The natural history of the systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS). A prospective study. *Journal American Medical Association*, **273**: 117-123.

Ransohoff, D. F., and Gracie W.A., (1993). Treatment of Gallstones, *Annals of Internal Medicine*, **119** (7); 606-619.

Rasmussen, I.B., Berggren, U., Arvidsson, D., ljungdahl, M., Haglund, U., (1995). Effects of pneumoperitoneum on splanchnic hemodynamics: an experimental study in pigs. *European Journal Surgery*, **161**: 819-24.

Rastogi, B., Singh, V.P., Gupta, K., Jain, M., Singh, M., Singh, I., (2016). Postoperative analgesia after laparoscopic cholecystectomy by pre-emptive use of intravenous paracetamol or ketorolac: A comparative study. *Indian Journal of Pain*, **30**(1): 29-33.

Reade, M.C., Yende, S., D'Angelo, G., Kong, L., Kellum, J.A., Barnato, A.E., Milbrandt, E.B., Dooley, C., Mayr, F.B., Weissfeld, L., Angus, D.C., Genetic and Inflammatory Markers of Sepsis Investigators, (2009). Genetic and Inflammatory Markers of Sepsis Investigators Differences in immune response may explain lower survival among older men with pneumonia. *Critical Care Medicine* **37**:1655–1662.

Redmond, H.P., Watson, R.W., Houghton, T., Condron, C., Watson, R.G., Bouchier-Hayes, D., (1994). Immune function in patients undergoing open *versus* laparoscopic cholecystectomy. *Archives of Surgery*, **129**: 1240-6.

Reid, S.D., Penna, G., Adorini, L., The control of T cell responses by dendritic cell subsets. *Current Opinions in Immunology*, **12:** 114-21.

Reinhart, K., Weigand-Lohnert, C., Grimminger, F., Kaul, M., Withington, S., Treacher, D., Eckart, J., Willatts, S., Bouza, C., Krausch, D., Stockenhuber, F., Eiselstein, J., Daum, L., Kempeni, J., (1996). Assessment of the safety and efficacy of the monoclonal anti-tumour necrosis factor antibody-fragment, MAK 195F, in patients with sepsis and septic shock: a multicentre, randomised, placebo-controlled, dose ranging study. *Critical Care Medicine*, **24**: 733-42.

Reinhart, K., Karzai, W., (2001). Anti-tumour necrosis factor therapy in sepsis: update on clinical trials and lessons learned. *Critical Care Medicine*, **30**: S121-25.

Remick, D.G., Bolgos, G., Copeland, S., Siddiqui, J., (2005). Role of interleukin-6 in mortality from and physiologic response to sepsis. *Infection and Immunity*, **73:5**, 2751–2757.

Ren, K., and Dubner, R., (2010). Interactions between the immune and nervous systems in pain. *National Medicine*, **16(11):** 1267-1276.

Ress, A.M., Sarr, M.G., Nagorney, D.M., Farnell, M.B., Donohue, J.H., McIlrath Rezende-Neto, J.B., Moore, E.E., Melo, de Andrade, M.V., Teixeira, M.M., Lisboa, F., Arantes, R.M.E., de Souza, D.G., da Cunha-Melo, J.R., (2002). Systemic Inflammatory Response Secondary to Abdominal Compartment Syndrome: Stage for Multiple Organ Failure. *The Journal of Trauma Injury, Infection And Critical Care*, **53(6):** 1121-1128.

Riché, F., Cholley, B., Panis, Y.H., Laisné, M.J.C., Briard, C.G., Graulet, A.M., Guéris, J.L., Valleur, P.D., (2000). Inflammatory cytokine response in patients with septic shock secondary to generalized peritonitis. *Critical Care Medicine*, **28(2)**: 433-437.

Riché, F., Gayat, E., Collet, C., Matéo, J., Laisné, M-J., Valleur, P., Payen, D., Cholley, B.P., (2013) Local and systemic innate immune response to secondary human peritonitis. *Critical Care*, **17:R201**, 1 - 8.

Ridings, P.C., Blocher, C.R., Sugerman, H.J., (1995). Cardiopulmonary effects of raised intra-abdominal pressure before and after intravascular volume expansion. *Journal of Trauma*, **39**: 1071-75.

Rittner, H.L., Brack, A., Stein, C., (2003). Current Opinion in Anaesthsiology, 16(5): 527-33.

Rivera-Chavez, F.A., Wheeler, H., Lindberg, G., Munford, R.S. O'Keefe, G.E., (2003). Regional and systemic cytokine responses to acute inflammation of the vermiform appendix. *Annals of Surgery*, **237(3)**: 408-16.

Rixen, D., Siegel, J.H., (2000). Metabolic correlates of oxygen debt predict posttrauma early acute respiratory distress syndrome and the related distress syndrome and the related cytokine response. *Journal of Trauma*, **49:** 392-403.

Roeckel, L-A., Le Coz, G-M., Gaveriaux-Ruff, C., Simons, F., (2016). Opioid-induced hyperalgesia: Cellular and molecular mechanisms. *Neuroscience*, **338**: 160-182.

The Rome Group for Epidemiology and Prevention of Cholelithiasis (GREPCO) (1988). The epidemiology of gallstone disease in Rome, Italy. Part I. Prevalence data in men. *Hepatology* **8:** 904–906.

Rorarius, M.G.F., Kujansuu, E., Baer, G.A., Suominen, P., Teisala, K., Miettinen, A., Ylitalo, P., Laippala, P., (2001). Laparoscopically assisted vaginal and abdominal hysterectomy: comparison of postoperative pain, fatigue and systemic response. A case-control study. *European Journal Anaesthesiology*, **18**: 530-9.

Ros, A., Gustafsson, L., Krook, H., Nordgren, C.-E., Thorell, A., Wallin, G., Nilsson,
E., (2001). Laparoscopic cholecystectomy versus mini-laparotomy cholecystectomy:
Aprospective randomized, single-blind study. *Annals of Surgery*, 234(6): 741-9.

Ros, A., Nielsson, E., (2004) Abdominal Pain and Patient Overall and Cosmetic Satisfaction One Years After Cholecystectomy: Outcome of a Randomized Trial Comparing Laparoscopic and Minilaparotomy Cholecystectomy. *Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology*. **39(8):** 773-777.

Rosenbloom, A.J., Pinsky, M.R., Bryant, J.L., Shin, A., Tran, T, Whiteside, T., (1995). Leukocyte activation in the peripheral blood of proteins with cirrhosis of the liver and SIRS. Correlation with serum interleukin-6 levels and organ dysfunction. *Journal American Medical Association*, **274**: 58-65.

Rotstein, O.D., Meakins, J.L., (1990). Diagnostic and theraputic challenges of intraabdominal infections. *World Journal of Surgery*, **14:** 159-166.

Royal College of Surgeons and Association of Upper Gastrointestinal Surgeons (2016).Commissioning Guide – Gallstone Disease, *NICE*.

Rubin, G.J., and Hotopf, M., (2002). Systemic review and meta-analysis of interventions for postoperative fatigue. *British Journal of Surgery*, **89(8):** 971-84.

Ruf W., (2010). New players in the sepsis-protective activated protein C pathway. *Journal of Clinical Investigations* **Sep. 120(9):**3084-7.

Rylander, R., Bake, B., Fischer, J.J., Helander, I.M., (1989). Pulmonary function and symptoms after inhalation of endotoxin. *American Review Respiratory Disease*, **140**: 981-6.

Sacerdote, P., Silva, F., Alberto, S.E., (2012). Non-Analgesic Effects of Opiods: Mechanism and Potential Clinical Relevance of Opioid-Induced Immunodepression. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*, **18(37)**: 6034-6042.

Saeed, R.W., Varma, S., Peng-Nemeroff, T., Sherry, B., Balakhaneh, D., Huston, J., Tracey, K.J., Al-Abed, Y., Metz, C.N., (2005). Cholinergic stimulation blocks leucocyte recruitment during inflammation: endothelial cell-mediated effects. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, Apr 4:201(7): 1113-23.

Saggi, B.H., Sugerman, H.J., Ivatury, R.R., Bloomfield, G.L., (1998). Abdominal compartment syndrome. *Journal of Trauma*, **45:** 597-609.

Sakashita, Y., Hiyama, E., Iamaura, Y., Murakami, Y., Sugahara, Y., Takesue, Y., Matsuura, Y., Yokoyama, T., (2000). Generation of proinflammatory and antiinflammatory cytokines in the gut in zymosan-induced peritonitis. *Hiroshima Journal of Medicine Science*, **49:** 43-48. Read in Broche, F., Tellado, J., (2001). Defense mechanisms of the peritoneal cavity. *Current Opinion in Critical care*, **7(2):** 105-16.

Sallmann, S., Juttler, E., Prinz, S., Petersen, N., Knopf, U., Weiser, T., Schwaninger, M., (2000). Induction of interleukin-6 by depolarization of neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience*, **20**: 8637-42.

Salmon, P., and Hall, G.M., (1997). A theory of postoperative fatigue: an interaction of biological, psychological, and social processes. *Pharmacology Biochemistry Behaviour*, **56:** 623-8.

Samad, T.A., Moore, K.A., Sapirstein, A., Billet, S., Allchorne, A., Poole, S., Bonventre, J.V., Woolfe, C.J., (2001). Interleukin-1 $\beta$  mediated induction of COX-2 in the CNS contributes to inflammatory pain hypersensitivity. *Nature*, **410**: 471-5.

Samel, S.T., Neufang, T., Mueller, A., Leister, I., Becker, H., Post, S., (2002). A new abdominal cavity chamber to study the impact of increased intra-abdominal pressure on microcirculation of gut mucosa by using video microscopy in rats. *Critical Care Medicine*, **30(8)**: 1854-58.

Sammour, T., Kahokehr, A., Chan, S., Booth, R.J., Hill, A.G., (2010). The humoral response after laparoscopic versus open colorectal surgery: a meta-analysis. *Journal of Surgical Research*. **164(1):**28-37.

Sandblom, G., Videhult, P., Crona Gutestam, Y., Svenner, A., Sadr-Azodi, O., (2015). Mortality after cholecystectomy: a population based study. *Hepato-biliary (Oxford)*, **17(3):** 239-43.

Sandhu T, Yamada S, Ariyakachon V, Chakrabandhu T, Chongruksut W, Ko-iam W. Low-pressure pneumoperitoneum versus standard pneumoperitoneum in laparoscopic cholecystectomy, a prospective randomized trial. Surg Endosc. 2009;23:1044–7.

Sari, R.,and Sevinc, A., (2004). The effects of laparoscopic cholecystectomy operatio on
C-reactive protein, hormones and cytokines. *Journal of Endocrinology Investigation*.
27(2): 106-110.

Sarli, L., Costi, R., Sansebastiano, G., Trivelli, M., Roncoroni, L., (2000). Prospective randomized trial of low-pressure pneumoperitoneum for reduction of shoulder-tip pain following laparoscopy. *British Journal of Surgery*, **87:**1161–5.

Satoi, S., Kamiyama, Y., Kitade, H., Kwon, A.H., Takahashi, K., Wei, T., Inoue, T., Takahashi, H., (2000). Nitric oxide production and hepatic dysfunction in patients with post-operative sepsis. *Clinical Experimental Pharmacology and Physiology*, **27**: 197-201.

Satyanarayana, P.S.V., Padi, S.V., Jain, N.K., Singh, S., Kulkarni, S.K., (2004). Effect of selective inhibition of cyclooxygenase-2 on lipopolysaccharide-induced hyperalgesia. *Inflammopharmacology*, **12(1):** 57-68.

Sawyer, R.G., Rosenlof, L.K., Pruett, T.L., (1996). Interleukin-4 prevents mortalitiy from acute but not chronicmurine peritonitis and induces am accelerated tumour necrosis factor-α response. *European Surgical Research*, **28**: 119-123.

Sawyer, D.B., and Loscalzo, J., (2002). Myocardial hibernation: restorative or preterminal sleep? *Circulation*, **105**: 1517-9.

Saye, W.B., Miller, W., and Hertzmann, P., (1991). Electrosurgery thermal injury: myth or misconception. *Surgical Laparoscopy and Endoscopy*, **4:** 223.

Schafer, M., and Zollner, C., (2013). Opioids and Inflammatory Pain. *Encyclopedia of Pain*. 2492-2495.

Schein, M., and Ivatury, R., (1998). Intr-abdominal hypertension and the abdominal compartment syndrome, *British Journal of Surgery*, **85(8)**: 1027-8.

Scheller, J., and Rose-John, S., (2006). Interleukin-6 and its receptor: from bench to bedside. *Medical Microbiology and Immunology*. **195: 4**, 173–183.

Schietroma, M., Pessia, B., Stifini, D., Lancione, L., Caleri, F., Cecillia, E. M., Amicucci, G., (2016). Effects of low-pressure intra-abdominal pressure on systemic inflammation and immune response in laparoscopic adrenalectomy: A prospective randomised study. *Journal of Minimal Access Surgery*, **12:2**, 109-117.

Schindler, R., Mancilla, J., Endres, S., Ghorbani, R., Clark, S.C., Dinarello, C.A., (1990). Correlations and interactions in the production of interleukin-6 (IL-6), IL-1 and tumour necrosis factor (TNF) in human blood mononuclear cells: IL-6 suppresses IL-1 and TNF. *Blood*, **75**: 40-47.

Schneider, M.D., Roberts, R., and Parker, T.G., (1991). Modulation of cardiac genes by mechanical stress: The oncogene signaling hypothesis, *Molecular Biology Medicine*, **8**: 167-183.

Schöb, O.M., Allen, D.C., Benzel, E., Curet, M.J., Adams, M.S., Baldwin, N.G., Largiader, F., Zucker, K.A., (1996). A comparison of the pathophysiologic effects of carbon dioxide, nitrous oxide, and helium pneuperitoneum on intracranial pressure. *American Journal of Surgery*, **172**: 248-53.

Schröder, J., Kahlke, V., Staubach, K.H., Zabel, P., Stüber, F., (1998). Gender differences in human sepsis. *Archives of Surgery*, **133**:1200–5.

Schulte, W., Bernhagen, J., Bucala, R., (2013). Cytokines in sepsis: Potent immunoregulators and Potential theraputic targets – An updated view. *Mediators of Inflammation*, **2013**: 16 pages.

Schumann, R.R., Leong, S.R., Flaggs, G.W., Gray, P.W., Wright, S.D., Mathison, J.C., Tobias, P.S., Ulevitch, R.J., (1990). Structure and function of lipopolysaccharide binding protein. *Science*, **249**: 1429-31.

Scolla, J.M., Mullen, R., McPhillips, G., Thompson, A.M., (2011). Mortality associated with the treatment of gallstone disease: a 10-year contemporary national experience. *World Journal Surgery*, **35(3):** 643-7.

Scotland, R.S., Stables, M.J., Madalli, S., Watson, P., Gilroy, D.W., (2011). Sex differences in resident immune cell phenotype underlie more efficient acute inflammatory responses in female mice. *Blood*, **118**: 5918–27.

Scott-Conner, C.E.H. and Grogan, J.B., (1994). The pathophysiology of billiary obstruction and its effect on phagocytic and immune function. *Journal of Surgical Research*, **57:** 316-336.

Selleri, C., Sato, T, Anderson, S., Young, N.S., Maciejewski, J.P., (1995). Interferon- $\gamma$  and tumour necrosis factor- $\alpha$  suppress both early and late stages of hematopoiesis and induce programme cell death. *Journal Cellular Physiology*, **165**: 538-46.

Seymour, R.A., (1982). The use of pain scales in assessing the efficacy of analgesics in post-operative dental pain. *European Journal Clinical Pharmacology*, **23**: 441-4.

Shakoory, B., Carcillo, J.A., Cantham, W.W., Amdur, R.L., Zhao, H., Dinarello, C.A., Cron, R.Q., Opal, S.M., (2016). Interleukin-1 receptor blockade is associated with reduced mortality in sepsis patients with features of the macrophage activation syndrome: Re-analysis of a prior Phase III trial. *Critical Care Medicine*, **44(2)**: 275-281.

Shang, A., and Gan, T., (2003). Optomising postoperative pain management in the ambulatory patient. *Drugs*, **63(9)**: 855-67.

Sharshar, T., Hopkinson, N.S., Orilowski, D., Djillali, A., (2004). Science review: the brain in sepsis – culprit and victim. *Critical Care*, **9: 37,** 37 – 44.

Sheeran, P., and Hall, G.M., (1997). Cytokines in anaesthesia. *British Journal of Anaesthesia*, **78**: 201-19.

Shi, H.Y., Lee, H.H., Chiu, C.C., Chiu, H.C., Uen, Y.H., Lee, K.T. (2008). Responsiveness and minimal clinically important differences after cholecystectomy: GIQLI versus SF-36. *Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery*, **12**: 1275–1282. Shi, H.Y., Lee, K.T., Lee, H.H., Uen, Y.H., Na, H.L., Chao, F.T., Chiu, C.C., (2009). The minimal clinically important difference in the Gastrointestinal Quality-of-Life Index after cholecystectomy. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **23**:2708–2712.

Shimaoka, M., and Park, E.J., (2008). Advances in understanding sepsis. *European Journal of Anaesthesiology*. **25: 42,** 146–153.

Shubin, N.J., Monaghan, S.F., Ayala, A., (2011). Anti-inflammatory mechanisms of sepsis. *Contribution Microbiology*, **17:** 108-124.

Sietses, C., Havenith, C.E., Eijsbouts, Q.A., van Leeuwen, P.A., Meijer, S., Beelen, R.H., Cuesta, M.A., (2000a). Laparoscopic surgery preserves monocyte-mediated tumour cell killing in contrast to the conventional approach. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **14**: 456-60.

Sietses, C., Wiezer, M.J., Eijsbouts, Q.A., van Leeuwen, P.A., Beelen, R.H., Meijer, S., Cuesta, M.A., (2000b). The influence of laparoscopic surgery on postoperative polymorphonuclear leukocyte function. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **14**: 812-16.

Sinatra, R.S., Shen, Q.J., Halaszynski, T., Luther, M.A., Shaheen, Y., (2004). Preoperative rofecoxib oral suspension as an analgesic adjunct after lower abdominal surgery: The effects on effort-dependent pain and pulmonary function. *Anesthesia and Analgesia*, **98(1)**: 135-40.

Singh H., Kundra S., Singh R.M., Grewal A., Kaul T.K., Sood D., (2013). Preemptive analgesia with Ketamine for Laparoscopic cholecystectomy. *J. Anaesthesiology Clinical Pharmacology* **29(4)**:478–84.

Singla, S., Mittal, G., Raghav, S., Mittal, R.K., (2014). Pain management after Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy – A Randomised Prospective Trial of Low Pressure and Standard Pressure Pneumoperitoneum. *Journal of Clinical Diagnostic Research*, **8**(2): 92-94.

Slim, K., Bousquet, J., Kwiatkowski, F., Lescure, G., Pezet, D., Chipponi, J., (1999). First validation of the French version of the Gastrointestinal Quality of Life Index (GIQLI). *Gasteroenterology Clinical Biology*, **23**: 25-31.

Slim, K., (2000). Pain after laparoscopic cholecystectomy. *British Journal of Surgery*, **87(9):** 1249.

Slotman, G.J., Burchard, K.W., Williams, J.J., D'Arezzo, A., Yellin, S.A. (1986). Interaction of prostaglandins, activated complement, and granulocytes in clinical sepsis and hypotension. *Surgery*, **99**: 744-51.

Somasekar, K., Shankar, P.J., Foster, M.E., and Lewis, M.H., (2002). Costs of waiting for gall bladder surgery. *Postgraduate Medicine Journal*, **78:** 668-9.

Sommer, C., (2001). Zytokine bei neuropathischen schmerzen. Anaesthesist, **50:** 416-26.

Souba, W.W., (1994). Cytokine control of nutrition and metabolism in critical illness. *Current Problems in Surgery*, **31:** 577-643.

Spapen, H.D., Jacobs, R., Honoré, P.M., (2017). Sepsis-induced multi organ dysfunction syndrome – a mechanistic approach. *Journal of Emergency and Critical Care Medicine*, 1(27): 1 – 9.

Sparreboom, C.L., Wu, Z., Dereci, A., Boersema, G.S., Menon, A.G., Ji, J., Kleinrensink, G.J., Lange, J.F., (2016). Cytokines as Early Markers of Colorectal Anastomotic Leakage: ASystemic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Gastroenterology Research Practice*, **Published online March 9**<sup>th</sup>.

Sprent, J., (1995). Antigen-presenting cells: Professionals and amateurs. *Current Biology*, **5**: 1095-7.

Squirrell, D.M., Majeed, A.W., Troy, G., Peacock, J.E., Nicholl, J.P., Johnson, A.G., (1998). A randomized, prospective, blinded comparison of postoperativepain, metabolic response, and perceived health after laparoscopic and small incision cholecystectomy. *Surgery*, **123**: 485-95.

Stage, J.G., Schulze, S., Møller, P., Overgaard, H., Anderson, M., Rebsdorf-Pedersem, V.B., Nielsen, H.J., (1997). Prospective randomised study of laparoscopic *versus* open colonic resection for adenocarcinoma. *British Journal of Surgery*, **84:** 391-6.

Starnes, H.F.Jr, Pearce, M.K., Tewari, A., Yim, J.H., Zon, J.C., Abrams, J.S., (1990). Anti-IL-6 monoclonal antibodies protect against lethal *Esherichia coli* infection and lethal tumour necrsis factor-alpha challenge in mice. *Journal of Immunology*, **145**: 4185-91.

Stawowy, M., Bluhme, C., Arendt-Nielsen, L., Drewes, A., Funch-Jensen, P., (2004) Somatosensory Changes in the Referred Pain Area in Patients with Acute Cholecystitis Before and After Treatment with laparoscopic or Open Cholecystectomy. *Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology* **39(10)**: 988-993.

Stefaniak, T., Vingerhoets, A., Babinska, D., Trus, M., Glowacki, J., Dymecki, D., Makarewicz, W., Kaska, L., Kobiela., J., Lachinski, A., Stanek, A., Gruca, Z., Sledzinski, Z. (2004). Psychological Factors Influencing Results in Cholecystectomy. *Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology*. **39(2):** 127-132.

Stein, R., and Waterfield, M., (2000). PI-3-kinase inhibition: a target for drug development. *Molecular Medicine Today*, **6:** 347-357.

Steinhauser, M.L., Hogaboam, C.M., Kunkel, S.L., Lukacs, N.W., Strieter, R.M., Standiford, T.J., (1999). IL-10 is a major mediator of sepsis-induced impairment in lung antibacterial host defence. *Journal of Immunology*, **162**: 392-9.

Stephan, R.N., Kupper, T.S., Geha, A.S., Baue, A.E., Chaudry, I.H., (1987). Haemorrhage without tissue trauma produces immunosuppression and enhances susceptibility to sepsis. *Archives of Surgery*, **122**: 62-8. Stewart, R.J., and Marsden, P.A., (1995). Biologic control of the tumour necrosis factor and interleukin-1 signaling cascade. *American Journal of Kidney Disease*, **25**: 954-66.

Stinton, L.M., and Shaffer, E.A., (2012). Epidemiology of Gallbladder Disease: Cholelithiasis and Cancer. *Gut Liver*, **6(2)**: 172-187.

Suffredini, A.F., Fromm, R.E., Parker, M.M., Brenner, M., Kovacs, J.A., Wesley, R.A., Parrilo, J.E., (1989a). The cardiovascular response of normal humans to the administration of endotoxin. *New England Journal of Medicine*, **321**: 280-7.

Suffredini, A.F., Harpel, P.C., Parrillo, J.E., (1989b). Promotion and subsequent inhibition of plasminogen activation after administration of intravenous endotoxin to normal subjects. *New England Journal of Medicine*, **320**: 1165-72.

Supinski, G., Nethery, D., DiMarco, A., (1993). Effect of free radical scavengers on endotoxin-induced respiratory muscle dysfunction. *American Review of Respiratory Disease*, **148**: 1318-1324.

Svedova, J., Tsurutani, N., Liu, W., Khanna, K.M., Valla, A.T., (2016). TNF and CD28 Signaling Play Unique but Complementary Roles in the Systemic Recruitment of Innate Immune Cells after *Staphylococcus aureus* Entertoxin A Inhalation. *The Journal of Immunology*, **196(11)**: 4510-4521.

Swarman, S., and Yumono, H.S., (2016). Postoperative pain inhibition by preoperative methylprednisolone in open cholecystectomy with the assessment of II-6 and PGE2. *Journal of Anesthesiology and Clinical Science*, **2016**: 3-5.

Szabo, G., Kodys, K., Miller-Graziano, C.L., (1991). Elevated monocyte interleukin-6 (IL-6) production in immunosuppressed trauma patients. I. Role of Fc gamma RI crosslinking stimulation, *Journal Clinical Immunology*, **11**: 336-344.

Szary, N.M., Al-Kawas, F.H., (2013). Complications of Endoscopic Reterograde Cholangiopancreatography. How to Avoid and Manage them. *Gastroenterology and Hepatology*. **9(8):** 496-504.

Taenzer, P., Melzack, R., Jeans, M.E., (1986) Influence of psychological factors on post operative pain, mppd and analgesic requirements. *Pain*, **24**: 33-42.

Taffinder, N.J., Cruaud, P., Catheline, J.M., Bron, M., Champault, G., (1997). Bacterial contamination of pneumoperitoneum gas in peritonitis and controls: a prospective laparoscopy study. *Acta Chirurgica Belgica.*, **97:** 215-6 (Read in Targarona, E.M., Balagué, C., Knook, M.M., Trías, M., (2000). Laparoscopic surgery and surgical infection. *British Journal Surgery*, **87(5):** 536-44.

Tancredi, V., D'Antuono, M., Cafè, C., Giovedi, S., Buè, M.C., D'Arcangelo, G., Onofri, F.,Benfenati, F., (2000). The inhibitory effects of interleukin-6 on synaptic plasticity in rat hippocampus are associated with an inhibition of mitogen-activated protein kinase ERK. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, **75**: 634-43.

Tang, B.M., Huang, S.J., and McLean, A.S., (2010). Genome-wide transcription profiling of human sepsis: a systematic review. *Critical Care*, vol. **14:6**, article R237.

Taniguchi, T., Koido, Y., Aiboshi, J., Yamashita, T., Suzaki, S., Kurokawa, A., (1999). Changes in the ratio of interleukin-6 to interleukin-10 predicts a poor outcome in patients with systemic inflammatory response syndrome. *Critical Care Medicine*, **27**: 1262-64.

Targarona, E.M., Balagué, C., Knook, M.M., Trías, M., (2000). Laparoscopic surgery and surgical infection. *British Journal of Surgery*, **87(5):** 536-44.

Tellado, J.M., Broche, F., Vega, D., (2000). Host defence mechanisms of the peritoneal cavity. In intraabdominal infections. Edited by Tellado, J.M., Christou, N.V., Madrid; Harcourt: 1-11. Read in Broche, F., Tellado, J., (2001). Defense mechanisms of the peritoneal cavity. *Current Opinion in Critical care*, **7(2)**: 105-16.

Thaler, W., Frey, L., Marzoli, G.P., Messmer, K., (1996). Assessment of splanchnic tissue oxygenation by gastric tonometry in patients undergoing laparoscopic and open cholecystectomy. *British Journal Surgery*, **83(5)**: 620-624.

Thier, M., März, P., Otten, U., Weis, J., Rose-John, S., (1999). Interleukin-6 (IL-6) and its soluble receptor support survival of sensory neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, **55**: 411-22.

Thijs, A., and Thijs, L.G., (1998). Pathogenesis of renal failure in sepsis. *Kidney International Supplement*, **66**: S34-37.

Third International Consensus Definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock (2016). *British Medical Journal Online*, August 2016.

Thomas, S., Anup, R., Susama, P., Balasubramanian, K.A., (2001). Nitric oxide prevents intestinal mitochondrial dysfunction induced by surgical stress. *British Journal of Surgery*, **88(3)**: 393-99.

Thomas, S., Pulimood, A., Balasubramanian, K.A., (2003). Heat preconditioning prevents oxidative stress-induced damage in the intestine and lung following surgical manipulation. *British Journal of Surgery*, **90(4)**:473-81.

Tonnesen, E., and Wahlgreen, C., (1988). Influence of extradural and general anaesthesia on natural killer cell activity and lymphocyte subpopulations in patients undergoing hysterectomy. *British Journal of Anaesthesiology*, **60**: 500-7.

Topley, N., Jorres, A., Luttmann, W., Petersen, M.M., Lang, M.J., Thierauch, K.H., Muller, C., Coles, G.A., Davies, M.,Williams, J.D., (1993). Himan peritoneal mesothelial cells synthesize IL-6: Induction by IL-1β and TNFα. *Kidney International*, **43**: 226-233.

Topley, N., and Williams, J.D., (1994a). Role of the peritoneal membrane in the control of inflammation in the peritoneal cavity. *Kidney International*, **46(Suppl. 48)**: S71-S78.

Topley, N., Petersen, M.M., Mackenzie, R., (1994b). Human peritonealmesothelial cell prostaglandin synthesis: induction of cyclooxygenase mRNA by peritoneal macrophage-derived cytokines. *Kidney International*, **46**: 900-909.

Tracey, K.J., Fong, Y., Hesse, D.G., Manogue, K.R., Lee, A.T., Kuo, G.C., Lowry, S.F., Cerami, A., (1987). Anti-cachectin/TNF monoclonal antibodies prevent septic shock during lethal bacteraemia. *Nature*, **330**: 662-4.

Tracey, K.J., and Cerami, A., (1993). Tumour necrosis factor: An updated review of its biology. *Critical Care Medicine*, **21:** S415-22.

Tracey, K.J., (2002). The inflammatory reflex. Nature, 420(6917): 853-9.

Tsai, K., Wang, S-S., Chen, T-S., Kong, C-W., Chang, F-Y., Lee, S-D., Lu, F-J., (1998). Oxidative stress: an important phenomenon with pathogenic significance in progression of acute pancreatitis. *Gut*, **42**: 850-5.

Tsimoyiannis, E.C., Glantzounis, G., Lekkas, E.T., Siakas, P., Jabarin, M., Tzourou, H., (1998). Intraperitoneal normal saline and bupivacaine infusion for reduction of postoperative pain after laparoscopic cholecystectomy. *Surgical Laparoscopic Endoscopy*, **Dec 8(6):** 416-20.

Turillazzi, E., Fineschi, V., Palmiere, C., Sergi, C., (2016). Cardiovascular Involvement in Sepsis. *Mediators of Inflammation*, **2016:** 1-3.

Turnbull, I.R., Wizorek, J.J., Osborne, D., Hotchkiss, R.S., Coopersmith, C.M., Buchman, T.G., (2003). Effects of Age on Mortality and Antibiotic Efficacy in Cecal Ligation and Puncture, *Shock*, **19(4)**: 310-313.

Tzianabos, A.O., Onderdonk, A.B., Zaleznik, D.F., Smith, R.S., Kasper, D.L., (1994). Structural characteristics of polysaccharides that induce protection against intraabdominal abscess formation. *Infection and Immunity*, **62**: 4881-4886.

Uchino S, Kellum JA, Bellomo R, Doig GS, Morimatsu H, Morgera S., (2005). Acute renal failure in critically ill patients: a multinational, multicenter study. *Journal of the American Medical Association.*, Aug 17. 294(7): 813-8.

The UK Sepsis Trust (2016). Education and Clinical Tools. <u>www.sepsistrust.org</u> Ure, B.M., Niewold, T.A., Bax, N.M., Ham, M., Zee, D.C., Essen, G.J., (2002). Peritoneal, systemic, and distant organ inflammatory responses are reduced by a laparoscopic approach and carbon dioxide versus air. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **16(5)**: 836-42.

Undén, A-L., Andréasson, A., Elofsson, S., Brismar, K., Mathsson, L., Rönnelid, J., Lekander, M., (2007). Inflammatory cytokines, behaviour and age as determinants of self-related health in women. *Clinical Science*, **112(6)**: 363 -373.

Vadivelu, N., Mitra, S., Narayan, D., (2010). Recent advances in postoperative pain management. *Yale Journal Biological Medicine*, **83:1(3):** 11-25.

Vallina, V.L., and Velasco, J.M., (1996). The influence of laparoscopy on lymphocyte subpopulations in the surgical patient. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **10**: 481-484.

van Boekel, R.L.M., Steegers, M.A.H., Verbeek-van Noord, I., van der Sande R., and Vissers, K.C.P., (2015). Acute pain services and postsurgical pain management in the Netherlands: a survey. *Pain Practice*, **15(5)**: 447–454.

van der Poll, T., Marchant, A., Buurman, W.A., Berman, L., Keogh, C.V., Lazarus, D.D., Nguyen, L.,Goldman, M.,Moldawer, L.L., Lowry, S.F., (1995). Endogenous IL-10 protects mice from death during septic peritonitis. *The Journal of Immunology*, **155**: **11**, 5397–5401.

van der Voot, M., Heijnsdirk, E.A.M., Gouma, D.J., (2004). Bowel injury as a complication of laparoscopy. *British Journal of Surgery*, **91(10)**: 1253-8.

Vara-Thorbeck, R., Guerrero, J.A., Ruiz-Requena, E., Garcia-Carriazo, M., (1996). Can the use of growth hormone reduce the postoperative fatigue syndrome? *World Journal of Surgery*, **20(1)**: 81-6.

Vetrhus, M., Soreide, O., Eide, G.E., Solhaug, J.H., Nesvik, I., Sondenaa, K., (2004). Pain and quality of life in patients with symptomatic, non-complicated gallbladder stones: Results of a randomised controlled trial. *Scandinavian Journal of Gasteroenterology*, **39(3)**: 270-6.

Vincent, J.L., Opal, S.M., Marshall, J.C., Tracey, K.J., (2013). Sepsis Definitions: time for change. *Lancet*, **381**: 774-775.

Volk, H.D., Reinke, P., Krausch, D., Zuckermann, H., Asadullah, K., Müller, J.M., Döcke, W.D., Kox, W.J., (1996). Monocyte deactivation-rationale for a new theraputic stratergy in sepsis. *Intensive Care Med.*, **22(Suppl 4):** S474-S481.

Volz, J., Koster, S., Spacek, Z., Paweletz, N., (1999). Characteristic alterations of the pneumoperitonem after carbon dioxide pneumoperitoneum. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **13**: 611-614.

Vinik, H.R., and Kissin, I., (1998). Rapid development of tolerance to analgesia during remifentanil infusion in humans. *Anesthesia and Analgesia*, **86(6):** 1307-11.

Vittimberga, F.J. Jr, Foley, D.P., Meyers, W.C., Callery, M.P., (1998). Laparoscopic surgery and the systemic immune response, *Annals Surgery*, **227**: 326-34.

Voitk, A.J., Tsao, S.G.S., Ignatius, S., (2001). The tail of the learning curve for laparoscopic cholecystectomy. *The American Journal of Surgery*, **182(3)**: 250-3.

Voscopoulos C, and Lema M., (2010). When does acute pain become chronic? British Journal of Anaesthesiology, **105: (suppl 1)**:I 69–85.

Voulgari, A., Lykouras, L., Papanikolaou, M., Tzonou, A., Danou-Roussaki, A., Christodoulou, G., (1991) Influences of psychological and clinical factors on postoperative pain and narcotic consumption. *Psychotherapy Psychosomatics*, **55**: 191-6.

Waage, A., Brandtzaeg, P., Halstensen, A., Kierulf, P., Espevik, T., (1989). The complex pattern of cytokines in serum with meningiococcal septic shock. Association between interleukin-6, interleukin-1 and fatal outcome. *Journal Experimental Medicine*, **169:** 333-8.

Walker, A.P., and Condon, R.E., (1989). Peritonitis and intrabdominal abscesses. In Schwartz SI, ed, Principles of Surgery. 5<sup>th</sup> ed. New York: McGraw-Hill: 1459-89.

Walker, E.M.K., Bell, M., Grocott, M.P.W., Moonesinghe for the SNAP-1 investigator group (2016). Patient reported outcome of periopearive anaesthia in the United Kingdom: a cross-sectional observational study. *British Journal of Anaesthesia*, **117(6)**: 758 -766.

Wall, P.D., (1988). The prevention of postoperative pain. Pain, 33: 289-90.

Wallace, D.H., Serpell, M.G., Baxter, J.N., O'Dwyer, P.J., (1997). Randomised trials of different insufflation pressures for laparoscopic cholecystectomy. *British Journal Surgery*, **84(4)**: 455-8.

Walley, K.R., Lukacs, N.W., Standiford, T.J., Strieter, R.M., Kunkel, S.L., (1996). Balance of inflammatory cytokines related to severity and mortality of murine sepsis. *Infection and Immunity*, **64**: 4733-8.

Wang, D., Yin, T., Yao, Y., (2014). Advances in sepsis-associated liver dysfunction. *Burns and Trauma*, **2**.

Wanjura, V., and Sandblom, G., (2016). How do Quality-of-Life and Gastrointestinal Symptoms Differ Between Post-cholecystectomy Patients and the Background Population. *World Journal of Surgery*, **40(1)**: 81-88.

Ware, J.E., and Sherbourne, C.D., (1992). The MOS 36-item short-form health survey (SF-36), I: conceptual framework and item selection. *Medical Care*. **30**: 473-483.

Ware, J.E., Kosinski, M., Keller, S.K., (1994). SF-36 Physical and Mental Health Summary Scales: A user's manual. Boston, MA: *The Health Institute*.

Ware, J.E., (2000). SF-36 Health survey Update. Spine, 25(24): 3130-39.

Warfield, C.A., and Kahn, C.H., (1995). Acute pain management: Programs in U.S. hospitals and experiences and attitudes among U.S. adults. *Anesthesiology.*, **83(5)**: 1090-94.

Warren, H.S., (1996). NK cell proliferation and inflammation. *Immunology and Cell Biology*, **74:** 473-80.

Watkins, L.R., Wiertelak, E.P., Furness, L.E., Maier, S.F., (1994). Illness induced hyperalgesia is mediated by the spinal neuropeptides and excitatory amino acids. *Brain Research*, **664**: 17-24.

Watkins, L.R., and Maier, S.F., (1999). Implications of immune-to-brain communication for sickness and pain. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science USA*, **96**: 7710-13.

Watkins, L.R., and Maier, S.F., (2000). The pain of being sick: Implications of immuneto-brain communication for understanding pain. *Annals Review of Psychology*, **51**: 29-57.

Watkins, L.R., Milligan, E.D., Maier, S.F., (2001). Spinal cord glia: New player in pain. *Pain*, **93**: 201-5.

Watkins, L.R., and Maier, S.F., (2005). Immune regulation of central nervous system functions: from sickness responses to pathological pain. *Journal of International Medicine*, **257(2)**: 139-55.

Watson, R.W.G., Redmond, H.P., McCarthy, J., Burke, P.E., Bouchier-Hayes, D., (1995). Exposure of the peritoneal cavity to air regulates early inflammatory responses to surgery in a murine model. *British Journal of Surgery*, **82:** 1060-5.

Watt-Watson, J., Chung, F., Chan, V.W.S., McGillon, M., (2004). Pain management following discharge after ambulatory same-day surgery. *Journal of Nursing Management*, **12(3)**: 153-61.

Weighardt H., Heidecke, C-D, Emmanuilidis, K., Maier, S., Bartels, H., Siewert, J.R., Holzmann, B., (2000). Sepsis after major visceral surgery is associated with sustained and IFN- $\gamma$  resistant defects of monocyte cytokine production, *Surgery*; **127**: 309-15.

Wennmacker, S., Lamberts, M., Gerritsen, J., Roukema, J.A., Westert, G., Drenth, J., van Laarhoven, C., (2017). Consistency of patient-reported outcomes after cholecystectomy and their implications on current surgical practice: a prospective multicentre cohort study. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **31(1)**: 215-224.

West, M.A., and Bellingham, J., (1995). Carbon dioxide inhibits peritoneal macrophage cytokine production: A mechanism for the lack of host inflammatory symptoms after laparoscopic surgery. *Surgical Forum*, **46:** 147-150.

West, M.A., Baker, J., Bellingham, J., (1996). Kinetics of decreased LPS-stimulated cytokine release by macrophages exposed to CO<sub>2</sub> *Journal of Surgical Research*, **62**: 269-74.

West, M.A., Hackam, D.J., Baker, J., Rodriguez, J.L., Bellingham, J., Rotstein, O.D., (1997). Mechanism of decreased *in vitro* murine macrophage cytokine release after exposure to carbon dioxide: relevance to laparoscopic surgery. *Annals of Surgery*, **226**: 179-190.

Wheelahan, J.M., Leslie, K., Silbert, B.S., (1998). Epidural fentanyl reduces the shivering threshold during epidural lidocaine anesthesia. *Anesthesia and Analgesia*, **87**: 587-90.

White, P.F., Li, S., Chiu, J.W., (2001). Electroanalgesia: its role in acute and chronic pain management. *Anaesthesia and Analgesia*, **92**: 505-13.

White, P.F., (2002). The role of non-opioid analgesic techniques in the management of pain after ambulatory surgery. *Anesthesia and Analgesia*, **94(3)**: 577-85.

White P.F., Kehlet, H. (2010). Improving postoperative pain management: what are the unresolved issues? *Anesthesiology*, **112:1**, 220-5.

White, S.I., Frenkiel, B., Martin, P.J., (2010). A ten-year audit of perforated sigmoid diverticulitis: highlighting the outcome of laparoscopic lavage. *Diseases Colon Rectum*, **53(11):** 1537 – 41.

Wichmann, M.W., Zellweger, R., DeMaso, C.M., Ayala, A., Chaudry, I.H., (1996). Enhanced immune responses in females, as opposed to decreased responses in males following haemorrhage shock and resusitation. *Cytokine*, **8**: 853-863.

Wichmann, M.W., Ayala, A., Chaudry, I.H., (1998). Severe depression of host immune functions following closed bone fracture, soft-tissue trauma and haemorrhagic shock. *Critical Care Medicine*, **26**: 1372-8.

Wichmann, M.W., Müller, C., Meyer, G., Adam, M., Angele, M.K., Eisenmenger, S.J., Schildberg, F.W., (2003). Different immune responses to abdominal surgery in men and women. *Langenbecks Archives of Surgery*, **387:**397–401.

Wichmann, M.W., Huttl, T., Winter, H., Spelsberg, F., Angele, M.K., Heiss, M., Jauch, K-W., (2005). Immunological Effects of Laparoscopic vs Open colorectal Surgery: A prospective Clinical Study. *Archives of Surgery*, **140(7)**: 692-697.

Wilcox, P., Osborne, S., Bressler, B., (1992). Monocyte inflammatory mediators inpair in-vitro hamster diaphragm contractility. *American Review of Respiratory Disease*, **146**: 462-466.
Wills, V.L., and Hunt, D.R., (2000). Pain after laparoscopiv cholecystectomy. *British Journal of Surgery*, **87(3):** 273-84.

Wilson, Y.G., Rhodes, M., Ahmed, R., Daugherty, M., Cawthorn, S.J., Armstrong, C.P., (1994). Intramuscular diclofenac sodium for postoperative analgesia after laparoscopic cholecystectomy: a randomised controlled trial. *Surgical Laparoscopy and Endoscopy*, **4**: 340-4.

Wilson, M.A., Chou, M.C., Spain, D.A., Downard, P.J., Qian, Q., Cheadle, W., Garrison, R.N., (1996). Fluid resuscitation attenuates early cytokine mRNA expression after peritonitis. *The Journal of Trauma*, **41(4)**: 622-627.

Windsor, J.A., Bonham, M.J.D., Rumball, M., (1997). Splancnic mucosal ischaemia: an unrecognised consequence of routine pneumoperitoneum. *Surgical Laparoscopy and Eendoscopy*, **7 (6):** 480-2.

Wittmann, D., (2000). Tertiary peritonitis. In intra-abdominal infections. Edited by Tellado, J.M., Christou, N.V., Madrid, Harcourt, pages 143-152.

Woehlck, H.J., Otterson, M., Yun, H., Connolly, L.A., Eastwood, D., Colpaert, K., (2003). Acetazolamide reduces referred postoperative pain after laparoscopic surgery with carbon dioxide insufflation. *Anesthesiology*, **99(4)**: 924-8.

Woiciechowsky, C., Asadullah, K., Nestler, D., Eberhardt, B., Platzer, C., Cchöning, B., Glöckner, F., Lanksch, W.R., Volk, H.D., Döcke, W.D., (1998). Sympathetic activation triggers interleukin-10 release in immunodepression induced by brain injury. *Nature Medicine*, **4**: 808-813.

Woolf, C.J., (1989). Recent advances in the pathophysiology of acute pain. *British Journal of Anaesthesiology*, **63**: 139-46.

Wordliczek, J., Szczepanik, A.M., Banach, M., Turchan, J., Zembala, M., Siedlar, M., Przewlocki, R., Serednicki, W., Przewlocka, B., (2000). The effect of pentoxifiline on post-injury hyperalgesia in rats and postoperative pain in patients. *Life Science*, **66**: 1155-64.

Wozniak, B., Wisniewska-Jarosinska, M., Drzewoski, J., (2001). Evaluation of selected parameters of the inflaammatory response to endoscopic reterograde cholangiopancreatography, *Pancreas*; **23(4)**: 349-55.

Wright, S.D., and Jong, M.T.C., (1986). Adhesion-promoting receptors on human macrophages recognise *Escherichia coli* by binding to lipopolysaccharide. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, **164:** 1876-88.

Wu, M.H., Lin, C.C., Yang, Y.C., Chou, C-Y., (1994). Cardiovascular collapse during gynaecologic laparoscopy complicated by pulmonary oedema: Report of a case. *Journal of the Formosan Medical Association*, **93**: 629-32.

Wu, F.P.K., Sietses, C.M.D., von Bloomberg, B.M.E., van Leeuwen, P.A.M., Meijer, S.M.D., Cuesta, M.A., (2003). Systemic and Peritoneal Inflammatory Response After Laparoscopic or Convential Colon Resection in Cancer Patients: A Prospective Randomized Trial. *Diseases of the Colon & Rectum*, **46(2)**: 147-55.

Wu H.M., Dixon E, May GR, Sutherland FR. (2006). Management of perforation after endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP): a population-based review. *Hepatobilliary (Oxford)*. **8(5)**:393–399.

Wu, Z., Zhou, J., Pankaj, P., Peng P., (2012). Laparoscopic and open splenectomy for splenomegaly secondary to liver cirrhosis: an evaluation of immunity. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **26(12)**: 3557-3564.

Wu, X.D., Tian, X., Liu, M.M., Wu, L., Zhao, S., Zhao, L., (2015). Meta-analysis comparing early versus delayed laparoscopic cholecystectomy for acute cholecystitis, *British Journal of Surgery*, **102(11)**: 1302-1313.

Wunsch, A., Kuntz, C., Bay, F., Hansch, M., Glaser, H.C., (1997). Differences in T-cell activation in laparoscopic *versus* conventional colon resections in the rat. *Langebecks Archives Surgery*, **114**: 267-70.

Xiao, L.Z., Topley, N., Ito, T., Phillips, A., (2005). Interleukin-6 regulation of transforming growth factor (TGF)- $\beta$  receptor compartmentalization and turnover enhances TGF- $\beta$ 1 signaling. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*. **280(13)**: 12239–12245.

Yahara, N., Abe, T., Morita, K., Tangoku, A., Oka, M., (2002). Comparison of interleukin-5, interleukin-8 and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor production by the peritoneum in laparoscopic and open surgery. *Surgical Endoscopy*, **16(11)**: 1615-9.

Yamamoto, T., Castell, L.M., Botella, J., Powell, H., Hall, G.M., Young, A., Newsholme, E.A., (1997). Changes in the albumin binding of tryptophan during postoperative recovery: a possible link with central fatigue? *Brain Research Bulletin*, **43**: 43-6.

Yamamoto, T., Umegae, S., Matsumoto, K., Saniabadi, A.R., (2011). Peritoneal cytokines as early markers of peritonitis following surgery for colorectal carcinoma: a prospective study. *Cytokine*, **53(2)**: 239-42.

Yared, J.P., Starr, N.J., Hoffmann-Hogg, L., Bashour, C.A., Insler, S.R., O'Conner, M., Piedmonte, M., Cosgrove, D.M., (1998). Dexamethasone decreases the incidence of shivering after cardiac surgery: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Anaesthesiology and Analgesia*, **87**: 795-99.

Yasir, M., Mehta, K.S., Banday, V.H., Aiman, A., Masood, I., Iqbal, B., (2012). Evaluation of post-operative shoulder tip pain in low pressure versus standard pressure pneumoperitoneum during laparoscopic cholecystectomy. *Surgeon*, **2**:71–4.

Yildiz, O., Doganay, M., Aygen, B., Guven, M., Keleutimur, F., Tutuu, A., (2002). Physiological-dose steroid therapy in sepsis. *Critical Care*, **6:** 251-9.

Yu, H., Ern-Hwei, C., Lingam, P., Lee, J., Woon, W. W. L., Low, J. K., and Shelat, V.G., (2018). Index admission laparoscopic cholecystectomy for acute cholecystitis restores Gastrointestinal Quality of Life Index (GIQLI) score. *Annals of Hepatobilliary Pancreatic Surgery*, **22**: 58–65.

Yuen, P.M., Mak, T.W.L., Yim, S.F., Kee, W.D.N., Lam C.W.K., Rogers, M.S., Chang, A.M.Z., (1998). Metabolic and inflammatory responses after laparoscopic and abdominal hysterectomy. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, **179(1)**: 1-5.

Zanetti, G., Heumann, D., Gérain, J., Kohler, J., Abbet, P., Barras, C., Lucas, R., Glauser, M.P., Baumgartner, J.D., (1992). Cytokine production after intravenous or peritoneal gram-negative bacterial challenge in mice. *Journal of Immunology*, **148**: 1890-1897.

Zarour, S., Imam, A., Kouniavsky, G., Lin, G., Zbar, A., Mavor, E., (2017). Percutaneous cholecystotomy in the management of high-risk patients presenting with acute cholecystitis: Timing and outcome at a single institution. *American Journal of Surgery*, **214(3)**: 456-461.

Zellweger, R., Ayala, A., Zhu, X.L., Morrison, M.H., Chaudry, I.H., (1995). Effect of surgical trauma on splenocyte and peritoneal macrophage immune function. *Journal of Trauma*, **39**: 645-650.

Zellweger, R., Wichmann, M.W., Ayala, A., Stein, S., De Maso, C.M., Chaudry, I.H., (1997). Females in proestrus state maintain splenic immune functions and tolerate sepsis better than males. *Critical Care Medicine*, **25**: 106-10.

Zellweger, R., Wichmann, M.W., Ayala, A., Chaudry, I.H., (1998). Metoclopramide: A novel and safe immunomodulating agent for restoring the depressed macrophage immune function after haemorrhage. *Journal of Trauma*, **44(1)**: 70-77.

Zemel, D., Krediet, R., Koomen, G., (1994). Interleukin-8 during peritonitis in patients treated with CAPD: an in vivo model of acute inflammation. *Nephrology Dialysis and Transplantation*, **9:** 169-174.

Zeng, L., Gu, W., Chen, K., Jiang, D., Zhang, L., Du, D., Hu, P., Liu, Q., Huang, S., Jiang J., (2009). Clinical relevance of the interleukin 10 promoter polymorphisms in Chinese Han patients with major trauma: genetic association studies. *Critical Care*, **13:6**, R188.

Zeni, F., Tardy, B., Vindimian, M., Comtet, C., Page, Y., Cusey, I., Bertrand, J.C., (1993). High levels of tumour necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin-6 in the ascitic fluid of cirrhotic patients with spontaneous bacterial peritonitis. *Clinical Infectious Disease*, **17**: 218-223.

Zeni, F., Pain, P., Vindimian, M., Gay, J.P., Gery, P., Bertrand, M., Page, Y., Page, D., Vermesch, R., Bertrand, J.C., (1996). Effects of pentoxifylline on circulating cytokine concentrations and hemodynamics in patients with septic shock: resultsfrom a double-blind, randomised placebo controlled study. *Crit. Care Medicine*, **24**: 207-14.

Zhang, L.M., Castresana, M.R., Shaker, I.J., Dalton, M.L., Leeper-Woodford, S.K., Newman, W.H., (1997). Increased intracellular cyclic adenosine 3 prime, 5 prime-monophosphate inhibits release of tumour necrosis factor-alpha from human vascular tissue and cultured smooth muscle cells. *Critical Care Medicine*, **25(11)**: 1855-61.

Zhang A-Q., Pan, W., Gao, J-W., Yue, C-L., Zeng, L., Gu, W., Jiang, J-X., (2014). Asociations between interleukin-1 gene polymorphisms and sepsis risk: a meta-analysis. *BMC Medical Genetics*, **15:8.** 

Ziegler, E.J., Fisher, C.J., Jr., Sprung, C.L., Straube, R.C., Sadoff, J.C., Foulke, G.E., Wortel, C.H., Fink, M.P., Dellinger, R.P., Teng, N.N., (1991). Treatment of gramnegative bacteremia and septic shock with HA-1A human monoclonal antibody against endotoxin. A randomised, double blind, placebo controlled trial. The HA-1A Sepsis Study Group. *New England Journal of Medicine*, **324**: 429-36.

Zigmond, A.S., and Snaith, R.P., (1983). The hospital anxiety and depression scale. *Acta psychiatry Scandinavia*, **67(6):** 361 -70.

Zouki, C., Beauchamp, M., Baron, C., Filep, J.G., (1997). Prevention of in-vitro neutrophil adhesion to endothelial cells through sheding of L-selectin by C-reactive protein and peptides derived from C-reactive protein. *Journal Clinical Investigation*, **100**: 522-9.